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CORPORATE PROFILE
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China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”; stock code: 2319) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group” or “Mengniu”) manufacture and distribute quality dairy products
in China. It is one of the leading dairy product manufacturers in China, with MENGNIU
as its core brand. Mengniu’s diversified products include liquid milk (such as UHT milk,
milk beverages and yogurt), ice cream, milk formula and other products (such as plant-
based protein beverage cheese). Mengniu made it on the “Global Dairy Top 207 list
published by Rabobank tself among the top 10 of dairy industry in 2017 and 2018
consecutively. By the end ¢ ] Ip’s annual producﬁon capacity of
dairy products reached 9.75 n Maro ] - Mengniu became a Hang Seng
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HIGHLIGHTS
e

For the Year Ended 31 December

BE+-A=+t—HLEE

°
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB Million RMB Million

ARBEET EUNAER-

Revenue WA
Gross Profit EF

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company ~ ZANA R A A &G FIE
REEREANFRERE 6,364 5,505
FRAEM(ARET)

Net cash flows from operating activities
Earnings per Share (RMB)

68,977 60,156
25,784 21,183
3,043 2,048

- Basic —HK 0.779 0.526
— Diluted — 88 0.778 0.526
° In 2018, Mengniu continued to be named among the R N\FE - FHEF -_FEBEBSIER

“Global Dairy Top 10” by Rabobank for two years in a row,
BrandZ™’s list of top 20 most valuable Chinese brands for
the fourth consecutive year and topping the list of brand
contribution. In 2019, for the first time, Mengniu made it
among Brand Finance’s list of the top 500 most valuable
brands of the world.

Mengniu introduced the “Power of Nature, Born for
Greatness” brand proposition which gained unprecedented
success by tying in with 2018 FIFA World Cup (“World Cup”)
themed marketing. During the period of World Cup, the brand
power of Mengniu increased significantly, climbing to the top
spot of the industry for the first time in five years.

Mengniu’s room temperature products saw a significant boost
in sales volume, while overall sales recorded considerable
growth and the business gained a bigger market share; the
share of chilled products remained the first in the market for
the 13th consecutive year. Core products delivered steady
performance while its innovative new products performed
brilliantly; the ice cream business achieved sales that had
grown at a high single-digit rate. The milk formula business,
which had turned around to profit and capitalized on the
growth momentum, managed significant growth.

During the year, Mengniu consolidated and established
new business divisions, focusing on businesses with high
potentials including overseas markets, fresh milk, plant-
based protein beverage and yogurt, with which the overall
deployment witnessed initial satisfactory results.

Mengniu strengthened its digital marketing development and
reinforced channel and Point of Sales (“POS”) constructions,
while promoting new retail model via B2B and empowering
distributors to enhance its sales capability.

Mengniu further optimized the deployment in quality milk
sources and production lines in order to enhance the
efficiency of its supply chain. Also, it established a factory
in Indonesia as its second overseas factory, which is also
the first liquid milk factory of Mengniu located in overseas
markets, serving to speed up the entry to Southeast Asian
markets.
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Revenue by Product Mix (For the year ended 31 December)
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Revenue by Product Mix in Liquid Milk Segment (For the year ended 31 December)
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PLANT MAP
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The Indonesia factory of Mengniu commenced
production in November 2018
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MAJOR AWARDS AND ACHIEVEMENTS

+ BRI R I

THE GROUP AND ITS MANAGEMENT
Included in the “Global Dairy Top 20” list published by Rabobank for the
tenth consecutive year and climbed into the world’s top 10 for the second
consecutive year.

e Ranked among the top 3 for “The Best CEO”, “The Best CFO” and “The
Best Investor Relations Program” in the consumer/staples category
published in the 2018 All-Asia Executive Team Survey conducted by the
Institutional Investor magazine.

e Granted the “Blue Book of Poverty Alleviation for Enterprises (2018) —
Excellent Case in Poverty Alleviation” by the State Council Leading Group
Office of Poverty Alleviation and Development and the Chinese Academy
of Social Sciences.

e Honoured with the “Asia Responsible Entrepreneurship Award 2018 —
Social Empowerment Category” conferred by Enterprise Asia.

e Mengniu was one of the first four enterprises to receive the honourable
title of “Climate Leader Plant” from the Energy Foundation and China
Council for an Energy Efficient Economy, making itself the only enterprise
to receive this honour in the dairy product industry in China. With the
award of “2017-2018 Top 10 Food Safety Enterprise” granted by the
Organizing Committee of China Food Safety Annual Conference, Mr.
Jeffrey, Minfang Lu, Chief Executive Officer, was awarded the title of
“2017-2018 Outstanding Food Safety Entrepreneur”.

MENGNIU S BRANDS

Ranked among the top 20 in the BrandZ™ 2018 list of the most valuable
Chinese brands.

e Ranked among Brand Finance’s list of the top 500 most valuable brands
in the world.

e On the “China Brand Power Index (C-BPI)” list published by the Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC, Mengniu’s chilled
yogurt held the championship in China’s yogurt industry for the eighth
consecutive year and Yoyi C retained the championship in C-BPI Brand
Power in the probiotics drinks industry.

e Mengniu was ranked second on the list of “Most Chosen Brands in China”
in the consumer research statistics of Kantar Worldpanel.

MENGNIU S PRODUCTS

Milk Deluxe Organic Milk and Reeborne Organic infant milk series
respectively garnered the “Gold Award” and “Quality Formula Award”
conferred by the 12th Biofach China.

e The pure milk of Modern Dairy won the Gold Award from Monde Selection
for the fifth consecutive year.

e The milkshake milk product Burnlooking won the “Innovation Award for
the First Weight Management Milk” and the Champion BB-12 yogurt won
the “Innovation Award for the First Dual Functional Healthcare Yogurt” in
the 12th Inner Mongolia International Dairy Expo and Summit.

e Yashili International Infant Nutrition Co., Ltd. was granted the title of
“Benchmark Enterprise for Dairy Product Quality and Safety Management”
jointly awarded by the China Dairy Industry Association and Chinese
National Committee of the International Dairy Federation.
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CEO’S STATEMENT
BEE

Despite facing a challenging economic environment and intensified
industry competition in 2018, Mengniu did not rely on price
competition. Quite the opposite, it remained steadfast in upholding
its set strategies of focusing on nutrition and health, increasing
the quantity and improving the quality of new products, using
differentiated products to seize market share and carrying out
World Cup-themed marketing in full strength with the parent brand
and the sub-brands working in collaboration. It also upgraded
channel deployment, stepped up expanding e-commerce and new
retail sales, optimized supply chain efficiency and developed new
business, so as to create new growth drivers for itself. Successful
strategic planning and effective execution of the plans enabled
Mengniu to speed up business growth and enter a high-quality
and sustainable development mode. The structure of the Group’s
traditional business has gradually optimized while new businesses
are ready to gain ground. Mengniu has developed and grown from
“Mengniu of Inner Mongolia” 20 years ago into “Mengniu of the
world”, as evidenced by it being named again among the “Global
Dairy Top 10” by Rabobank.

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang LU
ESREE

Chief Executive Officer
F5o
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CEO’S STATEMENT @&, 3/ &

Mengniu’s new product category-based business division system is
operating efficiently. Each business segment performed well during
the year. By focusing on core product categories and premium
products, and drawing on its core competitiveness, that is, its
ability to innovate, the Group continued to exert on research and
development of innovative products during the year, targeting at
premium, nutritious and healthy products, and launched over 40
new products. These efforts, together with the extensive World
Cup marketing campaign, had enabled the Group to achieve
outstanding results for the year.
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CEOQO’S STATEMENT 4 £ 3/ 5

During the year, Mengniu’s room temperature product business
achieved considerable growth. Each of Mengniu and Milk Deluxe
branded milk achieved double-digit growth, with growth rate further
increased in the year. New products launched during the year, such
as the Just Yoghurt easy-to-carry bottle series Xiaomanyao and
room temperature fruit pulp yogurt both performed satisfactorily
since their debut, contributing to the sales of room temperature
yogurt reaching new heights. Mengniu’s chilled products retained
solid leadership in the industry, with Mengniu branded yogurt
recording steady growth, whereas the functional yogurt Champion,
at the drive of the new BB-72 yogurt grew shoulder-to-shoulder
with the star probiotics drink Yoyi C. Furthermore, the innovative
Bio Kaquzi product performed brilliantly and European Charcoal
Yogurt recorded explosive growth in sales. As for ice cream
business, at the major promotional efforts mounted for the flagship
brand Suibian and the launch of a number of new products, it
achieved sales that had grown at a double-digit compound annual
growth rate over the last three years, leading in growth speed in
the industry. Having turned around to profit and capitalizing on the
strong growth momentum gathering, the milk formula business
achieved a substantial increase in sales. At the same time, the
Group integrated and set up new business divisions to help develop
overseas markets and businesses, such as fresh milk, plant-based
beverage and cheese, which have promising growth potential.
Such deployment has started to show effect, suggesting that a
solid foundation has been laid for future growth.
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In 2018, Mengniu was an Official 2018 FIFA World Cup™ (“World
Cup”) Sponsor and also the first dairy product brand to cooperate
with FIFA as a global sponsor and the first food and beverage
brand in China as a World Cup global sponsor. The sponsorship
saw Mengniu’s international brand influence board new heights.
Mengniu also appointed Lionel Messi (“Messi”), the former FIFA
World Player of the Year, as brand ambassador to promote its “Born
for Greatness” brand proposition, making “Born for Greatness”
buzzwords of the year, helping strengthen the international
brand image of Mengniu. Working as one team, all the different
departments rolled out in concert the World Cup marketing
campaign of the Group and achieved outstanding results. During
the large-scale integrated marketing activity “FIFA World Cup Fun,
Scan the Code for Red Packet 100%” (“Scan the Code for Red
Packet”), with more than 200 million times of code scanning, the
Group had in-depth interaction with consumers, sharing together
with them the excitement of the World Cup. During the World Cup
marketing campaign, Mengniu’s brand influence increased notably,
ranking first in the industry the first time in five years, according to
Kantar Millward Brown’s research.

Boasting high quality products and an international brand image,
Mengniu has represented the country at international and national
events. During the year, apart from being an official partner of
the Shanghai Cooperation Organization Business Forum, it also
participated in the first China International Import Expo. Managing
breakthrough in overall brand power, Mengniu continued to make
it among the top 20 in the BrandZ™ list of Most Valuable Chinese
Brands for the fourth consecutive year and climbed to first place
this year in brand contribution. In addition, in 2019, for the first
time, the Group made it on to Brand Finance’s list of top 500 most
valuable brands in the world.
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CEOQO’S STATEMENT 4 £ 3/ 5

Adhering to its “developing routes to market and enhancing
channel penetration” strategy, Mengniu took its sales deployment
reform further, practiced refined management of sales and
optimized its supply chain model, and in turn was able to enhance
sales capability. By steadily expanding traditional channels and
tapping the power of e-commerce and new retail channels, it
was able to systematically expand its sales points and enlarge its
market coverage and penetration in towns and villages as well
as campuses. Mengniu’'s e-commerce division achieved all its
core targets for 2018 and boasted an over 50% growth in sales,
surpassing the industry average. Mengniu stepped up strategic
cooperation with e-commerce merchants such as JD.com and
Tmall and achieved outstanding performances on e-commerce
platforms during such shopping carnivals as “Double 11” and
“Super Brand Day”. At the same time, dedicated to developing
new product types and new channels, Mengniu became strategic
partners with Ist.1688.com and Huixiadan.net and tailored and
launched unique products that match the characteristics of the
different channels. In the advent of the Big Data era, Mengniu
initiated the “Smart Network Action” during the year. By applying
its standardized management system on sales channels and
building a professional integrated smart marketing network system
to provide digital marketing and channel expansion solutions,
the Group aims to help itself and its distributors reap fully the
benefit of digitalization. Moreover, while optimizing the Customer
Relationship Management (“CRM”) membership system, Mengniu
also coordinated collaboration among different brands in integrating
consumer Big Data across brands to enhance grouping and more
thorough understanding of consumers and ultimately, with the help
of digital technology, realize precision marketing.

During the year, Mengniu continued to optimize global deployment,
dedicating in building a global industrial chain that connects milk
source to production and sales, and also in-house research and
development to quality control. The Group also made new “Mengniu
speed” record by building its second overseas factory, this latest
in Indonesia, in 172 days. The factory is also the first liquid milk
factory of Mengniu set up overseas, the purpose of which is to
enhance the competitiveness of Mengniu in Southeast Asian
markets hence hasten its business expansion in those markets.
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Mengniu continued to join force with its three major shareholders
to align its operations with international standards and apply the
resources available to it from around the world so as to develop
itself into a world-class dairy enterprise. Upholding the core value
of no compromise on quality, Mengniu adopts refined management
practices on quality across the entire industrial chain to make
sure it can provide products of consistent quality to consumers.
At the same time, as a representative of Chinese enterprises
bearing social responsibility, Mengniu has continued to implement
charitable campaigns like the “Inclusive Nutrition Plan” and also
pushed forward its sustainable development strategy, so as to
bring happiness to more people.

The dairy industry in China is moving closer to achieving the target
of completing revitalization by 2025 and the industry is advancing
into a “golden decade” of rapid growth. Looking forward, Mengniu
will continue its current business strategies to enhance core
competitiveness, including investing resources into the Mengniu
parent brand to help bolster sales of sub-brands, strengthening
digital marketing-related construction, stepping up channel and
POS construction to empower distributors, pursuing B2B new retail
mode in greater depth and enhancing sales capability, fortifying
R&D capabilities for achieving product innovation and upgrade, as
well as optimizing deployment of quality milk source and product
lines to boost supply chain efficiency. In addition, Mengniu will
pool resources to develop new businesses and products under
its key brands, and push forward market upgrade and channel
development, to power rapid growth of its new businesses.

Mengniu will celebrate its 20th anniversary in 2019, another
milestone in its hundred-year journey of development and also
the starting point of its next stage of advancement. In 2019,
Mengniu will strive to excel on all fronts from products, brands,
sales channels, to innovation and culture. The Mengniu team will
diligently carry on the “Born for Greatness” Mengniu spirit and build
a powerful army that embraces the wolf team culture of “must-win”
and “win-win”, opening the new “Mengniu of the world” era.

Jeffrey, Minfang LU
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 March 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2018, the overall economy of China continued to grow with
consumption remaining steady. The country’s GDP for the year
amounted to approximately RMB9O trillion, representing an increase
of 6.6% year-on-year. Total Retail Sales of Consumer Goods were
approximately RMB38 trillion, up by 9.0% year-on-year.

As for the dairy industry, it maintained healthy development
thanks to government policies supportive of revival of the
industry. The continuous consumption upgrade and a growing
middle class in China have given the dairy industry the drive to
upgrade and optimize product structure, and the unfolding of
the new consumption era is pushing dairy industry players to
meet consumers’ demand for healthy, readily accessible and
personalized products. As such, high-end, healthy, diversified
dairy products have become growth engines of the industry, and
leading players are resorting to developing new and high-quality
dairy products to seize market share. The consumption power
of residents in third-tier and fourth-tier cities is growing while the
penetration rate of dairy products has been low, which means that
the penetration potential in lower-tier cities is another major growth
driver of the industry. With Internet use more and more prevalent
and the new online retail business developing rapidly, large dairy
enterprises like Mengniu are seizing the opportunity to integrate
online and offline channels to develop the “new retail” model that
merges seamlessly purchase and marketing scenarios. Moreover,
empowered by Big Data, they are able to enhance consumption
experience and meet consumer demands at all times, thereby
markedly elevate the value of dairy products.

At the introduction of new products and active brand marketing
by the industry, liquid milk sales continued to register strong
growth. The keen interest of consumers in healthy products have
translated into demand for room temperature yogurt, high-end
pure milk and chilled fresh milk products, turning them into growth
engines of the industry. In addition, as the quality of domestic milk
formula continues to improve, both foreign and domestic infant milk
formula brands have been developing in equally strong strides in
the China market. Consumption upgrade has also turned products
like organic infant milk formula and goat milk powder into impetus
of sales growth for milk powder industry. By the end of December
2018, a total of 1,195 infant milk product formulas had gained
approval under the infant milk formula registration policy launched
by the Chinese government. With players lacking in competence
weeded out, the industry has further consolidated, which is
conducive to high quality and strong brands seizing market shares.
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In June 2018, the State Council of the PRC issued a circular to
further revive the milk industry and improve the quality and safety
of domestic dairy products, aiming to, with quality, safety and
green development as ultimate targets, facilitate supply-side
structural reform to lower cost, optimize industry structure, improve
quality, build brands and enhance vitality of the industry, as well
as strengthen standards, technological innovation, policy support,
law enforcement and monitoring, and enhance consumption, all
to the end of speeding up construction of the production system,
operation system and quality and safety system of a modern dairy
industry. The new policy is expected to help boost the quality,
efficiency and competitiveness of the dairy industry, contributing
to modernization of the industry. Additionally, the individual income
tax reform in China taking effect in 2019 is expected to increase
residents’ disposable income, hence support the steady growth
of consumption expenditure. That plus the prevailing consumption
upgrade will brace the healthy development of the dairy industry.

Currently, dairy industries in different parts of the world are not
developing at the same speed. Compared with Europe and North
America, emerging markets, especially those in Asian regions, are
facing pressure from such as tight production resources, lagging in
technological strength and lower per capita consumption, therefore
have lots of room for development and faster consumption growth.
To tap the enormous market potential, dairy enterprises in China
need to gain a place on the international stage, insist on the
internationalization process of “bringing in, going out” to quickly
enhance competitiveness, strive for a unified global dairy industry
and look for more cooperation opportunities. As a leading dairy
product enterprise in China, Mengniu had pressed forward with
internationalization in the past year, gradually developing a global
dairy community.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Business Division Performance

Room Temperature Product Business

With consumers’ needs in mind, Mengniu’s room temperature
product business pursued product and marketing innovation
and stepped up route-to-market (“RTM”) development, tying
these efforts in with World Cup themed marketing. As such, it
saw a significant boost in brand influence and the sales volume
of products. Overall sales recorded considerable growth and
the business gained a higher market share. Mengniu Pure Milk
and high-end pure milk Milk Deluxe both achieved double-digit
growth in sales. New products launched during the year, such as
the Just Yoghurt easy-to-carry bottle series Xiaomanyao and fruit
pulp yogurt, also achieved satisfactory results, sending the sales
performance of room temperature yogurts to new heights.

During the year, the high-end pure milk brand Milk Deluxe focused
on developing its sub-categories as well as continuing product
upgrade. Following the launch of a super high-end product tailored
for sports enthusiasts, namely M-PLUS High Protein Milk, in 2017,
staying loyal to the high-end brand positioning of Milk Deluxe
during the year, the new Milk Deluxe Organic Milk product that
features the “DreamCap™” packaging was launched, giving Milk
Deluxe a strong boost to achieve continued rapid sales growth.
Just Yoghurt mounted the World Cup themed marketing activities
with “Pure Flavor, Full Enjoyment” as the slogan, and with the
help of focused advertising, effective online and offline interactive
marketing plus launching the high-end easy-to carry bottle yogurt
series Just Yoghurt Xiaomanyao, the sales of Just Yoghurt was
boosted. Mengniu continued to launch the grapefruit flavor,
enriching the Just Yoghurt Xiaomanyao product line at the end of
the year. In addition, Mengniu unveiled to the market its first weight
management fiber-rich milkshake milk product Burnlooking and
its first hydrolyzed collagen jelly product Ningchun. In response
to consumers’ demand, these products were launched in an
innovative sales mode via social marketing and publicity platforms,
capturing the eyes of the health and beauty conscious mass.

Chilled Product Business

Mengniu’s chilled product division made great advancement in
various professional aspects, including production techniques,
product research and development (“R&D”), packaging design, as
well as probiotics and nutritional content. Mengniu also continued
to strengthen cooperation with its strategic shareholder Danone
SA and its subsidiaries (the “Danone Group”) on product R&D
and production techniques, which brought fruitful results. In 2018,
Mengniu continued to hold the leading share in the chilled product
market for the 13" consecutive year and achieved double-digit
revenue growth. Core products delivered steady performance while
the functional yogurt Champion and star probiotics beverage Yoyi
C both grew in equally strong strides, with brand power increasing
and staying at the top in the market. European Charcoal Yogurt
prided strong sales, claiming a larger share of market, and the new
meal replacement yogurt Bio Kaquzi also performed brilliantly.

E 3 3E1]

EEXRR

HIRER

SERBREGBEBEEEETR  UEREF - &
fHAIF - AR BFEH (Route to Market + & T4
[RIMDSEEEAM AT T EEHE  REFEN
MERESEERA  EEEEHRRAE  #E—
FHENTIHDEE - KREAF M mEFNEm
HFHYBMBENHEIER  MEFaFRELEEER
RN E ) FE R BB SH G b
MARAKAEIEE » HRABRDNEEREFASE -

FR - BIRALY M EA A R R EmAE
MEEAR R T FHEHEZEDA
BB WmM-PLUSEEZAF 1% RERNES
B@EsmmETEh  AEEFENS20E ]
BEZHELFmEHFFRATY  EBF w4
ERESER AARGEARTIERREHE
B UIREAAE  BEFHBHI/ONR  SHERK
BEARBRERR -G TESEH  WARS
= o (8 98 SR S R AT 3T AT B B R B Y - BT
RSAEHE KT BIES N FEHE DAL

A - £E— L=/ EEEPOERER -
AN REEMHHELEREBETEFPEME

HINEF DR EFUKRBREQ RBRRRE ML
AL BEEBERR - BIFHERN - BBAHR
ST REBEERE KR SIEREREXD
HENE

BRER

SERBEESIETERN ERFE  2ER
iBE EESZEREESHBEERST X
SN R L BB RS I SR Danone SAR E TR A
([Danonet=E | ) fEE i R M TR % HEH
A TS TEERE - —T—\F ' 4K
BERNTSNBEEEFISFRETES — I
ABREMHER - ROERKRERBE itk
Mmm A BRI BRERRERCEEILHE - @
BNFBIRANRSE— » B0 ERETHE 8
S MBEARE—FSIRF - FTRREBINZK
R HFRIFR o



Annual Report 2018 —Z— \F &

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS S [E& R 247

During the year, Mengniu launched a number of new chilled
products, which bolstered growth of the chilled product business.
Since the new product BB-72 was launched in 2017, Champion
has focused on enhancing market penetration via strengthening
education of the health benefits of the functional yogurt to reinforce
the “professional and functional” positioning of the brand, and as
such, recorded outstanding sales performance during the year.
The well received Yoyi C LC-37 series, a revolutionary probiotics
product launched in 2017, took on a new World Cup themed
packaging during the year and, at the complement of the “Scan the
Code for Red Packet” activity, further enhanced sales. Moreover,
targeting for nationwide deployment, the European Charcoal
Yogurt series appeared in new packaging and had new flavors
added, which resulted in explosive sales growth during the year.
At the end of 2017, Mengniu optimized Bio’s product structure by
launching a leading-edge product Bio Kaquzi, the first domestic
meal replacement yogurt with mixed grains and yogurt separately
packed, in order to meet the growing demand of domestic
consumers for food replacement. Mengniu also launched another
leading-edge product Bio Shuangcenglaoru, the first stirred Fruit on
the Bottom (“FOB”) yogurt of Mengniu in November 2018.

Milk Formula Business

As for the milk formula business, Yashili International Holding
Ltd (“Yashili”, stock code: 1230), in which the Group holds
approximately 51% stake, owns five brands including Yashily,
Dumex, Reeborne, Doraler and Arla Baby & Me, which are
positioned in agreement with its comprehensive product strategies
and are scientifically and effectively managed for the product lines
to cover all-tier markets: mid-range, high-end and super high-
end. Yashili was on the first published list of enterprises with the
most infant formulas registered following the implementation of the
country’s infant milk formula registration policy. By the end of 2018,
Yashili had completed registration of 48 formulas in 16 product
series of its own brands and also the cooperative brand Arla. The
Group’s another milk formula brand Junlebao also completed
registration of 27 formulas in 9 product series, reflective of the
recognition it enjoys for product quality.

In 2018, Yashili continued to enrich its brand mix and improve
product structure, and completed its comprehensive branding
upgrades. It launched its new logo and a new brand image with the
brand slogan of “Do Our Best for Your Loved Ones” in April 2018.
On the back of honors such as CCTV’s “Craftsmanship Brand”
and “Official Powdered Milk of the 2018 FIFA World Cup™ (for
Greater China)”, it mounted all-round brand promotion on various
platforms. Yashili also strengthened its penetration into counties,
townships and third- and fourth-tier cities via the mother-and-
baby store channels, supplemented by modern trade channels and
e-Commerce channels to grow its business. The business, which
had turned around to profit, had sales climbing during the year,
managing significant growth.
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Ice Cream Business

Tapping into the World Cup craze, the ice cream business division
focused on 12 key products of its flagship brand Suibian and
rolled out extensive promotion titled “Shake for Red Packets, Win
Tickets to the World Cup”, appealing to consumers online and
offline through integrated promotion on television, the Internet and
via outdoor advertisement. The extraordinary exposure plus the
appointment of Kris Wu, who has a massive young fan base, as
brand ambassador enabled the Group to enhance interaction with
consumers and in turn boost sales volume and gain market share.
And, the promotional efforts targeting major cities with rippling
effect also helped pushed up sales nationwide. In 2018, the division
achieved sales that had grown at a high single-digit rate. Gross
profit margin of the business also increased notably.

During the year, Mengniu launched a total of 28 new ice cream
products. For instance, Suibian expanded and optimized its
product offerings by introducing such high-end products as the
double-layer crunchy Belgian chocolate and cherry jam ice cream
and strawberry and chocolate flavor ice cream. The high-end brand
Deluxe launched the new product wonder color crunchy ice cream
to drive sales of the brand. Ice+ introduced various new products,
including the special football shape passion fruit flavor ice cream
launched in cooperation with Messi, which won the hearts of
consumers. New products were also added to Mengniu Russian
series and Mood for Green series, etc.

New Business Development

Cheese Business

To grasp growth opportunities in the cheese market in China,
Mengniu established a cheese business division responsible for
three major areas of development, namely retail, deep processing
of dairy products and cheese for catering service. By strengthening
cooperation with Arla Foods, the largest dairy enterprise in
Europe, the Group strived to develop the cheese market with new
products, new formula, new packaging, new brand image and new
marketing approach as its means, aiming to realize the aspiration
of “building a strong cheese industry to help make the healthy
China dream come true”. In the first half of 2018, Mengniu and
Arla Foods together introduced Arla shredded mozzarella under
the professional catering brand Arla Pro, the first cheese product
customized for China market and produced in Mengniu’s factories,
helping Mengniu enter the business of high-end cheese for catering.
Together with Arla Foods, it also became the official sponsor of
the 2018 World Fencing Championships, thus strengthening brand
promotion. The Group also entered the cheese retailing business
by launching new kids cheese cup and kids cheese sticks under
the children dairy product series Arla Little Explorer last November.
Such products are 100% imported from Denmark.
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Fresh Milk Business

To align with international standards, the fresh milk business
division leveraged the high quality raw milk resources of China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (“China Modern Dairy”, stock code:
1117) and adopted world-leading production technology system
to produce excellent quality fresh milk. During the year, Mengniu
launched a total of 17 fresh milkk SKUs, with Shiny Meadow fresh
milk as the main product targeting the high-end market. Boasting
high original protein and calcium contents, Shiny Meadow aims to
lead a healthy lifestyle in a new era. During the year, the brand was
the sole title sponsor of the 1%t International Indie Coffee Festival
in China, an endeavor to enhance brand influence. The other new
product launched during the year was Greenhouse fresh milk that
targets the mid-range to high-end markets. Using 360 relevant
standards to measure milk at source to ensure freshness and also
standing out in having higher protein content than peer products, it
won market preference.

Since established in late 2017, Mengniu’s fresh milk business
division has worked hard to establish its business model, build
up the service capability of its fresh milk supply chain and deploy
sales channels that cover to date about 30 major cities in Eastern,
Southern, Northern and Central China. Taking the characteristics of
fresh milk consumers and product positioning into account, major
channels have been employed to introduce fresh milk products to
markets in core regions to enhance product exposure, thereby lay
a sound foundation for the fresh milk business to develop.

Plant-based Protein Beverage Business

In 2018, Mengniu’s plant-based protein beverage brand
ZhiPuMoFang focused on the soymilk category, promoting
Silk Americano Soymilk’s positioning as “trendy and healthy, of
international quality and great new tastes”. The Group mounted
precision marketing for the product by highlighting the advanced
American production standards that it met and the 40-year history
of the Silk brand, and achieved significant growth in sales as
compared with the previous year. At the same time, ZhiPuMoFang
added a new high-end product on the basis of Silk Americano
Soymilk’s original taste and almond flavor, launching the North
American mixed berries flavor series during the year. That helped
enhance the overall gross profit margin of the brand. In addition,
Silk Americano Soymilk also strengthened B2B cooperation with
Starbucks, offering plant-based solutions to all of the soymilk-
based coffees of its partner and expanding cooperation in more
regions and outlets. It also took advantage of the channel resources
of Mengniu’s liquid milk business to rally new customers, increase
the number of sales points, enhance profitability of each individual
store and strengthen POS control.
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Overseas Business

In 2018, the overseas business division adhered to the strategy of
“leveraging the World Cup to deploy business across Southeast
Asia” in expanding business. It organized marketing roadshows
in Hong Kong, Singapore and Myanmar for Just Yoghurt, Yoyi C
and ice cream products to help raise the influence of the Mengniu
brand and drive sales, which resulted in double-digit growth in
export volume of the Group’s products for the fifth consecutive
year. Mengniu’s Yoyi C factory in Indonesia commenced operation
in November 2018. It has a designed daily production capacity of
130 tons and will contribute to the integration of production, supply
and sales all in one place and be able to also supply products to
major ASEAN countries in the future, as such help boost Mengniu’s
competitiveness in the Southeast Asian market, and in turn speed
up implementation of the internationalization strategy of the Group.

Quality Management

Mengniu has aligned with international benchmark enterprises
observing 1ISO9001, FSSC22000 and HACCP standards, and
tying them in with its organizational accountability system to
establish a three-tier quality and safety management system.
The system comprises 26 management modules taking care of
from quality management planning to implementation, evaluation
and improvement, reinforcement and protection across the
entire industrial chain, and covers all business and quality related
processes in ranches, feed and veterinary drugs management and
at the retail-end, among others, and with the entire chain traceable,
the safety and quality of products are assured. For its new business
divisions like overseas business, fresh milk and e-commerce
operation, Mengniu has drawn up three-year quality assurance
plans that cover aspects including their quality and safety
management system, organizational structure setting and division
of labor and special guidance has been provided to their personnel,
and regarding their equipment and relevant craftsmanship.

The milk source business division has strived to improve the quality
of milk supply by multiple ways and means, including adopting a
risk alert mechanism to keep check on the risk exposure of each
milk source and plant, and with regard to use of medications on
dairy cattle. It also enhanced environment and safety management
at the ranches and strengthened professional training of ranch
personnel. During the year, Mengniu prided a 100% passing rate of
inspections conducted by 37 inspection bodies on a total of 29,354
raw milk samples from 47 projects of its milk source departments
randomly selected.
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As for the room temperature business division, it embraces the
management direction of “refining quality”. Using the new internal
laser code printing technology, it is able to carry out double
tracking of products and optimize the quantitative inspection
management mode of production plants. During the year, it
developed 109 food safety fast inspection techniques and started
applying them in scale. In the area of new product development, it
used Big Data analysis on testing new products and implemented
a risk assessment mechanism for new products before they are
deemed good for launch, plus setting testing standards for pilot
test, incubation test, trial production and product stability, so as to
effectively control the quality of new products.

The chilled business division continued to implement Danone
Group’s newly revised Food Safety Item (“FSI”) standards,
introducing new product management procedure and the Store
Check method for management of quality at the retail-end and
continuing to implement FSI food safety audits and Nepture
cleansing verification, therefore integrating the good practices of
Danone Group with Mengniu’s business operations to achieve
new breakthroughs in management and control of safety of
chilled products. During the year, the division pushed ahead with
standardizing process of construction and management of the
cold chain at the retail-end and was able to significantly reduce the
defrosting rate of chilled products.

The ice cream business division improved product packaging
and management of the production process, which contributed
to standardization of the business process. It also completed
reforming OEM management, upgrading its laboratory and
stepping up standardization of food safety protection. As for the
cheese business division, it continued to upgrade techniques
and craftsmanship to ensure various benchmarks agree with the
features of new products. Also, the division and Arla Foods together
performed audits based on European food safety management
standards and better defined quality and safety control and
management procedures. The fresh milk business division pressed
ahead with construction of its quality and food safety management
system with emphasis on three aspects, namely food safety
management, quality control at factories and quality management
at the retail-end. It had zero food safety incident in 2018.
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In addition, 2018 was the “Year of the National Standard Revision
for Dairy Products”. In response to the country implementing
national standards to revitalize the industry, Mengniu took the
initiative to participate in drafting the industry standards. It
reported to the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology the
standards for “condensed milk” and “the testing results of 3-casein
in dairy and related products”, proof of its commitment to taking the
quality of China’s dairy industry to a new height. In addition, during
the year, Mengniu was the only enterprise in the dairy product
industry which has been given approval to setup the “National
Innovation Base of Technical Standards (for the dairy industry)”.
It established five sub-bases for, namely quality milk sources
production, application of intelligent manufacturing, R&D of dairy
technology, development of testing technology and standardized
services, and brought together various industry experts and 76
research institutions, testing institutions and enterprises to form
a joint unit to develop a world-leading dairy industry standard
innovation center.

Milk Source Development

In 2018, Mengniu analyzed systematically the current situation of
its industrial chain. By effectively “adjusting deployment, optimizing
structure and rationalizing pace”, it was able to achieve a balance
between supply and demand in milk source development, which
helped enhance the Group’s business performance. Moreover,
Mengniu continued to apply its “Excellent Milk Source Operation
and Management Model” to help enhance the management level
and efficiency of supplier ranches, while kicking off digitalization of
milk source operation to enable information sharing among ranch
management and the raw milk supply chain, facilitating upgrade of
the industrial chain.

The milk sources of Mengniu are primarily in Northwestern,
Northeastern and Northern China, areas ideal for rearing dairy
cattle. During the year, Mengniu was able to increase the proportion
of milk supply from ranches of its investee companies, including
China Modern Dairy, Inner Mongolia Fuyuan Farming Co., Ltd.
and YuanShengTai Dairy Farm Limited, etc. Moreover, it actively
expanded overseas milk sources, in such countries as Denmark,
Australia and New Zealand, known for their rich milk supply to
ensure the Group has access to continuous supply from quality
milk sources. During the year, the percentage of milk sources
of Mengniu from standardized ranches and scaled farms was
maintained at 100%.
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Mengniu has continued to enhance the quality of milk source
and, via optimizing analysis indicators and classification methods,
improve supply management to support development of high-end
differentiated products. Combining outstanding local and overseas
experiences and taking reference of two core indicators in relation
to microorganism and somatic cells, Mengniu has drawn up a set
of grading standards for raw milk. The system is integrated with
the raw milk pricing and payment mechanism, and protein content
benchmarks are used to aid raw milk classification for meeting the
different requirements of different products, thereby allowing the
Group to achieve maximum economic benefit and has enhanced
supply of quality raw milk. During the year, Mengniu’s “Sensory and
Nutrition Map of China’s Raw Milk” project started smoothly, with
a professional flavor evaluation team sent to analyze the nutritional
content and flavor differences of raw milk from various regions and
of different kinds, providing reference for product innovation.

During the year, Mengniu continued to align with the advanced
Standard Operation Procedure (“SOP”) for ranch management
used by its Danish partner Arla Foods and the AsureQuality safety
management standard from New Zealand, one of the most-
respected food quality and safety certification standards in the
world. It also took to greater depth the operation of the “Mengniu
Ranch Quality and Safety Management System” and together with
the China-Denmark Milk Technology Cooperation Center, which it
set up jointly with Arla Foods, rolled out the “Heat Stress Alleviation
Project” and “Regional Ranch Cost-cutting and Efficiency-
enhancing Pilot Project”, which effectively helped ranches improve
delicacy management and further align with international ranch
management standards, and ultimately enhanced the competitive
strengths of Mengniu’s products.

As the first mover in the dairy industry to embrace digitalization,
Mengniu applies digital management across its raw milk supply
chain, aiming for connection of “cattle-ranch-dairy enterprise-third
party” information across the country and, by building a “Digital
Milk Source” information platform, to enable sharing of information
among ranch management and the raw milk supply chain, so as
to drive effective industry development. The “Digital Milk Source”
project will go online by stage. In 2018 and 2019, the focus is to
build the overall framework of the digital management platform
and set up systems for forecasting milk yield, herd record keeping,
recording output per cow, veterinary drugs management, and
clearing and settlement. In 2020 and 2021, intelligent hardware
facilities will be gradually available for automatic collection of daily
ranch operation data. The Group expects to, from 2022 onwards,
gradually achieve delicate and standardized ranch management
with the support of the digital management platform, to help it
improve ranch resources utilization and lower ranch operating cost.
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In 2018, China announced the strategy to revive the country’s
dairy industry and Mengniu responded with efforts to consolidate
different resources, build an exclusive Internet financing platform for
ranches to help supplier ranches lower financing costs and promote
transformation and upgrade of milk source bases. At the same
time, benefiting from tightening Mengniu-ranch cooperation, both
the operational efficiency and overall profitability of the ranches
improved, resulting in win-win and synergistic benefits for upstream
and downstream dairy operations.

Corporate Digital Strategy

In 2018, Mengniu speeded up executing its digital strategy, actively
optimizing the digital architecture to aid intelligent manufacturing,
supply chain management and understanding of consumer
behaviors. The Group is striving for digitalization of sales, channels,
staff work quality, manufacturing, integration of manufacturing,
supply and sales, resources integration and decision-making, that it
may evolve to become the “Digital Mengniu”.

Mengniu has taken on the responsibility of leading the industry in
building the “Smart Dairy Enterprise” and giving “Made in China”
a new and more superior definition. During the year, it steadily
proceeded with the intelligent manufacturing digital factory project
using Big Data analysis to help with lowering cost and heightening
efficiency, and upgrading up- and down-stream operations along
its industrial chain. At the heart of the project is a manufacturing
execution system capable of “smart” workshop production and
operation management, which when integrated with the Group’s
automated data collection platform and automated production
facilities as well as other operation management information
systems, can enable true interconnection of facilities and operation
systems. Phase VI of the Helin Factory and the Jinhua Factory were
the first to complete upgrading their intelligent manufacturing mode.
Mengniu’s active pursuit of the intelligent manufacturing digital
factory project has won the recognition of the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology, which awarded it the “China Intelligent
Manufacturing Pilot Demonstration Enterprise” honor, warranting
its position as an intelligent manufacturing enterprise matching
“Made in China 2025” and “Germany’s Industry 4.0” standard. The
progressive implementation of the intelligent manufacturing digital
factory project will drive the dairy industry in upgrading its traditional
operation model with focus on automation, informatization and
integration.
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In May 2018, Mengniu kicked off the intelligent supply chain project
that integrates Internet of Things (“loT”) technology and modern
supply chain management methods and employs Big Data analysis
to realize intelligent, networked and automated supply chain
operation and management. With Big Data of actual sales volume
as basic reference, the Group is able to more accurately forecast
demand, more efficiently schedule production and optimize
deployment of marketing resources, factory production resources
and logistics resources to enhance the operational efficiency of
its supply chain. The Group intends for the project to connect
with Alibaba Cloud and other of its cooperative projects, allowing
sharing of data and more effective collaboration, and ultimately help
the Group lower cost and enhance effectiveness of its operations.

Furthermore, Mengniu launched its smart network project across
the nation in August 2018, aiming to build a smart network
online system. The system will link up the POS, the operations of
distributors, member sales companies and Mengniu headquarters,
allowing visible POS management and connection with Enterprise
Resource Planning (“ERP”) system. It is a system that integrates
business and financial functions and covers multiple brands and
multiple distribution formats tailored to meet the business needs of
distributors, empowering them in opening up channels, improving
cost management, reducing staff costs and boosting sales
management efficiency.

In June 2018, Mengniu collaborated with Alibaba Cloud to
commence its consumer Big Data project entailing setting up a
consumer data processing center and a “people-oriented” Mengniu
consumer behavior analysis system. By establishing a unified
data standardization system and an information management
platform that serve the entire Group, and through integration
of data and employing identity identification technology to label
consumers, their behaviors and preferences, delicacy management
of operation and accurate targeting of consumers and reaching
them via multiple channels are possible. At the same time, through
different marketing activities, useful information can be collected
continuously to amass for the Group valuable consumer data assets
to support marketing decision-making and give the Group yet
stronger competitive advantages.

Looking ahead, Mengniu will continue to reinforce its digital
competitive advantages, unearth the value of its data asset and
build a digital industrial chain, all to the end of achieving at full
strength the goals of its “2020 Informatization Strategy”.
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Branding Strategy

During the year, Mengniu focused on the World Cup themed
marketing that highlighted its new brand proposition “Power of
Nature, Born for Greatness” to help it with furthering its strategy to
take its brand international. As an Official 2018 FIFA World Cup™
Sponsor, Mengniu gained exposure at the event venues and a total
of 161 products of 27 brands in its four product categories were
awarded the titles of “Official Drinkable Yogurt of the 2018 FIFA
World Cup™”,”Official Pre-packaged Ice Cream of the 2018 FIFA
World Cup™”, “Official Milk of the 2018 FIFA World Cup™ (for
Greater China)”, and “Official Powdered Milk of the 2018 FIFA World
Cup™ (for Greater China)”. The famous Argentinean football player
and former FIFA World Player of the Year Messi was appointed as
ambassador of the Mengniu brand, together with other celebrities
namely Li Yifeng, Zhao Liying, Kris Wu, William Chan, Zhang Yixing,
TFBOYS and Celina Jade helping with promotion, Mengniu’s brand
spirit was perfectly represented and the brand proposition of “Born
for Greatness” became buzzwords of the year. The World Cup
ties also helped plant Mengniu’s international brand image deep
into people’s heart. Moreover, with the parent brand and the sub-
brands working in collaboration and using diverse communication
channels for the World Cup themed marketing, the Group achieved
excellent interaction with consumers.

Starting early 2018, Mengniu embarked on upgrading the
packaging and marketing material for all product lines to align with
the World Cup theme, undertaking all-round strategic deployment
to roll out forcefully a series of integrated marketing activities
which received fantastic responses. Of all the marketing initiatives,
between March and July 2018, Mengniu launched a large-scale
integrated marketing campaign named “Scan the Code for Red
Packet”. Upon purchase of Mengniu’s room temperature, chilled
and ice cream products, consumers can scan the QR code on
the packaging for a chance to receive WeChat red packets of
different amounts. In addition, another part of the promotion also
encouraged consumers to collect fun cards for an opportunity
to win a World Cup tour. The marketing activity had taken full
advantage of social media platforms to increase interaction with
consumers, not only attracting their attention, but also effectively
pushing up the rate of repeated purchase of products. The activity
which ended on 31 July 2018 registered accumulatively over 230
million times of QR code scannings from more than 74 million
participants. According to data collected and survey findings of
Kantar Millward Brown, during the period of its World Cup themed
integrated marketing campaign, the brand power of Mengniu had
increased by 11.4% against the same period in the previous year,
climbing to the top spot of the industry the first time in five years.
Consumer preference for the Mengniu brand and willingness to
purchase both improved across the country.
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During the World Cup period, Mengniu kicked off the charitable
activity called “Show Your Skills, Young Footballers!” to help
youngsters in China realize their football dream. Twenty-four
outstanding young football players from different parts of the
country were selected by Mengniu and four star team captains,
namely Fan Zhiyi, Li Yi, Luis Figo and Yang Chen, and led by
their honorary team captain, the young actress Guan Xiaotong,
they visited Russia and had a match with the Russian youth
football team during the World Cup event period. The match was
broadcasted on Jiangsu Television, letting the audience see the
power that can foster development of football in China in the future
while reinforcing the positive image of Mengniu as a national dairy
brand.

During the World Cup period, all of Mengniu’s brands launched
their respective marketing activities tied in with the World Cup
theme to consolidate brand power. Among room temperature
and chilled product brands, Just Yoghurt saw its brand power
strengthened by integrating core World Cup advertising resources
and crucial exposure on CCTV5, complemented by the “Shake
the Bottle, Drink the Best” interactive online and offline marketing
activity. Mengniu’s Yoyi C collaborated with Meitu Inc. to initiate
an interactive activity called “Show your Football Fan Faces” that
enticed football fans to enjoy the new experience of taking AR selfie
of their faces. The initiative was a big success, attracting about 200
million times of active participation, among young consumers. As
for the ice cream business, the star brand Suibian was the focus of
World Cup related marketing resources. A large-scale promotion
event “Suibian Shake the Red Packets, Win World Cup Tickets”
was launched to stimulate consumer demand, and benefitting
from brand ambassador influence, interaction with consumers
was enhanced, which in turn boosted consumer awareness and
preference of the brand and gave a big push to sales. As the iconic
high-end ice cream brand, Deluxe presented a special World Cup
edition ice cream called Royal Deluxe crunchy oat ice cream to
football fans at the event venue, and by engaging the media and
key opinion leaders, managed to take consumer awareness of the
brand and its brand reputation to new heights.

Moreover, with enhanced international brand image, Mengniu
became a brand representative of the country at international and
national events. In June 2018, Mengniu, as the official partner
of Shanghai Cooperation Organization Business Forum, had its
Mengniu Pure Milk product series and star products such as Milk
Deluxe, Just Yoghurt Xiaomanyao, and Deluxe made their debuts at
the forum as designated products. In November 2018, Mengniu’s
Milk Deluxe pure milk, Just Yoghurt room temperature yogurt,
Deluxe ice cream, and Shiny Meadow fresh milk gained exposure
in the first China International Import Expo, helping strengthen
Mengniu’s international brand image.
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During the year, all of Mengniu’s sub-brands were active in
implementing their respective brand promotion strategy in line with
their brand positioning. For instance, Milk Deluxe was a Platinum
Partner of the 2018 China Open tennis tournament, allowing it
to gain maximum exposure of its healthy and active brand image
via various channels. Milk Deluxe Organic Milk launched during
the year was also the title sponsor of Hunan Television’s “Super-
Vocal” singing contest and that helped extend the reach of brand
communications and also fortify the high-end image of the product.
Another milk product tailored for sports enthusiasts, namely Milk
Deluxe M-PLUS High Protein Milk, continued to sponsor the 2018
Beijing Marathon with the communication theme “The Next Step
Is Better”. The new product Fruit Milk Drink Fruit Yogurt boosted
brand awareness by employing different publicity channels including
online and offline advertising and with its brand ambassadors Li
Yifeng and Zhao Liying rallying support of their fans for the product.
Champion succeeded in raising brand acceptance by having super
star William Chan as the brand ambassador in BB-712 product
advertising. In addition, Mengniu speeded up developing overseas
markets after its Yoyi C factory in Indonesia began operation.
Mengniu also for the first time designated the star product brand
Yoyi C as a parent brand in overseas markets to help it gradually
realize the vision of grooming Yoyi C to become the “Number One”
yogurt brand in Southeast Asia.

Milk formula brand Yashili unveiled its new brand logo and image
during the year. It also became the “Official Powdered Milk of the
2018 FIFA World Cup™ (for Greater China)” and named as CCTV’s
“Craftsmanship Brand”. Moreover, it cooperated with TV shows
such as “Memory of the Taste”, “Super Baby” and “Beautiful Mom”
to do publicity, coupled with in-depth promotion and interaction via
diverse channels. It thus has boosted the confidence of its channel
partners and consumers.

In 2018, Mengniu continued to gain consumer recognition and
endorsement by authoritative organizations, including continuing
to be named among the “Global Dairy Top 10” by Rabobank,
BrandZ™’s list of top 20 most valuable Chinese brands for the
fourth consecutive year and topping the list of brand contribution
the latest. On the “2018 China Brand Power Index (C-BPI)” list
published by the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of
the PRC, Mengniu’s chilled yogurt came first in C-BPI Brand Power
in China’s yogurt industry for the eighth consecutive year, while
Mengniu’s Yoyi C retained the top position in C-BPI Brand Power in
the probiotics drinks industry. According to the research statistics
of Kantar Worldpanel, the Consumer Reach Point of Mengniu rose
to over one billion, placing it second on the list of Most Chosen
Brands in China. Moreover, the Group’s Mengniu, Milk Deluxe and
Just Yoghurt brands received the “China Satisfaction Brand” honor
from China Enterprises Evaluation Association. Also, in 2019, for
the first time, Mengniu made it among Brand Finance’s list of the
world’s top 500 most valuable brands.
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Sales Management

During the year, Mengniu’s business divisions stepped up
execution of RTM strategy, with more effort put into channels in
third- and fourth-tier cities and in exploring channels in village
and town markets and also school campuses. They also pushed
forcefully to develop e-commerce channels and open up new retail
channels, and used channel resources, brand advantages and the
digital platform to enhance sales efficiency, strengthen channel
and POS control, and foster establishment for carrying out efficient
distribution, precision marketing and all-channel marketing.

The room temperature product business division managed to
optimize its RTM deployment, enhance penetration of products
at the retail-end, and help its distributor to improve their POS
service capability and efficiency. While safeguarding the interest
of distributors, the division forged strategic partnership with such
platforms as Huixiadan.net and Ist.1688.com. Leveraging the “New
Retail” mode and the “Penetration into Towns and Villages Project”,
it was able to hasten penetration of third- and fourth-tier cities as
well as village and town markets. It also, via rolling out the “Spark
Program”, strengthened POS coverage in towns and villages.

The chilled product business division operates in a total of 14 major
sales management regions. During the year, it achieved leading
share in all channel sales, with new retail business performance
exceeding sales target. To enhance RTM, in April 2018, the division
started tapping core and type A market channels to develop
sample markets. In 2018, by focusing on star product categories,
insisting on value marketing and enhancing product price premium,
the division was able to achieve satisfactory growth in sales of
new products. Furthermore, via implementing such innovative
channel measures as promoting sales efforts with on-site visits
and assistance by all staff of the division at the POS, traditional
channels were enhanced and new channels were expanded,
resulting in steady expansion of the POS network.

For the milk formula business, adhering to the channel strategy of
“Focus on the Mother-and-baby Store Channel for Infant Formula
Products, KA Modern Trade Channel for Nourishment Products,
and All-round Development for New Channels and New Products”,
a product line-based management and organizational structure
was thus established. It also actively expanded its sales network,
penetrating county, township and third- and fourth-tier cities, to
drive balanced development of the milk formula business.

In bolstering ice cream sales, the Group had its eyes on key cities
and by growing sales in them drove sales volume nationwide.
All sales channels performed well, with core traditional channels
managing steady sales growth and sales via modern channels
climbing quickly. Specialty channels including catering outlets, soft-
serve ice cream stores, experience stores and gift projects were
also deployed, contributing to remarkable specialty channel growth.
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Mengniu’s overseas business division took full advantage of the
marketing efforts tied in with the World Cup. At the same time as it
worked to develop sales outlets and strengthen product penetration
at the retail-end in existing markets including Hong Kong, Singapore
and Macau, it also actively explored new markets in Southeast Asia
and expanded coverage of its sales network to countries including
Myanmar and Indonesia during the year. At the end of November
2018, Mengniu’s factory in Indonesia commenced operation, giving
the Group a local manufacturing and sale integrated business setup
that can serve markets in major ASEAN countries in the future and
help Mengniu speed up penetration of Southeast Asian markets.

As for the e-commerce division, it used Big Data to aid
development of new products and upgrade of Mengniu’s
e-commerce operation. In May 2018, the “Mengniu E-commerce
Data Big screen” was officially launched and, in June 2018, the
global e-commerce Big Data application platform also began
operation in Yungu in Horinger New Area, Inner Mongolia, marking
the start of a new stage of digital sales and Big Data integration
pursued by Mengniu. Moreover, the Group stepped up strategic
collaboration with e-commerce platforms such as JD.com and
Tmall, including setting up its own flagship stores for chilled and ice
cream products in JD.com, and together with JD.com developed
an intelligent supply chain system and offered more personalized
products to consumers. Mengniu also tightened cooperation with
Alibaba to drive consumption upgrade of fast-moving consumer
goods and rolled out intelligent business. During the year, Milk
Deluxe and Silk opened flagship stores in Tmall and they returned
satisfactory sales performances. For instance, during the “Double
11” shopping festival, Mengniu achieved top total online sales
volume in the dairy product industry for the fourth consecutive
year and became the first dairy product brand to make sales of
more than RMB100 million on the Alibaba platform. Mengniu was
also the champion in sales volume of dairy products in JD.com the
fourth consecutive year. In 2018, Mengniu’s liquid milk claimed the
top share of the online sales market for the third consecutive year.
Mengniu’s online sales for the year grew more than 50% year-on-
year, higher than the average growth rate of the industry.

For the new retail business, Mengniu cooperated with the new retail
brand Hema Xiansheng, with access to live broadcast of special
Mengniu World Cup activities incorporated into the Hema Xiansheng
APP, allowing connection of online and offline interaction. Mengniu
also worked closer with B2B platforms including Ist.1688.com
and Huixiadan.net to roll out World Cup marketing theme activities
tailored for traditional sales outlets, organized online ordering club,
which translated into sales growth. Mengniu also actively deployed
smart un-manned convenience stores and explored social network
retailing with such products as the fiber-enriched milkshake milk
Burnlooking.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Benefiting from exertion in product innovation, optimized business
structure and the boosted sales volume as brought by the success
of World Cup themed marketing and promotion, the Group’s total
revenue in 2018 was RMB68,977.1 million (2017: RMB60,155.6
million), representing an increase of 14.7% year-on-year, of which
revenue from liquid milk increased 12.0% year-on-year, while that from
ice-cream increased by 8.4% year-on-year, and that from the milk
formula business saw a breakthrough growth of 48.9% year-on-year.

Gross profit

With a notably improved product mix and raw milk price relatively
stable, gross profit of the Group for the year increased to
RMB25,783.6 million (2017: RMB21,182.7 million) and gross profit
margin was 37.4%, up by 2.2 percentage points as compared with
last year (2017: 35.2%)).

Operating expenses

To strengthen sales operation and raise brand competitiveness, the
Group implemented active strategies for channel development and
strengthened brand promotion during the year. As such, it incurred
operating expenses of RMB22,684.8 million (2017: RMB18,548.5
million), representing an increase to 32.9%, as expressed as a
percentage of the Group’s revenue (2017: 30.8%).

Selling and distribution expenses for the year increased by 26.7%
to RMB18,833.3 million (2017: RMB14,868.8 million), representing
an increase to 27.3% of the Group’s revenue (2017: 24.7%).

Advertising and promotion expenses increased by 37.8% to
RMB7,005.8 million (2017: RMB5,083.1 million) and, as a
percentage of the Group’s revenue, increased to 10.2% (2017:
8.4%).

Administrative and other operating expenses, including impairment
losses on financial and contract asset, increased by 4.7% to
RMB3,851.5 million (2017: RMB3,679.7 million), accounting for
5.6% (2017: 6.1%) of the Group’s revenue.

Profit from operating activities and net profit

During the year, with the Group achieving marked increase in
overall revenue and gross profit and at the impact of product
optimization, its EBITDA increased by 29.6% to RMB5,373.6 million
(2017: RMB4,144.7 million) and EBITDA margin was 7.8% (2017:
6.9%).

Profit attributable to owners of the Company increased by 48.6%
to RMB3,043.0 million (2017: RMB2,047.8 million). Basic earnings
per share increased by 48.1% to RMBO0.779 (2017: RMB0.526).
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Income tax expenses

Income tax expense of the Group in 2018 was RMB649.0
million (2017: RMB594.3 million), up by 9.2% year-on-year.
Effective income tax rate was 16.9% (2017: 22.6%), down by 5.7
percentage points year-on-year, mainly due to (i) the decrease in
share of losses of associates during the year; (i) a non-deductible
item relating to the accounting losses on deemed disposal of partial
interests in associates by the Group in the previous year; and (iii)
previous unrecognised deferred tax arising from tax losses utilised
during the year of 2018.

Capital expenditure

For the year ended 31 December 2018, capital expenditure of the
Group was RMB3,772.3 million (2017: RMB6,650.9 million), down
by 43.3% year-on-year. Of the total, RMB3,203.8 million was spent
on building new production facilities and modifying existing ones
and related investments, RMB313.7 million on purchasing biological
assets and RMB254.8 million was invested in equities (including
mainly payment of the consideration for the acquisition of Banner
Baby Dairy Company Limited).

Working capital, financial resources and capital
structure

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s net cash inflow
from operating activities increased to RMB6,363.5 million (2017:
RMB5,505.4 million), primarily due to the Group’s continuously
optimizing product structure and enhanced working capital
management.

As at 31 December 2018, outstanding interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of the Group increased to RMB14,715.3 million
(31 December 2017: RMB13,950.1 million), including interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings repayable within one year in the
amount of RMB6,522.9 million (31 December 2017: RMB7,935.0
million). More than 60% of the total interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings bore fixed interest rates. The increase in interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings was mainly the result of
increase in equity investments during the year.

Net borrowings (total amount of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings net of cash and bank balances) of the Group as at 31
December 2018 were RMB7,417.3 million (31 December 2017:
RMB7,991.2 million).
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The Group’s total equity as at 31 December 2018 was
RMB30,464.3 million (31 December 2017: RMB27,107.1 million).
Debt-to-equity ratio (total amount of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings over total equity) was 48.3% (31 December 2017:
51.5%).

Finance costs of the Group in 2018 were RMB550.7 million (2017:
RMB399.9 million), representing approximately 0.9% of the revenue
(2017: 0.7%).

PRODUCTS

Combining its resource advantages and world-leading technologies,
Mengniu kept exerting on product innovation and R&D, aiming at
developing differentiated and high-end products, and enhancing
its products in such aspects as product category, flavor and
packaging. Alive to consumers’ growing preference for personalized
products and healthy diet, Mengniu also developed functional and
customized products that promise consumers better experiences.
In addition, with the help of Big Data, new media and new retail
channels, it rolled out promotion and marketing initiatives to expand
sales channels and achieved excellent results.
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The principal businesses of the Group are liquid milk, ice cream, ZAEEFEZEEED AREEY) ~ AKCEM ~ 0 R EH
milk formula and other products. Their performances during the fbEMR @ FRRIBUT :
year are outlined in the table below:

Product

category Financial performance Highlights

EmRE HBRR B

Liquid milk Revenue amounted to RMB59,388.6 million (2017: RMB53,015.0 million), accounting for 86.1% of Mengniu’s total revenue (2017:

AL 88.1%).
WABAR#593.886(E T (ZF—+F : ARM530.15067) « HRFEKANBSE.1%(ZF—+F : 88.1%) ©

UHT milk Revenue amounted to RMB29,688.7 million (2017: - In May 2018, Milk Deluxe launched another upgraded product Organic

UHT# RMB25,689.2 million), accounting for 50.0% of the Milk in the packaging that adopts the “DreamCap™” in place of the
revenue of the liquid milk segment (2017: 48.5%) traditional drinking straw, making it yet easier to carry and more practical.
WARARE296.887(EL(ZE—+5F : A\RK - Be#n_2—-\FLARLARER—FRALY)  ZERBERU
256.892{87T) * MHRAEIIHAS0.0%( =B —+5 : [BZ IBREGHRERAAR - RETHNNRBILRERY -
48.5%)

- Mengniu Pure Milk took on an upgraded packaging design that agreed
with World Cup themed promotion. Mengniu also launched the Prime
Ranch high calcium milk during the year to fill the high calcium milk gift
pack offer gap in the industry.
- FHAYTRRERRIRRAERG  RAEREEH - REUNF
- NELEEHERETD  BR TR RE PR BRNTISER -

- Inlate 2017, Mengniu introduced Future Star A28 Casein Pure Milk made
with premium milk in limited supply from selected designated ranches,
and has since raised the quality of children milk products.
SARE-TLEREEREEBIS - HRRERENAXEAB-B
ERMF RAREFNERME o
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Key products:

- Mik Deluxe

- Mengniu Pure Milk
Mengniu Flavored Milk
- Future Star

- Student’s Milk
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Product

category
ERmE

Milk beverages

LERRY

Yogurt
[E3)

Financial performance

g 3

Revenue amounted to RMB9,998.3 million (2017:
RMB9,879.8 million), accounting for 16.8% of the
revenue of the liquid milk segment (2017: 18.6%)
WARARHK99.983ET(—F—1F : AR¥98.798
fB)  ERAETMA16.8%(ZF—+F : 18.6%)

Revenue amounted to RMB19,701.6 million (2017:
RMB17,446.0 million), accounting for 33.2% of the
revenue of the liquid milk segment (2017: 32.9%)
BARAEE197.0168TL(Z2—t5F : A%
174.460(870) * IERAETHA33.2%( =B —+ 4 :
32.9%)

Highlights

L)

Yoyi C LC-37 series, which targets the professional probiotics beverage
market, has 50 billion active bacteria C in every 100 ml of the product,
500 times that of the national standard. It also has an exclusive 37°C
highly active bacterial strain, making it a revolutionary probiotics product
and marking a breakthrough of the technical bottleneck limiting the
low temperature probiotics industry before. During the World Cup
period, packaging featuring the national flag was launched for the series
complemented by “Scan the Code for Red Packet” promotion and the
Yoyi C brand gained popularity.

BHCHLC-378#MIARR RS - 100275 B500E 8 ICH -
BREREES0fE - FRBEBRT CREMMERE - TR TERT
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EARBREL T ERREERE AR OR - BEIRBACED - #
—SRAT RIERE -

Key products:

Yoyi C
Fruit Milk Drink
Suan Suan Ru

BHER -

#ic

- B&A

Just Yoghurt changed its packaging across the board to align with the
World Cup theme at the beginning of the year and under the “Pure
Flavor, Full Enjoyment” promotion slogan launched the new flavors
mango and passion fruit, lime-matcha-avocado, and vanilla. It also
introduced new PET bottle product Xiaomanyao and new grapefruit
flavor and fruit pulp yogurt were added at year end.
AFEENG—PRUERROE - UUIREME  ZZRYVEEE
A% REERAER  BERRPARNEESHOR - AF M
PETHREEH /B - W ERFIERTE T ALFOM O OR R RKLBER Y,

Milk Deluxe Yogurt is a product that combines patented bacteria from
the United States, the exclusive technique of Danone Group from
France and premium ingredients from all over the world. During the
year, continuing to uphold the “Not all yogurts are Milk Deluxe” spirt,
the brand explored the high-end yogurt market and launched six bottle
packaging that feature paintings of nature to enhance brand image.
Hmaky) RESFAENER  ZEDanoneXEBEATE R 2K
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Product

category Financial performance Highlights

EmmE MBRE B

- During the year, Champion stepped up promotion and education of
consumers regarding its “BB-12" bacteria content to bring under the
spotlight its positioning as a “professional and functional” yogurt.

- BmAlFNetTHERBB-12|RRNERBHE - #—SRMAIS
FIaelt IBRINE -

- Inlate 2017, Bio introduced the Kaquzi grain mix flavored yogurt to
meet demand for meal replacements. The product contains American
almonds and cranberries, Australian oats and pumpkin seeds, making
it the yogurt with the most of natural grain ingredients among similar
products in the Mainland market. Last November, Mengniu launched Bio
Shuangcenglaoru, its first stirred FOB yogurt.

- EfE_T+ERRECBIRMASARERT  THTRE A7
ZERKC  EUER  RNELE  BERLT - REARDTZARER
HERREENRNE - 2F T -AERBELEER  GREFHT
#% — SR BHAFOBREY -

- European Charcoal Yogurt expanded the series’ packaging specifications
and introduced new flavors like lime and yellow peach with pulps, etc.

- BARGERIRRZVEERE LHREEEE  BRRNSHORK-

Key products:

- Just Yoghurt

- Champion

- Milk Deluxe Yogurt

- Future Star Kid Nutritious Flavored Yogurt
- Inner Mongolia Solid Yogurt

- Bio

- European Charcoal Yogurt
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Product

category Financial performance Highlights

EmmE HHRR B

Ice Cream Revenue amounted to RMB2,723.4 million (2017: RMB2,513.1 million), accounting for 4.0% of Mengniu’s total revenue (2017: 4.2%)
TKCEH WABARE27 234 (ZF—+5F : AR¥K25.131ET) - HRFAWMAL0%(ZT—+F : 4.2%)

- Suibian launched the double-layer crunchy Belgium chocolate and cherry
jam ice cream, made with world-class technique and a premium selection
of ingredients from all over the world. It is the first of its kind in the country
and is positioned as a high-end product. A new strawberry and chocolate
flavor was also launched.

- BERLERELANBTR NERRER KT RALRERTIE
ERBERM  AAEE - EuRE  LINRELTEENRNARKE

- Mengniu created a customized World Cup football-shape ice cream
product - lce+ passion fruit flavor ice cream, and also launched Ice+
pineapple popsicle and four fruits wonder popsicle, which drew much
consumer enthusiasm.

- RANUHRENEREATSIKDRER—/+BRRAKREE - THL
J+BRKEMORTKEK - BEEEERIRE -

- The high-end ice cream brand Deluxe launched the new product wonder
color crunchy ice cream, coming in three popular flavors, namely matcha,
tiramisu and toffee, to please consumers’ palates.

- EWKERREERESEL QAR - EER TRRTHK
X RAKE  ARER=EOK  BEEETRZEZNER -

- Mood for Green added a new red bean flavor popsicle with the red beans
prepared using a secret recipe. Another new innovative product that hit
the market was the Bean Mill glutinous rice and red bean ice cream.

- RELERLHFORUBIATRE  SAEREWAABAT - SHINEHD
THRERARZZRRITER  TEANER -
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Product
category

EmmE

Financial performance
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- Mengniu’s Russian ice cream series had new members added, including
Russian milk block ice cream and Russian chocolate flavor ice cream.
They boast rich milk content, strong milk flavor and are smooth and
delicate on the palate.

= REAUKEM AT LB E @ A KA Tk O -

2BR IRRE - DRAR -

- Mengniu also introduced the Mengniu Premium Ranch milk and grape
flavor ice cream, marrying pure milk with grapes treated with a unique
recipe to give consumers a taste of pure and aromatic sweetness.

- FRRURBRFEHFNRTARSE  SE4FNEEWHRT - ORM
& -

Key products:

- Suibian

- Deluxe

- Mood for Green
- lcet+

- Russian

EYER:
- B
- EpEZ
- HEDE
A+
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Milk Formula  Revenue amounted to RMB6,017.4 million (2017: RMB4,042.1 million), accounting for 8.7% of Mengniu’s total revenue (2017: 6.7%)
% WABAREST4ETL(ZE—+F : AR¥K404218T) - ERFBWABT%(ZZ—+F : 6.7%)

- Yashily brand is dedicated to providing basic nutrients. Yashily Kieember
infant milk formula, canned in and imported from New Zealand, targets
the mid-range to high-end market and owns the patented INFAT™
active energy system, altogether five patents enabling it to take care of
the healthy growth of babies. Yashily Kieevagour and Yashily Qinérshi
are tailored for the mid-range market, with Yashily Qinérshuo having a
stronger appeal to the mass. The original Yashily formula completed
upgrading with enriched probiotics and lactoferrin content.

- BIFBRAEEREE  EhHmEEREEONELHETED TN
ENHRERTE - BEENINFATVEIRZE N Z 5 AEENZEWEE
B K BLFIEEREL IR AN Y, B AL ERENER
R RELFEATKEAFR  BRICGERRIEED

- Reeborne brings Chinese babies with organic purity from the Alps.
Qinyou series and Organic series of Reeborne completed packaging and
formula upgrade and focused on penetrating the organic market, as such

achieved significant growth.
- GEERNRENNARMFSETREE - HEENEKRIIRAHZ
. LT SIEERBEREA TR  TENBCARTENEE  BEREER -
HhiLESNE
12-36A 8 38

- Dumex, originated from Europe, is committed to conducting research on
Chinese babies” immune system in its bid to provide professional solutions
to satisfy the nutritional needs of infants and toddlers. The Diamor series
possesses dual patents in Europe and OPO structured fat, which is easy
to digest and absorb, and good for improving babies’ immune system.
The Boyoujia series contains patented prebiotics and is rich in nutrition,
being amiable and easy to absorb. Dumex goat milk series possess easy-
to-absorb small molecule protein together with whole goat milk protein
and OPO, thus producing Dumex domestic high-end goat milk, which is
good for preventing allergy. Dumex TruYn series is positioned to appeal
more to the mass with its precious lactoferrin and OPO structured fat
specially added.

- ZEHREEN  BHPETENERNTE  RRREPHRHERTK
RESEXBATE - HPAHFZI EARNEEZHNFMOPOLEN - BF
RELRY - RTREEEER) - HENZFISENR A RETAR -
BRENNE - RAHRY - ZEFEMAINNDFER - EHRYC 1
S2FARAMOPO « TESZABERMEN - BILBH - ZEHF
FIRMERE - HRRIZHIEERMOPOKIEN -
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- Arla Baby & Me organic formula, canned and imported from Denmark,
is originated from the world’s largest organic dairy producer. Arla Baby
& Me organic formula obtains certifications in 3 areas, namely hormone-
free, chemical fertilizer-free and pesticide-free. The whole single process
for milk formula to be produced from fresh milk is controlled by its own
ranch. Its quality organic formula contains rich DHA, whole lactose, well-

" i
5
J

: IR 1 proportioned prebiotics and it is positioned in the super high-end market.

. 2-36AM3E - AeERAZERNHAERERELED R 2REANERARE -

E = = AeBRERERIDEE=AERRE  TAHE - LEIRE B

=a. B da i —RIERE  BRHBRELE - ERERES  ARDHA- 2T &

r i _ﬁ. I SHPRET - EBEENS -

Ly - -
& L2 43T oo B

l-36HE e S —" - Last November, Yashili launched Doraler, which is originated from

B4 Australia and positioned in the super high-end goat milk market. It is

b absolutely canned and imported from overseas, containing 100% pure
goat milk protein, which is mild, smooth and easy to absorb, and contains
DHA and whole lactose.

- BIMREEt-RRENRL/FREEN  ERBERHENDS -
100%REREED - 100%AFAER  BAARE SR - WHEDHA
k2R -

- Yashili's products also include various adult milk powder products, such
as Mengniu brand adult milk formula, Youyi brand adult milk formula,
Youri brand middle-age and elderly milk formula, as well as Future Star
milk powder for children’s growth, and various soluble products such as
Zhengwei brand oatmeal and Yashily infant and toddler nutritional rice
cereal.

- BIFNERIERESZBRXADPMTLRBRATY - EEREKAD
B EHREREEND - ARAXEREXRPHNS BRF)RBER
DIEIFR MEER MELFIBNTEERNE o

Key products:

- Yashily Kieember and Kieevagour
- Reeborne

- Dumex Diamor

- ArlaBaby & Me

- Doraler

BHER

- R1FEH EE
- HEE

- BEHHE
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Other Products Revenue amounted to RMB847.7 million (2017: RMB585.4 million), accounting for 1.2% of Mengniu's total revenue (2017: 1.0%)
HitEm WABAREBATTRIL(ZE—+5 : ARKOSMET)  hFEFBKAL2%(ZF—+F < 1.0%)

- Adjustment and upgrade were carried out for the plant-based protein
beverage ZhiPuMoFang, a joint creation of Mengniu and WhiteWave. Its
Silk Americano Soymilk was launched in November 2017 in two flavors -
original and almond. It is made with freshly grinded soybeans and uses
the unique 8-second VTIS freshness preservation technology. During the
year, the North American mixed berries flavor was introduced.

- FHEWhiteWave ARV MENEO R mmEERES - HERETT
HEAAR  E_T—+FT-RARLOKEL TS RARTEHERS
BHVTISSH EERIT - FRIKREEAMENK - FAFELILERE
EROK -

- Mengniu joined hands with Arla Foods to introduce the professional
catering brand Arla Pro, with Arla shredded mozzarella as the debut
product. The product is produced in Mengniu’s cheese factory, using the
exclusive recipe and advanced techniques of Arla Foods plus premium
imported cheese from Denmark as the ingredient, to tap China’s cheese
market. Mengniu also launched new kids cheese cup and kids cheese
sticks under the children dairy product brand Arla Little Explorer in the
second half year. Its formula, apart from being low-sugar and low-sodium,
contains twice the protein content of other children cheese products in
the market.

— S4EFAla Foodsol# BX B mGAa Po - R EARE SHENY
B4 - RAArda FoodstVBRE A REETE - BERBAEMEONE
RER WERFONBIRETEE - EERANEDTS - FERTF
FERNEARE ) AR FRENRRRRRING  BRRENRAR
REMBG - BHER  BH EREIERME L ANRENRERD
mfE o

Key products:

Silk Americano Soymilk
Arla shredded mozzarella
Lao Qu Bei

Arla Little Explorer

BHER:

- SkEEZ

- ERRERHEBNZRG
- B#E

- ERRE/)FRZ
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PRODUCTION

Mengniu deploys its production capacity according to the potential
of relevant markets and its product strategy. As at December
2018, Mengniu had 38 production bases in China and one in New
Zealand, and together with the production base in Indonesia which
commenced operation at the end of November 2018, it had a total
production capacity of 9.75 million tons (December 2017: 9.22
million tons).

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Aspiring to become a world-class benchmark dairy enterprise,
Mengniu has aligned its operations with the United Nations
Sustainable Development Goals 2030. Adhering to its corporate
mission of “focusing on nutrition and health, delivering a drop
of happiness for every moment and every day to more people”,
it implements sustainable development strategy that covers all
its business endeavors while organizing a series of long term
corporate social responsibility activities like the “Inclusive Nutrition
Plan”, “Golden Key of Milk Cow” and “University of Ranchers”
to contribute to sustainable development of the society and the
environment.

Mengniu adopts the philosophy of green and low carbon
manufacturing in its production management by continuously
lowering the greenhouse gas and waste emissions in order to
promote the sustainable development in industry. Mengniu has
established the Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction
Committee headed by the CEO of the Group, and built up a three-
level “Group-Business Divisions-Factories” management structure.
During the year, Mengniu promoted the integrated utilization of
energy and continuously increased the proportion of green and
renewable energy such as solar energy, wind energy and biomass
energy, such that the total greenhouse gas emission can be
efficiently reduced. In 2018, with the outstanding performance
in energy saving and emission reduction, Mengniu was awarded
“Climate Leader Plant” by Energy Foundation and China Council for
an Energy Efficient Economy, being one of the four enterprises in
the first batch to win this reputation and the sole enterprise with this
honor among the domestic dairy industry.

S E
SHEREMBEIRERKBEHRER  HEZ
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As an important poverty alleviation project of Mengniu’s unique
“Nutrition-based Poverty Alleviation and Supporting Intellectual
Growth” program, Mengniu’s charitable “Student Milk Program”
which was initiated 15 years ago was upgraded in 2017 to the
“Inclusive Nutrition Plan” to match to the country’s “Healthy China”
strategy and call for more precise poverty alleviation. During the
year, via the “Inclusive Nutrition Plan” project, Mengniu cooperated
with the World Food Programme of United Nations to roll out a
preschool children nutrition improvement pilot project in Xiangxi,
Hunan. Moreover, the Group donated a total of approximately
4.42 million packs of student milk to 27,287 poor students and
left-behind children in 91 counties in 18 provinces, and provided
“lectures on nutrition” on campuses to educate schools, parents
and students. In addition, Mengniu and the Research Institute of
Food and Nutrition Development under the Ministry of Agriculture
and Rural Affairs of the PRC jointly published the “Blue Book on
Inclusive Nutrition for Children in Rural China”, the objective of
which is to help improve provision of nutrition to children in rural
area, especially poor children, and contribute to the success of the
“Healthy China 2020 strategy”.

Mengniu cares about achieving “win-win growth” with its
cooperative partners to support development of upstream ranches
in the dairy industry. Mengniu had to date conducted 19 technical
demonstration sessions under the “Golden Key of Milk Cow”
program to explain latest breeding and rearing techniques to over
4,500 ranch personnel in over 1,000 ranches. As for the “University
of Ranchers”, it provided free training to over 10,000 ranch staffers,
whereas the “Satellite Lectures” had accumulatively covered 470
innovative practical ranch technology topics reaching 39,000
times of participation, supporting multi-dimensional upgrade of
herd structure, feeding management, etc. at over 1,000 ranches.
The free online knowledge learning and exchange platform for the
industry “Ranchers Says” launched in 2018 new video training
courses given by nine experts in the national dairy industry.
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Mengniu has been active in fulfilling its corporate social
responsibility. Its related programs such as the “Inclusive Nutrition
Plan”, “Golden Key of Milk Cow” and “University of Ranchers”
have made outstanding contribution to charitable causes and, for
that, Mengniu enjoys high recognition from various parties in the
community. During the year, the Group received the “Golden Bee
Enterprise” award at the 13th China CSR International Forum, was
named among the “Top 50 Brands for Chinese Corporate Citizens’
Responsibility in 2018” and a “3-Star China Extraordinary Corporate
Citizen 2018” by the China Association of Social Workers and the
China Extraordinary Corporate Citizen Annual Awards Organizing
Committee, and garnered the “13th Annual People’s Corporate
Social Responsibility Award — Poverty Alleviation” from People’s
Daily Online and the “China Corporate Social Responsibility
Summit 2018 — Charitable Award” from xinhuanet.com. In addition,
Mengniu’s “Inclusive Nutrition Plan” received the “Asia Responsible
Entrepreneurship Award 2018 — Social Empowerment Category”
from Enterprise Asia. The poverty alleviation initiative of the Group
were also included in the “Blue Book of Poverty Alleviation for
Enterprises (2018)” of the Research Center for Corporate Social
Responsibility of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences and it
received the “Excellent Case in Poverty Alleviation 2018” jointly
awarded by the State Council Leading Group Office of Poverty
Alleviation and Development and the Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a total of about 41,031
employees in China, Hong Kong, Oceania and Southeast
Asia, including around 2,920 employees of Yashili. During the
year, total staff costs (including salaries of directors and senior
executives) amounted to approximately RMB6,248.6 million (2017:
RMB5,133.8 million).

In accordance with its pursuit of international development,
Mengniu succeeded in changing its human resources service
mode from “providing operational support” to “rendering strategical
support and efficient services”, building a new operation model
centered around the forging of “new business partner relationship”
and facilitated by a “shared services center”. During the year,
the Group set up the Human Resources Shared Services Center
(*HRSSC”) that brought together 11 platform systems and through
extensive use of automation technology, efficiently handled
administrative duties, freeing Human Resources Business Partners
(“HRBP”) and Centers of Expertise (“COE”) to focus on offering
value-added services to the Group’s businesses to help them grow.

In addition, Mengniu introduced the “Five Elements of Leadership”
model at the beginning of 2018 to build for the Group a unified
assessment system covering leadership training, evaluation of
team leaders and selection of talent for the Group, which was
implemented by each business division. Mengniu also optimized all
aspects of its personnel training system to provide training focusing
on four areas: orientation for new recruits, general capabilities,
professional skills and leadership skills, allowing every employee to
receive systematic training and education pinpointing their specific
requirement.

The Group renewed its corporate culture and refined the Mengniu
spirit, preserving its traditional cultural genes, and at the same
time enriching its cultural essence keeping up with the times. It
issued the “Mengniu corporate culture manual (2018 edition)” to
facilitate staff embrace of its corporate culture. In addition, through
such corporate culture activities like “Keep Running Mengniu”,
“Mighty Mengniu Rises to Challenges” and “Mengniu’s Gobi Desert
Challenges”, the Group continued to encourage the active and
aggressive “Wolf Culture” among all Mengniu staff, instilling in
employees the “Born for Greatness” spirit and value.

During the year, Mengniu optimized its existing incentive system
by implementing a rank-based authorization system, strengthening
the connection between work incentives for individual employees
and performance of the organization, and moving from focusing on
labor cost control to pushing up labor cost efficiency. During the
year under the long-term incentive plan in place, a total of 6,693,084
shares and 9,593,689 share options were granted under the share
award scheme and the share option scheme, respectively, to
employees participating in the schemes. In addition, 37,248,880
share options were granted to core management members under
the share option scheme to give them stronger motivation in leading
Mengniu advance towards higher business development goals and
fulfill the targets of the 2020 strategy.
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PROSPECTS

The effect of supply-side structural reform of the dairy industry will
become more apparent. Dairy product consumption in the market
is going to enter a period of rapid growth and the dairy industry will
move into a positive development cycle. In the face of consumption
upgrade, the dairy product industry needs to meet new requirement
in terms of quality, innovation and digital transformation. In 2019,
it is expected that cost of raw milk will remain steady with mild
increase and the industry will continue to see structural upgrade.
From the global perspective, China’s dairy industry has become a
new force powering development of the global dairy industry and a
“Global Dairy Community” is taking shape. The entire dairy industry
is committed to revitalizing the industry, aiming for the supply-side
structural reform of the industry to bring concrete results by 2020
and progress be seen with modernization of the industry that, by
2025, the overall quality level of products, competitiveness of the
dairy industry and consumption penetration of China will match
advanced global standards.

Looking forward, Mengniu will continue to strive for high quality
and sustainable growth, and achieve breakthroughs in boosting
brand power, channel power and its strength to innovate. The
four major business divisions will cooperate with new business
divisions in releasing the growth potential of new businesses,
while consolidating the strengths of traditional businesses. The
Group will push to accord with the consumption upgrade trend,
pool together its advantageous resources, focus on core product
categories and enhance its core products. For room temperature
product business, the focus will be on speeding up growth of
high-end categories like Milk Deluxe and Just Yoghurt will focus
on Xiaomanyao to achieve higher sales target. Furthermore,
Mengniu will work hard on market development for Champion and
Yoyi C, and further upgrade of the product structure and market
infrastructure of low temperature yogurt products to brace their
leadership in the chilled product market. In addition, Mengniu will
increase investment in new businesses like fresh milk to develop
new growth drivers, so as to inject new vigor and vitality into the
Group’s business and bring synergistic benefits to its traditional
businesses. Mengniu will continue to boost product innovation and
upgrade by employing latest industry technologies and aligning with
the world’s highest standards in upgrading product packaging,
flavor and function, creating new product categories, leading new
trends and developing new markets, as well as optimizing upstream
and downstream resources deployment.
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On the brand promotion front, taking advantage of the fully
enhanced brand power credited to World Cup-tied publicity,
Mengniu will continue to promote its “World-class Quality, Born for
Greatness” brand concept and tighten the emotional connection
between the brand and consumers, making Mengniu the most
favorite brand among consumers and in turn boost sales growth.
Moreover, through the synergistic cooperative efforts of the parent
brand and all the sub-brands and promotional initiatives across all
media and channels to fully release of media and resource power,
Mengniu will be able to fortify its image as a world-class brand.

To offer more nutritious and healthier products and higher quality
digital consumption experience, Mengniu will explore in depth the
consumer Big Data it has amassed to understand more precisely
consumers’ demands, keep pursuing digital upgrade of its entire
industrial chain and effectively expand consumption scenarios. It
will continue to develop its channels by expanding new channels
capitalizing on the advantages of its existing thriving e-commence
channel. At the same time, it will step up execution of RTM
strategy, hasten channel penetration in lower-tier markets, continue
channel innovation and upgrade projects like “Penetration into
Towns and Villages Project”, “Smart Network Action” and “Show
Sword Action” and steadily expand sales network and increase
sales volume, so that its business can excel in both quality and
quantity.

In collaboration with its three strategic shareholders, namely
COFCO Corporation and its subsidiaries, Danone Group and
Arla Foods amba, Mengniu will aim for better quality, with a more
ambitious vision and higher targets on its journey to become a
world-class Chinese dairy enterprise being able to take on yet
greater responsibility to society. Mengniu’s effective ties with World
Cup stands as another milestone in the internationalization of the
Mengniu brand, telling the Group to keep up the steady strides in
taking its business international, to lead dairy enterprises in Asia
and build a “Global Dairy Community”, realizing the sustainable
development of the global dairy industry. With the Yoyi C factory
in Indonesia in operation, Mengniu will speed up overseas
business deployment and set up an Oceania center to support
the deployment of “two overseas centers”, allowing its overseas
business to achieve leapfrog growth.

2019 marks a new development milestone — the 20th anniversary
— of Mengniu. The Group has grown and evolved from “Mengniu
of Inner Mongolia” to “Mengniu of the world” as one of the top
10 dairy enterprises worldwide. Mengniu will hold fast to its
determination to win belief of “Born for Greatness” to turn itself
into a world-leading Chinese dairy enterprise, speed up realizing its
“2020 Goal”, and enjoy new glory and thrive for a hundred years
and beyond.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lu Minfang, aged 50, was appointed as an executive director
and chief executive officer of the Company in September 2016.
Mr. Lu is the chairman and a non-executive director of Yashili
International Holdings Ltd (“Yashili”), a subsidiary of the Company
listed in Hong Kong and the chairman and a non-executive director
of China Modern Dairy Holdings Limited (“China Modern Dairy”),
an associate of the Company listed in Hong Kong. He was the
chief executive officer and an executive director of Yashili before
his appointment as chairman of the board of directors of Yashili.
Mr. Lu was also a director of the following subsidiaries of Yashili,
namely Yashili International Ltd., Yashili International Group
Limited, Newou Hong Kong International Co., Limited and Scient
International Group Limited. Mr. Lu was the Vice President (Greater
China) of Danone Early Life Nutrition Greater China and had been
with Danone Group and Dumex Baby Food Co. Ltd. for over 10
years. During his tenure at Danone Group, he demonstrated strong
strategic business and market planning capabilities. With strong
leadership, management skills and in-depth market knowledge, Mr.
Lu had contributed significantly to the success of Danone Group’s
baby nutrition business in China. Prior to joining Danone Group, Mr.
Lu spent 9 years with Johnson & Johnson (China) Company Limited
and almost 4 years with General Electric Company (China). Mr. Lu
has over 18 years of experience in sales and marketing and has
been in general manager or senior executive roles for over 7 years.
Mr. Lu has extensive experience in the management of fast moving
consumer products and dairy companies and has an excellent
grasp and in-depth knowledge of the PRC market. Mr. Lu obtained
his Bachelor’s degree from Fudan University in Shanghai.
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Ms. Wu Wenting, aged 55, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company in September 2016. Ms. Wu was the executive
deputy general manager and chief financial officer of China Foods
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, until September 2016. Ms.
Wu joined COFCO Group in 1992 and was the director of the Audit
and Discipline Department of COFCO Corporation from 2006 to
March 2014. Ms. Wu also held various positions in COFCO Group,
including the deputy general manager of the Finance Department
of China Liang Feng Grains Import & Export Company from 1994
to 2000 and the general manager of the Finance Department of
COFCO Qils & Grains Co., Ltd. from 2000 to 2006. Ms. Wu holds
a Bachelor of Arts degree in economics from Beijing Technology
and Business University and a Master of Arts degree in professional
accounting from Central University of Finance and Economics and
has extensive experience in financial management and auditing.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Yu Xubo, aged 53, was appointed as a non-executive director
and chairman of the board of directors of the Company in January
2019. Mr. Yu joined COFCO Corporation and/or its subsidiaries (the
“COFCO Group”) in 1988 and has been the president of COFCO
Corporation since April 2007. Mr. Yu has held several positions in
COFCO Group, including the general manager of COFCO Futures
Co., Ltd. and the vice president of COFCO Corporation. Mr. Yu is
also the managing director of COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited, and
holds directorship in several subsidiaries of the COFCO Group. Mr.
Yu is currently a non-executive director and chairman of the board
of China Foods Limited (a company listed in Hong Kong). He was a
non-executive director of China Foods Limited until February 2016.
Mr. Yu has also been a non-executive director of the Company until
September 2016, a non-executive director and chairman of the
board of China Modern Dairy until March 2017, a non-executive
director of Noble Group Limited (a company listed in Singapore)
until May 2017, and a non-executive director and chairman of the
board of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited (a company listed
in Hong Kong) until January 2018. Mr. Yu graduated from the
University of International Business and Economics and obtained a
Bachelor’s Degree in Economics. He subsequently also obtained
an Executive Master of Business Administration degree (EMBA)
from the China Europe International Business School.
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Mr. Niu Gensheng, aged 61, is a non-executive director of
the Company, a member of the founding team of Yili Group,
the founder of Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company
Limited and the founder of Laoniu Foundation. Mr. Niu graduated
from the Inner Mongolia University with a degree in Administration
and Management and obtained a Master’'s degree in Enterprise
Management from the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences
Graduate School. With extensive experience in and insights of
China’s dairy industry, Mr. Niu enjoys high reputation in the industry.
In 2007, Mr. Niu was elected as one of “China’s Most Influential
Business Leaders” for the fifth year, and was honoured the “2007
Hong Kong Bauhinia Award.” Mr. Niu is devoted to charity. He was
on the list of “China’s Top 10 Philanthropists” published by the
Ministry of Civil Affairs of the PRC in 2007 and ranked third in the
“2007 Hurun Top 10 for Charity”, and was presented the first and
only “Lifetime Achievement in Philanthropy Award” by the “China
Philanthropists List” in 2010.

Mr. Tim Orting Jorgensen, aged 54, was appointed as a non-
executive director of the Company in April 2016. He was a non-
executive director of the Company during the period from July
2012 to September 2013. Mr. Jargensen graduated from the
Copenhagen Business School in 1991 with a Master of Economics
degree, specialising in international strategy and marketing. He
joined Arla Foods amba (“Arla”) in 1991 and has held several
management positions in Arla’s international business group,
including working three years in the Middle East and three years in
Brazil. In 2005, he became the business group director for Arla’s
Danish division and, in 2007, he was appointed as executive vice
president, responsible for Arla’s international activities outside
Scandinavia and the United Kingdom. In 2012, he was appointed
to lead Arla’s newly established German/Dutch business group,
with the objective of establishing Arla as a leading dairy company
in Germany through mergers and acquisitions. Throughout his 28
years in Arla, Mr. Jorgensen has acquired extensive management
experience in international sales, brand building, supply chain
efficiency and general management. Mr. Jorgensen has especially
been focused on growing the business significantly both organically
and through acquisitions.
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Mr. Pascal De Petrini, aged 59, was appointed as a non-
executive director of the Company in December 2017. He is
currently Senior Vice President and Non-Executive Chairman Asia
at Danone. Mr. De Petrini has been working as senior management
in the food and beverage industry for more than 30 years. His
experience covers the full range of businesses, including sales and
purchase, factory management, supply chain, among others. Mr.
De Petrini joined Danone in 1984 and worked in France in the areas
of project management, factory demand and supply planning, and
sales as business development director and strategic committee
member. From 1998 to 2002, Mr. De Petrini was the general
manager of Danone’s biscuits business in China. Mr. De Petrini
returned to Paris in 2002 to work in the headquarters of Danone
as General Manager of Themis (global SAP program roll-out) until
2004. From 2004 to 2007, Mr. De Petrini worked in Indonesia as
general manager of Aqua, a bottled water company of Danone.
From 2007 to 2008, Mr. De Petrini worked as vice president of
Danone’s water business in Asia Pacific and was responsible
for the water and beverage business in China, Indonesia and
New Zealand. From 2008 to 2011, Mr. De Petrini worked as vice
president of Danone’s early life nutrition business in Asia Pacific
and was responsible for ten countries in the region, including
China. In 2011, Mr. De Petrini joined Fraser & Neave Ltd, a listed
company engaged in the food and beverage business across the
Asia Pacific region, as Chief Executive Officer until 2013, when he
joined the Fonterra Cooperative Group Ltd as managing director of
its businesses in Asia Pacific, the Middle East and Africa. In 2015,
Mr. De Petrini returned to Danone as Executive Vice President of
Strategic Resource Cycles till he took on his current role in 2017.
Mr. De Petrini graduated from Ecole Nationale Supérieure des
Mines de Nancy in France with a Master of Science in Engineering
degree in 1981 and obtained a Master of Science in Management
degree from ESSEC Business School in France in 1983.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), aged 53, was appointed as a
non-executive director of the Company in February 2004 and is a
vice-chairman of the board of directors of the Company. Mr. Jiao
was redesignated from a non-executive director of the Company to
an independent non-executive director of the Company with effect
from 12 April 2012. Mr. Jiao joined the Group in September 2002
and is currently a director and managing partner of CDH China
Management Company Limited. Mr. Jiao received a Bachelor’s
Degree in Mathematics from Shandong University and a Master’s
Degree in Engineering from the No. 2 Research Institute of the
Ministry of Aeronautics and Astronautics. Currently, Mr. Jiao also
serves as a non-executive director and deputy chairman of WH
Group Limited and an independent non-executive director of
China Southern Airlines Company Limited, both companies listed
in Hong Kong, a director of Joyoung Company Limited and a
director of Henan Shuanghui Investment & Development Co., Ltd.,
both companies listed in Shenzhen. Mr. Jiao was a non-executive
director of China Shanshui Cement Group Limited, a company
listed in Hong Kong, from 30 November 2005 to 16 May 2014.

Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt, aged 45, was appointed as a non-
executive director of the Company in January 2006 and was
redesignated from a non-executive director of the Company to an
independent non-executive director of the Company with effect from
12 April 2012. Mr. Wolhardt is currently the chief executive officer
of DCP Advisors, Limited focusing on private equity transactions in
the Greater China region. Mr. Wolhardt was previously with KKR Asia
Limited and Morgan Stanley responsible for private equity business
in China. Mr. Wolhardt is a certified public accountant and certified
management accountant and received a Bachelor’s Degree in
Accounting from the University of lllinois (Urbana-Champaign) in the
United States. Mr. Wolhardt currently serves as a non-executive
director of China Modern Dairy and a non-executive director of
COFCO Meat Holdings Limited, both companies listed in Hong
Kong. He is now also a director of Fujian Sunner Development
Co., Ltd, a company listed in Shenzhen, and an independent
director of Niu Technologies, a company listed on NASDAQ. He
was an independent non-executive director of China Cord Blood
Corporation, a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange,
from April 2012 to May 2015.
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Mr. Zhang Xiaoya, aged 56, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company in May 2009. Mr.
Zhang is a graduate of the Shandong University and the school
of management at the Beijing University of Aeronautics and
Astronautics and is a senior engineer. He is currently the chairman
of Zhong Ding United Dairy Farming Co., Ltd (h SIS MR DB
fR /A 7A]), as well as the chairman of Beijing Xindajiading Investment
Company Limited (Gt R{EEZRIKEBR A A, an independent
non-executive director of New Focus Auto Tech Holdings Limited,
a company listed in Hong Kong, and an independent director of
Guangzhou Zhujiang Digital Group (E/NERT S £ ). Mr. Zhang
previously served as a director and president of AirMedia Group
Inc., a company listed on NASDAQ, and the chairman of Unibank
Media (R EBEHEEE).

Mr. Yau Ka Chi, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company in October 2016. Mr. Yau has
over 30 years of professional accounting experience including
20 years in serving China enterprises. He had worked for Ernst
& Young for over 20 years in its Hong Kong, Toronto and Beijing
offices with primary focus on providing professional services
in accounting and audit, initial public offering, and corporate
restructuring before retiring in September 2015. During his
professional career with Ernst & Young, Mr. Yau was appointed as
the Professional Practice Director of Greater China from July 2007
to June 2009, the Assurance Leader for Northern China Region
from July 2010 to June 2014, the Oil & Gas Industry Leader of
Greater China from May 2012 to June 2015 and the Assurance
Leader of the Energy & Resources Markets Segment of Greater
China from July 2013 to June 2015. Mr. Yau is currently an
independent non-executive director of Yihai International Holding
Ltd. and China Power International Development Limited, both
companies listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Yau holds a professional
diploma in company secretaryship and administration from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) and is a member of the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, the lllinois Certified Public Accountants Society
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Yau also holds a certified public accountant license issued by the
lllinois Department of Financial and Professional Regulation, the
United States.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhang Ping, aged 54, graduated from the Beijing Information
Science and Technology University with a Master’s Degree in
Management Engineering. Mr. Zhang, who joined the Group in
2014, is currently the chief financial officer of the Group. He has
over 24 years of experience in the fast-moving consumer goods
industry, specializing in management of operation, finance and
audit, as well as risk control. Mr. Zhang worked in Swire Beverages
group companies as manager responsible for internal audit and
system development, finance director, general manager of bottler
manufacturing company and chief executive officer of Coca-
Cola Bottlers Manufacturing Holdings Limited. Mr. Zhang is also
a non-executive director of Yashili and China Modern Dairy, both
companies listed in Hong Kong.

Mr. Gao Fei, aged 42, is a vice president of the Group. Mr. Gao
joined the Group in 1999, and successively held the positions of
regional manager, center manager, sales director and general
manager of the sales department and contributed to the rapid
growth of the market share of Mengniu. Mr. Gao has abundant
practical experience in sales, marketing and promotion of dairy
products. In 2016, he was appointed as assistant vice president of
the UHT business division. He is currently responsible for operation
and management of the core business of the Group. Mr. Gao
obtained a Bachelor's degree from Shandong University, then an
Executive Master in Business Administration degree from Tsinghua
University.

Mr. Wen Yongping, aged 44, joined the Group in 1999 and is
currently a vice president of the Group and the general manager of
the chilled products business department. Mr. Wen graduated from
the Inner Mongolia Agricultural University and obtained a Master’s
Degree in Food Engineering. Mr. Wen once served as the general
manager of production direction centre, operations assistant vice
president and milk sources vice president in the Group, and is
experienced in production and operations management and milk
sources management. Mr. Wen was a non-executive director of
China Modern Dairy, a company listed in Hong Kong, until January
2019.
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Mr. Luo Yan, aged 57, joined the Group in November 2017 and
is currently a vice president of the new business division. Mr. Luo
graduated from the China Textile University and Fudan University,
and obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Textile Engineering and a
Master’s Degree in Business Administration respectively. Mr. Luo
joined General Mills China as national sales director in 1999; he
held the position of vice president (Greater China) in 2008 and was
responsible for overseeing Wanchai Ferry Business Department in
the Greater China region and sales in China region. In 2013, Mr.
Luo took up the role of global business director of Haagen-Dazs
at General Mills Minnesota Headquarters. He continued to be the
vice president (Greater China) of General Mills in 2014, and was
responsible for sales in China Region, as well as the retail and food
and beverage business department of Haagen-Dazs.

Mr. Zhao Jiejun, aged 42, joined the Group in 2000 and is
currently an assistant vice president and the general manager of the
milk sources business department of the Group, being responsible
for the operation and management of the milk sources business
department. Mr. Zhao graduated from the Beijing University of
Aeronautics and Astronautics with a postgraduate qualification. Mr.
Zhao has served successively as greater regional sales manager,
sales director, general manager of operation and general manager
of planning and logistics of the Group. Mr. Zhao has 18 years of
experience in dairy industry, with extensive experiences in sales
management of ice cream and liquid milk, as well as capabilities of
total-chain conceptualization for supply chain management. He is
visionary with keen market insight towards dairy industry in China.
Mr. Zhao is also a non-executive director of China Modern Dairy, a
listed company in Hong Kong.
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Mr. Zhang Zhaoxu, aged 45, joined the Group in July 2017, and
is currently a vice president of human resources. He graduated
from the Southeast University and Tianjin University and obtained
a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering and a Master’s Degree in
management respectively. Mr. Zhang had worked for various
Fortune Global 500 enterprises between 1996 and 2012, holding
management roles in human resources. In 2013, he joined China
Fortune Land Development Co., Ltd as general manager of the
human resources centre of City Developments Group. He joined
Glaxosmithkline (China) Investment Co. Ltd as human resources
director of consumer healthcare products business (China region)
in 2015.

Mr. Yu Weizu, aged 52, joined the Group in June 2017, and
is currently a vice president in research and development and
innovation. He graduated from the University of Minnesota
and Seton Hall University in the United States, and obtained a
Doctoral Degree in Food Science and Master’s Degree in Business
Administration respectively. Mr. Yu joined the Shanghai Institute
of Botany of the Chinese Academy of Sciences after graduation
from Fudan University in 1986; and he worked as a scientist and
research and development director in companies like PepsiCo
Group, Dupont, Kraft, etc. in the United States from 1994 to 2009;
he joined BIMBO as vice president of research and development in
2009; he was selected as the distinguished expert of the Thousand
Talents Plan and joined COFCO as chief scientist of Nutrition Health
Research Institute in 2012; he joined Ingredion Group as the vice
president of research and development in 2014.

Mr. Yang Zhigang, aged 46, joined the Group in June 2017, and
is currently a vice president of safety and quality management. He
graduated from the Huazhong Agricultural University and Central
China Normal University, and obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Food
Technology and Engineering and a Master’s Degree in Economics
respectively. Mr. Yang joined the Hubei Entry-Exit Inspection and
Quarantine Bureau as deputy section manager, section manager
and deputy director of the office in 1995; and he joined the
registration and administration department of Certification and
Accreditation Administration of the People’s Republic of China as
researcher, department head and vice inspector in 2002; he joined
COFCO as general manager and vice director of the quality and
safety management department, vice director of the audit and legal
risk control department in 2013.
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Mr. Zhang Yong, aged 42, joined the Group in September 2017,
and is currently a vice president of strategic management. Mr.
Zhang graduated from Nanjing University and Duke University in the
United States and obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Biology and a
Master’s Degree in Business Administration respectively. Mr. Zhang
joined P&G company as assistant brand manager of its marketing
department in 1996; he joined Reckitt Benckiser (China) Co. Ltd. as
marketing manager in 2000 while joining Boston Consulting Group
as project manager in 2006; in 2010, he worked as the strategic
executive director of Greater China region upon joining Starbucks
Corporate Management Company Limited and he joined Booz &
Company in 2010 as director of Greater China region; he joined
McKinsey & Company as global vice managing partner in 2014; in
2015, he joined Sanpower Group as vice president.

Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris, aged 46, the Financial Controller
and Company Secretary of the Company, joined the Group in
May 2007. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Kwok was the financial
controller of a Hong Kong listed company and he also served in
an international accounting firm. Mr. Kwok graduated from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Bachelor’s Degree in
Accountancy. Mr. Kwok is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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The Company is dedicated to ensuring high standards of
corporate governance with an emphasis on a diligent board of
directors, sound internal control, and increasing transparency and
accountability to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).
The Board acknowledges that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are beneficial to the Group and its
shareholders. The Company is committed to improving those
practices and maintaining its ethical corporate culture.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its
own code of corporate governance practices.

Throughout the year, the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”) has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
practices and is satisfied that the Company has been in compliance
with all applicable code provisions of the CG Code, save as
disclosed in the section headed “Nomination Committee” regarding
the composition of the Nomination Committee and except that the
chairman of the Board was unable to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) held on 4 May 2018 due to
other unavoidable business engagement outside of Hong Kong.

THE BOARD

As at 31 December 2018, the Board comprised ten Directors,
including two executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lu Minfang and
Ms. Wu Wenting, four non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ma
Jianping, Mr. Niu Gensheng, Mr. Tim Qrting Jorgensen and Mr.
Pascal De Petrini and four independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt,
Mr. Zhang Xiaoya and Mr. Yau Ka Chi. The Chairman of the Board is
Mr. Ma Jianping and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is
Mr. Lu Minfang. Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) is a Vice-Chairman
of the Board.

Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2018 and with effect
from 7 January 2019, Mr. Ma Jianping resigned as a non-executive
Director and the Chairman of the Board and the chairman of each
of the Nomination Committee and the Strategy and Development
Committee due to change of work, and Mr. Yu Xubo was appointed
as a non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Board and the
chairman of each of the Nomination Committee and the Strategy
and Development Committee.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and management of the
Company. Key responsibilities of the Board comprise formulation of
the Group’s overall strategies and policies, setting of performance
and management targets, evaluation of business performance
and supervision of management’s performance. The Board is also
responsible for preparing the financial statements of the Company.
The management is delegated with the authority and responsibility
by the Board for the management and operations of the Group.
The role of the management is to implement the strategies
and directions determined by the Board and to work within the
framework of any written procedures and instructions laid down
by the Board. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the board committees of the Company (the “Board
Committees”) as detailed in this report.
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Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 52 to 57 of the
annual report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,
experience and qualifications of the Directors. There is no other
material financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among the Directors.

Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors
The independent non-executive Directors possess appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Their role is to provide independent and
objective opinions to the Board for its consideration and decisions.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has
assessed their independence and concluded that all independent
non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with the
definition of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for determining the policies for corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules (Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report).

During the year, the Board has performed the corporate
governance functions by reviewing the Company’s corporate
governance practices.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAININGS

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations.
The Company Secretary also provides Directors with updates on
latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Company has provided the Directors with reading
materials with appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and
duties of the Directors. A summary of trainings received by the
Directors during the year according to the records provided by the
Directors is as follows:

Directors

B
BEAMZINEFTHREATNREENNLE
£t NREREH AR BHEEREBARKTE
HEES AR RRAIRERTHBRENEEE
IR - REMETETRRNESREBHA LT
MR AR AR IR R EN R ERLE
BHORAT AR o

ALAHBFERELEBETLER  URE
WEFEMBBILE - AAANEBREEES
AETNAL  MEREENSBHEY - BEE
FARMMRS  EERERFES 0
m

Type of trainings

R

Executive Directors HITESE

Lu Minfang E B A B, C
Wu Wenting RXIE A, C
Non-executive Directors FHITES

Ma Jianping BT A, C
Niu Gensheng HRAE A C
Tim Qrting Jergensen Tim Qrting Jergensen A B, C
Pascal De Petrini Pascal De Petrini A B, C
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHTES

Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) ERE(XBER) A B, C
Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt A C
Zhang Xiaoya R A, C
Yau Ka Chi EEN A, C

HEREBREERETUNAI SR NEE
&/ SimiE

A attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums relevant to the A :
business or directors’ duties

EHFE R EHER IimE L ERER

B: giving talks at seminars and/or conferences and/or forums B:

C:  reading materials relating to directors’ duties and responsibilities and C: RIEREERENSEMGHREERLEHENE
regulatory updates Sk
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BOARD PROCEEDINGS

The Board meets at least four times a year and additional
operational meetings are also held, when required. The Company
Secretary is responsible for preparing agenda and notices for the
meetings. Senior management of the Group also provides the
Directors with relevant information on a timely basis regarding
key business developments of the Group and issues affecting
the Group. Agenda and other information packages are normally
delivered to the Directors before the meetings. The Directors also
have independent access to the senior management in respect
of operational issues. The Directors may take independent
professional advice where appropriate to discharge their duties, at
the Company’s expenses.

The Board held four meetings during the year ended 31 December
2018 and one further meeting since 1 January 2019 up to the date
of this report. Details of the Directors’ attendance at the Board and
Board Committee meetings and the annual general meeting of the
Company held in 2018 are set out in the following table.

Board
Meetings*

LELEE )

Directors

Executive Directors YiTES

LuMinfang B9 44
Wu Wenting SXE 4/4
Non-executive Directors HUTES

Ma Jianping SR 44
Niu Gensheng RE 1/4
Tim @rting Jorgensen Tim @rting Jorgensen 4/
Pascal De Petrini Pascal De Petrini 3/4
Independent Non-executive Directors BUkHfES

Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zher) ERB(NEEE) 34
Julian Juul Wolharalt Julian Juul Wolhardt 414
Zhang Xiaoya FED 44
Yau Ka Ohi 855 44
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Remuneration
Committee

Fnzeg

313 il

22 0
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13 0A

22 33 0A

12 313 il

22 01

33 22 22 17
33 0A
33 1n

During the year, the Company held four quarterly meetings to
handle operational-level and investment matters. According to the
Company’s articles of association, the quorum for convening a Board
meeting is two members.

* RRABNFRETTORFTEEGHE  NREEE
BERKRESEE - REAQRAZEEZM -
BREFSEEMNEEABR A -



China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FES4 I E£GR AT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT ¥ &4k &

Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees are
kept by the Company Secretary of the Company and are not only
open for inspection by the Directors but also sent to the Directors
for their records. All Directors have access to the Company
Secretary of the Company, who is responsible for ensuring that the
Board procedures are complied with and advising the Board on
compliance matters.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief
Executive Officer to ensure a balance of power and authority. The
Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the Board
while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for managing the
Group’s business. For the financial year ended 31 December 2018,
the Chairman of the Board is Mr. Ma Jianping, a non-executive
Director, and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is Mr. Lu
Minfang, an executive Director.

The Chairman shall ensure that Board meetings are planned and
conducted effectively and all Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings. He is also responsible for ensuring that
the Directors receive adequate information in a timely manner,
which must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable. The Chairman
shall also ensure the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibilities; all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the
Board in a timely manner; good corporate governance practices
and procedures are established; and appropriate steps are taken to
provide effective communication with Shareholders and that views
of Shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Each Director (for the avoidance of doubt, including the
independent non-executive Directors) has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years. The
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
each annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with
article 112 of the Company’s articles of association. Directors
appointed as an addition to the Board or to fill a casual vacancy on
the Board will be subject to re-election by the Shareholders at the
next following annual general meeting or the next following general
meeting of the Company respectively after the appointment.
Also, when an independent non-executive Director proposed for
re-election has served the Company for more than nine years, his
or her re-election will be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved at the AGM.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to
assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Company has
established four Board Committees under the Board, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Strategy and Development Committee, each
of which is governed by specific terms of reference approved by
the Board, covering its functions, duties and powers. The terms
of reference of the respective Board Committees have complied
with the CG Code provisions and are disclosed on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange and are available for public
inspection at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2018, the Remuneration Committee comprised
three members, two of whom are independent non-executive
Directors (Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt and Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao
Zhen)) and the remaining one member is an executive Director (Ms.
Wu Wenting). The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Julian
Juul Wolhardt.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review annually
and recommend to the Board the overall remuneration policy and
structure for the directors and senior management to ensure that
the level of remuneration is linked to their level of responsibilities
undertaken. These shall include making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment. The Remuneration Committee shall also evaluate
annually the performance of the directors and the senior
management and recommend to the Board specific adjustments in
their remuneration and/or reward payments.

The Company’s policy on remuneration is to maintain fair and
competitive packages based on business needs and industry
practice. For determining the level of fees paid to members of
the Board, market rates and factors such as each director’s
workload and required commitment will be taken into account.
In addition, factors comprising economic and market situations,
individual contributions to the Group’s results and development as
well as individual potential are considered when determining the
remuneration packages of executive Directors.
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The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2018. During the year, the Remuneration
Committee had performed the following:

— assessed the performance of the Directors and senior
management;

— reviewed and approved the remuneration for the Directors
and senior management including terms of the letters of
appointment;

—  reviewed the remuneration policy and made recommendations
to the Board;

— reviewed the proposal of granting share options according
to the Company’s share option scheme, and made
recommendations to the Board; and

— reviewed the proposal of granting shares according to the
Company’s share award scheme, and made recommendations
to the Board.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (RMB)

AR (AR%¥T)

1,000,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-3,000,000
3,000,001-4,000,000
4,000,001-5,000,000
9,000,001-10,000,000

FEZEeREE—_T-\F+_A=1T—AHL
FERITTMAEH - AFEAN HFHEREE=
BT NIRRT E

- FHEEZRESAEEENRAE

- BEARMAEEELREREEBNHH B8
RIEERIR

— REFMEELMESRIE LR

D AR AR BRI AR R A0
b

=
£OVAEFSRELES M

BB AL ARRE LD R ERED S
R WAEFERERE -
EEREREERETH

HE_T—)/\FT+ZA=+—HILEFE  &RE
R BIRARIE D FMESIIT

Number of persons

AB

—_ A = =

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 9 and 10 to
the financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2018, the Nomination Committee comprised
four members, one of whom is an independent non-executive
Director (Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt) and the remaining three
members are non-executive Directors (Mr. Ma Jianping, Mr. Tim
@rting Jorgensen and Mr. Pascal De Petrini). The Nomination
Committee was chaired by Mr. Ma Jianping during 2018.

Code Provision A.5.1 of the Corporate Governance Code provides
that an issuer should establish a nomination committee which
is chaired by the chairman of the board or an independent
non-executive director and comprises a majority of independent
non-executive directors. The Company deviates from this provision
as less than half of the members of the Nomination Committee are
independent non-executive Directors during the year of 2018. The
Directors are of the view that each of Mr. Tim Jrting Jargensen
and Mr. Pascal De Petrini is able to carry out his responsibilities
as a member of the Nomination Committee in the best interest of
the Shareholders notwithstanding that he is not an independent
non-executive director as required under Code Provision A.5.1.

The responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to determine
the nomination policy, review the structure, size and composition,
including the skills, knowledge and experiences of the Board and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes. The Nomination Committee is also responsible for
identifying and nominating suitable candidates qualified to become
Board members, in particular, candidates who can add value
to the management through their contributions in the relevant
strategic business areas and which appointments will result in the
constitution of a stronger and more diverse Board, and makes
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors if necessary and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman and
the chief executive of the Company.
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The Board has adopted a director nomination policy. The
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt of
the proposal on appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out below to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship. The Nomination
Committee should then recommend to the Board to appoint the
appropriate candidate for directorship, as applicable. In evaluating
and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following criteria
should be taken into account:

e Character and integrity.

e Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
board diversity policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy.

e Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board.

° Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Hong Kong Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the Hong Kong Listing
Rules.

e Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board
in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and
gender diversity.

e  Wilingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s)
of the Company.

e Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning.
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The Board has adopted the board diversity policy to set out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. Under such policy,
board appointments will be based on merits and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefit of diversity on the Board. The selection of candidates on
the Board is based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity,
professional, industry or management experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Company will also take into account
other factors based on its own business model and specific
business needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee
will continue to give adequate consideration to these measurable
objectives when making recommendation of candidates for
appointment to the Board. The Nomination Committee shall
monitor the implementation of the board diversity policy on an on-
going basis. The Nomination Committee shall assist the Company
to ensure that recruitment and selection practices at all relevant
levels (including the Board and core senior management, or as the
Nomination Committee considers appropriate) are appropriately
structured so that a diverse range of candidates are considered.
The Nomination Committee shall also assist the Company in
identifying and implementing programs that will assist in the
development of a broader and more diverse pool of skilled and
experienced core senior management team and that, in time, their
skills are expected to prepare them for board positions.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2018 to discuss the amendment of its terms
of reference and the Board diversity policy and the adoption of
the director nomination policy during the year and to assess the
independence of the independent non-executive directors of
the Company and to review the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board, etc.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt,
Mr. Zhang Xiaoya and Mr. Yau Ka Chi) in which two possess the
relevant professional qualifications required under the Listing Rules.
The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Yau Ka Chi.

The Audit Committee serves as a focal point for communication
between other Directors, the external auditors, and the
management as their duties relate to financial and other reporting,
risk management, internal controls and auditing. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by
providing an independent review of financial reporting and by
satisfying itself as to the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
controls and as to the efficiency of the audits.
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The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended
31 December 2018. During the year, the Audit Committee has

performed the following:

and findings of their audit and interim review works;

- reviewed external auditors’ management letter and

management’s response;

- reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval of the

external auditors’ remuneration;

- made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment

of the external auditors;

- reviewed the external auditors’ independence, objectivity and

the effectiveness of the audit process;

- reviewed and monitored the integrity of financial statements,
annual and interim reports, and annual and interim results

announcements of the Company;

- reported to the Board on matters relating to the Audit

Committee under the CG Code;

- reviewed the Group’s financial controls, internal control and

risk management systems;

- reviewed the amendment of the terms of reference of the

Audit Committee;

- discussed auditing, internal control, risk management and
financial reporting matters before recommending them to the

Board for approval; and

- reviewed the arrangements that employees of the Company and
those who deal with the Company can use, in confidence, to
raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,

internal controls or other matters.

met with the external auditors to discuss the general scope
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All issues raised by the external auditors and the Audit Committee
have been addressed by the senior management. The work and
findings of the Audit Committee have been reported to the Board.
During the year, no issues brought to the attention of the senior
management and the Board were of sufficient significance for
disclosure in the annual report.

Other than the reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditors
(please refer to the independent auditor’s report set out on pages
105 to 112), the Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Group which give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position as at 31
December 2018 and the consolidated financial performance and
cash flows of the Group for the year then ended.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems and for
reviewing their effectiveness. The objectives of the risk management
and internal control of the Group are: to rationally establish a
comprehensive risk management system in a scientific manner
and to apply the concepts, philosophies, procedures, methods
and tools of risk management throughout the establishment and
implementation of strategies for effectively managing the risks
while reasonably ensuring the realization of the Group’s strategic
objectives and operation objectives and propelling the sustainable
development of the enterprise. Such risk management and internal
control systems are designed for managing risks rather than
eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Group has set up a comprehensive risk management and
internal control system, forming a scientific and effective system
for segregation of duties and three lines of defense in risk
management, with the first line being each of the business units;
the second line being the Risk and Internal Control Management
Committee (hereinafter referred to as “Risk Control Committee”),
risk management department and each of the function supervision
departments while the third line being the internal audit and
disciplinary review function.
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Risk Management

The Group has set up a risk management framework comprising
Risk Control Committee, the risk management department and
the risk management commissioners of each business unit, and
has clearly outlined the responsibilities of each risk management
unit. The Group, through complying with the risk management
framework under COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission) and by ways of introducing external
consultation bodies for providing guidance and training on risk
management and advocating the culture of risk management,
etc., has gradually enhanced the professional standard of the risk
management staff.

The Group has established a comprehensive framework for risk
management, with a fundamental standard of risk management
basically formulated, adopting a rotational management method of
risk identification, risk evaluation, risk responses, risk control and
risk reporting to commence the work on risk management, where
the Audit Committee, the risk control committee of the management
and the risk management department of the Group are responsible
for the supervision and implementation of such measures. The
risk management department of the Group follows the principle of
“building the concepts of risk management, implementing the risk
management policies, and focusing on significant risk management
and control” and through annual full-scale identification and
precise research and judgement by each of the business and
function units on the risks in seven aspects, namely, the Group’s
strategies, market, finance, operation, law and compliance, quality
and food safety as well as sustainable development, it focuses
on the control over the significant risks at the Group level and the
business division/function level, and it has formulated appropriate
risk response strategies to effectively reduce and avoid the adverse
impact brought by such significant risks to the Group’s strategic
objectives, operation objectives and sustainable development.

In 2018, the Group adopted a management principle of different
levels and ranks, with significant risks against different levels and
ranks assigned to the responsible departments and personnel
for the formulation of appropriate strategies, measures and
contingency plans on risk responses, which are implemented
upon approval by the “chief decision maker” of the responsible
department. The risk management department of the Group and
the risk management commissioner of each of the business units
performed follow-up supervision on the process and results of the
significant risk responses, with an aim to recognise any outstanding
risks and enhance the first line of defense with a supplement
to perfect the measures on risk responses in order to deal with
the material adverse factors which affect the realisation of the
corporate’s strategic and operation objectives.
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The chief executive officer of the Group and the Party secretary of
the Group who is in charge of risk control and auditing business
serve as the chairman and the executive deputy chairman of the
Risk Control Committee respectively while the committee members
comprise the head of the major business divisions and functional
departments. The Risk Control Committee has set up a specialized
risk management department which will be responsible for day-
to-day management and the risk management department will
report to the Risk Control Committee regularly on their works in risk
management. Meanwhile, reporting will be made at least twice a
year to the Audit Committee on their works in risk management and
the Audit Committee will evaluate and supervise the work of the
Risk Control Committee.

Internal Control

The Board is responsible for maintaining an established and
effective internal control system, to safeguard the assets of the
Group and the interest of shareholders, and for reviewing its
effectiveness regularly. The Group has established a series of
written working system covering management of production,
supply and sales, quality management, financial management, legal
management and administration. A stringent system is in effect to
examine the performance of staff, and the staff are provided with
trainings, in order to control the Group’s exposure to significant
risks.

Aiming at strengthening the risk management culture of the Group
and minimizing the impacts of the major risks on the business and
earnings of the Group, the senior management of the Group meets
to actively evaluate and review the significant risks to which the
Group is exposed to and reports to the Board on a regular basis.
The Group also appoints external consultants, when considered
appropriate, to review the Group’s internal control, working systems
and workflows, as well as the management systems, and to make
suggestions on system enhancement.

The Board has reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 and
considered them to be effective and adequate.
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Internal Audit

The Group has set up an independent internal audit department
which will directly report to the Party secretary of the Group
who is in charge of risk control and auditing business and the
Audit Committee. In addition to maintaining objectivity and
independency, the internal audit department also adheres to
the management philosophy of “focusing on significant risks,
prompting the improvement in management and increasing the
value of the enterprise”, and the standard of “objectivity, integrity,
capability and confidentiality”, with a view to constantly raising the
quality of internal audit, adopting scientific and systematic ways to
evaluate the effectiveness of the Group in corporate governance,
risk management and control, procuring consistent improvement
thereon, enhancing the value of the enterprise and reasonably
ensuring the realization of corporate strategies and operation
objectives.

In 2018, the internal audit department has completed the
formulation of annual audit plan and the layout of audit requirements
of the management approved by the management and the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee has also monitored and reviewed
the effectiveness and result of the work of internal audit. Based on
the risk assessment and the needs of the management, the internal
audit department conducted internal audit and project audit in the
risks areas that were significant to the Company and attached
great importance to the follow-up and rectification in relation to the
audit findings, which promoted the effective coping of significant
operational risks and the improvement in management. Meanwhile,
further improvements on internal audit system and operation
guidance have been carried out by internal audit based on the
relevant requirements of Certified Internal Auditor (CIA), such
that a certification system is built up to ensure the compliance
and efficient operation of organizations, which enhances the risk
awareness of business units and their self-control capability through
continuous efforts on improving internal control.

The internal audit department attends the Audit Committee
meeting and reports the work on internal audit at least twice a
year. Significant audit findings can be directly and freely reported
to the Audit Committee. Resources such as the annual budget
on management fee, staffing of the internal audit department and
competence are guaranteed to be taken into consideration by the
Audit Committee and necessary support will be provided. This is to
ensure that sufficient audit resources are allocated to the internal
audit department for effective fulfilment of annual work objectives
and responsibilities.
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Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Group has formulated an internal Code on Information
Disclosure to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and
timeliness of information disclosure of the Group in accordance
with the requirements of the SFO and the Listing Rules. The Internal
Code provides for detailed rules in the following areas.

- basic principles of information disclosure
- information that needs to be disclosed and the criteria thereof
- duties of the parties responsible for information disclosure

- procedures for the circulation, review and disclosure of
information

- confidentiality of the undisclosed information

- information communication system with investors, securities
analysts and the media, etc.

- accountability and handling measures

Disciplinary Inspection and Reporting Channels

The Group has set up a specific disciplinary inspection department,
which is responsible for investigating and handling reported matters
on breach of disciplines or rules, misconducts and corruptions.
This is to demonstrate openly to our business partners and staff on
the channels and methods of reporting. Such measures include we
published the channels and methods (including phone and email)
of reporting on the Group’s website; we added an anti-corruption
module in the “Mengniu Voice” column of China Mengniu in
WeChat, in which we announced the methods of reporting and
acceptance scope; we sign the anti-business bribery contracts at
the same time when we sign business contracts with suppliers and
business partners, in which we set out the methods of reporting;
we announce the methods of reporting at our annual meetings with
customers and our annual employee meetings; we announce the
methods of reporting during the internal anti-corruption trainings
held in our daily operations; we issue two typical case reports of
discipline inspection and supervision and the methods of reporting
periodically every year; and we publish the methods of reporting
before the opening of bidding meetings for bidding activities. At
present, the methods of reporting are published through various
channels. Employees, suppliers and business partners are familiar
with our methods of reporting and the channels of reporting are
operating smoothly. Such measures would have a deterrent and
preventive effect on matters related to breach of disciplines or
rules.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee
carried out review and evaluation on the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems and reporting channels, the resources,
the staff qualification and experience for audit functions and the
effectiveness of the work undertaken and there were no significant
areas of concerns identified during the evaluation of the risk
management and internal control systems and reporting channels.
The Board had examined the risk management and internal control
systems including financial, operational and compliance controls
and reviewed the evaluation performed by the Audit Committee,
the management and internal and external auditors, on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and considered them effective and adequate. No
significant areas of concerns were identified.

The Board also reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions and their training programmes and
budget and considered that they are adequate.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Group’s independent external auditors are Ernst & Young. The
Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment of the external
auditors and reviewing the non-audit functions performed by the
external auditors for the Group. In particular, the Audit Committee
will, prior to the execution of contract with external auditor and the
commencement of their duties, consider whether the non-audit
functions will result in any potential material conflict of interest.

Details of fees paid or payable to Ernst & Young for the year ended
31 December 2018 are as follows:
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Services rendered
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2018
—E-N\F

RMB’000
ARBTR

2017
—F—tF
RMB’000
ARET T

Annual audit FEER 4,200 4,100
Interim review R HEAZE R 800 700
Other audit services HA TR AR 2,635 2,400

Non-audit service FETET AR
Review on continuing connected transactions ERRFERERS 50 50
Other professional services* HEmE RS 1,245 2,150
8,930 9,400

*

Other professional services include agreed-upon procedures services,
options incentives scheme consultation service and IT consultation
service, etc.

* Hih S XERBEHEZFRY - BRAEE
IR TS A5 B B aE AR A S
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In addition to the above fees paid or payable to the auditors,
Yashili, a subsidiary of the Group listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, has an amount of RMB2,983,000 (2017:
RMB2,726,000) paid/payable as auditors’ remuneration during
the year.

The Board is satisfied with the audit fees, process and effectiveness
of Ernst & Young and has recommended their reappointment as
the Company’s external auditors at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

STRATEGY AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
The Company has established a Strategy and Development
Committee on 27 August 2009. As at 31 December 2018, the
Strategy and Development Committee comprised one executive
Director, Mr. Lu Minfang, four non-executive Directors, Mr. Ma
Jianping, Mr. Niu Gensheng, Mr. Tim @rting Jergensen and Mr.
Pascal De Petrini. The Strategy and Development Committee was
chaired by Mr. Ma Jianping during 2018.

The principal duties of the Strategy and Development Committee
include drawing up long-term development strategies and
significant investments on financing plans of the Company,
proposing significant capital investment for operation projects, and
conducting studies and making recommendations on important
matters that would affect the development of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The
Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board
process, as well as communication among Board members, with
Shareholders and management. For the year ended 31 December
2018, the Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there is no significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted, in terms no less exacting than, the
standard required by the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules as the Company’s code of conduct and rules governing
dealings by all the Directors in the securities of the Company (the
“Model Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors,
the Company confirms that, during the year ended 31 December
2018, all the Directors have strictly complied with the Model Code.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy to set out the
principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply in
relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net profits as
dividends to the Shareholders.

In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth as well as its shareholder value.
The Board has the discretion to propose, declare and distribute
dividends to the Shareholders, subject to the articles of association
of the Company and all applicable laws and regulations and the
factors set out below.

° financial results;

° cash flow situation;

° business conditions and strategies;

° future operations and earnings;

° capital requirements and expenditure plans;
° interests of Shareholders;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

° any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATIONS

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor
relations and communications. Regular meetings are held with
institutional investors and financial analysts to ensure two-way
communications on the Company’s performance and development.
When the Company announces its interim and annual results,
briefings are conducted to apprise investors, analysts and the press
of the Group’s operating results as well as business strategies and
outlook. Investor relations website is updated on a timely basis to
ensure that investors are able to have access to the Company’s
information, latest news and reports.
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Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings for each
substantially separate issue, including election of Directors. Poll
voting has been adopted for decision-making at shareholders’
meeting. Details of poll voting procedures were included in the
circular dispatched to the Shareholders. The circular also included
relevant details of proposed resolutions and biographies of the
Directors standing for election.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by Shareholders

According to the articles of association of the Company, any two or
more Shareholders or any one Shareholder which is a recognized
clearing house (or its nominee(s)) holding as at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall have the right, by written requisition, to
convene an extraordinary general meeting by depositing the written
requisition at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong at
32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary, specifying
the objects of the meeting, the name(s) and contact details of the
requisitionist(s) and signed by the requisitionist(s).

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within
a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner as
that in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided
that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

For enquiries to the Board, the Shareholders may contact the
Company Secretary at the Hong Kong office of the Company at
32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong or by email to info@mengniuir.com. The Company
will endeavor to respond to their queries in a timely manner.
Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Directors at the
general meetings of the Company.

In addition, the Shareholders can contact Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, the share registrar of the Company
in Hong Kong, if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings
and entitlements to dividend.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by Shareholders

A Shareholder may, during the period commencing no earlier than
the day after the despatch of the notice of any general meeting and
ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such general
meeting, give a notice in writing to the Nomination Committee of
the Company of his/her intention to propose any person (other than
himself/herself) for election to the office of a Director and a notice in
writing signed by the person to be proposed of his/her willingness
to be elected. Such notices shall be sent to 32nd Floor, COFCO
Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, for
the attention of the Company Secretary, specifying the name and
contact details of the shareholder putting forward the proposal for
election of Director and the name and contact details of the person
proposed to be elected.

Other than the above concerning a proposal of a person for
election as a Director, Shareholders may follow the procedures
set out above to convene an extraordinary general meeting for any
business specified in such written requisition.
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The Board presents its report together with the audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018. The business review of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018 is set out in the sections headed “CEQ’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate
Governance Report” of this Annual Report. The discussions therein
form part of this Report of the Directors.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and distribution
of quality dairy products including liquid milk (such as UHT milk,
milk beverages and yogurt), ice cream, milk formula and other
products (such as plant-based protein beverage and cheese)
in China. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the year under review.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
the financial statements.

The Group’s revenue is derived principally from business activities
in China. An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year
ended 31 December 2018 by business segments is set out in note
4 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group including a fair review of
the Group’s business, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial
year, an indication of likely future development in the Group’s
business, key performance indicators, environmental policies and
performance, and the Group’s key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers and others that have a significant impact
on the Group and on which the Group’s success depends is set
out in the sections of this annual report headed “CEQ’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and in the notes to the
financial statements.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s main operations are carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group’s operations are mainly
regulated by Hong Kong and PRC laws. During the year ended
31 December 2018 and up to the date of this report, the Board
was not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company.

Please refer to the discussions in this report and the “Corporate
Governance Report” for further details on the Group’s compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations.

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 113.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of RMBO0.181 (2017: RMBO0.12) per share, amounting to
approximately RMB710,915,000 (2017: RMB471,283,000) in total,
to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
on Thursday, 13 June 2019.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 118 to 119 and note
52 to the financial statements. The Company’s distributable
reserves, calculated in accordance with statutory provisions
applicable in the Company’s place of incorporation, amounted to
approximately RMB11,346,550,000 as at 31 December 2018 (2017:
RMB11,575,796,000).
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DONATIONS
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during
the year amounted to approximately RMB28,637,000 (2017:
RMB20,555,000).

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

During the year, the Company issued 346,922 ordinary
shares (2017: 2,333,946 ordinary shares), fully paid, for a total
consideration of RMB4.5 million (2017: RMB23.9 million) as a result
of the exercise of share options under the share option scheme of
the Company.

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 38 and 41 to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2018 were:

Executive Directors
Lu Minfang
Wu Wenting

Non-executive Directors
Ma Jianping

Niu Gensheng

Tim Qrting Jergensen
Pascal De Petrini

Independent Non-executive Directors
Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen)

Julian Juul Wolhardt

Zhang Xiaoya

Yau Ka Chi

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period and up to the date
of this report, Mr. Ma Jianping resigned as a non-executive director
of the Company due to change of work, and Mr. Yu Xubo was
appointed as a non-executive director of the Company, both with
effect from 7 January 2019.

In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Tim @rting Jorgensen, Mr. Zhang Xiaoya and Mr.
Yau Ka Chi will retire by rotation and Mr. Yu Xubo will also retire in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and that a confirmation of independence has
been received from each of them.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management are set out on pages 52 to 61.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s
board of directors with reference to directors’ duties and
responsibilities in the Group and the prevailing market rate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director or other
officer of the Company in defending any proceedings, whether civil
or criminal. In addition, the Company has maintained appropriate
insurance in respect of potential legal actions against the Directors
and its officers.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS, LONG AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)) (the “Associated
Corporations”) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company or any of the
Associated Corporations (including options granted under the
Company’s share option scheme):

Nature of Interest

EEME

Name of Director

EENA

Lu Minfang Personal Interest
& UM B A=
Wu Wenting Personal Interest
RXIZ B A=
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Notes:

(1) It represents 222,375 shares granted to Mr. Lu Minfang in which
170,193 shares remain unvested under the restricted share award
scheme of the Company and 1,555,199 underlying shares in respect
of the share options granted under the Company’s share option
scheme.

Apart from the above, the Company granted 9,312,210 share options
to Mr. Lu Minfang on 24 December 2018.

2) It represents 126,893 shares granted to Ms. Wu Wenting in which
101,150 shares remain unvested under the restricted share award
scheme of the Company and 458,384 underlying shares in respect
of the share options granted under the Company’s share option
scheme.

(8)  The calculation is based on the number of shares as a percentage of
the total number of issued shares of the Company (i.e. 3,927,708,054
shares) as at 31 December 2018.

L Indicates a long position.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and restricted share
award scheme are set out in the sections headed “Share Option
Scheme” and “Share Award Scheme”, respectively below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company had any interests
and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of the Associated Corporations as recorded
in the register of the Company required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ Interests,
Long and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” above and “Share Option Scheme” and “Share Award
Scheme” below, at no time during the year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate granted to any Director,
or his or her respective spouse or minor children, or were any
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in
the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
As at 31 December 2018, the interests or short positions of
substantial shareholders of the Company, other than the Directors  {§&fi| 336158 EFEE B L MPracs: - NAFH
or the chief executive of the Company whose interests and short  F E &5 (R ARQ B R AAESEB &R FTES B
positions in the shares of the Company and of the Associated #EZFRAEER EXHINANATEEZTRETETT
Corporations are set out above, in the shares and underlying  Et A BRIMN) RARA B AR (D R IBEERZ D A A9 fEZS 8k
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be KA T :

maintained under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

ITERRERS
R-Z—N\F+-A=+—B REZLREE

Percentage of
the Company’s
Issued
Share Capital®
EARDEE BT
RAETDLL®

Number of
Ordinary Shares
ZEREE

FTERRUE BB

Name of Substantial Shareholder

COFCO Corporation FrEEBARAT 1,234,500,758 (L) 31.43%
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited HREEE(HE)BRAR 1,233,700,758 (L)@ 31.41%
China Foods (Holdings) Limited FEERUER) AR AR 1,233,700,758 (L) ® 31.41%
Farwill Limited TERBRAA 1,233,700,758 (L)@ 31.41%
Colour Spring Limited MRBRAT 1,233,700,758 (L)@ 31.41%
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited PIEFLEIERBR AR 1,233,700,758 (L) @ 31.41%
COFCO Dairy Investments Limited REILERERR AR 1,233,700,758 (L) @© 31.41%
Prominent Achiever Limited BEBRAF 1,233,700,758 (L) @© 31.41%
Arla Foods amba Arla Foods amba 1,233,700,758 (L)@ 31.41%
Danone SA Danone SA 1,233,700,758 (L) © 31.41%
Danone Asia Pte Ltd Danone Asia Pte Ltd 1,233,700,758 (L)@ 31.41%
Commonwealth Bank of Australia Commonwealth Bank of Australia 196,942,000 (L) 5.01%
JP Morgan Chase & Co JP Morgan Chase & Co 196,743,200 (L) 5.01%
6,629,343 (S) 0.17%

179,704,243 (P) 4.58%

FIL Limited FIL Limited 238,165,000 (L)" 6.06%
12,000 (S) 0.01%

Pandanus Associates Inc. Pandanus Associates Inc. 250,911,000 (L)" 6.39%
12,000 (S) 0.01%

Pandanus Partners L.P. Pandanus Partners L.P. 250,911,000 (L)" 6.39%
12,000 (S) 0.01%

Citigroup Inc. Citigroup Inc. 220,763,681 (L) 5.62%
3,284,841 (S) 0.08%

191,809,085 (P) 4.88%

Schroders Plc Schroders Plc 236,935,170 (L) 6.03%
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Notes:

(1) COFCO Corporation is deemed interested in an aggregate of
1,234,500,758 shares in the Company, comprising (a) 1,233,700,758
shares in the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO
(Hong Kong) Limited and (b) 800,000 shares in the Company through
another of its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO (BVI) Limited. COFCO
(BVI) Limited is deemed interested in 800,000 shares in the Company

through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO (BVI) No. 9 Limited.

(2)  COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited, Farwill Limited, Colour Spring Limited,
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited, COFCO Dairy Investments Limited,
Prominent Achiever Limited, Arla Foods amba, Danone Asia Pte Ltd
are deemed interested in an aggregate of 1,233,700,758 shares in

the Company under section 317 of the SFO.

(8)  China Foods (Holdings) Limited (previously known as COFCO (BVI)
No. 108 Limited) is deemed interested in 1,233,700,758 shares in the

Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Farwill Limited.

(4)  COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited is deemed interested in 1,233,700,758
shares in the Company through its subsidiary, COFCO Dairy

Investments Limited.

5) COFCO Dairy Investments Limited is deemed interested in
296,028,044 shares in the Company through its wholly-owned

subsidiary, Prominent Achiever Limited.

(6) Danone SA is deemed interested in 1,233,700,758 shares in the

Company through its subsidiary, Danone Asia Pte Ltd.

(7) Based on the disclosure of interest filed by Pandanus Associates
Inc. on 12 November 2018, FIL Limited is a controlled corporation of
Pandanus Partners L.P., which is in turn a controlled corporation of

Pandanus Associates Inc.

8) The total issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2018

was 3,927,708,054.
L Indicates a long position.
(S)  Indicates a short position.

(P)  Indicates a lending pool.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, no other
interests or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company were recorded in the register maintained under Section

336 of the SFO.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The share purchase agreement in relation to the
disposal of shares in Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co.,
Limited (“Yashili New Zealand”)

On 14 December 2018, Yashili International Group Limited (“Yashili
(HK)”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Yashili International Holdings
Ltd (“Yashili”) which is a 51.04%-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Danone Asia Pacific Holdings Pte. Ltd. (the “Purchaser”)
entered into the share purchase agreement (the “Share Purchase
Agreement”), pursuant to which Yashili (HK) has conditionally
agreed to dispose of, and the Purchaser has conditionally agreed
to acquire, 49% of the issued share capital in Yashili New Zealand
Dairy Co., Limited (“Yashili New Zealand”) (the “Share Interest”) for
a consideration consisting of two tranches (the “Disposal”). The
remaining 51% of the issued share capital in Yashili New Zealand
continues to be held by Yashili (HK).

The consideration for the Disposal consists of two tranches. The
first tranche is the US$ equivalent of 49% of NZ$315,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,686.8 million), which was
determined on the basis of normal commercial terms and after
arm’s length negotiation between Yashili (HK) and the Purchaser.
The second tranche is the sum of: (i) the US$ equivalent of 49% of
NZ$2,937,716 (representing the net book value of the two land lots
in New Zealand as set out in the Share Purchase Agreement); (ii)
the US$ equivalent of 49% of the total comprehensive profit amount
for Yashili New Zealand from 1 January 2018 to the completion
date which is set out in the statement of Yashili New Zealand which
is prepared within 45 days upon completion in accordance with
the Share Purchase Agreement (the “Closing Date Statement”) (if
positive); and (i) the US$ equivalent of 51% of the actual amount
in tax losses forfeited by Yashili New Zealand as a direct result of
the Disposal and as set out in the Closing Date Statement (which
shall not exceed NZ$1.3 million). The first tranche and part (i) of
the second tranche are payable in cash by the Purchaser to Yashili
(HK) on the completion date, while part (i) and (i) of the second
tranche are payable within ten business days after the Closing Date
Statement is delivered.

On 14 December 2018, Yashili (HK), the Purchaser and Yashili New
Zealand entered into a shareholders’ agreement (the “Shareholders’
Agreement”) for the purpose of regulating the management of
Yashili New Zealand, the relationship between Yashili (HK) and the
Purchaser and their dealings in the shares of Yashili New Zealand
post Completion.
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Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 14
December 2018 for further details.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
are of the view that the Share Purchase Agreement, the Disposal
and the Shareholders’ Agreement would enable the Yashili group
to strengthen its strategic partnership with Danone and achieve
greater synergies. The Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors) are of the view that the transactions
are conducted on arm’s length basis and on normal commercial
terms and that the terms of the Share Purchase Agreement and
the Shareholders’ Agreement are fair and reasonable and the
Share Purchase Agreement, the Shareholders’ Agreement and the
transactions are in the interest of the Company and its shareholders
as a whole.

The Disposal is not yet completed as of the date of this annual
report. Upon completion, Yashili (HK) will hold 51% of the issued
share capital in Yashili New Zealand, and Yashili New Zealand
continues to be a subsidiary of Yashili.

Yashili New Zealand is a company incorporated in New Zealand
and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Yashili. The principal
business of Yashili New Zealand is to manufacture infant formula
products, and under some circumstances, manufacture adult and
baby nutrition products and other products of a similar kind or
nature.

As at the date of signing of the Share Purchase Agreement,
Yashili is a 51.04%-owned subsidiary of the Company. Since
Danone Asia Baby Nutrition Pte. Ltd. (“Danone Asia”) has 25.0%
shareholding interest in Yashili, Danone Asia is a connected person
of the Company at the subsidiary level under the Listing Rules. As
the Purchaser is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Danone
SA (the ultimate controlling shareholder of Danone Asia and the
Purchaser) and a member of Danone, it is therefore a connected
person of Yashili and a connected person at the subsidiary level
of the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the entering
into the Share Purchase Agreement and the Shareholders’
Agreement constitutes a connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As the highest of the
applicable percentage ratio (other than the profits ratio) in respect
of the Disposal exceeds 1% but is less than 5% for the Company,
the Disposal is subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but is exempt from the independent shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 31 December 2014, the Company entered into a new master
sale and purchase agreement (the “2014 Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement”) with COFCO Corporation (“COFCO”) to renew the
existing Master Sale and Purchase Agreement pursuant to which
the Group will continue to, subject to the Group’s regular review
and at the Group’s option, purchase white sugar, edible oil, other
raw materials and related products (including packaging materials)
from COFCO, its subsidiaries and certain associated companies
(collectively “COFCO Corporation Group Companies”) for a term
of three years commencing from 1 January 2015 and ending on
31 December 2017, which may be extended at the Company’s
option, for a further period of not more than three continuous years,
subject to compliance with any relevant requirement under the
Listing Rules. In view of the anticipated expiration of the term of the
2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement on 31 December 2017,
the Company has delivered an extension notice (the “Extension
Notice”) to COFCO to exercise its right to extend the term of the
2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement for a further three
years. The Company received a confirmation from COFCO on 27
December 2017 acknowledging receipt of the Extension Notice.
Following the extension of the term of the 2014 Master Sale and
Purchase Agreement, the Group will continue to purchase (subject
to the Group’s regular review and at the Group’s option) white
sugar, edible oil, other raw materials and related products (including
packaging materials) from COFCO Corporation Group Companies
for a term commencing from 1 January 2018 and ending on 31
December 2020. The annual transaction amount under the 2014
Master Sale and Purchase Agreement for each of the three years
ended 31 December 2018 and ending 31 December 2019 and
2020 respectively is expected not to exceed RMB1,500,000,000.

As COFCO, being a substantial shareholder of the Company, is
a connected person of the Company, the transactions under the
2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement (as extended by the
Extension Notice) constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Group.

As the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the transaction
value under the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement
(as extended by the Extension Notice) are on an annual basis
more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the continuing connected
transactions under the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement
(as extended by the Extension Notice) are subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements but are exempt
from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to COFCO Corporation Group Companies
for the purchase of white sugar, edible oil, other raw materials and
related products (including packaging materials) was approximately
RMB782,996,000.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (“CMD”) has purchased
feedstuffs and other related materials from COFCO Corporation
Group Companies in the past and will continue to purchase
feedstuffs and other related materials from COFCO Corporation
Group Companies (the “CMD Transactions”) commencing from
1 January 2018. The annual transaction amount under the CMD
Transactions for each of the three years ended 31 December
2018, and ending 31 December 2019 and 2020 is expected not
to exceed RMB500,000,000. The aggregated annual transaction
amount () under the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement
(as extended by the Extension Notice) and (ii) of the CMD
Transactions for each of the three years ended 31 December 2018
and ending 31 December 2019 and 2020 respectively is expected
not to exceed RMB2,000,000,000. The applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the aggregated transaction value (i) under the
2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement (as extended by the
Extension Notice) and (ii) of the CMD Transactions for each of the
three years ended 31 December 2018 and ending 31 December
2019 and 2020 respectively is on an annual basis more than 0.1%
but less than 5%.

For further details about the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement and the extension of its term, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 31 December 2014 and 28
December 2017.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the total amount paid/
payable by CMD to COFCO Corporation Group Companies for
the CMD Transactions which constitute continuing connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
was approximately RMB170,156,000, and the pricing policies set
out in the announcements have been followed when determining
the price and terms of the transactions conducted during the year.
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The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out above
and have confirmed that these continuing connected transactions
were entered into () in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or better; and (jii) in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole. The Company confirms that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report
on the Group’s continuing connected transactions and the CMD
Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference
to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young
have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided
by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 3 June 2016, the shareholders of the Company approved
the adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2016 Share
Option Scheme”) in order to enable the Group to continue to offer
valuable incentive to attract and retain quality personnel to work to
increase the value of the shares of the Company. The 2016 Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from 3 June 2016 and will expire on 2 June 2026.
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The following share options are granted under the 2016 Share  TH|BERENFERNRE —T— NFBERET 2R
Option Scheme during the year. H e

Number of share options

RRERE

As at
1 January As at Exercise period of
2018 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31December  Date of share options Exercise

Name or category of R® during during during 2018  grant of (both dates inclusive)” price of share
participant —E-N\E theyear  theyear®  theyear MWZZ—-\§ shareoptions  BRETELR options
SREEZRER -A-H FRRE  FATEY  FRAMY t-A=t-A  RUBRERE  (BEERER)Y BRETHEE

HKS

Executive Director
HiTES
Lu Minfang 865,000 - - - 865,000  13.7.2017 13.7.2018 t0 12.7.2022 14.812
B “E—+fF “Z-\EtAT=HE
+A+=A ZECEEATCH
- 690,199 - - 690,199  7.5.2018 7.5.2019 10 6.5.2023% 26.05
—E-\& “E-NFRALAZ
TAtA ZZI=FRARAR
- 9,312,210 - - 9,312,210 24.12.2018 1.4.2019 t0 23.12.2023¢ 23.93
“Z-N\fF “Z-NENA-AZE
+-B=-flmR —E-ZE+-A=-fzRe
Wu Wenting 238,300 - - - 238,300  13.7.2017 13.7.2018 10 12.7.2022 14.812
KXz “E—+F —E-)\#tAt=HE
+A+=H 5 -FtA+CH
- 220,084 - - 220,084  7.5.2018 7.5.2019 10 6.5.20232 26.05
“Z-N\fF “Z-NERALAZ
TAtA S =l
Employees in Aggregate 9,345915 - (346,922) (865,748 8,133245  13.7.2017 13.7.2018 10 12.7.2022 14,812
R & “TtF - \#tAt=HE
+A+=H ZECCEEATCH
- 8,683,406 - (347,816) 8,335,590  7.5.2018 7.5.2019 10 6.5.2023% 26.05
—F-)\% “Z-NEFRAtHEE
TAtA ZEC=FRARAY
- 27,936,670 - - 27,936,670  24.12.2018 1.4.2019 t0 23.12.2023% 23.93
—F-\F “E-NFENA-AZ

+-ZA=tmA ZE-=Ft-A=tz=AHe

10,449,215 46,842,569 (346,922)  (1,213,564) 56,731,298
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Note:

(1) The exercise period of the share options granted commences after
a certain vesting period and the fulfilment of certain performance
targets, and ends on a date which is no later than five years from
the date of grant of such options. Further details of the share option
scheme are set out in note 41 to the financial statements.

2) The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date of grant
of the Options were HK$25.35 as of 4 May 2018.

8) The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date of grant
of the Options were HK$23.5 as of 21 December 2018.

(4) The weighted average closing price of the shares of the Company
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised
was HK$24.4.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or the chief executive of the Company or their
respective associates to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief
executive during the year ended 31 December 2018, held any
interest in, or were granted any right to subscribe for, the securities
of the Company and its associated corporations within the meaning
of the SFO, or had exercised any such rights.

The values of share options calculated using the binomial model
are subject to certain fundamental limitations, due to the subjective
nature of and uncertainty related to a number of assumptions of
the expected future performance input to the model, and certain
inherent limitations of the model itself. Details of the valuation are
set out in note 41 to the financial statements.

The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions. Any change to the variables used may
materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an option.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME R E R EEE
1) Restricted Share Award Scheme 1) PREIMREZRETE
The Company operates a restricted share award scheme (the AN B ER 4R — TR 1 A% 22 42 51 & ([ BR
“Restricted Share Award Scheme”) to motivate the employees MR AEENETEI]) - LB R B AR A
to maximize the value of and share the results with the EEE S EE EAQRAZAE  HHAK
Company in order to achieve sustainable development of the EEEFEERE -
Group.
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the number of BE-_ZTZ—\F+-_A=+—HILFE "
shares of the Company granted to selected participants was CRETESRZ2EBENANTIREHE A
6,693,084, of which 154,143 shares were granted to the 6,693,084 % + HH 154143 BHE T &
Directors, details of which are as follows: E N
As at As at
1 January Granted Vested Forfeited 31 December
2018 during during during 2018
Name of Director R-ZB—N\E the year the year theyear R=-E—N\F
BEEHR —HA—H FAR/EH FAER FRAXM +t=H=+—H
Lu Minfang 164,100 88,143 82,050 - 170,193
E R
Wu Wenting 70,300 66,000 35,150 - 101,150
RXIB
2) Key Management Retention Plan 2) BBEENEIBERR
The Company adopted the key management retention plan RARRMERBUETEITAR(EETA
(the “Retention Plan”) to retain and reward the Group’s key ZUBBMEBAEENSBENBEHEE
management personnel and employees with great potential BERUABERES  WERAQFNEKE
and to drive the achievement of strategic objectives of the ZoRBEBERR  ARBIBRATEES
Company. According to the Retention Plan, the Company will RHEHZ AREIS0EHEB T -

contribute a maximum of RMB150 million for the execution of
the Retention Plan.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no share was BHEZZT-)/\F+ZA=1T—HIFE #
granted under the Retention Plan. IR T R E RS -

Further details of the Share Award Scheme are also set out in Note A% Z 82 Ep 5T 21103 — S 5L 15 IS N BT S SR = Bt &%
42 to the financial statements. 42 o
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to its existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme as set out on pages 97 to 99 and
the share award scheme as set out on page 100, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the
year.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases attributable to the five largest
suppliers of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total
purchases of the Group.

The percentage of revenue attributable to the five largest customers
of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total revenue of
the Group.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has pledged certain
investment deposits, pledged deposits, land use rights, property,
plant and equipment and dairy cows aggregating to approximately
RMB3,503,178,000 (2017: RMB2,594,835,000).

Details are set out in the respective notes to the financial
statements.

Annual Report 2018 =& — )\ FF 3§

BRARERE
R0 T ) L4902 T2 4R A 50 B 2 B 6 1) 30 A 2T
fET BB A A RIARRARIIRL I B &3
BRABEAT -

BE  HEIEEALQAN LTRSS

BE-T—\F+-A=+—BLFE £AF
SEMTATVEREE B ERWERR A
S -

% =B 21 R
BREI7TEEFIOBEFE MBI EI RE1008
FrE M RSB E AT 2SN - AEBW BT L F N
WEFETRREEBHE -

DRIFRE
ERDATARDEMNER RFEEMAOE -
RARE B - ADREHRE LRI THH

ABFEE -

EEEH
AT E LR ST SR A A Bk
BRI MEALBDONEERITHA L o

IEEREFPRHER
AEBRARBESHKBENRBES LT RA
£ B B IRIBFENZ0% ©

AEBRAREPARABENRABSLTRAE
B AARERENZ0% ©

BEEKF

RZZ—N\F+-A=+—H AEEEHEHNSE
FREFR REBESEFR - LHERE - U &
B REERILFE £ ARYS,503,178,0007T(=
T— 44 ARM?,594,835,0007T) °

BREFIEEHN T RRAARMEE -



China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FES4 I E£GR AT

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS E= €4

COMMITMENTS

Details of commitments are set out in note 47 to the financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results for the year and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2018 and for the previous
four financial periods are set out on pages 319 to 320.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 64 to 84.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by Emst & Young. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

By order of the Board of Directors

Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 March 2019
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Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 113 to 318, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Tel: +852 2846 9888
Fax: +852 2868 4432
www.ey.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

RREMR
EECRETESAMASRMONETLEE LR
EITES - BERRFEAUTAENRERNAR
S &R G T4 B S BRA B AERE L] —
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ERETTATEMBEERRE  BFHE &
ERGHNBETIBRIEACACEEHRTENER
TRt Em -

PR EST S
RRBAFTERBTNERAE+ - FHAHER
EUBBERTHREENTE - HEFTHIRES
B BRSOV BHRRMML AR REEE
MESFTERUEFEREFERER - TXHE
EENETNAIRENTSHEEENER
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Key audit matter

HRETEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ¥ 3 & BT iR
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FARETEE@

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ETHERESTETARNEESE

Impairment testing of gooadwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives

BB RAER (& F R B 1509 60 (B R 2t

Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives
amounted to RMB6,522,866,000 representing 10% of
the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2018. The
impairment tests performed by management regarding
various groups of cash-generating units (“CGU groups”)
involved significant judgement for the determination
of the recoverable amounts of the CGU groups. This
is a key audit matter due to the magnitude and the
complexity of the management’s estimates involved in
the impairment testing.

“E-N\FFTA=1T—H BERERFHEREA
K ¥6,522,866,0007T * 1§ BEXEBEEE10% - BEE
RTRBREELEVAERN(REEEEMAER ) ETE
ERSEEBEMAR W E SRR ERNZ S RERH
B o AORERFAYRERE R OREREMIZER -
B TR ERT =R o

The accounting policies and related disclosures are
included in note 2.4 “Business combinations and
goodwill” and “Intangible assets (other than goodwill)”,
note 3 “Impairment of goodwill and trademarks with
indefinite useful lives” and note 21 “Impairment testing
of goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives” to
the financial statements.

SRR MEENREC AR BRERM FE2.4] XA
HEEE IR EPEE(HERIN ] - K3 AmERER
ERERAFHEE I RMEERERFEHEHE DR
RERIR ]

Our audit procedures included an assessment of the
2019 budget and the financial projection for the following
years prepared by management, including a comparison
of key assumptions with historical or external data, and
a reconciliation of the inputs used to determine the
recoverable amount in the 2019 budget and the financial
projection. Furthermore, we involved internal valuation
specialists to assist us in evaluating the model and the
inputs used including the weighted average costs of
capital and expected perpetual rates. We also focused
on the adequacy of the disclosures concerning those key
assumptions included in note 21 “Impairment testing of
goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives” to the
consolidated financial statements.

EEMNETEFERTIHEREEREN S NEAETF
B2 RBERMEER - BEEEERKRPHOESL RINEEK
BETEER  ARFAEEA S - NFRE LI BTRA
SHER IS SRR AEEREER - 1 - BEFHRMMGE
EXmEFHEE BEAREE - BRIEFHERKA
BHIREERR - BEENEENGAMBHRRM T2 E
REMFHEHERETRENA AR EZRRAIERE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BREHEE

AREETEE W

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ETHERETEEARNEES A

Impairment testing of an investment in a material associate
REABE 1\ R]ay1R & 796 (8757

The Group’s investment in China Modern Dairy Holdings
Ltd. (“China Modern Dairy”), a material associate of the
Group, amounted to RMB6,210,840,000, representing
9% of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2018.
The impairment test of the investment in China Modern
Dairy performed by management with the assistance
from an external valuer involved a significant judgement
for the determination of the value in use of China Modern
Dairy. This is a key audit matter due to the magnitude
and the complexity of the estimates, and the uncertainty
on future market circumstances.

—T-N\F+-A=1+—8  EEENPEIRRKEE
BRAERAR([FEIRRBED(EEBNEABEQF])
R EEARMBS,210,840,0007T * 1§ SEEBEE
9% ° INBHEMBHEREEHRTRRRKENILE#E
TRENR  ERSRETHEBRKENEREED
BRHE - ARNERE - BENEMEERRRTHIB
SRRV - Bl YRR =18 -

The accounting policies and related disclosures are
included in note 2.4 “Investments in associates and joint
ventures”, note 2.4 “Impairment of non-financial assets”,
note 3 “Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives)”
and note 22 “Investments in associates” to the financial
statements.

SETBRLBENREC I AR RRM E2.4[ R EH
BARREERE] W2 FeMmEERME] - K3
[SEE R EE(ERRERFHHELRFIRRIN) RIE ] KM
22l IWENBENE ]

We assessed the objectivity, independence and
competence of the external valuer who performed the
value in use calculation. Our audit procedures included
an assessment of the 2019 budget and the five-
year projection of China Modern Dairy prepared by
management, including a comparison of key assumptions
with historical or external data, and a reconciliation of
the inputs used to determine the value in use in the
2019 budget and the five-year projection. Furthermore,
we involved internal valuation specialist to assist us in
evaluating the models and the inputs used, including
the weighted average costs of capital, and the expected
perpetual rates. We also focused on the adequacy of the
disclosures concerning those key assumptions included
in note 22 “Investments in associates” to the consolidated
financial statements.

BEEETREFERENETEREEFTENIN GG E
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS

FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B #Z H R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)
Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ¥ 3 & BT R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tong Ka Yan, Augustine.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEEER

Year ended 31 December 2018 HE —T— N\F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
REVENUE L'ON 5 68,977,066 60,155,622
Cost of sales HEKA (43,193,440) (38,972,927)
GROSS PROFIT EF 25,783,626 21,182,695
Other income and gains Halg A RUkES 5 736,255 338,179
Selling and distribution expenses HERKHERA (18,833,306) (14,868,755)
Administrative expenses THREA (2,915,035) (2,497,212)
Impairment losses on financial and SRR ENEERE
contract assets, net B8 558 (85,262) (83,893)
Other expenses HithEMA 6 (851,216) (1,098,605)
Interest income FEWA 868,257 584,011
Finance costs BhE R AR 8 (550,662) (399,872)
Share of losses of associates /N 22 (299,935) (531,587)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B AT FIE 7 3,852,722 2,624,961
Income tax expense s ®isz 11 (649,001) (594,283)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REFHE 3,203,721 2,030,678
Attributable to: AT &7 1L -
Owners of the Company KAaHEB A 3,043,030 2,047,839
Non-controlling interests JEPE AR AR B A 25 160,691 (17,161)
3,203,721 2,030,678
EARNINGS PER SHARE AAREBREE A
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EiLEEREF
EQUITY HOLDERS OF (ABRARMY T
THE COMPANY (EXPRESSED
IN RMB PER SHARE) 14
Basic AR
— For profit for the year — RFEFHE 0.779 0.526
Diluted 3
— For profit for the year — RFEHH 0.778 0.526
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEEZEBER

Year ended 31 December 2018 HE—ZE— \F+-_A=+—HI-FE

2018 2017
—g- & e
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TF ARET T

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REFH 3,203,721 2,030,678
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/  Hft 2@k (&iE)
(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that ~ E 4 EARIFIaEEFHHESR
may be reclassified to profit or loss in BRNEM2EkE
subsequent periods: (E#8) -
Exchange differences: ME 3 ZEE
Exchange differences on translation BE G INETSH
of foreign operations fEH ZERE (206,615) 194,835
Cash flow hedges: REREENP -
Effective portion of changes in fair value ~ FREARELHT A
of hedging instruments arising during NREZHH
the year BERHS 34(a) (4,196) 30,617
Share of other comprehensive income of 7 B4 A B E th
associates ZHEIKE (21,181) 3,617

Net other comprehensive income/(loss) &R T aE EH 28
that may be reclassified to profit or ZESNEM
loss in subsequent periods 2HEKE(EE)FHE (231,992) 229,069

Other comprehensive loss that will not be  HEHIR NS EHHES
reclassified to profit or loss in BEarEMEEEE
subsequent periods:

Equity investments designated at fair value ¥E &SN A L EEH

through other comprehensive income: HEEEt AEMET
WS R ZARIGE -
Changes in fair value NI IR 25(a)/(b) (218,287) (270,160)

Net other comprehensive loss that will HEZHEFASEHSE
not be reclassified to profit or loss in ZFEFMNEMEE

subsequent periods BEFHE (218,287) (270,160)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS, Hit2HEEE - NRHE

NET OF TAX (450,279) (41,091)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FE2XHEKZEE

FOR THE YEAR 2,753,442 1,989,587
Attributable to: AT &7 e

Owners of the Company KABER A 2,589,152 2,023,028

Non-controlling interests IR AR R 2 164,290 (33,441)

2,753,442 1,989,587
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

aE BRI R

As at 31 December 2018 R—Z— \E+-A=+—H

31 December

31 December

2018 2017
—ZE2-N\F —EF—tF
+=A=+-5 [ EE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENE 15 14,733,924 12,715,454
Construction in progress EEIR 16 2,203,125 1,363,399
Investment properties "EYE 17 73,785 59,333
Land use rights T e 18 1,120,666 1,055,968
Goodwill (RS 19 4,681,492 4,532,899
Other intangible assets HEmEpEE 20 2,298,075 2,193,901
Investments in associates REERNFMIKE 22 7,202,363 7,194,010
Deferred tax assets EIEFRIEEE 23 1,041,626 665,364
Biological assets EMEE 24 1,136,600 646,143
Derivative financial instruments TEEmIA 34 28,598 54,602
Other financial assets HibemBEE 25 2,131,485 1,585,183
Long term prepayments RHITAER R 28 64,140 54,769
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 36,715,879 32,121,025
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other financial assets HEthEep&EE 25 11,819,198 10,690,539
Derivative financial instruments TE€mIA 34 49,212 5,584
Inventories R 26 4,281,919 3,510,268
Trade and bills receivables JE U BR 7R N ZE R 27 2,891,973 2,646,834
Prepayments, other receivables and TEMR - HAbEUGRER
other assets Hih&EE 28 2,777,593 2,541,423
Pledged deposits REBEESTER 29 623,495 466,265
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTETF 29 7,297,988 5,958,877
29,741,378 25,819,790
Assets of a disposal group DEAFEEHFERN
classified as held for sale REHENEE 12 - 197,916
Total current assets da R E 29,741,378 26,017,706
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION %R & B #iR R 3=

As at 31 December 2018 R =_Z— \F+_A=+—H

31 December

31 December

2018 2017
—Z2-N\F —E—+F
+TZA=1+—H ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARET T
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEeE
Trade and bills payables FER R R RIE 30 7,021,542 6,342,273
Other payables and accruals HihE B RTEIRE A 31 10,889,417 7,324,223
Interest-bearing bank and FTERITREMEE
other borrowings 32 6,522,915 7,985,027
Other loans HEmER 33 22,912 22,912
Derivative financial instruments TTESmIA 34 9,705 1,222
Deferred income PRIEW A 36 170,261 160,279
Income tax payable FES TS HR 472,366 231,899
Other financial liabilities Hivrema s 37 - 545,594
25,109,118 22,563,429
Liabilities directly associated with the HEAHAFBFEN
assets classified as held for sale BEEEHBONARE 12 - 2,864
Total current liabilities BrnEas 25,109,118 22,566,293
NET CURRENT ASSETS BEREBEE 4,632,260 3,451,413
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERARBAER
LIABILITIES 41,348,139 35,572,438
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Interest-bearing bank and FTERITREMEE
other borrowings 32 8,192,400 6,015,097
Long term payables RHE B 35 814 10,894
Deferred income PRIEW A 36 856,120 739,459
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIEARE 23 206,122 70,028
Derivative financial instruments TTEEmIA 34 17,457 =
Other financial liabilities HivremaE 37 1,610,947 1,629,837
Total non-current liabilities BIEREEE 10,883,860 8,465,315
NET ASSETS BEE 30,464,279 27,107,123
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION #r & B3R 3=

As at 31 December 2018 R—Z— \E+-A=+—H

31 December 31 December
2018 2017
—B-N\F —T—+F
TZA=1+—H ;=]
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT

EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the AARIHEAR AELER
Company
Share capital A& AN 38 357,602 357,572
Treasury shares held under share REZEEEI A
award scheme B EAF R 1D 42 (218,717) (262,929)
Other reserves H b 39 12,450,930 12,716,143
Retained earnings REFE 12,622,549 9,793,487
25,212,364 22,604,273
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR AR R A 25 5,251,915 4,502,850
TOTAL EQUITY R 30,464,279 27,107,123
Yu Xubo Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
TR E8K
Director Director

EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY #HREeEZE B xR

T—HIEFE
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Year ended 31 December 2018 HZE - T — \F+
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERERER

Year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—Z— \F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —FtF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities REXBELHRERE
Profit/(loss) before tax: BAIRIE, (BE) : 3,852,722 2,624,961
Adjustments for: FANIESEE S
Interest income FMEWA (868,257) (584,011)
Finance costs BB A 8 550,662 399,872
Depreciation of items of property, WE - BEREENE
plant and equipment 7 1,738,806 1,622,015
Depreciation of investment properties REMENE 7 3,937 2,447
Amortisation of land use rights 1 R 7 28,843 24,536
Amortisation of other intangible assets H & Y 7 66,865 54,852
Loss on disposal of items of property, REVE  BENREFE
plant and equipment 6 29,981 28,280
Gain on disposal of a disposal group HENBABEFEN
classified as held for sale R E AW 5 (44,147) =
Impairment losses on financial and ERRENEERE
contract assets, net BRFE 85,262 83,893
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value FEMREMERFE 6 35,316 84,998
Provision for construction in progress TEETIREE 6 - 256
Provision for property, plant and equipment VI - E R SR 6 - 7,216
Provision for other intangible assets Hin B\ EERE 6 4,761 =
Amortisation of deferred income for assets EMEBEEIMIEER
other than biological assets iR IALON:- (90,199) (85,354)
Share of losses of associates FE(G B AR E1E 299,935 531,587
Loss on deemed disposal of partial interests in BRILESPOBME A AR
associates ZIEE 6 - 125,439
Loss on disposal of partial interests in an associate & E A B A AIHER 7 BB 6 - 18,204
Loss on disposal or cancellation of subsidiaries HESGHEFARER 6 15,054 11,698
Fair value gain arising from re-measuring the initial ~ FEKAHEETTEK0E
equity interest in an associate upon business B S ARREEEND
combination AENE 5/44 (101,038) =
Fair value gain on zero coupon exchangeable bonds —Z = ZFF|HHZ S
due 2022 ] S {E S 2 D fo EE 5 (58,009) (2,363)
Fair value change of biological assets EYEER N EZE 6/24 152,777 63,099
Foreign exchange losses/(gains), net X B8 (W) a8 5/6 (14,384) 202,347
Net fair value gain on forward currency contracts EHINES DN REWEFE 5 (2,232) (1,483)
Net fair value gain on a convertible promissory note  AJ#ARE N ZEZ AR
Gy 3] 5 (61) (3,711)
Unrealised fair value loss/(gain) of commodity Pﬁuuﬁqﬁia FoPSs
futures contracts NRERE/( Hﬁlﬁu - 10,544
Equity-settled share option arrangements PARR (7 S < B BB AR 2o 41 51,199 12,682
Share award scheme RE Rt 2 42 105,190 43,544
5,842,983 5,275,448
Decrease in other financial assets — entrusted loans ~ E & B EER > —
to certain dairy farmers &% C T INMENETER 122,511 47,667
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL,/(3Em) (719,916) (321,015)
Increase in trade and bills receivables FELB(EE GNESS I (95,700) (355,449)
Increase in pledged deposits and REGGFIREMSREELN
other financial assets (138,210) (266,502)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, BRAR - Bt EbGRE &
other receivables and other assets HipBERD /(3 0) (53,258) 41,721
Increase in trade and bills payables BRI 111,130 975,059

Increase in other payables and accruals HA R AR TBIRE LM 2,410,421 1,107,137
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS #HRERE&RER

Year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z— N\F+_A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\fF T
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT
Cash generated from operations RS EENIRS 7,479,961 6,504,066
Interest paid TRFIE (454,023) (360,906)
Income taxes paid FREEHR (662,484) (637,721)
Net cash flows from operating activities REERELENERERE 6,363,454 5,505,439
Cash flows from investing activities REZHELNRERE
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, BREVE - BEMEEESZE
plant and equipment 181,185 111,658
Proceeds from disposal of land use rights BE L EREMSIR 18 3,708 4,597
Proceeds from disposal of biological assets BEAMBEMGTE 24 86,746 19,338
Proceeds from disposal of a disposal group HESEAREHFEN
classified as held for sale BB HMEHE 252,822 -
Purchase of items of property, plant and equipment ~ FEEE % - BiFE R HE (704,626) (616,747)
Purchase of construction in progress BEEEIR (2,392,160) (1,417,340)
Purchase of land use rights BB ERE 18 (20,665) (105,894)
Purchase of other intangible assets BEHEMEVERE (31,897) (11,906)
Acquisition of businesses W T (54,476) =
Purchase of biological assets EELYEE (313,680) (249,194)
Increase in investments in associates B E A B E b (17,820) (4,222,805)
Dividends received from associates YERES & A RIRE 1,598 5,973
Disposal of partial interests in an associate HEBHBE A AER - 35,082
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEF A (236,944) (26,963)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEF AT - 20,683
Receipt of government grants for property, WEE - BERRER
plant and equipment and biological assets EMEENRHEDE 227,239 225,451
Decrease of long term time deposits REEHERRL = 594,434
Purchase of time deposits with original maturity of BB RZ|HIR A=1E 8 A L
more than three months EEFER (979,975) (114,892)
Purchase of investment deposits BERBER (9,188,603) (9,193,003)
Withdrawal of investment deposits WEIK BT 9,392,108 4,139,490
Increase in other financial assets Hih&r&EEm (2,861,000) (1,065,400)
Withdrawal of other financial assets WEE SR EE 1,561,000 -
Purchase of a convertible promissory note BEUBRRALZE = (182,959)
Interest received IGERF & 863,778 600,204

Net cash flows used in investing activities RETEHFATESHE (4,231,662) (11,450,193




China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEI R4 EZHERA A @ 1
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS #EHE&RER
Year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—Z— \F+_-_A=+—HIFE
2018 2017
—E-N\E 5
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT
Cash flows from financing activities METHELENRERE
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank loans STRRITERMBHIE 5,977,327 19,293,595
Repayment of interest-bearing bank loans BE BRITER (6,277,553) (14,814,305)
Proceeds from issue of bonds BITERMERE 3,390,840 1,317,061
Repayment of bonds BiEgEH (3,473,150) =
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits for ﬁ‘ﬁ?&ﬁ’ﬂ FeEN
bank loans W/ (32 n) (112,380) 561,995
Repayment of other loans 18 Eﬁﬁﬂ“t’v = (18,323)
Repayment of long term payables BERMAENTIE (28,442) (69,780)
Shares issued under equity-settled share option R R 2 e
arrangements TR, 4 4,502 23,881
Acquisition of non-controlling interests WE IR AR R (189) (158,556)
Capital injection from non-controlling interests FERBRERTE 143,880 -
Disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries HE&E TR AR RE
without loss of control (W AR K EIEFIE) 1,089 1,862
Dividends paid to owners of the Company ERARRHEE NRTRE 13 (482,827) (344,816)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ERFEERRFE SRR E (43,397) (64,336)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BMETBHEL(FA)
financing activities BHERE (900,300) 5,748,268
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRREEFEY
cash equivalents 2/ ()38 1,231,492 (196,486)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FHBRERHEEEEY 29 3,129,444 3,355,537
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EREEHTE(FE) 9,558 (30,687)
Cash and bank balances attributable to BEMAEGRE RBTER
disposal groups - 1,080
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ERAERBREZEY 29 4,370,494 3,129,444
Analysis of balances of cash and BeRBSEENERIN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances as stated N RN SN Gl
in the consolidated statement of financial position Be RBITHET 29 7,297,988 5,958,877
Time deposits with original maturity more than REHBA=EA LR
three months EHIER 29 (2,927,494) (2,829,433)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RERE BEIRR KRR 5ERE
consolidated statement of cash flows Re kR e EEN 29 4,370,494 3,129,444
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 85 ¥ 3R B AE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The registered
office of the Company is located at P.O. Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman lIslands. The
Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are engaged in the manufacture and distribution
of dairy products mainly in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”).

RAREBEHR
AABREREESEIMRINERRE
FRAR] o AN AIHY M 9% F R AP P.O.Box
309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-
1104 » Cayman lslands ° RA A& —E1ZE
ERATE - MEAFAREZRFPEAREM
B[P E DI E I B A A ST o

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

EWTARNEE
ARAEEFAARBLT ¢

follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Issued/registered  equity interest attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
AL,/ BT/ KAEES
8 ELET 3 R RERDL TEXHK
Direct Indirect
Ef 554
China Dairy Holdings (i) Cayman Islands US$214 100% - Investment holding
FHEHS A4ET REBR
China Dairy (Mauritius) Limited (i) Mauritius US$100 = 100%  Investment holding
TR 100%7T RERR
Start Great Holdings Limited (i) British Virgin Islands US$16,066,969 100% - Investment holding
RERLEE 16,066,969 7T RERR
Colour Vantage Limited (i British Virgin Islands US$1 100% - Investment holding
RERLES e RERR
Golden Stage Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% - Investment holding
(“Golden Stage”) (i KERAME 1% REER
China Mengniu International Co., Ltd. (i) British Virgin Islands HK$8,448,802,973 99.95% - Investment holding
(RERFERERAF)() RERNES 8,448,802, 973% T RERR
Plant Base Limited (i) Hong Kong HK$1 = 100%  Investment holding
(ERNEHERAR)) Bk BT RERR
Easy Reach Investment Co., Ltd. (i Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% - Investment holding
(BEEXRARRAA)) A 1,000,000 7T REBR
Tianjin New Value Supply Chain Co., Ltd. jiv) ~ PRC RMB20,000,000 - 100%  Sale of dairy products
(REBRREEERAR)M i AR 120,000,007 HEF Bm
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} i &Misr

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2A@KEEER @

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) BEFATINESR @)
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Issued/registered  equity interest attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
AL/ B&f7/ FARER
8 RHES S R RERA TERH
Direct Indirect
B R
Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy Product (Ma’anshan) PRC RMB100,000,000 - 80%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) # AK100,000,00070 dairy products
(R BHARR(SEL) BB HERHEARS
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Danone Dairy PRC RMB250,000,000 - 80%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) HEl AR #250,000,0007C dairy products
(RSB SRR ERAT)0N) L
Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy Product (Beijing) PRC RMB87,500,000 21.36% 58.64%  Manufacture and sale of
Co.,Ltd. (i) HE AR#87,500,00070 dairy products
(S BHRRCLR ERERLT) 00 EERHRARR
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company ~ PRC RMB1,504,290,870 8.99% 91.01%  Manufacture and sale of
Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu’) (i H ARH#1,504,290,8707T dairy products
(DRERFAX(RE)RHBRAE) i) FERLENEm
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy Baotou PRC RMB30,000,000 26.40% 73.60%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) # AR#30,000,0007 dairy products
(REEFEHERBERBE TR FERNEANEE
Mengniu Dairy (Luannan) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB56,000,000 26.06% 73.94%  Manufacture and sale of
(K432 (%) BREMRR)()(i) el AKH56,000,0007C dairy products
EEREENHm
Mengniu Dairy (Tangshan) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB70,000,000 26.05% 73.95%  Manufacture and sale of
(REE(BIL)BERAFRE) (i) i AE70,000,0007T dairy products
EERLENHm
Mengniu Dairy Tai'an Co., Ltd. (i)ii) PRC RMB60,000,000 26.03% 7397%  Manufacture and sale of
(REAEFRBREMAE)()i) # AR#60,000,00070 dairy products
EERLENHm
Mengniu Dairy Jiaozuo Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB250,000,000 - 100%  Manufacture and sale of
(RHAEEEBRREAR)N) i AR250,000,0007C dairy products

FERHEA RS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} #& & Mis

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. QA@KREEER @

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) BEFATINESR @)
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Issued/registered equity interest attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
HMRL/ BT/ KRR
8 RHES S R RERA TEEY
Direct Indirect
EE R
Mengniu Dairy (Ma’anshan) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB275,000,000 - 100%  Manufacture and sale of
(RHIE (BRI BRAR))) HE AE#275,000,0007 dalry products
EERNEANEm
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy Co., Ltd. (i)(i) PRC RMB150,000,000 - 100%  Manufacture and sale of
(AEAFFRRAEERAR))) lE AE#150,000,0007C dalry products
EERNEANZm
Mengniu Saibei Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) PRC US$8,994,700 26% 74%  Manufacture and sale of
(REZIAEBRAR) )i i 8,994,700%7T dalry products
EERNEANEm
Mengniu Dairy (Qigiha’er) Co., Ltd. (i)ii) PRC RMB75,000,000 26% 74%  Manufacture and sale of
(REAUE(EERR)BRAR) i) HE AR#75,000,0007 dairy products
EERNEAN SR
Shijiazhuang Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. PRC RMB52,351,700 - 51%  Manufacture and sale of
(“Junlebao’) (i) i AR#52,351,7007C dairy products
(RRUEHEAFERAR) GERNEANER
Shijiazhuang Yongsheng Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB440,000,000 - 51%  Manufacture and sale of
(RFREAEIEERRA)0 G AR440,000,0007T dairy products
EERNEANZE
Siping Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB435,000,000 - 51%  Manufacture and sale of
(DFREEIXERAA)0 G AR 435,000,007 dairy products
FERHENHm
Hebei Leyuan Farming Co., Ltd.(i)i) PRC RMB800,000,000 = 51%  Breeding dairy cows and
(2R BR AR (i) # AR #800,000,0007 production of milk
BHEAFREEFD
Weixian Leyuan Farming Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB246,000,000 = 51%  Breeding dairy cows and
(FRHCRBIZRRAR) ) H AR 246,000,007 production of milk
BHEAFREEFD
Leyuan Junbang Dairy Weixian Co., Ltd. (i)(i) PRC RMB192,000,000 - 51%  Breeding dairy cows and
(FREAUEBERRAR)) G AR192,000,0007C production of milk

BEATREETD
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} i &Misr

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continueq)

NEIREBER @)
BETFATINER &)

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Issued/registered  equity interest attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
AL/ B&f7/ FARER
8 RHES S R REBDL TERH
Direct Indirect
B R

Banner Baby Dairy Co., Ltd. (‘Banner Dairy”) (i)fi)(v) PRC RMB610,000,000 - 3323%  Manufacture and sale

(EBE LA @R BRAE) () HE AEK#610,000,0007C of dairy products &
Breeding dairy cows and
production of milk

EERNEAHRA
BRAG REESR]

Yashili International Holdings Ltd. (“Yashill”) Cayman Islands HK$474,556,000 = 51.01%  Investment holding
(L MERERERA(HLH])) FEHS 474,566,000/8 70 RERR

Yashili International Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 51.01%  Investment holding
(RLHEREAERAE) &k 18T REER

Yashili International Group Ltd. PRC RMB1,126,105,300 = 51.01%  Production and sale of dairy
(“Yashili International’) {iv) H ARH1,126,105,3007C products
(ETFERERERAR(ELFER)) W) HERHENHm

Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., Ltd. New Zealand NzD287,032,059 = 51.01%  Production and sale of dairy
(“Yashili New Zealand’) Eiilif 287,032,0594T T BT products
(FERELAI FERERERAF EERNENEM
(FHERRELH])

Yashili International Baby Nourishment PRC RMB531,815,600 - 51.01%  Production and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) H AR#531,815,6007C dairy products
(RLMEREDTERRARRR)0) EERNENHM

Dumex Baby Food Co., Ltd (“Dumex China’) i)~ PRC RMB2,226,000,000 - 51.01%  Production and sale of
(5EEEDYTREED i ABR¥2,226,000,00070 dairy products
(I&x4+E 1)) HERLEN Hm

Plant Base (China) Limited (iv) PRC RMB600,000,000 - 51%  Investment holding
(EAES (RE)ERAF) W) i AR 600,000,007 RERER
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2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

(i) Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member
firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

(i) The subsidiaries are registered as companies with limited
liability under PRC law.

(i) The subsidiaries are registered as Sino-foreign equity joint
ventures under PRC law.

(iv)  The subsidiaries are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
established in the PRC.

(v) During 2018, Junlebao, a 51% indirectly owned subsidiary of
the Company, acquired an additional 43.41% equity interest in
Banner Dairy from third parties, increasing Junlebao’s interest
in Banner Dairy to 65.16%. Further details of the acquisition
are included in note 44 to the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(which include all International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretation)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention except for share options, certain
financial assets, derivative financial instruments and certain
other borrowings which have been measured at fair value, and
biological assets and agricultural produce upon harvest which
have been measured at fair value less costs to sell. Disposal
groups classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell as
further explained in note 2.4. These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

2.1

Annual Report 2018 —Z— \F &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq) 21 EREE @)

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2018. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

HREMBHRREEARAREF AR (HHE
[(AEEDBEE-_T-/\F+-_HA=1+—~H
IFFENMBERR - FRARA/ARFEER
FZEHNER(BREELER) - EX%
EiEiE 2 EERE T AR R B AR A &
EHROERKFGAIZOR - b BHEIE
R wRRETNEN(BIAEBE B RTBREN
TERRETNRBEEBNREEN)ZE
%L ERET - BIERIGHEGI4E -

]

EARAERIMEREE IR EST KRS
B RORIBLERN - EFFEESTHEY
WIRE TR AR - AREEEEHMAER
EERER 8%

(@) HEFERENEMRREFBEANGLD
ZHE

b) HtEHOLHEENERN K
(€) AKBEFRRESBETIRE -

T AR I T ER IR AR A AR R A 5 A
RE - WERA—BHEHERE - TARKE
RAASERGEGEE B EEEXITHE
RIEEBRILEREIIR -

BahkEt2EKa o HEBERARE
A AR R s - BRIt < BORE
AR R A ERAS - NAEBAQRBH
PMERENEBRE  #m - WA FAXEAE
BRERARBRSNEERASRERNGER
BB -

HAEFERIBERBT LR =TAEGRERA
—HIEN-ALBREE - AREEEHF
MEETEHRRETEAENE - FRFEIH
PiT7E He i on B B (U B R KR 4 ) IR R R
PN
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continuea)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,

(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions

Amendments to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with IFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers
Amendments to IFRS 15 Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue

from Contracts with Customers

Amendments to IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration
Annual Improvements Amendments to IFRS 1 and
2014-2016 Cycle IAS 28

2.1

2.2
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
Except for the amendments to IFRS 4 and Annual
Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle, which are not relevant to the
preparation of the Group’s financial statements, the nature
and the impact of the new and revised IFRSs are described
below:

(b)

Amendments to IFRS 2 address three main areas: the
effects of vesting conditions on the measurement of
a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the
classification of a share-based payment transaction with
net settlement features for withholding a certain amount
in order to meet an employee’s tax obligation associated
with the share-based payment; and accounting where
a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-
based payment transaction changes its classification
from cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments
clarify that the approach used to account for vesting
conditions when measuring equity-settled share-based
payments also applies to cash-settled share-based
payments. The amendments introduce an exception
so that a share-based payment transaction with net
share settlement features for withholding a certain
amount in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation
is classified in its entirety as an equity-settled share-
based payment transaction when certain conditions
are met. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that
if the terms and conditions of a cash-settled share-
based payment transaction are modified, with the
result that it becomes an equity-settled share-based
payment transaction, the transaction is accounted for
as an equity-settled transaction from the date of the
modification. The amendments have had no impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group as
the Group does not have any cash-settled share-based
payment transactions and has no share-based payment
transactions with net settlement features for withholding
tax.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018,
bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for
financial instruments: classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting.

22 S BEREHREE @)

BRERFEREENFIRNEI R -F
—FE T RFEMFEICERREAN
SEPE MR BB - #R] RIS RTBIRR B

SRR RGBT

BRI S RSB 25 IS R] = 28t
H=@Erm: BREFHAREEE
MBENXNRZNFEZTE AR
ERBAERENURMDABERNX
MRS (AEME T RIABITEIARK
DRERNXNERNERREAST)
ZE ARE RN BERE A
Ry ZIERBIFHES  ERXH5DHE
RReEEN RN ESEER 285t
B - ZFEIBEEANGtERER
MEOXMHERGETERRRE
SABR SIAHBFEEITE - %F
BTG —BED - AALFREE
R B ARD RERE MR 5 (AR
NE T ERBEABITEARND BERD
XNEBNBEVERRE)  WHAHE
TS A2 BRBREGEER
MRS o o - ZFEFTER -
& BN & A E RN TN R 5 H &
KRG - SRERBBRBEEERND
RS AEBRS AR AR
ERBRRBEERX AR - ARANEKE
VWERSHEERNINRS - TEA
B AR REE RN R AR R
AERNXARS  AUZFEITTE
HAREENP RN KEEBATE

B2 \F— A —HBxZENF
FEHRR - BURR B AR ERIE SRS Bt
TARRBIBREERER M T
B RyEEGS  BeMTASHD
FIE=@ErmestE—#  HEK
2 OREREPEE -



®)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # 3 3= Bfif &

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

(continued)

The Group has early adopted IFRS 9 (2009) and IFRS 9
(2013) on 1 January 2014 and 1 July 2014, respectively.
The Group has adopted the full text of IFRS 9 (2014)
on 1 January 2018. The following information sets out
the impact of adopting the full text of IFRS 9 (2014)
including the effect of replacing IAS 39’s incurred credit
loss calculation with IFRS 9’s expected credit losses
(“ECLS").

Impairment

The following table reconciles the aggregate opening
impairment allowances under IAS 39 to the ECL
allowance under IFRS 9. Further details are disclosed in
notes 25, 27 and 28 to the financial statements.
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(b)

(%)
AEEER-_T-—HNF—A—BRZ
T—ME+A—ARFRABERME
HELNFOWR(ZFTNF) REIFRE
BHRELAESR(ZT—=F) - A%
BER=—F—N\F—A—BRABK
MBRELERNFSR(ZFE—TF) &
X oo BTN EREIRABIR T B RE
ERFSR(—T—MF)2XNTE -
BIEABIFR B 75 3 5 22 R S Ok O TR HA
EEE R &5 2RI 3957 /Y
BEELARABRKITENTZE

A
TRBIRBEEE S5 RIFE 3957 7 H
RERERRERBEBYHRS
ERIFSRMFAREE B IRREHE -
H Aty 5 15 FE B 75 R MY RE25 27
%28 -

Impairment
allowances

under IAS 39 at
31 December

ECL allowances
Under IFRS 9 At

2017 Remeasurement 1 January 2018

R-Z-N\E

—A-BRE

BB B IR

%A 5395 1 R EOIRH

FERE ENtE BHEEHFERE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETTR ARETR

Other financial assets at amortised cost  IR# MRt E 7 E S REE - = =

Trade and bills receivables RS RRE 121,032 6,597 127,629
Financial assets included in prepayments, T ATBAT - Eft YA R

other receivables and other assets HiENSRE 30,141 - 30,141

151,173 6,597 157,770
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} i &Misr

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

(c)

(continued)

Impact on retained profits

The impact of transition to IFRS 9 on retained profits is as
follows:

22 B BREHREE @

(b)

(%)

HREFMO TS

B BB S R R SOR YR
HBHEMT -

Retained profits

REF

RMB’000
ARBTR

Retained profits
Balance as at 31 December 2017 under IAS 39

R
REBIR G ERIFE0W

RIZ—tF+A=+T—ANER 9,793,487
Recognition of expected credit losses AR 4% BB B S e o 2 R S5 95
for trade receivables under IFRS 9 HRENERNEREERE (6,367)
Balance as at 1 January 2018 under IFRS 9 R BB AR S 2RI B 05
RZZ—\F—A—ANEH 9,787,120

IFRS 15 and its amendments replace IAS 11
Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and related
interpretations and it applies, with limited exceptions, to
all revenue arising from contracts with customers. IFRS
15 establishes a new five-step model to account for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under
IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services
to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more
structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements,
including disaggregation of total revenue, information
about performance obligations, changes in contract
asset and liability account balances between periods
and key judgements and estimates. The disclosures are
included in notes 3 and 5 to the financial statements.
As a result of the application of IFRS 15, the Group has
changed the accounting policy with respect to revenue
recognition in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption. Under this method,
the standard can be applied either to all contracts at the
date of initial application or only to contracts that are not
completed at this date. The Group has elected to apply
the standard to contracts that are not completed as at
1 January 2018.

(c)

BIER B 75 o &5 £ Rl B 15 R B RTERAR
BB S ERFEIREESL - BEE
SEHERFEISRKRARAERE I
BB TLHEPISMERI - BAREP
BHELNMABKRA - BERMHRE
EHF1GHMUKEETL A ONEAA
RREEY — B AT RN - RIEFE
MBREERE1GS - WARRRE
ERPAREEERIRBTELH
RBRENSETAER - BERTH
HEERNFISRARA R ERIER
WARMKE RGEB MR TA - 2R
TMABZHNEERBERERT
BREAWAR - BEETREENE
B HEANEERARKRRERD
BB REZHENGET  ARARES
AN MRMTEIRSE - AEEMH
RERBIRSBHRELERFI55 - B
FAMBHKRME2.40F AR AR
MEFTRREHBR °

A& B PAMERT 2B M e FDA SR BB
S REERNE165E - RIFUL X
ZAREAER RSB ER B HOMmE
BHNHEEBANREARRTEXNE
# o AREEERZALERERR =
Z-N\F-—A—BHERTKHEL
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # 3 3= Bfif &

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.2 S BEREERIFE @)
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(C) (continued) (C) (&)
The cumulative effect of the initial application of IFRS %)]%ﬂ%ﬂlﬁf:}%ﬂﬁ%:;&%&,ﬁlj%w%ﬁﬁ’\]
15 was recognised as an adjustment to the opening AR EERAAH _E—NF—AF—
balance of retained profits as at 1 January 2018. EI 17% FEER &R EE A AR
Therefore, the comparative information was not restated N B L B E R jfﬂﬁiéé EIR
and continues to be reported under IAS 11, IAS 18 and EEEEERE115  BEestE
related interpretations. BIZE 1857 KRR E E%tb?’ﬁﬂ
Set out below are the amounts by which each financial R-ZE—N\F—A—BIAEFBEHRER
statement line item was affected as at 1 January 2018 as TH B R 40 B B B A 3R S ZE RN ZE 1558
a result of the adoption of IFRS 15: M2 ENSRETIMT
Increase/
(decrease)
#m,/ (Ed)
RMB’000
Assets 5E
Inventories FE (i) (24,630)
Prepayment, other receivables AR - EtERIER 0)
and other assets HiEE 24,630
Total assets BEE =
Liabilities =X
Other payables and accruals Hip e B RTERE A (/i -
Total liabilities FEY=Ui =

Equity & =
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # # 3= Bfd &

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(c)

(continued)

Set out below are the amounts by which each financial
statement line item was affected as at 31 December
2018 and for the year ended 31 December 2018 as
a result of the adoption of IFRS 15. The adoption of
IFRS 15 has had no impact on the Group’s profit or
loss, other comprehensive income or on the Group’s
operating, investing and financing cash flows. The first
column shows the amounts recorded under IFRS 15
and the second column shows what the amounts would
have been had IFRS 15 not been adopted:

Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2018:

22 ETHEREBREE@

(c)

(&)

RZZE-N\F+ZA=+—HEREZE
—E-N\F+ZA=+—BLFEN
FEB IR T B E R 49 BB B 1S R
EAERFI5HEMIZ LN EH T 10
T o BRANE PR BT A 3R A AE RIS 1555
AEEMBZEREMEEBASRASE
BEWEE REMpERSRETE
FAFE - gRBERBEI GRS L
BIZE155E TATREER M &5 - M =1

FUR R A0 K SR A0 B R B A SR a5 2 B 55
1550 A28

RZZE-NF+_A=+—HHEE
MR

Amounts prepared under

BETSIEREHNEE
Previous Increase/
IFRS 15 IFRS (decrease)
EREERE ATEBRNE
%8 55155, HEEA /By
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT ARETT
Assets BE - - -
Inventories FE 0] 4,281,919 4,300,187 (18,268)
Prepayment, other receivables BAE - HthENTER
and other assets HEtEE 0] 2,777,593 2,759,325 18,268
Total assets BERS 66,457,257 66,457,257 -
Liabilities af
Other payables and accruals HEtbENFUALTBIRER (i) 10,889,417 10,889,417 =
Total liabilities BREE 35,992,978 35,992,978 -
Equity K& 30,464,279 30,464,279 -




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R = it

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature of the adjustments as at 1 January 2018 and
the reasons for the significant changes in the statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2018 are
described below:

U]

Sale of goods with variable consideration
Some contracts for the sale of dairy products
provide customers with a right of return. Before
adopting IFRS 15, the Group recognised revenue
from the sale of goods measured at the fair value
of the consideration received or receivable, net of
returns. If revenue could not be reliably measured,
the Group deferred revenue recognition until the
uncertainty was resolved. Under IFRS 15, rights of
return give rise to variable consideration which is
determined using the expected value method or
the most likely amount method.

Upon adoption of IFRS 15, the Group recognised
a right-of-return asset which is included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets
and is measured at the former carrying amount
of the goods to be returned less any expected
costs to recover the goods, including any potential
decreases in the value of the returned goods.
In addition, a refund liabilities which is included
in other payables and accruals was recognised
based on the amount that the Group expects
to return to the customers using the expected
value method. Accordingly, the Group reclassified
deferred revenue of RMB36,894,000 to refund
liabilities which are both included in other
payables and accruals and reclassified inventories
of RMB24,630,000 to right-of-return assets as
included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets as at 1 January 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, the adoption of IFRS
15 resulted in an increase in prepayment, other
receivables and other assets and a decrease in
inventories by RMB18,268,000. Besides, refund
liabilities included in other payables and accruals
were increased by RMB29,365,000 and deferred
revenue included in other payables and accruals
were decreased by RMB29,365,000, for the year
ended 31 December 2018.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(C) (continued)

(i)

Consideration received from customers in
advance

Before the adoption of IFRS 15, the Group
recognised consideration received from customers
in advance from customers included in other
payables and accruals. Under IFRS 15, the
amount is classified as contract liabilities which
are also included in other payables and accruals.

Therefore, upon adoption of IFRS 15, the Group
reclassified RMB1,843,166,000 from advances
from customers to contract liabilities as at 1
January 2018 in relation to the consideration
received from customers in advance as at 1
January 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, under IFRS 15,
RMB3,332,929,000 was reclassified from
advances from customers to contract liabilities
in relation to the consideration received from
customers in advance for the sale of dairy
products.

22 S BEREHREE @)

(c)

(%)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R = it

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

22 B HXREBHRIEE @

Amendments to IAS 40, clarify when an entity should
transfer property, including property under construction
or development, into or out of investment property. The
amendments state that a change in use occurs when
the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of
investment property and there is evidence of the change
in use. A mere change in management’s intentions for
the use of a property does not provide evidence of a
change in use. The amendments have had no impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group.

IFRIC 22, provides guidance on how to determine the
date of the transaction when applying IAS 21 to the
situation where an entity receives or pays advance
consideration in a foreign currency and recognises
a non-monetary asset or liability. The interpretation
clarifies that the date of the transaction for the
purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on
initial recognition of the related asset, expense or
income (or part of it) is the date on which an entity
initially recognises the non-monetary asset (such as a
prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such as deferred
income) arising from the payment or receipt of the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments
or receipts in advance of recognising the related item,
the entity must determine the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
The interpretation has had no impact on the Group’s
financial statements as the Group’s accounting policy
for the determination of the exchange rate applied
for initial recognition of non-monetary assets or non-
monetary liabilities is consistent with the guidance
provided in the interpretation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 9

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

IFRS 16

IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1
and IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 19
Amendments to IAS 28
IFRIC 23

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

2019
2020
2021

adoption

Definition of a Business®

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation’
Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Leases’
Insurance Contracts®

Definition of Material’

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement’

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures'

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'

Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11,
IAS 12 and IAS 23’

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to
be considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. A business can exist
without including all of the inputs and processes needed to
create outputs. The amendments remove the assessment
of whether market participants are capable of acquiring the
business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the
focus is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The amendments have also narrowed the
definition of outputs to focus on goods or services provided to
customers, investment income or other income from ordinary
activities. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance
to assess whether an acquired process is substantive and
introduce an optional fair value concentration test to permit a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is not a business. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and
in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and
IAS 28 was removed by the IASB in December 2015 and a
new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available
for adoption now.

2.3
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STAN DARDS (continued)

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC 15 Operating
Leases — Incentives and SIC 27 Evaluating the Substance
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
The standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and
requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two elective recognition
exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and
short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a
lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e.,
the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use
the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-
use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition
of investment property in IAS 40, or relates to a class of
property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation
model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased
to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for
the lease payments. Lessees will be required to separately
recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees
will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon
the occurrence of certain events, such as change in the
lease term and change in future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate used to determine those
payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of
the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to
the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is
substantially unchanged from the accounting under IAS 17.
Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same
classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish between
operating leases and finance leases. IFRS 16 requires
lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than
under IAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard
using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective
approach. The Group will adopt IFRS 16 from 1 January
2019. As discussed in note 46 to the financial statements,
at 31 December 2018, the Group had future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating lease in aggregate
of approximately RMB615,360,000. Upon adoption of
IFRS 16, certain amount included herein may need to be
recognised as right-of use assets and lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R = it

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. The amendments clarify
that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude
of information. A misstatement of information is material
if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions
made by the primary users. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 28 clarify that the scope exclusion of
IFRS 9 only includes interests in an associate or joint venture
to which the equity method is applied and does not include
long-term interests that in substance form part of the net
investment in the associate or joint venture, to which the
equity method has not been applied. Therefore, an entity
applies IFRS 9, rather than IAS 28, including the impairment
requirements under IFRS 9, in accounting for such long-
term interests. IAS 28 is then applied to the net investment,
which includes the long-term interests, only in the context
of recognising losses of an associate or joint venture and
impairment of the net investment in the associate or joint
venture. The Group expects to adopt the amendments on
1 January 2019 and will assess its business model for such
long-term interests based on the facts and circumstances that
exist on 1 January 2019 using the transitional requirements in
the amendments. The Group also intends to apply the relief
from restating comparative information for prior periods upon
adoption of the amendments.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STAN DARDS (continued)

IFRIC 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes (current
and deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty that
affects the application of IAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain
tax positions”). The interpretation does not apply to taxes or
levies outside the scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically
include requirements relating to interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation
specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers uncertain
tax treatments separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity
makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation
authorities; (i) how an entity determines taxable profits or
tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits
and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes in
facts and circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied
retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without the use
of hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of
application as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date
of initial application, without the restatement of comparative
information. The Group expects to adopt the interpretation
from 1 January 2019. The interpretation is not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R = it

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EREHBRBE@

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint
ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETTHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as
a gain on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R = it

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

The Group measures its share options, certain financial
assets, derivative financial instruments and certain other
borrowings at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EREFBEME @

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R = it

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, construction contract assets, financial assets,
investment properties, goodwill and non-current assets/
a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted
for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i)
(ii)
)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

)

(i

)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

24 EXAESTHERBMEm@m)

— IR EASE AR -

(@

%

% RHEBATRENALTHE RS
B mzaAL

(i)
(ii)
(i)

R SR ARSI AR
UAREERMEATE : 3L

RAEERAEE]RRTIEE
BEABHKE

Z R E TR B

(i

)

(iv)

(i)

i %Eﬁizﬁ’%lgﬂ e 3Ei=0)54

)D]]D =113
Sy
EI

—HEBAS —ERNBELQR

FEECE(XEZ—ERNER
T FRAHF R T QA E
™)

mli’w%ﬂ F=7

=84
) of
R

I e

i
5N

| 2 >Hrk+>+
[ 3

i
A ot
XY g
B
ot I
)ﬂﬂi} s
]l

O R
fi

3 M|

%‘& .
D0 R
\;

s

T =H
|

= o

o ><'l\ EE?%

REERREMET S - &ET
E}\F%ZS%@EXE@ZF%

o B Y
ol
hassii)

puc

a:'* i

EE( )TE P R S A

o0 X
=
B

R (a)() B ATt A £
AFELBZER(
BRR)TEEEASR

E
E’J

m ><+ 54
p=Illg
2 3¢

3 oml 5B
,mm ?E’E at

Pl

AARKERAEEGARRMEE
EEEABRBOERIHEE
SENERKERT -



Annual Report 2018 —Z— \F &
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EREHBRBE@

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant
and equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is
part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not
depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current
assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates
them accordingly.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EREFBEME @

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The depreciation
rates of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Freehold land

Buildings and structures
Plant and machinery
Office equipment

Motor vehicles

Not depreciated
2% to 7%

10% to 32%
10% to 32%
10% to 32%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents plant and property under
construction, which are stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and are not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EREHBRBE@

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties are interests in buildings held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course
of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its
residual value. Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
investment properties. The estimated useful lives are 50
years. Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reassessed at each reporting date.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must be
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of
such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly
probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as
a disposal group are reclassified as held for sale regardless
of whether the Group retains a non-controlling interest in its
former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
investment properties and financial assets) classified as
held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets classified as held for sale are
not depreciated or amortised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EREFBEME @

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) level.
Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an
intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment
from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 20 years.

Trademarks

Trademarks acquired separately are measured at cost.
Trademarks acquired as part of a business combination are
valued at fair value based on the royalty relief method.

Trademarks with finite useful lives are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10
years. Trademarks with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Computer software

Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software. These costs are amortised on the straight-line basis
over the estimated useful life of computer software of 3 to 10
years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and the ability
to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these
criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products,
commencing from the date when the products are put into
commercial production.

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect
the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised
finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments under
finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment,
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over
the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETTHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating lease are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised as an expense
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms from 30 to 70 years.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease
payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as
a finance lease in property, plant and equipment.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable
from 1 January 2018)” below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both
of the following conditions are met:

o The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows.

° The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETTHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

The Group measures debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income if both of the following
conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling.

° The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same
manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The remaining fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative
fair value change recognised in other comprehensive income is
recycled to the statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or
financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair
value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of
principal and interest are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to
be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, as described above, debt instruments
may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial
recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value profit or loss are also recognised as other income
in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment
has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group
and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETTHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is
required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss.

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset
to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on
a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.
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Annual Report 2018 —Z— \EE#H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EREHBRBE@

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral
to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 -  Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 -  Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 -  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not purchased
or originated credit-impaired) and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect
of a significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.

24 EXAESTHERBMEm@m)

—ﬂﬁﬁ}iﬁ &)

AR B AR EERANERRE KR
BHENAAENEREE  £—RAVETH
BEERARE  WATENTHEESHEANE
Hﬂfméﬂ%?@:ﬁri HEERA T X Er it ey e 75
ER IR R A KB ERRIN o

—FRER - Aﬁﬁlﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁhﬁﬁ%u%ﬁﬁﬁ
BEENEERR - BEEE
ﬁé‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmm{ﬁ BHIE
EEENEETE -

—BEER — Aﬁﬂlﬂﬁ?ﬂ%ﬁ@*’ ATRERE
ENEERR  BEXTBEE
WEE ﬁﬁ% BEEERE
RSN FEREREERBR
R EET=E °

F=ER — RESAHEERENSRE
E(ETERBEHRIGEEMR
B)  EBERBREREENT
BERAHEEBEN S B

=
B °

[GE(D=2
HRBUERARTNBREAREXNSHNEL
BE  IAKERAEREEEREIHEXN
BMEMD T EELRER - AEERAMK
L EETRPEREERE - REGBLT
% AEETRBEREERRMNE L - M2
REHRE B BRBFERRBEEERER
EREE  AEEERBEEELEEEERL
M BERRE - TREBEEHAMEERER
HATIE AR EH B -



Annual Report 2018 —Z— \F &

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R = it

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively
for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss s,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The
present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted
at the financial asset's original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be
accrued on the reduced carrying amount using the rate of
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose
of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all
collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETTHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in the
statement of profit or loss.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, derivative financial instruments and interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term.
This category also includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value
gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss does
not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R = it

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EREHBRBE@

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date
of recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied.
Gains or losses on liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss, except for the gains or losses arising from the Group’s
own credit risk which are presented in other comprehensive
income with no subsequent reclassification to the statement
of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in
the statement of profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETTHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge
its foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively.
Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive
and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

The fair value of commodity purchase contracts that meet the
definition of a derivative as defined by IFRS 9 is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss as cost of sales. Commodity
contracts that are entered into and continue to be held for
the purpose of the receipt or delivery of a non-financial item
in accordance with the Group’s expected purchase, sale or
usage requirements are held at cost.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges,
which is recognised in other comprehensive income and later
reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R = it

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

° fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to
changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability
or an unrecognised firm commitment; or

° cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to
variability in cash flows that is either attributable to
a particular risk associated with a recognised asset
or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction,
or a foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm
commitment; or

° hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally
designates and documents the hedge relationship to which
the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting, the risk
management objective and its strategy for undertaking the
hedge.

The documentation includes identification of the hedging
instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk being
hedged and how the Group will assess whether the hedging
relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements
(including the analysis of sources of hedge ineffectiveness and
how the hedge ratio is determined). A hedging relationship
qualifies for hedge accounting if it meets all of the following
effectiveness requirements:

° There is “an economic relationship” between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument.

° The effect of credit risk does not “dominate the value
changes” that result from that economic relationship.

° The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same
as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item
that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the
hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to
hedge that quantity of hedged item.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETTHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Hedges which meet all the qualifying criteria for hedge
accounting are accounted for as follows:

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging
instrument is recognised directly in other comprehensive
income in the cash flow hedge reserve, while any ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or
loss. The cash flow hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower of
the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the
cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item.

The amounts accumulated in other comprehensive income
are accounted for, depending on the nature of the underlying
hedged transaction. If the hedged transaction subsequently
results in the recognition of a non-financial item, the amount
accumulated in equity is removed from the separate
component of equity and included in the initial cost or other
carrying amount of the hedged asset or liability. This is not
a reclassification adjustment and will not be recognised in
other comprehensive income for the period. This also applies
where the hedged forecast transaction of a non-financial
asset or non-financial liability subsequently becomes a firm
commitment to which fair value hedge accounting is applied.

For any other cash flow hedges, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to the statement
of profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment in the same
period or periods during which the hedged cash flows affect
the statement of profit or loss.

If cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount
that has been accumulated in other comprehensive income
must remain in accumulated other comprehensive income
if the hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur.
Otherwise, the amount will be immediately reclassified to the
statement of profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.
After the discontinuation, once the hedged cash flow occurs,
any amount remaining in accumulated other comprehensive
income is accounted for depending on the nature of the
underlying transaction as described above.

FapmAS et RIBRENEHINT

REREHH

T ARGNEENAERBOEEMEE
WARBR S REL P REBANEZER - MiE
IE B R N AR IR s R A RERR © BREIR
B REHABREEP T ARG RAAER
HEEHIRE AR ERFTEH < MHRESE -

EEHMZEBARRENSER THBLH
RHHEE AR o WP R 5 E & GHHER
FERER - NEERENSRA G BHEN
BIUBKEOBE - Wit ASHhEEREE
B IER AR E MR E(E - EXIFREFHD
BIELMAE - ETERHANEMEER
ARFER - W—FFEMEEIFFTRAE
MR TRAR ZERERRBAAEL TS
AR R E ARG + RITR AT FE A LL O

EHEMREREHTEEMEERARE
MERRE TR REXEBRNF— M
XZEAMERNEH D BEBERA/EN DR

?ﬁﬁﬁyo

RIPRESREBLNEFRER - HEHDE
HIRE P RERBESRE  RMIEEMBE2EK
ARBRENEEVARBERBEMEER
AR BRI FASBRSARERERAE
MOBREHM D BHE - RIL@stRER
il IR S HIR 2R - ERRBERBEEM
PEBANSRERF LABEZXSEEA



Annual Report 2018 —Z— \F &
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value hedges

The change in the fair value of a hedging instrument is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss as other
expenses. The change in the fair value of the hedged item
attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as a part of the
carrying amount of the hedged item and is also recognised in
the statement of profit or loss as other expenses.

For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised
cost, the adjustment to carrying value is amortised through
the statement of profit or loss over the remaining term of
the hedge using the effective interest rate method. Effective
interest rate amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment
exists and shall begin no later than when the hedged item
ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable
to the risk being hedged. If the hedged item is derecognised,
the unamortised fair value is recognised immediately in the
statement of profit or loss.

When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated as a
hedged item, the subsequent cumulative change in the fair
value of the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk
is recognised as an asset or liability with a corresponding
gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The
changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are also
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Hedges of a net investment

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a
hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as part of the
net investment, are accounted for in a similar way to cash flow
hedges. Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating
to the effective portion of the hedge are recognised in other
comprehensive income while any gains or losses relating to
the ineffective portion are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative
value of any such gains or losses recorded in equity is
transferred to the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derivative financial instruments and hedge
accounting (continued)
Current versus non-current classification
Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective
hedging instruments are classified as current or non-current
or separated into current and non-current portions based
on an assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the
underlying contracted cash flows).

o Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as an
economic hedge (and does not apply hedge accounting)
for a period beyond 12 months after the end of the
reporting period, the derivative is classified as non-
current (or separated into current and non-current
portions) consistently with the classification of the
underlying item.

o Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the
host contract are classified consistently with the cash
flows of the host contract.

o Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are
effective hedging instruments, are classified consistently
with the classification of the underlying hedged item.
The derivative instruments are separated into current
portions and non-current portions only if a reliable
allocation can be made.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by
the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised
directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale,
issue or cancellation of the Group's own equity instruments.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EREHBRBE@

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Dairy cows

Dairy cows, including milkable cows, heifers and calves, are
measured on initial recognition and at the end of the reporting
period at their fair value less costs to sell, with any resultant
gain or loss recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year in which it arises. Costs to sell are
the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of
an asset, mainly transportation cost and excluding finance
costs and income taxes. The fair value of dairy cows is
determined based on their present location and condition and
is determined independently by a professional valuer.

The feeding costs and other related costs including the
depreciation charge, utilities cost and consumables incurred
for the raising of heifers and calves, and milkable cows during
dry period, are capitalised, until such time as the heifers and
calves, and milkable cows begin to produce milk.

Raw milk

Agricultural produce represents raw milk. Raw milk is
recognised at the point of harvest at its fair value less costs to
sell. The fair value of raw milk is determined based on market
prices in the local area.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location
and conditions are accounted for as follows:

Raw materials — cost on a weighted average basis;

Finished goods — cost of direct materials and labour
and a proportion of overheads based
on the normal operating capacity on
a weighted average basis.

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price
less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.

I

AF(BEDHF - PNEERNFIRN T HER
BRI ERARRAAEREENATE © AT
BREIBENRELFREERAIRRRARE
R HERARHEEEERBHAIEENK
A EBREHKA @ BEKRAKNRFAEHE
5M) e AR R ERBEEMGEMZREBR
PBEALE MR B EEE

FEXRAREMABKA(BEAENEF
BN R BRI B E AT E
FS - KERAREREM) IBERER B
ENGERNMNE - IFFRBEDRLE

=43
RERERY - RPN EERR A A ERH
EXRARER - RPN DIAEREWHERE
% o

FEUHKAREEA SR FERE T HERE
BUERDIER -

75 & B an B E IR UE Wi BORAE £ RO K
BERTRETEWNT

RE# - RAGRMEFDEFE)

X iR - EHEEMBREZRATIRA LA
RRBIEREEELAIFED
FELEER(RNEF A

HE) -

AR FEEETEERET I REEMRS
AL AEETRAETE °



China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FES4 I E£GR AT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EREFBEME @

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above;
and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
guidance for revenue recognition.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R = it

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EREHBRBE@

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred income tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EREFBEME @

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R = it

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Grants relating to biological assets

An unconditional government grant related to a biological asset
measured at its fair value less costs to sell is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when, and only when,
the government grant becomes receivable. If a government
grant related to a biological asset measured at its fair value
less costs to sell is conditional, the Group recognises the
government grant in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss when, and only when, the conditions attaching to the
government grant are met.

Other grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
the grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
assets and released to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss over the expected useful lives of the relevant assets by
equal annual instalments.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETTHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Other grants (continued)

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the consolidated statement of profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in IFRS
15.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R = it

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of the products.

Some contracts for the sale of products provide
customers with rights of return. The rights of return give
rise to variable consideration.

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with
a right to return the goods within a specified
period, the expected value method is used to
estimate the goods that will not be returned
because this method best predicts the amount
of variable consideration to which the Group
will be entitled. The requirements in IFRS 15 on
constraining estimates of variable consideration
are applied in order to determine the amount of
variable consideration that can be included in the
transaction price. For goods that are expected to
be returned, instead of revenue, a refund liability
is recognised. A right-of-return asset (and the
corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) is also
recognised for the right to recover products from
a customer.

Consigned processing services

Revenue from the consigned processing service is
recognised when dairy and nourishment products is
delivered.

Revenue from other sources
Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EREFBEME @

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders' right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided
that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective
control over the goods sold;

Rental income
Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Interest income

Revenue is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of
the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividends
Revenue is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} #& & Mis

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EREHBRBE@

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Contract liabilities (applicable from 1 January
2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received a
consideration (or an amount of consideration that is due) from
the customer. If a customer pays the consideration before
the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a
contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or
the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under
the contract.

Right-of-return assets (applicable from 1 January
2018)

A right-of-return asset represents the Group’s right to recover
the goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset
is measured at the former carrying amount of the goods to
be returned, less any expected costs to recover the goods,
including any potential decreases in the value of the returned
goods. The Group updates the measurement of the asset
recorded for any revisions to its expected level of returns, as
well as any additional decreases in the value of the returned
goods.

Refund liabilities (applicable from 1 January 2018)
A refund liability is the obligation to refund some or all of the
consideration received (or receivable) from the customer and
is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it
will have to return to the customer. The Group updates its
estimates of refund liabilities (and the corresponding change
in the transaction price) at the end of each reporting period.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in the People’s Republic
of China except for Hong Kong and Macau (“Mainland
China”) participate in a central defined contribution retirement
benefit plan managed by the local municipal government in
the locations in which they operate. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the companies’ payroll costs and
are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central defined contribution retirement benefit plan.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETTHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Retirement benefits (continued)

The Company also participates in the defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for its employees. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

Share-based payments

The Company operates share option scheme and share
award scheme for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payments, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which
they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R = it

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EREFBEME @

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate
has been applied to the expenditure on the individual assets.

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R = it

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EREHBRBE@

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency based on the assessment of its specific facts and
circumstances. The Company, established in the Cayman
Islands, uses the Hong Kong dollar as its functional currency.
As the Group mainly operates in Mainland China, RMB is
used as the presentation currency of the Group. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss with the exception of monetary items that are designated
as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment
of a foreign operation. These are recognised in other
comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed
of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Tax charges
and credits attributable to exchange differences on those
monetary items are also recorded in other comprehensive
income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EREFBEME @

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain entities comprising the
Group are currencies other than RMB. As at the reporting
date, the assets and liabilities of companies whose functional
currency differs from the presentation currency are translated
into RMB at the rates of exchange prevailing at the end of
the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the
reporting period.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate
component of equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R = it

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Determining the method to estimate variable
consideration and assessing the constraint for the

sale of dairy products when recognising revenue from
contracts with customers

Certain contracts for the sale of goods include a right of
return that give rise to variable consideration. In estimating
the variable consideration, the Group is required to use
either the expected value method or the most likely amount
method based on which method better predicts the amount
of consideration to which it will be entitled.

The Group determined that the expected value method is
the appropriate method to use in estimating the variable
consideration for the sale of goods with rights of return, given
the large number of customer contracts that have similar
characteristics.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in
the transaction price, the Group considers whether the
amount of variable consideration is constrained. The Group
determined that the estimates of variable consideration are
not constrained based on its historical experience, business
forecast and the current economic conditions. In addition,
the uncertainty on the variable consideration will be resolved
within a short time frame.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continueq)

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends
The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends
from certain subsidiaries whose equity interests are directly
held by oversea parent companies according to the relevant
tax jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing of
the payment of the dividends or on whether those oversea
parent companies will be determined to be Chinese resident
enterprises by the PRC governing tax authorities in the future.
Management considered that it is not probable that those
PRC subsidiaries will distribute profits earned from 1 January
2008 to 31 December 2018 in the foreseeable future, and
accordingly no provision for withholding tax was made in
2018. Where the final outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts originally determined, the difference will
impact the deferred tax provision in the period in which the
differences realise.

Operating lease commitments - Group as lessee

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain
machinery. The Group has determined, based on an
evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements,
that it does not bear all the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of these machinery and accounts for the contracts
as operating leases.

Non-consolidation of an entity in which the Group holds
more than a 50% equity interest

The Group considers that it has no control over China Modern
Dairy Holdings Ltd. (“China Modern Dairy”), even though
it held a 60.77% equity interest as at 31 December 2018.
This is because the Group held less than 50% of the voting
rights. Further details are contained in note 22 to the financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R = it

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continueq)

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Variable consideration for sales returns

The Group estimates variable consideration to be included
in the transaction price for the sale of goods with rights of
return.

The Group developed a statistical model for forecasting
sales returns. The model used the historical return data of
each product to come up with expected return percentages.
These percentages are applied to determine the expected
value of the variable consideration. Any significant changes
in experience as compared to historical return pattern will
impact the expected return percentages estimated by the
Group.

The Group updates its assessment of expected returns
semiannually and the refund liabilities are adjusted
accordingly. Estimates of expected returns are sensitive to
changes in circumstances and the Group’s past experience
regarding returns entitlements may not be representative of
customers’ actual returns entitlements in the future. As at 31
December 2018, the amount recognised as refund liabilities
was RMB29,365,000 for the expected returns.

Impairment of goodwill and trademarks with indefinite
useful lives

The Group determines whether goodwill and trademarks with
indefinite useful lives are impaired at least on an annual basis.
This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) or the fair
value of a trademark to which the goodwill and trademarks
with indefinite useful lives are allocated. Estimating the value
in use and fair value requires the Group to make an estimate
of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating
unit (or group of cash — generating units) or a trademark and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. Details of goodwill and
trademarks with indefinite useful lives are given in note 21 to
the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continueq)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision matrix is initially based on
the Group's historical observed default rates. The Group
will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products)
are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can
lead to an increased number of defaults in the industry, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and changes
in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer's actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables is disclosed in
note 27 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill
and trademarks with indefinite useful lives)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R = it

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continueq)

Business combinations and goodwill

When the Group completes a business combination, the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are
recognised at their fair value. Management estimation is
required to determine the fair values of the assets acquired,
the liabilities assumed, and the purchase consideration,
and on the allocation of the purchase consideration to
the identifiable assets and liabilities. The fair values of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
are determined using valuation techniques including the
discounted cash flow model. The inputs to these models are
taken from observable market where possible, but where
this is not feasible, a degree of judgement and estimation is
required in establishing fair values. Management must estimate
the expected future cash flows and discount rate in order to
calculate the fair values.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and all unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and the unused
tax losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits, which affects the probability
of utilisation and the tax rate to be used in the calculations.
Details of deferred tax assets are contained in note 23 to the
financial statements.

Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions
with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating
fair value requires determining the most appropriate valuation
model for a grant of equity instruments, which is dependent
on the terms and conditions of the grant. This also requires
determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation
model including the expected life of the option, volatility and
dividend yield and making assumptions about them. Details
of share-based payments are contained in notes 41 and 42 to
the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continuea)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value of dairy cows

The Group’s dairy cows are valued at fair value less costs
to sell. The fair value of dairy cows is determined based on
either the market-determined prices as at the end of the
reporting period adjusted with reference to the species, age,
growing condition, costs incurred and expected yield of the
milk to reflect differences in characteristics and/or stages of
growth of the dairy cows; or the present value of expected
net cash flows from the dairy cows discounted at a current
market-determined rate, when market-determined prices
are unavailable; or the cost when appropriate. Any change
in the estimates may affect the fair value of the dairy cows
significantly. The independent qualified professional valuer
and management review the assumptions and estimates
periodically to identify any significant change in the fair value
of dairy cows. Details of assumptions used are disclosed in
note 24.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
four reportable operating segments as follows:

° Liquid milk products segment — manufacture and
distribution of ultra-high temperature milk (“UHT milk”),
milk beverages and yogurt;

° Ice cream products segment — manufacture and
distribution of ice cream;

° Milk powder products segment — manufacture and
distribution of milk powder; and

o Others segment — principally the Group’s cheese, plant-
based nutrition products and trading business.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R = it

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss
before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before tax except that
interest income, finance costs, share of losses of associates,
income tax expense, as well as head office and corporate
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude equity investments and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets
are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.

4,
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt i3k 3= M=t

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REHTER @
(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2018 = E—N\E+_A=+—BIFEE

Segment revenue (note 5) DEBA (K EE5)
Sales to external customers SHETINERP
AEEEE

Intersegment sales A EE

Reconciliation: A

Elimination of intersegment sales %1457 EhfE &

Revenue WA

Segment results AMEE

Reconciliation: HE

Interest income FSHA

Finance costs AR

Share of losses of associates EhBENRER

Corporate and other unallocated A& Rt
expenses AREBZH

Profit before tax AT

Income tax expense iy

Profit for the year REFE

Segment assets IBEE

Reconciliation: HE

Elimination of intersegment 855 SRR FE A E R
receivables

Corporate and other unallocated A R Efth
assets THBHEE

Total assets BEE

Segment liabilities AHEE

Reconciliation: A

Elimination of intersegment HiEH BREEM A
payables

Corporate and other unallocated A& K EMA
liabilities Wak=d00=KE

Total liabilities BaE

Liquid milk
products
RETE R
RMB’000
ARETTR

Ice cream
products
IR
RMB’000
ARETR

Milk powder
products
IHRER
RMB’000

ARETTT

Others
Hith
RMB’000
ARETR

Total

@zt
RMB’000
ARET R
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2018

Other segment information: ~ Hf5HEH :
Depreciation and amortisation e R#H
Unallocated amounts I EBEE

Total depreciation and amortisation 4837 K i

Capital expenditure BAYH
Unallocated amounts Tr#e
Total capital expenditure* BERT

Impairment losses recognised in -~ RGABRE
the consolidated statement of RO RESE
profit or loss

Impairment losses reversed in KA BRRBRN
the consolidated statement of WEEE
profit or loss

Impairment losses recognised in AR A 1Bz R IERH
the consolidated statement of REER
profit or loss

Expense relating to share option 3% & BE AR #E:H 2| R Z
scheme and share award scheme 3%zt 265 %
Unallocated amounts e

Total non-cash expenses relating to 3% & Bk s 21 &
share option scheme and share IR Z#2ENEH 24
award scheme FRE T HEH

Liquid milk
products
RENER
RMB’000
ARET T

Annual Report 2018 —Z— \ &£

4, REFTEE @
E_E—N\E+-_A=+—HIEE

Ice cream Milk powder
products products Others Total
IKEHE @ IBRER Hity st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTR ARBTR AR¥TR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} i &Misr

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REFTER @

(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2017 BHE_ZE—+EFE+-_A=1+—HILFE
Liquid milk Ice cream  Milk powder
products products products Others Total
BEDER  KERER I E i Hit @5
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETRL
Segment revenue: AEBA
Sales to external customers HETIPEP
HEEEE 53,014,983 2,513,086 4,042,063 585,490 60,155,622
Intersegment sales P EE 711,788 116,218 - 304,507 1,132,513
53,726,771 2,629,304 4,042,063 889,997 61,288,135
Reconciliation: T
Elimination of intersegment sales %159 P& (1,132,513)
Revenue WA 60,155,622
Segment results DEREE 3,753,841 (210,645) (262,572) (93,885) 3,186,739
Reconciliation: SR
Interest income WA 584,011
Finance costs BEKA (399,872)
Share of losses of associates EhE LN RER (531,587)
Corporate and other unallocated A 7] R E A~
expenses AT (214,330)
Profit before tax BRITAE 2,624,961
Income tax expense i (594,283)
Profit for the year AR 2,030,678
Segment assets THEE 35,685,811 2,066,731 12,944,969 663,834 51,351,345
Reconciliation: GEE
Elimination of intersegment 5D SRR
receivables (11,223,810)
Corporate and other unallocated A& R EM A D B EE
assets 17,813,280
Assets related to a disposal group  FREEENEE 197,916
Total assets BEE 58,138,731
Segment liabilities 2HEE 17,946,490 2,206,829 3,206,490 1,031,113 24,390,922
Reconciliation: G
Elimination of intersegment YiH D SR RN A
payables (11,223,810)
Corporate and other unallocated AR R EMAD PR EE
liabilities 17,861,632
Liabilities related to a disposal groups# & &= B K & (& 2,864
Total liabilities BaE 31,031,608
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2017

Annual Report 2018 —Z— \EE#H

KREHTER @)

HE-F—+E+-A=+—AILEE

Liquid milk Ice cream  Milk powder
products products products Others Total
BENER  KEKRER IBER Hi @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARE®TT ARETT ARETT ARETRL
Other segment information: HihpBER
Depreciation and amortisation W& R 1,206,571 141,799 236,196 38,474 1,623,040
Unallocated amounts TriesE 80,810
Total depreciation and amortisation #2837 % 1,708,850
Capital expenditure BARYTH 1,975,594 231,965 182,400 20,363 2,410,322
Unallocated amounts Qarsika] 4,240,527
Total capital expenditure” BEAT 6,650,849
Impairment losses recognised in -~ A BRRERL
the consolidated statement of ~ JFi{EEIE
profit or loss 68,616 4,299 104,719 1,808 179,442
Impairment losses reversed in Rz EERELR
the consolidated statement of REEE
profit or loss (1,364) (888) (807) (20) (3,079
Impairment losses recognised/ WA BHER
(reversed) in the consolidated R/ (BE)H
statement of profit or loss HEEE 67,252 3,411 103,912 1,788 176,363
Unallocated amounts relating to % R B8R+ 2] |2
share option scheme and share R ZE#2ENEH 24
award scheme i 56,126
Total non-cash expenses relating to 3 % B ik s+l &
share option scheme and share ~ [RZ18E) 5+ 2|&)
award scheme FRE T BT 56,126

Capital expenditure consists of cash paid for the purchase
of property, plant and equipment, construction in progress,
intangible assets, land use rights, biological assets, equity
interests in subsidiaries, associates and other equity
investments.

* EXRAXERAENE BERRE &
BIR BEEE TERAE - £9E
EARFRATE  BEQRREMBRARE
ERIEFT S IR &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # # 3= Bfd &

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REHIEE @

(continued)

Geographical information i =& R

a. Revenue from external customers a. REIMBEFHWA
Over 90% of the revenue is contributed by customers in 90% LA = By Ug A B B 2 7R P B K BE Y
Mainland China. B

b. Non-current assets b. FRBEE
Over 90% of the Group’s non-current assets are located REBEV% A EWIERBE EMRF
in Mainland China. B KB o

Information about major customers FEEZEFEER

There was no sales to a single customer which accounted for HE2 T \FrEE—+tF+-_A=+—

10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 HBItFE  WERE-—FFEFNHEEMAEESR

December 2018 and 2017. WA10%BK A E ©

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA~ EIRARKE
An analysis of the revenue is as follows: WABDHTIATR -

2018 2017
—E-N\F T —LF

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREBFTT

Revenue from contracts with customers: KEEEALHBWA :
Sale of goods HEED 68,895,850 60,155,622
Consigned processing services ZEEMNTARTS 81,216 -

68,977,066 60,155,622
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # 3 3= Bfif &

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA~ Hfttlr A R W @

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEFSHNKA
() Disaggregated revenue information (i) DEBRAEE
For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_Z—\G+A=1+—HLHF
Z

Liquid milk  lce cream Milk powder
Segments R products products products Others Total

BEDER KEHER  TRER Hit @t
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR ARNMTR ARWMT:R

Type of goods or services: R REESE :
Sales of goods HEEY 59,388,601 2,723,407 5,936,201 847,641 68,895,850
Consigned processing service  Z3EINT IR - - 81,216 - 81,216

Total revenue from contracts ~ REZRFE A XEEULA
with customers 59,388,601 2,723,407 6,017,417 847,641 68,977,066

Timing of revenue R U BB

recognition:
Goods transferred at RE—RREEENER

a point in time 59,388,601 2,723,407 5,936,201 847,641 68,895,850
Services transferred at RE—RREEZNRE

a point in time - = 81,216 = 81,216

Total revenue from contracts ~ REZFE A XIEEULA
with customers 59,388,601 2,723,407 6,017,417 847,641 68,977,066
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # # 3= Bfd &

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA~ Hftl AR W @

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEZEFESLIHWA (&)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) PEVRAEEG@E
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from KEBF A XRU A R 5 30 E B FE
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in SEEEELNT -

the segment information:

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_Z—N\E+-_A=+—HIFE
E

Liquid milk  Ice cream Milk powder
Segments 2 products products products Others Total

BEDER KHNER  DHES Hit @t
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR ARNMTR ARWT:R

Revenue from contracts REEEAHOKMA

with customers
External customers HFES 50,388,601 2,723,407 6,017,417 847,641 68,977,066
Intersegment sales AEEHE 624,098 112,660 404,774 1,141,532

60,012,699 2,836,067 6,017,417 1,252,415 70,118,598
Intersegment adjustments and 5 SB35 2 ¥4
eliminations (624,098) (112,660)

(404,774)  (1,141,532)

Total revenue from contracts ~ REEF & AR
with customers 59,388,601 2,723,407 6,017,417 847,641 68,977,066
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

5.

Annual Report 2018 =& — )\ FF 3§

WA~ B A R E @
REFEFESHHWA (@)

(i)

2 EWRAEE (&)
TRATRARSHRRARRZE
B HRBERVFAGHEBERR
BIEMEERREOEERER

2018
—E-N\F

RMB’000
AR®T T

Revenue recognised that was included in contract RR&EEITFF AR L AEBZ

liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: U8 AFEGR :
Sale of goods HEEm 1,843,166
Revenue recognised from performance obligation @7 HARSER BN ST
satisfied in previous periods: N7
Sale of goods not previously recognised due to  EAREIR BB F M ARER
constraints on variable consideration EmiEE 36,894
(i) Performance obligations (i) BITEE

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is BAASEBITREENERMSMAT

summarised below:

HER
BTRERRNEMERE FREDN
SEHIR AR S PINFIRRZ
e ERIGHNATREFAERE - E
EARSRFR AT ERE -

Sales of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the goods and payment is paid in advance or due
within a credit limits which is adjustable in certain
circumstances. Some contracts provide customers with
a right of return which give rise to variable consideration
subject to constraint.

ST IR
BIOTEERTEXZEMNIARIEEK &
I MITERBEK - RIE—MRRE
E1%0BREH -

Consigned processing service

The performance obligation is satisfied upon completion
of the consigned processing service and delivery of
the processed products and payment is generally due
within 90 days from delivery.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 81 #% 3% 5% b &
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. A ~ HA KWz )
(continued)
2018 2017
—E-N\F S
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Other income and gains Eo AP K Wz
Government grants related to N2geR kA
— Recognition of deferred income — BAFERIE UL A
(note 36) B 78 (FT7E36) 115,945 85,354
— Income and biological —BIRAREYEE
assets (note a) BH#(FFa) 203,667 100,262
Gain on disposal of a disposal group HESEAEBFEN
classified as held for sale (note 12) REEZS(HsE12) 44,147 -
Promotion service income (note b) EEAREUA (FEb) - 17,000
Gross rental income HERUWA 49,280 36,693
Foreign exchange gains, net b H W 58 14,384 -
Net fair value gain on forward currency REINEERNRARE
contracts (note 34(b)) W 255 58 (P 7E34(b)) 2,232 1,483
Net fair value gain on exchangeable AIR]MEF A EW &S
bonds (note 32(e)) HEE (FIEE32(e)) 58,009 2,363
Net fair value gain on a convertible AT R IR 2 A EW
promissory note (note 25(c)) =358 (M sE25(c)) 61 3,711
Net fair value gain on subscription R 2 REBEN AR E
right of warrants (note 25(e)) W 255 58 (P 5E25(e)) 5,593 -
Gain on re-measurement of an equity REKUIBEZETTE
interest in an associate upon business N A RER WS
acquisition (note c) (7Fc) 101,038 -
Others Hih 141,899 91,313
736,255 338,179
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(continued)

Notes:

(@)

The government grants in the form of cash donations have
been received for the Group’s contribution to the development
of the local dairy industry. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies attaching to these grants.

This represented promotion service income from Danone Asia
Pacific Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“Danone”) and Arla Foods amba
during 2017.

During 2018, Junlebao, a 51% indirectly owned subsidiary of
the Group, acquired an additional 43.41% equity interest in
Banner Dairy from third parties, increasing Junlebao’s interest
in Banner Dairy to 65.16%. After the acquisition, the Group
controlled Banner Dairy and accordingly consolidated Banner
Dairy. On the acquisition date, the Group re-measured its
previously held equity interest in Banner Dairy at fair value and
recognised a gain of RMB101,038,000 in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Further details of the acquisition are
included in note 44 to the financial statements.

Annual Report 2018 —Z— \EE#H

5. A ~ HUA K Wz )

(a)

AEEREEMIXERAMER - HE
REeBBVANBNHBE - ZSHPE
I S Y o AR R Y R I R AR IR -

It & 38 — T — + & N 2R & Danone Asia
Pacific Holdings Pte. Ltd. ([ Danone J) &
Arla Foods ambaf) Z Z RIS A °

R-T—N\F KRB EHEES1%ER
WTRBIBLERE = REEMILRE
INAB.41%RERS - S B BT N FE P M AR
HIEINZEBS.16% - RUEER @ REBIE
BRI 2L SRS A A GRIE R AL @ o KR
B AEBRAABEEHTEBERERIL
mEBENRE  REABERRBERARE
101,038,000t 25 - E—FWBEFHEE
MABA TSR 5144 -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} i &Misr

6. OTHER EXPENSES 6. HtEH

2018 2017
—E-N\F T —LF

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT

Donations BT 28,637 20,555
Fair value change of biological EMEEAEES)

assets (note 24) (FizE24) 152,777 63,099
Loss on disposal of items of property, BREVE  BENLEEEE

plant and equipment 29,981 28,280
Provision for construction in EEITRREE(E16)

progress (note 16) - 256
Provision for property, plant and VI - BB MR

equipment (note 15) (FFE15) - 7,216
Provision for other intangible H 8 E R (M sE20)

assets (note 20) 4,761 -
Write-down of inventories to net realisable & SR = 7] #I5 F{E

value (note 26) (Ft3E26) 35,316 84,998
Educational surcharges, city construction Z{EBMIINE « WM 4EE

tax, and other taxes FERR T M H AT IE 490,977 439,472
Foreign exchange losses, net b B 1E SRR - 202,347
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEs T AREE 15,054 11,698
Loss on disposal of partial interests in an & — B & QA a3 D

associate (note 22) W B8 (MizE22) - 18,204
Loss on deemed disposal of partial REHEBE QRS

interests in associates (note a) TS E1E (FFa) - 125,439
Others Hitp 93,713 97,041

851,216 1,098,605
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6. OTH ER EXPENSES (continued)

Note:

(@)

On 6 January 2017, due to the execution of the share award
scheme of Inner Mongolia Fuyuan International Industrial Co.,
Ltd. (“Fuyuan”), the Group’s shareholding in Fuyuan was diluted
from 43.35% to 42.30%, resulting in a loss of RMB21,320,000
recognised in profit or loss.

On 25 January 2017, China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
(“China Modern Dairy”), an associate of the Group, acquired
an additional 45% equity interest in a subsidiary at the
consideration of 338,602,205 shares in China Modern Dairy
issued to the sellers. The acquisition diluted the Group’s
shareholding in China Modern Dairy from 25.41% to 23.88%,
resulting in a loss of RMB53,381,000 recognised in profit or
loss.

On 6 February 2017, pursuant to the exercise of the
investor option granted to its investor, China Modern Dairy
issued 488,036,618 consideration shares and paid a cash
consideration of US$13,424,231 to the then investor.
The transaction diluted the Group’s shareholding in China
Modern Dairy from 23.88% to 21.98%, resulting in a loss of
RMB50,738,000 recognised in profit or loss.
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HiE A

(a)

RZZE—+tF—AXNE BRAZHEER
BEBREXEFRAR(BR])ITHEREER
8 AEEREIRAARESH43.35%EE
£42.30% B ARY21,320,0007TE5E
RIBZEFER o

R_TB—+tFE—A-+HAB  NEFHY
ARREBERREIERBRAR([HEEIE
REZE]D) AP EBERKRERERET
338,602,205/% & fh AR EWIE—HF A A
BEINAE%AIE - Z B FEAEBMA R IR
R AT RE R 25.41% #5585 23.88% @ &
BMARKS53,381,000 T E 1B IB 2SR -

R-ZEBE—+E-AXH " REAKREE
BYmEEaBREZTE  FEER
R & A IR & & 3 17488,036,618 %
RERHG R ZFHSKRE13,424,231 %
T o R S EAREEN A BIR A HUE DR
e 23.88%# 8 £21.98% » EH AR
50,738,000 T E 1B A IB = ERR ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} i &Misr

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at

7. BATRE

after charging/ NEERMFERABEDEMNG(GEA) TH&

(crediting): THIAETE TS
2018 2017
—B—NF —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFT
Cost of inventories sold HEFERA 43,139,041 38,950,047
Realised and unrealised fair value FBENAREHERHE

losses/(gains) of commodity futures AR RAREREE (W)

contracts, net (note 34(c)) FEA(MI7ES4(c)) (6,394) 22,880
Cost of consigned processing services ZREN TARFE A A 60,793 -
Cost of sales SHERAR 43,193,440 38,972,927
Employee benefit expense EERNER(BE

(including directors’ and chief executive’s  WsXOiFERIEE &

remuneration as disclosed in note 9) FBITEA B FH)

- Wages, salaries, housing benefits and ~ —T& - 4% - T EEF

other allowances PEKiih=3zh 5,616,109 4,662,362

— Retirement benefit contributions —RIREFIH 476,061 415,296

— Share option scheme expense (note 41) — BEAHET 2159 % (FfzE41) 51,199 12,582

— Share award scheme expense (note 42) — &% ZE#EEH=t2IF

(Mf3E42) 105,190 43,544
6,248,559 5,133,784
Impairment of financial and TRIREHNEEREFE
contract asset, net:
Impairment of trade receivables, net B 5 W IR R EF 5 83,900 59,717
Impairment of financial assets included FTATERTEIR - EMpER
in prepayments, other receivables and RIERAEMEER SR
other assets, net BEMEBEFE 1,362 24,176
85,262 83,893
Depreciation of items of property, ME - MENRERETE

plant and equipment (note 15) (F$3E15) 1,738,806 1,622,015
Depreciation of investment properties EMERE(MFE17)

(note 17) 3,937 2,447
Amortisation of land use rights (note 18) b { FAfE#E 84 (F43E18) 28,843 24,536
Amortisation of other intangible assets E & S (Mi3E20)

(note 20) 66,865 54,852
Research and development AFEMIEFHEER

costs — current year expenditure 159,035 133,379
Outsourcing expense (note a) SNEE A (5fa) 185,884 216,987
Minimum lease payments under KEHERRES

operating leases 278,395 247,617
Auditor’s remuneration (note b) ZEEMEN S (FFb) 8,930 9,400
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # 3 3= Bfif &

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. FHETFE @
Notes: 5
(a)  For the purpose of promoting operation efficiency, the Group () ABRAZLEREX AEBEIRETERE
outsourced the production of certain products. The amounts E ZeoREAERREEZSINBRE
represent the total amount paid by the Group for purchasing SR 4EEE o

outsourcing services.

(b)  In addition to the above fees paid or payable to the auditors, b) BEMBREMNZEEIERIN  RNAF]
Yashili, a subsidiary of the Company listed on the Main Board NEBMEXLSMAER AR TR ETHF
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, had an amount NEIHETFIRED N FERZEET S A
of RMB2,983,000 (2017: RMB2,726,000) paid/payable as R#¥2083000c (=T —tF : ARK
auditor’s remuneration during the year. 2,726,0007T) °
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. WMEMAK
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BERR AR DITIAT -

2018 2017
—B-N\F Tt
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSTR AREFTT

Interest on bank loans IRITERFE 376,147 245,002
Interest on US$500,000,000 3.50% BRI 50%AR-_ZT—/\F
bonds due 2018 £I#92500,000,000% 7T
BEH2HE 107,071 126,146
Interest on US$500,000,000 4.25% BRABHA T - =4
bonds due 2023 £I8#92500,000,000% 7T
BEH 2 A 57,696 -
Interest on long term payables REIENZIER B 1,458 3,994
Net fair value loss/(gain) on interest rate MEEHMENN AR EERE
forward contracts (note 34 (b)) (e ) 5 (B 5E34(0)) 8,290 (907)
Bonds issuance cost and others BEH BT R ELAD - 25,637

550,662 399,872
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} i &Misr

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERFIETHAESHMH
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, RIBEEAHMAEXT AR AT EAS LMRE
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of (T EmREI]) ~ FBRQREHIZE383(1)(a)
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the ) ©&MIE ARARB(HEEEFEE
“Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (), (c) and (f) of the Hong FOBRBE 2D BEEN A FEEEREET
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies A EFHMET -

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

2018 2017
—B—NF —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT

Fees e 1,126 1,200
Other emoluments E b B &
- Basic salaries, housing benefits, other ~ —HA&¥ 4% - TEEF -
allowances and benefits in kind E 2B R BEYFz= 8,968 12,193
- Performance related bonuses —HELEFHENES 7,148 6,498
— Retirement benefit contributions —RIRE IR 231 369

17,473 20,260
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bi 33k 3= M=t

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERFETHAETM@
REMUNERATION (continued)

Basic
salaries,
housing
benefits,
other
allowances Performance Retirement
and benefits related benefit Total
in Kind bonuses contributions remuneration
EERH
HitrZHR XA BHREA
He ENRE BEHES #3 D)
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Ll AR%TR ARTz ARTR AR¥TRT AR%TR

2018 “E-N\F
Executive directors HITEZE

— Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu -BEMEE (b)/e)d)

- Ms. Wu Wenting —RXERT c)/(d)
Non-executive directors FHTES

- Mr. Ma Jianping -BRTEE

— Mr. Niu Gensheng —HRAERSE

- Mr. Tim @rting Jergensen - Tim @rting Jorgensen

bt

~ Mr. Pascal De Petrini - Pascal De PetriniZt & (@
Independent BUFHITES

non-executive directors

- Mr. Jiao Shuge -EBRLAE (b)

- Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt —Julian Juul Wolhardt: £ (o)

- Mr. Zhang Xiaoya —RERLE

- Mr. Yau Ka Chi -BRERE
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®
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 81 #% 3% 5% b &
9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERFETHAEFM@
REM U N ERATI ON (continued)
Basic
salaries,
housing
benefits,
other
allowances Performance  Retirement
and benefits related benefit Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration
15
EERHN -
2R R B RINEH
e EWflE  AEn%EE {5 el
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
M ARBTT ARETr ARETT ARETR ARET:
2017 —TtF
Executive directors HiTES
- Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu ~BEMEE e/ 30 7,082 5,211 92 12,365
- Mr. Bai Ying —HAERE (@)/(0) 20 2,569 - 9 2,685
- Ms. Wu Wenting - RNELZL (c)/(d) 30 1,917 1,287 114 3,348
Non-executive directors FHTES
= Mr. Ma Jianping -BETRE 150 - - = 150
- Mr. Niu Gensheng —HRERE 150 675 - 67 892
- Mr. Tim @rting Jorgensen ~ —Tim @rting Jorgensen
pirte 150 - - - 150
- Mr. Filip Kegels ~Filip Kegels#: 4 (a) 146 - - - 146
- Mr. Pascal De Petrini —Pascal De Petrini%t £ (@) 4 - - - 4
Independent non-executive BV IEHTES
directors
- Mr. Jiao Shuge -ERERE (b) - - - - -
- Mr. Julian Juul Wolharat —Julian Juul Wolhardte £ (o) - - - - -
~ Mr. Zhang Xiaoya —REDLE 260 - - - 260
- Mr. Yau Ka Chi -BREEE 260 - - - 260
1,200 12,193 6,498 369 20,260
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

Notes:

Mr. Bai Ying resigned as a director on 31 August 2017. Mr.
Filip Kegels resigned as a director on 20 December 2017. Mr.
Pascal De Petrini was appointed as a director on 20 December
2017.

During 2018, the four (2017: two) directors agreed to waive
their entitlements to directors’ fees totalling RMB580,000 (2017:
RMB520,000) for the year. Other than the aforementioned,
there was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

As of 31 December 2018, certain directors were granted
share options in respect of their services to the Group under
the share option scheme of the Company, further details
of which are set out in note 41 to the financial statements.
In accordance with IFRS 2, share option benefits represent
the fair value at the grant date of the share options issued
under the share option scheme of the Company amortised to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year
disregarding whether the options have been vested/exercised
or not. During the year, the share option benefits relating
to the share options granted to Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and
Ms. Wu Wenting were approximately RMB3,620,000 (2017:
RMB887,000) and RMB694,000 (2017: RMB452,000). The
share option benefits relating to the share options granted to
these directors are not included in the above remuneration
analysis.

As of 31 December 2018, Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and Ms. Wu
Wenting were granted shares in respect of their services to
the Group under the share award scheme of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 42 to the financial
statements. In accordance with IFRS 2, share-based payment
benefits represent the fair value at the grant date of the shares
amortised to the consolidated statement of profit or loss during
the year disregarding whether the shares have been vested/
exercised or not. During the year, the fair values recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss relating to the
shares granted to Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and Ms. Wu Wenting
were approximately RMB2,162,000 (2017: RMB732,000)
and RMB1,217,000 (2017: RMB314,000). During 2017, due
to the unfulfilment of vesting conditions under share award
scheme, there was a reversal of RMB14,800,000 of the share-
based payment expenses relating to the shares granted to
Mr. Bai Ying. The share award benefits relating to the share
award granted to these directors are not included in the above
remuneration analysis.

9.
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HEEER-_ZE—tFNA=ZT—BEIT
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2 N\FE m(ZT—+F : WAL)
BERAEREEESWE  2BAHEAR
#580,0007C( =T —+4F : AR¥520,000
J0) ° BRATILESN  AFEWEBE(AEHE
EWEKRBRETMIMESOZTHE -

HE-_Z—N\E+=-A=+—0 BFE
ERHAAEBRRENRGEARNR ARE
BT S FHERE  FEHATHER
RHTEEA1 o IRIBEBR IS IRE A RIE 28R
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HE-_ZTZ—-N\E+_-_A=+—8 E®KX
EERINBELZETREHAREEIREHR
BEAABRBEREZEZETER LRS-
RN MR KM 42 o IRIEBFR I
MEAERIE 2GR - LARD AEBRA S I1E
FEBRMNRELBBHOAAE  FRAER
RAEBRRATUNEE  mMTwmZERG
REOREB /11 - TR AERTEHR
MEERRNELZTHORONEERBRER
BRZAREBEHBARE2,162,0007T(=
T—+F: AR#732,0007T) X AR
1,217,0007L (=2 —+4F : AR#314,000
TL) e —ZE—+FE - ARKRZEEHET
ISEBIEREER  ARAMOBEAER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} i &Misr

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
One (2017: One) of the five highest paid employees was a
director whose emoluments have been shown above. Details
of emoluments paid to the remaining four (2017: four) non-
director, highest paid employees, who are neither a director

10. AV RESHEE
INSSERERE—((ZE—+tF  —
()EE  BRRSOMEENER FXH
B AFEINFAAREKNMG(ZT
— 4 RN FEE  SSFEEGEAR

nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

AESHEFONMT

2018 2017
—Z2-N\F —FE—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T

Basic salaries, housing benefits, EXFHS - EEEF
other allowances and benefits in kind H 2B R BRI 11,804 7,277
Performance related bonuses EZEE B ES 11,596 30,378
Retirement scheme contributions RRBFIFTEI R 501 387
23,901 38,042

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

MEI AN THEFIN RS EHIEESREENK
BaT :

Number of employees

EEHEA

2018 2017
—B-N\E —T—t&

HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000
HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000
HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000
HK$11,000,001 to HK$11,500,000
HK$11,500,001 to HK$12,000,000
HK$12,000,001 to HK$12,500,000
HK$12,500,001 to HK$13,000,000
HK$13,000,001 to HK$13,500,000
HK$13,500,001 to HK$14,000,000
HK$14,000,001 to HK$14,500,000
HK$14,500,001 to HK$15,000,000
HK$15,000,001 to HK$15,500,000
HK$15,500,001 to HK$16,000,000

4,500,001 725,000,000/ 7T
5,000,001 725,500,000/ 7T
5,500,001 726,000,000/ 7T
6,000,001 7T 26,500,000/ 7T
6,500,001 727,000,000/ 7T
7,000,001 727,500,000/ 7T
7,500,001 728,000,000/ 7T
8,000,001 728,500,000/ 7T
11,000,001 7T E 11,500,000/ 7T
11,500,001 7T E 12,000,000/ 7T
12,000,001 7T % 12,500,000/ 7T
12,500,001 7T % 13,000,000/ 7T
13,000,001 7T % 13,500,000/ 7T
13,500,001/ 7T E 14,000,000/ 7T
14,000,001 7T % 14,500,000/ 7T
14,500,001 7T % 15,000,000/ 7T
15,000,001 7T % 15,500,000/ 7T
15,500,001 7T % 16,000,000/ 7T
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continueq) 10. AV ERSHFEE@

During the year, share options were granted to four (2017:
four) non-director, highest paid employee in respect of their
services to the Group, further details of which are set out in
note 41 to the financial statements. During the year, the share
option benefits relating to the share options granted to the
non-director, highest paid employees were approximately
RMB4,457,000 (2017: RMB1,182,000) in aggregate. The
share option benefits relating to the share options granted to
these non-director, highest paid employees are not included
in the above analysis.

During the year, shares were granted to four (2017:
four) non-director, highest paid employees in respect
of their services under the share award scheme of the
Company, further details of which are set out in note 42
to the financial statements. During the year, there was a
reversal of approximately RMB4,609,000 (2017: expense
RMB3,192,000) of the share-based payment expenses
relating to the shares granted to non-director, highest paid
employees. The share-based payments relating to the shares
granted to these non-director, highest paid employees are
not included in the above analysis.

FR WOE(ZE—EF OB R=FHIEE
EEEREEAEENRGEREREE
BB EMERRMEAIPHE) - FA
EHARZEER T FEERERHBREDN
ERRERAE RN A ARE4,457,0007T(=
T—+4F : AR¥1,182,0007T) ° Lt D #T
VEREEENZSEaFIEEERERT
BIRERERERT -

FR-NE(ZE—LF  UR)EaFHEE
ZEEBMERBREARRMNRZEE S
BB (BREFBETBHREM F425
B) TN BERAZSERFIEERE
BERDEOARD BERONRE B R LA
M AREA4,609,000(—T—+F : AR
#3,192,0007T) ° Ll AT EBIEE A
ZEGRHFEZRERERHRMDOURG A
ERERER o
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11. FIERXH

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on HRighE A REMECZRERE([FED
Corporate Income Tax (“PRC CIT Law”), except for certain ERREBE]) BAEBREFFARERS
preferential tax treatment available to certain subsidiaries of FREERIN  REBETNCERME X
the Group, the entities within the Group are subject to PRC THEEMEREZRHABEIZ255%(ZE—+
corporate income tax (“CIT”) at a rate of 25% (2017: 25%) F o 25%) ZRERIMPBRDSEMSH ([
on the taxable income as reported in their statutory accounts ZHER]) EATER NIRRPEe 2|
which are prepared in accordance with the PRC accounting RS ERER o

standards and financial regulations.

2018 2017
—B—N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT

Current income tax BOEA Fr 1St
Current charge for the year AR RNERSE 895,334 713,385
Adjustments recognised in the year FAREFE HAEH

for current tax of prior years TR A & 7,617 10,993
Deferred income tax (note 23) EIEFTIS R (B 5E23) (253,950) (130,095)

649,001 594,283
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1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to profit

before tax at the statutory income tax rate to the income tax

expense at the Group’s effective income tax rate for the year is

as follows:
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1. ISR H @
EFEAN

LB AT FE IR A E TSR X

<Gt

BRFAEHE L - BIRRAEEERAEH
BMEFENAEHIT HASHEOT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
Profit before tax A5t A A 3,852,722 2,624,961
At CIT rate of 25% (2017: 25%) R25%(ZF— L& :
25% ) E T
MEGTE 963,181 656,240
Non-deductible items and TAMEIRIE B &
others, net HiCFEE) 23,793 5,774
Adjustment recognised in the year  FAFLEFE BTG
for current tax of prior years FERR A 7,617 10,993
Effect of lower tax rates EHEns® @ (301,467) (271,164)
Effect of tax exemptions MBS & (@) (199,138) (181,050)
Losses attributable to associates BN a) B EEE 74,984 132,897
Tax losses utilised from AT R % EE
previous periods (79,219) (22,612)
Tax losses not recognised RERTISER 159,250 263,205
At the effective income tax rate of ~ ##16.85%( =& — 4 :
16.85% (2017: 22.64%) 22.64% ) BFEFr1SHL
BEE 649,001 594,283
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continueq)

12.

Notes:

(@)

Thirteen (2017: Thirteen) subsidiaries were granted lower tax
rates by the state tax bureau in accordance with the PRC CIT
law and the corresponding transitional tax concession policy
and “The notice of tax policies relating to the implementation of
the western China development strategy.”

Thirty (2017: twenty-eight) subsidiaries were granted tax
exemptions in accordance with the policy of “The notice of
preferential tax policy for preliminary processing of agriculture
products”.

The total taxable profits of the subsidiaries that are
subject to tax concessions amounted to approximately
RMBS3,392,397,000 (2017: RMB2,957,934,000) in aggregate.

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to
approximately RMB6,949,000 (2017: RMB12,475,000) is
included in the share of losses of associates on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS
HELD FOR SALE

On 22 December 2017, Yashili entered into an agreement to
dispose of a piece of land of Scient (China) Baby Nourishment
Co., Ltd. (“Scient China”), together with the property, plant
and equipment thereon. The disposal had been completed in

2018.

As such, as at 31 December 2017, the related assets

and liabilities were classified as a disposal group held for sale.

As at 31 December 2018, the transaction had been
completed with a disposal gain of RMB44,147,000

recog

nised in other income and gains (note 5) of the Group.

11.

12.

ﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬁ)

CX

@ +T=EB(ZZE—t%F: T=H)FRRER
RBBRARBEPHEEMSTE - RN
WEEEERR R ERRAE MR A
BB A B TR R R RSB AR TR

=t+RA(ZE—tF : Z+\H)FRAE
REKARBEMZER EEMSHEERRA
BESTNTHE(FT)ABMNERERH
RIS ©

EEBREEENTRARNERTFHELE
A Hu AR®3,392,397,000L (= —+
F : AR#¥2,957,934,0007T) °

b) HtE QA EETIEL A REE6,949,0007T
(ZZ—+t%F : AR¥12,475,0007T) ' B
FFARAERRNELEE AR EER -

—

TRERBFEBENEEL

RZFB—+tF+—A=+=H  BIFEIL
W DEEE(FE)BYZEERER
2El([EEPE )/ —iE i CGERZ L
FRWE  BERSEH) HERZZE—AN
FRK Al R-E—+E+-A=+—
H HEEEREBESEARERENEE
4 o

RZZE—N\F+_A=1+—H XFE7=K
M EWZRAREEA4,147, 000D A AER
E AU A Kz Mgk (B 555 ) FERR o
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12. A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS 12. 7 EABESENEEAmw
HELD FOR SALE (continued)
The major classes of assets and liabilities of a disposal group RZE—tF T+ A=+—HOEARFER
classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2017 are as ENREEANTEEERBERNNAT
follows:
2017
—+F
RMB’000
ARET T
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB MR 166,837
Land use rights T b s A 31,079
Assets classified as held for sale DEARBEFENEE 197,916
Liabilities =N
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIBEE 2,864
Liabilities directly associated with the HAOBRRERENEE
assets classified as held for sale BEEABENAE 2,864
Net assets directly associated with HREAEERENFEE
a disposal group 195,052
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13. DIVIDENDS

2018 2017
—E-NF —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T

Declared and paid during the year REEER NS

N

Equity dividends on ordinary shares &

i

el 482,827 344,816

Proposed for approval at the AGM RENBRERF RS HE

Equity dividends on ordinary shares:  ZiEAR S :

Proposed final - RMBO0.181 BORAHIR B — BR%
(2017: RMBO0.12) LMk AR®0.1817T
per ordinary share T —+F
ARHE0.127T) (a)/(o) 710,915 471,283

Notes: i

(@) The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the (a) ®WKFEHRBREEHARADNRREEE
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming REBFAE(RRBEFRE DHE -
Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”).

(o)  This dividend was not recognised as a liability in the by ZBEYTARBE-_Z—NF+=A
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 =+t HLEFENGAMERREREEA
December 2018 but will be reflected as an appropriation of & ARBRABEE-_T—NLF+=A
share premium account for the year ending 31 December =+—BIEFENRDEEDE °

2019.
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. AR EEREEAELBRER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY F
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) BERELRZRR
The basic earnings per share for the year is calculated REEFGREARBANDBEBEEARNRNAD
by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary BEEIREE AELENERAEARND
equity holders of the Company by the weighted average BITE BRI INEF S EEE -

number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

A reconciliation of the weighted average number of STE R E AR E R BT B hniE F &
shares used in calculating the basic earnings per share HEBFESWT -

amount is as follows:

2018 2017

—E2-N\F —E—+F

Number of Number of

shares shares

RHEE G4

’000 000

T TF A&

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January RN—A—HBETEER 3,927,361 3,925,027

Effect of share options exercised BT ERENTE 80 1,033
Effect of shares purchased under RIZRESRENT 8= 8

share award scheme A& 15w s & (23,131) (30,994)

Weighted average number of ordinary AEERERBFAMALY
shares for the purpose of the basic RS INRE T H 81
earnings per share calculation 3,904,310 3,895,066
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(b)

Diluted earnings per share

The diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as
used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed
to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares into ordinary shares.

A reconciliation of the weighted average number of
shares used in calculating the diluted earnings per share
amount is as follows:

14. XA AREBREGAEBLHZREA

)

(b)

SRBBEF

GREE R RBENADTRB
S A FIM A (s E SR
EABRFRAOEND BT ERR
MEF Y - TERENEARE
BROERBRER ERTARRA
R0 X AT BGHH -

B S g B TR AT
8B BENT -

2018 2017
—B—N\F —T—+F
Number of Number of

shares Shares
R EE by gE]
’000 ’000
T T

Weighted average number of ordinary STESRERET]

shares for the purpose of the basic BT A3 A 3 28 A hn e

earnings per share calculation 58 3,904,310 3,895,066
Weighted average number of ordinary R F NPT A B E

shares, assuming issued at no BITEWIRENRE

consideration on the deemed exercise BT 2 LB Nt

of all share options during the year T g 3,691 297
Adjustments for share award scheme MAREEEEEE

{EH B A 1,665 -

Weighted average number of ordinary STESREERT

shares for the purpose of the diluted T A3 A 35 58 A% hn e

earnings per share calculation 98 3,909,666 3,895,363
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y13 - HERRE

Buildings Plant
Freehold and and Office Motor
land  structures  machinery  equipment vehicles Total
KAEETH EERERY HERKES WAKE RE H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR%TR AR%TT AR¥ETr AR¥Tz AR%T:x

At 1 January 2018 R-E-NE-A-H

Cost XA

Accumulated depreciation and R HTERE
impairment

Net carrying amount REFE

At 1 January 2018, net of RZE-N\F-HF—-B"

accumulated depreciation MRZHIE RAfE
and impairment

Additions NE

Transfers from construction in -~ EH AR TIR(KEH16)
progress (note 16)

Transfers to construction SERREETR(H16)
in progress (note 16)

Transfers to investment BRERAME (H7)
properties (note 17)

Acquisition of subsidiaries WEFAR

Disposals e

Depreciation provided during FRTERE(NET)
the year (note 7)

Exchange realignment B 5

At 31 December 2018, net of RZZ-\E+ZRA

accumulated depreciation =+—B - REAs
and imparment TERAE
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\F
+-A=1-A
Cost XA
Accumulated depreciation ZHTERRE

and impairment

Net carrying amount REFE
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BMERZRHE@®
(continued)
Buildings Plant
Freehold and and Office Motor
land structures machinery equipment vehicles Total
KAFELH FEREEY HERES LI HE a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTR ARETT ARBTn ARETR ARET:E
At 1 January 2017 RZZ—tF-A-AH
Cost KR 54513 6,671,726 14,699,828 1,017,738 158,146 22,601,951
Accumulated depreciationand ~ ZFHTERFE
impairment - (1,805,043) (7,531,279 (452,059 (115,200)  (9,903,577)
Net carrying amount FHFE 54513 4,866,683 7,168,549 565,683 42,946 12,698,374
At 1 January 2017, net of RZZ—t5-H-R"
accumulated depreciation MREFHERRE
and impairment 54513 4,866,683 7,168,549 565,683 42,946 12,698,374
Additions NE - 208,383 199,672 189,101 7,118 604,274
Transfers from constructionin -~ E&BEERTIZ(fii16)
progress (note 16) - 275,456 963,566 41,480 5,337 1,285,839
Transfers to construction ERSERTR(FE16)
in progress (note 16) - (25,671) (51,786) - - (77,457)
Transfers from investment BRBREME(M317)
properties (note 17) - 50,480 - - - 50,480
Acquisition of subsidliaries KEF AR = - - 366 416 782
Impairment (note 6) EERT) - (3,077) (3,956) (29) (154) (7,216)
Disposals HE = (60,652) (48,751) (1,356) 2,110) (112,869)
Transfers from assets of a disposal E&E 2B ABEFEL
group classified as held for sele ~ REAEE - 1,097 6,981 3,221 1,091 12,390
Transfers to assets of a disposal ~ BREZ LB AEFEER
group classified as held forsale ~ REBHREE = (44,774) - - - (44,774)
Depreciation provided during ERHERE T
the year (note 7) - (335,790)  (1,083,596) (186,121) (16,508)  (1,622,015)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEFA = (16,399) (8,028) (841) (27) (25,289)
Exchange realignment L (2,227) (15,079) (29,704) (44) (1) (47,065)
At 31 December 2017, net of WZZ—+E+=R
accumulated depreciation =t—H IRE
and impairment FERRE 52,286 4900663 7,112,947 611,460 38,098 12715454
At 31 December 2017 RZE—1fF
+-A=t+-H
Cost AR 52286 6,962,988 15,465,453 1,173,131 152,884 23,806,742
Accumulated depreciationand  ZHTEREE
impairment - (2,062,325  (8,352,506) (561,671) (114,786) (11,091,288
Net carrying amount FEFE 52,286 4,900,663 7,112,947 611,460 38,098 12,715,454
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

(@)

Certain property, plant and equipment of the Group
with net book values of approximately RMB37,029,000
(2017: RMB97,654,000) and RMB734,297,000 (2017:
RMB215,736,000) as at 31 December 2018 have been
pledged to secure the long term payables (note 35) and
long term bank loans (note 32), respectively. Property,
plant and equipment of the Group with a net book values of
approximately RMB45,128,000 were pledged to secure short
term bank loans (note 32) as at 31 December 2017.
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15. 1% - BERRE@®

(@)

AEEETR-_ZE—NF+=_A=+—
AEEEFENHARE37,029,000T (=
—+tF: AR®97,654,0007T) & AR
# 734,297,000 (ZF—+tF : ARK
215,736,0007T) W% - BE RZHEE L
DRI FAEARSE E &S R E S 28 (M &
35) R EHRITE R (K FE32) KA H -
i 7N £2 ] BR EFE 49 A R #645,128,0007T
HYZE  BERIBAERZZE—tF
T+ A=+ BHESEHETERKME
32) Ky R o

(b)  The Group leases its ranch facilities included in property, b) AEBREEEHEZHRETBELE=
plant and equipment with a net book value of approximately FHEEIAYE  BMENMEZEOHISER
RMB37,700,000 (2017: RMB29,018,000) to independent third 5 ) Bl T B {1 49 A R #6537, 700,0007T ( — =
parties under operating lease arrangements, with lease terms —tF : AR¥29,018,0007T) + HE & H
ranging from five to eight years (note 46(a)). AFEENF(HI5E46(a)) ©

16. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 16. EEZIE
Movements of construction in progress are as follows: AEBNEETRREFHWOT ¢

2018 2017

—E-NF —T—+F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AR®ET T

Carrying amount at beginning of year FYEREMEE 1,363,399 1,271,844

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 44) W kg7 al (MsE44) 35,850 -

Additions during the year FRNRNE 2,392,160 1,455,679
Transfers from property, plant and BEEEEYEE

equipment (note 15) B EIECIEREY) 75,894 77,457
Transfers to property, plant and BRI

equipment (note 15) T e s (B sE15) (1,578,456) (1,285,839)

Transfers to other intangible assets HREHMBEEE

(note 20) (FfF5E20) (85,691) (155,310)

Impairment (note 6) RE (FFE6) = (256)

Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FF2aa - (41)

Exchange realignment Rk (31) (139)

Carrying amount at end of year FERME 2,203,125 1,363,399
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. REWHE
2018 2017
—Z2-N\F T —LF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
At 1 January, net of accumulated n—A—8"
depreciation MR R ITE 59,333 67,486
Transfers from property, plant and HEAYE -
equipment (note 15) B R 584 (BTsE15) 18,389 -
Transfers to property, plant and HE Y -
equipment (note 15) B ACIEA) - (50,480)
Transfers from assets of a disposal group EBEESEAREREN
classified as held for sale REHENEE - 44774
Depreciation provided during the year FRITERE(MIET)
(note 7) (3,937) (2,447)
At 31 December, net of accumulated Rt+—A=+—8"
depreciation MREFTIE 73,785 59,333
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H
Cost D% 93,344 73,295
Accumulated depreciation Ritine (19,559) (13,962)
Net carrying amount REVFE 73,785 59,333

The fair value of the investment properties, as determined
by the directors of the Company, based on the market
approach with reference to market transaction prices of
similar properties, taking into account other factors, i.e.,
characteristics of the properties and locations, was estimated
to be approximately RMB156,275,000 as at 31 December

2018 (2017: RMB124,721,000).

FE NI

REMEAARER_Z—N\E+_A=+—
Bitst4 B ARE156,275,00070( —F—+
£ AR#E124,721,0007T) * AR EHAK
RAIEBREMSERZEZHUMENTIS
RESERET - WEFREMESE - BIME
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq) 17. REVZE @

Fair value hierarchy AREER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TREYEBAEEREMEN AL EE
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties: E&

Fair value measurements as at 31 December 2018 using

R-B-N\F+ZA=t-REANDAEFE

Quoted prices
in active
markets

(Level 1)
EET S
NEE
(5-%)
RMB’000
AR¥ETR

Significant
observable
inputs
(Level 2)
EATEER
WAYE
(5=&)
RMB’000
AR¥ETR

Significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)
BERTAHE
BAZE
(B=#)
RMB’000
ARET T

act
RMB’000
ARBTR

Fair value measurement for:
Commercial properties

R TIISBEN DA ETE -
ik YES -

156,275

156,275

Fair value measurements as at 31 December 2017 using

R-ZE—tF+-_A=1+—HERNLAENZ

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

BTG BAAER ERTIEE

HR(E N ¢ BAEE
(B—4) (B=®) (B=8) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®FT AREFTT AREFT

Fair value measurement for: TR BHAREE

Commercial properties [ElaEAES - - 124,721 124,721

During the year, there were no transfers into or out of Level 3

(2017: Nil).

FR-BEFAFZ-AIEF=FBL (=
T—tF:8|)-
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18. LAND USE RIGHTS 18. T ib{FE FARE
2018 2017
—E-N\F T —LF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FHERE{E 1,079,575 1,005,310
Additions during the year FARE 20,665 105,894
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 44) W BE 72 R) (FitaE44) 78,293 -
Disposal HE (3,708) (4,597)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FF2aa = (2,496)
Amortisation provided during the year (note 7) £ R ETR#E45 (F317) (28,843) (24,536)
Carrying amount at end of year FIRAREE 1,145,982 1,079,575
Current portion included in prepayments, FTAMBIEEFR AR
other receivables and other assets s R A E
under current assets (note 28) KIBNERER o (MI5E28) 25,316 23,607
Non-current portion JEBNERER > 1,120,666 1,055,968
1,145,982 1,079,575

Certain land use rights of the Group with net book values
of approximately RMB12,225,000 (2017: RMB12,489,000)
and RMB103,481,000 (2017: RMB91,194,000) as at 31
December 2018 have been pledged to secure the short term
bank loans and long term bank loans of the Group. Details of
which are set out in note 32 to the financial statements

AEEBEFR=_FE—NF+=ZA=+—
BERME /FELN ARK12,2250007T(=F
—+tF : AR¥12,489,0007T) M A R
#103,481,000 L (=T —+tF : AR
91,194,000 T) W T b FAEE &5 5 AE
AEBESEHRITERRRBIRITERD
IR - BT BIHR P BHRENEI2 -
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19. GOODWILL 19. &

2018 2017

—E-N\F —ET—+tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARET T

Carrying amount at 1 January N—A—HBHHEREE 4,532,899 4,527,518
Acquisition of subsidiaries/businesses WEEF AT 161,691 5,381
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—MFRF (13,098) =
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ A=1+—HMEEE 4,681,492 4,532,899

At 31 December RNt+—_A=+—H

Cost AR 6,935,286 6,786,693
Accumulated impairment RETRE (2,253,794) (2,253,794)
Carrying amount at 31 December RtTZA=1+—H®OKREA 4,681,492 4,532,899

During 2018, the Group acquired 50% equity interests in
Modern Dairy (Bengbu) Co., Ltd. (“Modern Dairy (Bengbu)”)
and Modern Dairy (Feidong) Co., Ltd. (“Modern Dairy
(Feidong)”). Since the Group held more than 50% of the
voting right in the shareholder meeting of Modern Dairy
Bengbu and Modern Dairy Feidong, the Group controlled
Modern Dairy (Bengbu) and Modern Dairy (Feidong) after the
acquisition. The business combination gave rise to goodwill of
RMB346,000. Further details of the acquisition are included in
note 44 to the financial statements.

During 2018, Junlebao, a 51% indirectly owned subsidiary of
the Group, acquired an additional 43.41% equity interest in
Banner Dairy from third parties, increasing Junlebao’s equity
interest in Banner Dairy to 65.16%. The business acquisition
gave rise to goodwill of RMB72,566,000. Further detail of the
acquisition are included in note 44 to the financial statement.

—E-NFR - AKEDRIMERABE
(HFE) R AR ([RAKE(HE) |) RRK
HEER)BERAB(RAKEER) DE
50%H# 18 ° MR AKERFARAKE(FER)
RBRHE(ER)RRRASHNIREZEB
50% > FEILARERER KBRS HBRABE
(938 ) RIRAHEE (BER) 09 HI42 - IR
BEMELRE ARK346,0007T - WHEHE
— TR BERN M w544 o

—T-NER - ARREEEBL1%ERS
BT AR B LEE M5 = 7 UREE IR LR EE SN
43.41% - B LB R ER I & A AR
EINEB516%  LLIHEFBBELEFEA
R#72,566,0007T ° UEE#E — S rF B SR
TEmKRMITE44 o
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19. GOODWILL (continued) 19- %%(?g)

During 2018, Inner Mongolia Mengniu Founding Industry
Management Co., Ltd. (“Founding”), a 100% indirectly
owned subsidiary of the Group, acquired an additional
41% equity interest in Chongging Mengniu Dairy Sales Co.,
Ltd. (“Chongging Mengniu”) from third party, increasing
Founding’s equity interest in Chongging Mengniu to 90%. The
business acquisition gave rise to goodwill of RMB72,959,000.
Further details of the acquisition are included in note 44 to the
financial statements.

During 2018, the Group acquired five subsidiaries and a sales
operation of a sales agency company of the Group from third
parties. These businesses are mainly engaged in the sale of
dairy products. The total purchase consideration for these
acquisitions was in the form of cash of RMB63,860,000 paid
at the acquisition date. These business acquisitions gave rise
to goodwill of RMB15,820,000 in total.

During 2017, the Group acquired three subsidiaries from third
parties. These subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the sale of
dairy products. The total purchase consideration for these
acquisitions was in the form of cash of RMB8,363,000 paid at
the acquisition date. These business acquisitions gave rise to
goodwill of RMB5,381,000 in total.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the goodwill was tested
for impairment (note 21).

ZE-N\FERA - AEEBEER100% /% #
WNFRARARHEF A REXEEERET
AR(THRDAE=ZFIREEEM ST AE
HEARAB([EESRF])MA1%MHE - £
BHREREERFHREIEE0% ° ILIEHE
EUW B E B AR 72,959,0007T ° tIB
WHE R — PR B I R R 5144 -

ZE-N\FRN  AEKERF=STRBEART
REIARAEEN —REEREKENHEE
¥ c ZEERTENEHENER - %5
BRI EERENR A - RUkEE
B 87 AR #563,860,0007T ° %5 UK
BaHtEENEARK15,820,0007T °

ZE—tFR - AKERF=STRE=KXT
RNA) e ZETRATENREHEIESD - &%
ZWENRWERBABESEASMN » Rk
BE B HI S A R#8,363,0007T ° 2 E X
WHE & tEA P E ARKS5,381,0007T °

RZE—NER_ZF—ttF+_A=+—
B EEDSETRENR(FE21) -
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20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. HivEmFEEE
Movements of other intangible assets are as follows: Hihmp E&EgsnT -
Distribution
channels and
Patents and Computer customer
licences  Trademarks software  relationships Total
AERER
BRI RASE [ EREy EFE% @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
Note a Note b
Hiita Hfith
Cost at 1 January 2018, net of RZE-\&—f-8

accumulated amortisation N 390 1,841,374 274,743 77,39 2,193,901
Acquisition of subsidiaries/businesses  YiiEFA R /£7& - - 3,736 54,476 58,212
Additions "E 167 - 31,730 - 31,897
Transfer from construction in progress  E#& B £ T12(fiti16)

(note 16) - - 85,691 - 85,691
Amortisation provided during the year £ EHZE 8 (Fi1:7)

(note 7) (446) - (57,285) (9,134) (66,865)
Impairment during the year (note ) ERRE(HiE6) - - (4,761) - (4,761)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\E+-A=1+—AH 111 1,841,374 333,854 122,736 2,208,075
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\E+-A=1—H
Cost B 5,480 1,857,064 519,512 145,623 2,527,679
Accumulated amortisation and ZEHBE LA

impairment (5,369) (15,690) (185,658) (22,887) (229,604)
Net carrying amount FEFE 111 1,841,374 333,854 122,736 2,298,075
Cost at 1 January 2017, net of RZE—t5-A-H"

acoumulated amortisation RRAE - MARHEH 1,159 1,841,854 157,160 86,074 2,086,247
Additions NE - - 6,562 - 6,562
Transfer from construction in progress  E#& AR Ti2(MizH16)

(note 16) - - 155,310 - 155,310
Amortisation provided during the year £ R 2H13 8 (Fit:7)

(note 7) (769) (480) (44,923) (8,680) (54,852)
Disposal of a subsidiary HETFRAT - - (11) - (11)
Transfer from assets of a disposal group E& S H AR EFER

classified as held for sale REREE - - 645 - 645
At 31 December 2017 R=Z—+F+-A=1-AH 390 1,841,374 274,743 77,394 2,193,901
At 31 December 2017 R=E—+F+-A=1-H
Cost A 5,313 1,857,064 405,999 91,147 2,359,523
Accumulated amortisation RitEH (4,928) (15,690) (131,256) (13,753) (165,622)

Net carrying amount REFE 390 1,841,374 274,743 77,394 2,193,901
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20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continueq)

21.

Notes:

(@)

IMP

There were five trademarks, comprising of a trademark
acquired in 2007 at a cost of RMB15,690,000, which
was stated at cost less any impairment losses and was
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful
life of 10 years; and four trademarks acquired as part of
business combinations in 2010, 2013, 2016 and 2016 at
RMB174,219,000, RMB1,366,000,000, RMB283,047,000 and
RMB18,108,000 respectively, which were regarded as having
indefinite useful lives because the trademarked products are
expected to generate net cash inflows indefinitely. As at 31
December 2018 and 2017, the four trademarks with indefinite
useful lives were tested for impairment (note 21).

The exclusive right of distribution channels and the customer
relationships acquired in business combination were stated at
cost less any impairment losses and were amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives ranging from
10 to 15 years.

AIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIVES

Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives acquired
through business combinations have been allocated to the
following cash-generating units (the “CGUs”) or groups of
cash-generating units (the “CGU Groups”) for impairment
testing:

liquid milk products CGU Group excluding Junlebao
CGU Group;

ice cream products CGU Group;
milk powder products CGU Group;
low temperature products CGU Group; and

Junlebao CGU Group.

20.

21.

HELEE @

=X

(@)

FEEERME: —ER=ZZZTLFERRA
AR #15,690,000 T - BERKAE
BEEREBKRIERABGEEIZER
TRl R F T SINUERIAZ
BEH—D  DRR_ZT—FTF - =F
—=Z=F  ZE-—RFERZZE—FRFUAR
#174,219,0007C + A K #1,366,000,000
7T - A R ¥ 283,047,000 T & A R #&
18,108,000 C W i - W iR E mTEHR Al
DERBELEFHSRAMEE AHSE
RAlERFH R N\ER-_T—+
F+-—A=+—8  LarEEREHH
AEZEEETRERH (MiE21) -

EBEHBMEHOHRETERREFH
BRI AR DR E B R BRE L E N F
10 16FM AT A ERFMRERREEH
i

BB R ERFHERARERNR

BRERGAFISNRELERFHREE
PEETIReELBEV(REELEM])
SR EEBMAR(REELEMAR])
TERERIF

RENDERBRSELBVEMN(FLE
BeEABMARIKRIN)

HOEMEmMmREEEBMAER
PMERREELEMAR
EREMRRESELBMAR : Rk

BRERSELEUMR -
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21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIVES (continued)

Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives allocated
to each of the CGUs or CGU Groups are as follows:

Ice cream
Liquid milk products

RENER

2018

= it
RMB'000
AE®TR

products
KERER

2017
“E-tE
RMB000
NRETT

2017
It
RMB000
ARETT

21.

Milk powder
products
HHER

3
RMB000
ABRETT

Annual Report 2018 =& — )\ FF 3§

8 N R PR H i A RO ORUEDRI

(&)

PEESREELBUNRNEELSEMAR
MR ERAERFNERNAENT

Low temperature
products
EEER

Total

Eh

2018
“2-N\E

Junlebao

bt 3]
2018
—2-)\F

2017
3

RMB000
ARETT

2017
“E-tE

RMB000
ARETT

2017
“E-tE

RMB000
ARETT

RMB'000
AE®TR

RMB'000
AE®TR

Goodtwil B 425724 349,697 2317 72317 3,685,029 3685020 ~ 142563 142563 365859 283203 | 4,681,492 4,532,809
Trademarks e - = 18,108 18,108 1,649,047 1,649,047 - - 14219 174219 1,841,874 1,841,374
425724 349,697 90,425 90425 5834076 5334076 ~ 142568 142563 | 530,078 457512 | 6,522,866 6,374,273

The recoverable amount of each CGU or CGU Group has
been determined based on value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets or forecasts
approved by senior management covering a five-year period,
except that the recoverable amount of a trademark with an
indefinite useful life allocated to the milk powder products
CGU Group amounting to RMB173,057,000 has been
determined based on a fair value calculation using the multi-
period excess earnings method based on financial forecasts
approved by senior management covering a ten-year period.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of
each CGU or CGU Group for 31 December 2018 and 2017.
The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
the impairment testing:

a)  Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins
is the average gross margin achieved in the three
years immediately before the budget year, adjusted
for expected efficiency improvements and expected
increase in production costs.

SREELBENSRCELBMAR MK
E&EEUNEEREEAERENTFY
BB TERAEE KABRS RSB
BRENEREBETUEE  WOEEDHH
EmREEAEEMARNERFEHAFSHE
2Ry Al Y B & 58 A R #173,057,0007T - Al
SRR ETE A BHLEN T F B BB R AE
£ RAZHBBARETENESNAR
FLAEETE ©

E_E - N\FER_E—+tFF+_A=F—
BEBSELSBMKIREEEBMNMERINE
BAEERKALETESR TEERESRE
TR TR E R A AT R A S H E B RG
aan s

BEEMNE-AREETREENXE
ENEENERBEFE =FEH
B FHEFRE - I F IR REER T
RIBAREERAIE IO T AR -

a)
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21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL 2. BERERFHBENRENR

AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE (%)

LIVES (continued)

b)  Raw materials price fluctuation — Reference is made to b) BEMEERESH -2ZRBERBER
the actual data of the past year of countries from where FFEEREIE -

the raw materials are sourced.

c)  Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax o) WRE-—FAWMREDFETRBEE
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGUs or AESELAENRBLELEMAR
CGU Groups. R R -

d)  Growth rates — The growth rates used to extrapolate d BEBEXR-FARHBEERFHUERLSR
the cash flows beyond the five-year period are based EMEREER  DUSEMHMGEIER
on the estimated growth rate of each unit taking into REHME  WEEFTEEEER  AF
account the industry growth rate, past experience and LN EHEEEENNIREELSE
the medium or long term growth target of each CGU or AR R RIS R BIZETEAE -
CGU Group.

The discount rates applied to cash flow projections and the ARE S RETEAIANTIRE AR T EE A

growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the five- B REHEMNEERNT

year period are as follows:

Discount rate Growth rate
gk BRE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-0\% S o3 —E-0\% —T—t+F
Liquid milk products CGU Group RENERR & & BAAR 14.90% 12.61% 4.0% 4.0%
Ice cream products CGU Group KENERREEEENAR 14.88% 12.61% 3.0% 3.0%
Milk powder products OGU Group i ERR &£ EfiAH| 12.62% 12.30% 3.0% 3.0%
Low temperature products CGU Group {EBE BB ES EAET 17.84% 16.36% 3.0% 3.0%
Junlebao GGU Group FLERSELBMAR 13.93% 14.63% 4.0% 4.0%
The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with FEREMNEEEINPEIE IR -
external information sources.
In the opinion of the Company’s directors, any reasonably ARREERANKRESEMAEZEREL
possible change in the key assumptions on which the EREER NS TS BRI EELEMN
recoverable amount is based would not cause the CGU’s FReEABMNANREEEAAENKEE
or CGU Group’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable L)

amount.
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 22, REENRINKRE
2018 2017
—E-NEF —F—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARKETTT
Share of net assets B{FEE 5,163,930 5,155,577
Goodwill on acquisition IWEEIESH R 2,038,433 2,038,433
7,202,363 7,194,010
The Group’s trade receivable and payable balances N E ER B AL N B RS Y FE U BR 2 R FE T BR
with associates are disclosed in note 48 to the financial AR TSR FA8hIHE - & BEEA
statements. Particulars of the material associate are as NEEBIT
follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Particulars of registrationand interest attributable to
Name issued shares held business the Group (indirect) Principal activity
ERAL/ ERR rEEEENRE
£ BECRIRGFE EEBE B (&) TEEK
2018 2017
“E-\F ekl
China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (i) Ordinary shares of Cayman Islands 60.77% 60.77%  Production and sale of milk
HK$0.1 each
PEBRBEERERAA) BRAEBAATH FEHS  60.77% 60.77% EERMEFD
(i) Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member (i) RIEEB L KGN E RSPk & ok & B AT
firm of the Ernst & Young global network MEEMAK B A RIEX -
China Modern Dairy, which is considered a material associate FEIRAMEGREEAEEEERZE N A
of the Group, is a strategic partner of the Group mainly BREETENRERNMRENEREEN
engaged in the manufacture and distribution of raw milk and ICIHE TSRS B

liquid milk products.
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq) 22, REtE N RNRE @)

As at 31 December 2016, the Group held 1,347,903,000
shares of China Modern Dairy, representing approximately
25.41% of the issued share capital, and accounted for China
Modern Dairy as an associate using the equity method.

On 7 February 2017, the Group acquired additional
965,465,750 shares in China Modern Dairy at a cash
consideration of HK$1,873,003,555 (equivalent to
RMB1,662,834,000), which is equivalent to HK$1.94 per
share. As such, up to 7 February 2017, the Group owned an
aggregate of 2,3183,368,750 shares of China Modern Dairy,
representing approximately 37.73% of the issued share
capital. Accordingly, pursuant to the Code on Takeovers and
Mergers published by the Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong, the Group was required to make a conditional
mandatory cash offer (i) for all the issued shares in China
Modern Dairy (other than those already owned or agreed to
be acquired by the Group) (the “Share Offer”), and (i) for the
cancellation of all outstanding share options of China Modern
Dairy (the “Option Offer”, together with the Share Offer
referred to as the “Cash Offer”) on 14 February 2017. On the
final closing date of the Cash Offer on 21 March 2017, valid
acceptances of the Share Offer have been received in respect
of 1,442,400,662 shares and valid acceptances of the
Option Offer have been received in respect of 264,320,873
options, with a total cash consideration of HK$2,846,376,965
(equivalent to RMB2,526,985,000). Accordingly, after the
completion of the Cash Offer, the Group held an aggregate
of 3,755,769,412 shares of China Modern Dairy, representing
approximately 61.25% of the issued share capital. Upon
completion of the Cash Offer, two additional directors
representing the Company were appointed to the board of
directors of China Modern Dairy. As a result, three out of a
total of nine directors of China Modern Dairy represented the
Company.

MN-T—RE+-A=1+—0 x&£EEH
1,347,903,000x F BIIR R B E R 0 - 152
BT AR #25.41% » WE P EIR AR E
EB—REE N B AR ©

R-ZE—+tF-_A+tH AEBEKEFPEH
IR R MR ZE 58 9M965,465,750 ik 1 ¢ IR &
KB 51,873,003,555 8 T (HHE R AR
1,662,834,0007T) ' HHE RSN 1.948
TeoEM BE-E—+EFE-HA+H &
E B A4 ££2,313,368,7500% A B IR K 4%
¥R - (hEBITIRAAI7.73%  EFit -
BEEEEFMHAEERERZESRHM
ARG MR AEBZERZ
T—tF - ATMAR)KEEIEETH
BEIRAKERG (AEEEHAXRERE
IR DBRIN) (TR B4 ) - K(i):EsEATE
18 AR 1T B R B IR AR AR R B AR A ([ BE AR 4
4] BRBRNENEBAIESZEN])
REBRERFIERSEZN - RELEYH
REHIEEH =T —+F=A=+—
B ' % K 1,442,400,662/% B0 2 B B4
BREEWZEN - LAKR$ %264,320,87317 IE
REZERETHEEFGREZERN KRS
KB 52,846,376,965 8 T (HHE R AR
2,526,985,0007T) ° Atk - RNIESZHTEK
% REBEHHE A H£3,755,769,412 % F B
WARBERG - (hEBEITRAL61.25% o
REKRRESELNE - BINMEBREARE M
EERZANMAPRBRRIKENESS -
It FAHENZPREBRKESSHHESD
ZHBREAERQF o
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22.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea)

On 6 June 2017, the Company issued US$194,800,000 zero
coupon exchangeable bonds due 2022 (the “Exchangeable
Bonds”), which are exchangeable into 689,438,782 shares
of China Modern Dairy at the notional exchange price of
HK$2.1995 per share, representing approximately 11.24%
of the issued share capital, together with adjustment for all
cash dividends or distribution paid by China Modern Dairy
from 6 June 2017 to the exchange date. In connection with
the issuance of the Exchangeable Bonds, the Company, as
lender, lent to BOCI Financial Products Limited, as borrower,
689,438,782 shares of China Modern Dairy in aggregate
(the “Loaned Securities”), which represented approximately
11.24% of the issued share capital, of China Modern Dairy
in accordance with a securities lending agreement (the
“Securities Lending Agreement”). Upon the effectiveness of
the Securities Lending Agreement, voting rights in relation to
the loaned securities pass from the lender to the borrower.

On 29 August 2017, the Group disposed of 30,000,000
shares of China Modern Dairy, representing approximately
0.49% of the issued share capital, for a cash consideration of
HK$41,400,000 (equivalent to RMB35,082,000), resulting in
a loss of RMB18,204,000 recognised in profit or loss (note 6).
Consequently, the Group held an aggregate of 3,725,769,412
shares of China Modern Dairy, representing approximately
60.77% of the issued share capital.

Aggregating the effect of the Group’s shareholdings of
60.77%, the potential voting rights of 11.24% shares
underlying the Exchangeable Bonds when exchanged and
the outstanding vested management share options (which,
when exercised, shall result in issuance of 50,930,832
ordinary shares of China Modern Dairy at the exercise price of
HK$0.86 per share, representing approximately 0.82% of the
enlarged issued share capital), management is of the opinion
that the Group has less than 50% substantive voting rights
over China Modern Dairy.
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RZTE—+FNANE AARET
194 800 000E TR —ZE - —FIHHZ

RpEHF([AIRBES])  HJRR
%% SHBRE (SRR H2.19958 L) Bt A
689,438,782 1 BUIR R4 FE R (9 ((h B B 1T
BRAHI11.24%) - ERIFFEAZZT—+LF~H
NEEERBBEATPBEEARRENEEN
REWERDIRMED AR - BLEITA IRE
%5 BE—HERGE((ERBE]D) &2
A(fEAHET) AT REEREBEREGRA
AI(fEAREH ) Hife 4 $£689,438,782% F B
MR ERG ([1EHFEF]) - HPBEEARK
¥DBITRAL11.24% - BERBZEMN
B EHESFNRERERDEFERTE
E )

N-ZZT—+ENA=Z+NA ~EEHE
30,000,000 8% 7 B B8 (R 4R A% 15 (1 B 31T
AR AN#90.49% ) + IR E A41,400,0007%8
T(HEEN ARES5,082,0007T) - EHAR
#18,204,000 L BB N B ER (H:E6) °

At NEEFE A £3,725,769,412 &
BUZR R AR B D (G B B TRRA4960.77%) °

Bt R AREEFTH60.77%MAE « Al XS
FEEIAE B 11.24% B 10 BB 1R I = AE K2 i)
FITENERBEEEEARE (HETER
FHR0.86E LM TEERBHBITHEENR
50,930,832 % FMAR - (G AE B
TTRRA#0.82%) 22 EEEBHEASE
EFENTRRAKENEEHEZEIRN
50% °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} i &Misr

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq)

When assessing whether the Group controls China Modern
Dairy, management considered all facts and circumstances,
including but not limited to the substantive voting rights over
China Modern Dairy, the voting rights attached to the Loaned
Securities and their inability to be exercised by the Group,
and the Group’s representation on the board of directors
in China Modern Dairy. Taking into account these factors,
management’s judgement is that upon completion of the
above mentioned series of linked transactions, the Group
has no control over China Modern Dairy. Accordingly, China
Modern Dairy continues to be accounted for as an associate
using the equity method.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of China Modern Dairy extracted from its financial
statements, adjusted for any differences in accounting policies
and reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements.

22, REEE N TNRE @)

EFAEARER S EHPRREAKER - &
BERZTHAEFERER 8RETER
RABERARHMENEEERERE - BHES
PR B R ZREEBEEZRAEETE &
AEBERFERAMEESTENRE - &F
Bl EFRZ - BEEHEE L — R7EH
RHTERIE - KB B3R AR S
A o Eit - P ERAHRREES R
BRAAEREALR

TRINRHBERRBMENMBERRE (F
BREEMBERE - WIRSFBRZEAES
1ERR) M BlaR & M S IR AR B Y H9 5% -

2018 2017

—B—N\F —T—+F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFT

Current assets MENEE 2,608,501 2,704,500
Non-current assets EREBEE 13,337,028 14,013,081

Current liabilities mEEE (6,492,314) (5,886,417)

Non-current liabilities EMEBERE (2,899,082) (3,742,735)
Net assets FEE 6,554,133 7,088,429
Less: Non-controlling interests A SRR AR R M (108,838) (119,307)

Attributable to owners of PR ERE ARG

China Modern Dairy 6,445,295 6,969,122
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq) 22, REE N TINRE @)
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the associate: REBFNE S AR FARERNT

2018 2017
—B-N\F Tt
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTR AREFTT

Proportion of the Group’s ownership

Group’s share of net assets attributable
to owners of the associate,
excluding goodwill

Group’s share of net assets of an unlisted
subsidiary of the associate, excluding
goodwill

Goodwill on acquisition

Effect of fair value adjustments

AE BB RS LA 60.77% 60.77%
REED(LEE N E

BAEEEEFE -

TEERE 3,916,806 4,235,135
REED (B R F—H

FEMFRARNEE

HHE - TREEE 97,200 118,234
ISR R E 1,998,289 1,998,289
WHERF A R ERBETE

at acquisition (29,579) (17,436)
Exchange realignment PE o % 193,320 (142,612)
Less: Equity-settled share-based W AEBERD

payment transactions not shared RS EER

by the Group B’etn Z 22 5 34,804 25,726
Carrying amount of the investment HERMEE 6,210,840 6,217,336
Revenue WA 4,956,811 4,783,801
Loss for the year REEE (506,173) (994,847)
Other comprehensive loss H 2 E 84258 (11,526) -
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEEHEIBEE (517,699) (994,847)

Dividend received

EH&H&/%\ - -
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq)

A significant fall in the share price of China Modern Dairy
compared to the average purchase price paid by the
Group for its shareholding had constituted an indication
of impairment. Accordingly, the carrying amount of the
investment in China Modern Dairy was subject to an

impairment test based on estimated future cash flows.

The assumptions used for the discount rate and perpetual
growth rate were 11.50% (2017: 11.50%) and 3% (2017:

3.00%), respectively.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s all other associates, extracted
from their unaudited management accounts, that are not

individually material:

22, REEE N TNRE @)

B 35 S O R B £ [ o EL A P 2
e FEHBEERE Tk - Fit - RPER
REENREEAERBGRERSRE
EITRERIR

PrIR K FoKBIE R RS RIREKA11.50% (=
T—+F :11.50%) M3%(Z T —+LF :
3.00%) °

TRERAKEMEEMEE AR (E M
FUTERN) WA FER AR (e ERE
EZEERE)

2018 2017
—B—N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARKETTT
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s ~ AEBEREL QA FIRER
investments in the associates REEERE 991,523 976,674
Share of the associates’ revenues DEHE D FIUA K
and profits: D
Revenues WA 1,497,841 1,497,216
Profit for the year I F) B 22,741 30,164
Other comprehensive loss for the year REHAM 2T EE (14,304) 3,617
Total comprehensive income FE2AWEBEE
for the year 8,437 33,781
All the above associates have been accounted for using the LA E AR ERAER AR HRE
equity method in these financial statements. The Group has WNEE - AEBEKRIEERE(GSE T
discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of certain ERRMERE  AREMLIEARMNERE

associates because the share of losses of the associates
exceeded the Group’s interests in these associates. The
amounts of the Group’s unrecognised share of losses of

these associates for the current year and cumulatively

were RMB27,092,000 (2017: RMB24,494,000) and
RMB115,147,000 (2017: RMB138,307,000), respectively.

4 g
5=

BEAEENRZEHE R AMNEZR - NF
N AEBRBREEZSE
BRRFEES A AREE27,092,0007T
—E—+F : AR¥24,494,0007T) & A
R#115147,000c (ZZ—+tF : AR
138,307,0007T) °

Glio)
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23. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in the deferred tax assets during the year are

as follows:

Deferred tax assets:

=)
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23. EAEBIH
FRETHRALEZDHOT

EEHIREE

Tax losses Write-
available for ~ downof  Provision
offsetting inventories  fortrade Impairment
future tonet receivables of property, Un- Share
taxable realisable  and other  plantand  invoiced  Deferred award
Deferred tax arising from: profits value receivables equipment  accruals income  scheme Others
TE#R% EWESR
fHFEE  EtER U BE RERYR ZER
BB - TERRE  GERE RIGEE NERER  ETWA 8l Ht a3t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETZ ARMTR ARBTn ARETz ARMTR AR%TR ARETn ARMTR
At1 January 2018 R=F-\§-F-H 220,678 7,092 23,424 131 24332 126,221 23,803 36,443 665,364
Credlted!{charged) to Bam
profitor loss i/ (35) 119,971 6,597 (1,683) (429) 234454 25,509 (o77) (6,828) 376,614
Exchange aignment BB (352) - - - - - - - (359)
At 31 December 2018 RIE-NETZA=T-B | 42207 13689 21741 M2 458786 151730 22826 20615  1,041,6%
Taxlosses  Write-cdown ~ Provision
avalable for  of inventories ~ fortrade ~ Impairment
offsetting fonet  receivables  of property, Un- Share
fture taxable ~ realisable  endother  plantand  invoiced  Deferred award
Deferred tax arising from: profits value  receivables  equipment  accruals income scheme QOthers Total
TRk UK
EREMES WAREE  AbER 9% BE  RERER #2
BREBARE - WEER TEREE NEER RREEE MERER  ERWA  #EEHE £t ;
RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'00  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'0O00  RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
At1 January 2017 WZF-t5-A-8 235,222 9,486 12,83 1163 142540 88,929 17,975 20973 529123
Creditec/(charged) to profitor %7
loss i/ (2%) (10.864) (2.382) 10,589 208 81,192 37,29 50828 15470 137,933
Exchange alignment [ (1,680) (12) - - - - - - (1,699)
At 31 December 2017 S 2 s 222,678 7,092 23424 1311 2433 12621 23,803 36443 665,364

Management expects it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the above tax losses and deductible
temporary differences can be utilised in the coming years.

BEERMARRFERAELRERBA
T AT AR bt A TR S 1R N AT AR R

MER -
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23. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 23. ﬁﬁﬁ.lﬁ(g)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of WEEFIIEE EW AR N8 B iR -

the following items:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Tax losses arising in Mainland China (i) PARR B KB EE AR O R TR ETHE () 2,924,721 2,116,670
Deductible temporary differences AR E R IEER 513,797 220,889
3,438,518 2,337,559
()  The above tax losses are available for a maximum of five years 0] FaiEEEE A AR AR EAEEBR
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in BERATFERZHF -

which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect EEFRITEE EN Mt ol S I8 M T LARERR -
of the above items as it is not considered probable that tax AR AR fe8 A nH Fill R IEE) A A FLIBEF)
profits will be available against which the above items can be o AN BB) R bl AT R A = B
utilised. The approval of tax authorities would also be required IS EVS T A e A M o -

to utilise the above deductible temporary differences by the

Group.

The movements in the deferred tax liabilities during the year FRIELEMSHAEESHOT -

are as follows:

Fair value
adjustments Fair value
arising from adjustments of Accelerated
acquisition of financial depreciation
Deferred liabilities arising from: subsidiaries instruments for tax purpose Total
KEFRREE SRMIA  REEREZ
BERERERE : MARERE HALERER  NERAEZEER st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR¥TR ARBTR ARBTR

At 1 January 2018 RZZ-\F—H—H 50,610 19,418 - 70,028
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 44) UtiEF AR (Hiza4) 13,430 - - 13,430
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss Bz A% B /(3285 ) 10,207 (9,424) 121,881 122,664

RZZE—\F+=A
At 31 December 2018 S—=0E 74,247 9,994 121,881 206,122
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23. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 23. ?ﬁﬁﬁlﬁ(%ﬁ)

Fair value
adjustments Fair value
arising from adjustments
acquisition of of financial
Deferred liabilities arising from: subsidiaries instruments Total
WEEFRA]
EEH SRIAR
ERRERE AAEFAE RAEHE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTTL
At 1 January 2017 R=-E—+tF—HA—H 54,676 7,514 62,190
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss BREAXER/(GCER) (4,066) 11,904 7,838
At 31 December 2017 RZE—tF+-A=1+—H 50,610 19,418 70,028

Pursuant to the PRC CIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax
rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China whose equity
interests are directly held by oversea parent companies in
respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2018, no deferred tax liabilities relating
to these subsidiaries’ earnings earned after 31 December
2007 have been recognised by the Group. In the opinion
of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
approximately RMB19,001,255,000 at 31 December 2018
(2017: RMB15,280,564,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

REP BB EMSEE - R EIREER A
INERFEMINEIZE E T RS AR
10% B - BEAREE = NF— A
—HREXR  WEARZ-ZZ+F+=A
=t+—BEMEENRETF o 5+ BEEINEIE
BEMBRIZER 2B BEHEHE - AT
EREBNH RGN - REEERTER
5%210% ° At + NEEBERZEFRF
RNEKIZHFAR(HEINIAREEFHE
HR#E) 2 ZN\F—A—HRBEEANR
FIET 7 IR B AR S EHETRINEL -

ZE-NEFF+ZA=1+—8 ' TRERRN
—ETtF+-_A=t+—HEBTFTRAER
WENEBENELCHIBEAGE -EFRA -
ZE T AR AR R 5k 2 F 59 AT g 14
BE - —E—NEFE+-_A=+—H " #xk
FE R P B K BE T A B MR E B R R
MEEBERAEEHEABARNAR
#19,001,255,000 L (ZE—+F : AR
15,280,564,0007T) ©

19 L A 2 ) 0 LR R 1 R T B 2
BRER -
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24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 24. £YEE
(A) Nature of activities (A) ¥BHE
Certain subsidiaries of the Company are principally AKABATFARTEMREAEIL
engaged in the business of dairy cow raising and raw EBREERD - AEBEIFBIER
milk production. The Group’s dairy cows comprise VEEERNNINAE R KR EERTE
milkable cows held for raw milk production and heifers BRI  c REBRJEHAREEAN
and calves that have not reached the age that can BENILHENRNESNAT

produce raw milk. The quantity of dairy cows owned by
the Group and the output of raw milk at the end of the
reporting period and during the year are shown below.

2018 2017

—B—N\F —T—+F

Head of Head of

dairy cows dairy cows

4 () FL4-(58)

Milkable cows A 31,716 14,307

Heifers and calves INRFEE RGN 30,182 18,935

Total dairy cows LA HBE 61,898 33,242
In general, the heifers are inseminated with semen when —REALT - NEEREELN14EA
they reached approximately 14 months of age. After ABEE - N EAZEEER - N
approximately a nine month pregnancy term, a calf is HAE - AFFABEERY - I
born and the dairy cow begins to produce raw milk and i o P BEGENL05K - 2i&
the lactation period begins. A milkable cow is typically HEALBOREILE o NEHEFIRED
milked for approximately 305 days before a dry period B - iR A AR (R A s EE R

of approximately 60 days. When a heifer begins to ZhAEER)

produce milk, it would be transferred to the category of
milkable cows based on the estimated fair value on the
date of transfer.

2017
—T—tF
Tonne

72

Volume of sales of milk produced FTEWSEE 210,506 115,517
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24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 24- i%ﬁg(ﬁ)
(A) Nature of activities (continueq) (A) EXKHE@)
The Group is exposed to fair value risks arising from AREBASTIEREBREESRELN
changes in price of the dairy products. The Group does ARERR - NEBIEFRA R ER
not anticipate that the price of the dairy products will R GBER TS AE Nk  KAFE
decline significantly in the foreseeable future and the ERE WENAMTEIAESASE
directors of the Company are of the view that there BT LART S M EAb & 49 7] F LASE I 3L
are no available derivative or other contracts which the KB TR ER o

Group can enter into to manage the risk of a decline in
the price of the dairy products.

(B) Value of dairy cows (B) H&EHE
The value of dairy cows at the end of the reporting WREHRMILFEBE
period was:

Heifers Milkable
and calves cows Total

NEERNF Uik #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARMBT T AR®T T

At 1 January 2018 R-—ZE—N\F—H—H 296,530 349,613 646,143
Increases due to acquisition A U 88 — 8 2 B3 0

of a subsidiary (note 44) (K17%44) 173,700 242,600 416,300
Increase due to raising AEE(FREKA R

(Feeding cost and others) HAth) 313,680 - 313,680
Transfer L] (279,623) 279,623 =
Decrease due to sales HER (10,647) (76,099) (86,746)
Loss arising from changes AR RERHEEK A

in fair value less costs to BEELAEE

sell of dairy cows (note 6) (FfizE6) (88,230) (64,547) (152,777)
At 31 December 2018 RIE—)\F

+=-—A=+—~” 405,410 731,190 1,136,600




China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FES4 I E£GR AT L ]

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} i &Misr

24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continueq) 24. £YEE @)
(B) Value of dairy COws (continued) (B) H4EME@)
Heifers Milkable
and calves Cows Total
N RN 4 WBEr
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMETTT ARETT AR¥ETTT

At 1 January 2017 R-—ZE—tF—H—H 242,078 237,308 479,386
Increases due to purchase BR S A 85 N 58,207 - 58,207
Increase due to raising (Feeding F& 58 (&EK A &

cost and others) HAth)1E N 190,987 - 190,987
Transfer i (150,199) 150,199 -
Decrease due to sales HERL (1,898) (17,440) (19,338)

Loss arising from changes in fair ZL 4=/ 52 (B $5 & A A
value less costs to sell of dairy &4 A E 8

cows (note 6) G (42,645) (20,454) (63,099)
At 31 December 2017 R-FT—tF
+ZH=+—H 296,530 349,613 646,143

The Group’s dairy cows were valued by an independent AREFENINEHRBIAEREXGEMG
qualified professional valuer. The fair values less cost B o N/ NER A R B E A TR
to sell of the heifers and calves are determined with REFE  GREREEEZREMNERNT
reference to the market-determined prices of items with BEBET - NENARBERSHBEKE
similar age, breed and genetic merit. The fair values of EEFE  HABAKRIEAIFELENRKIR
milkable cows are determined by using the multi-period EMEMHFTRZEREFRER X

excess earnings method, which is a method of estimating
the net present value over multiple time periods by
discounting future cash flows to be generated by dairy
cows.
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24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continueq)

The principal valuation assumptions adopted in applying
the net present value approach are as follows:

° The quantities of the existing dairy cows at the
end of the reporting period will reduce at a certain
culling rate due to the natural or unnatural factors;

o The culling rates adopted are based on the current
available breeding data of the Group and future
operating plans;

° The quantities of cows will increase as calves are
born;

° The expected average prices of milk during the
six projected lactation periods are estimated after
taking into account certain percentage growth,
future demand and inflation in the PRC for each
projected year;

° The cash flows for financing the assets and
taxation are not included in accordance with IAS
41 Agriculture;

° Costs are average costs based on historical cost
information; and

° The discount rate used was 12.43% as at 31
December 2018 (2017: 13.34%).

Certain dairy cows of the Group with fair values less
cost to sell of approximately RMB52,412,000 (2017:
RMB52,748,000) as at 31 December 2018 have been
pledged to secure the long term bank loans of the
Group, details of which are set out in note 32 to the
financial statements.
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24. EYEE @)

&R EER R H T EMERR
ST -

s REEPRNBENFTHEKA
RBEARLIFB AR R MR R (EE
KRR -

o  FRMBARTDERAKERA
ARG BEE R RARREES

g

o NMEREBENTERE

s EZRSBEBAFEETERAD
b~ RO Sk e BB AR R A AT
A BT FLEI TR R B A0 TR
HISF 9 (1%

o  WERBEREAEANEMRER
XA ABERHREHESHR

-
Sz

o RAERBERKEREFIEK
ZANEI4

e R-E—NFE+-_A=+—H
FrRFIRE F12.43% (= —+
£ 1 13.34%) °

RZBE—N\F+_A=+—H K&
BETAFHARERLERNEALA
R#52,412,0007t(ZZ—tF : AR
#52,748,00070) B FRIEAR LB K HA
RITERWER - FBHRTBRE
BisE32 ©
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25. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 25 Hitt&m&EE

2018 2017
—Z2-N\F —FE—+tF

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARETT

At fair value through other A ARBESERHES
comprehensive income: STAEMEEUE :
Hong Kong listed equity investments & A R4 REHNE S
in YuanShengTai AR E (a) 25,208 43,202
Hong Kong listed equity investments 1% A F B B2 4 &)
in China Shengmu BB LETMRAEE (o) 83,940 284,233
109,148 327,435
At fair value through profit or loss: NAREBEEAHE
T AER ¢
Unlisted equity investments JEETRAIKRE 31,599 31,599
Convertible promissory note AJ AR A ZE (c) 196,130 186,670
Short term investment deposits RERE TR (@) 9,281,963 9,392,108
Subscription right of warrants AR R R (€) 72,687 -
9,582,379 9,610,377
At amortised cost: RESHAAN
Short term entrusted loans REZTER (e)/(f) 2,234,809 1,065,400
Long term entrusted loans REBZFEER (f) 12,295 64,149
Long term entrusted loans due R—F A2 E#
within one year EHZAER () 33,609 46,361
Long term receivables & R e R TE @) 57,025 122,496
Long term time deposits EHEHRER (h)/29 1,921,418 1,039,504
4,259,156 2,337,910
Total other financial assets Hih e gt EEB%E 13,950,683 12,275,722
Current E 11,819,198 10,690,539
Non-current IERE 2,131,485 1,585,183

13,950,683 12,275,722
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25. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (ontinuea)

Notes:

(@)

On 25 November 2013, the Company acquired 172,275,000
shares, representing a 4.41% equity interest, in YuanShengTai
Dairy Farm Limited (“YuanShengTai”), a Hong Kong listed
dairy company, with approximately HK$469,831,000,
equivalent to RMB369,396,000. In January 2017, the
Company’s shareholding in YuanShengTai was diluted to
3.67% due to new share placement by YuanShengTai.
Management designated the equity investment as a financial
asset at fair value through other comprehensive income
upon initial application of IFRS 9 (2009) on 1 January 2014,
as management considered it a strategic investment for the
purpose of securing high quality raw milk in the long run. The
fair value of the listed equity securities was determined by
reference to published quotations. A decrease in fair value
for the year ended 31 December 2018 and an accumulated
decrease in fair value as of 31 December 2018 with
amounts of RMB17,994,000 (2017: RMB35,390,000) and
RMB344,188,000 (2017: RMB326,194,000), respectively, had
been recognised in other comprehensive income.

On 25 May 2011, the Company acquired a 5.81% equity
interest in an unlisted dairy company with approximately
HK$125,322,000, equivalent to RMB98,531,000. Management
designated the equity investment as a financial asset at
fair value through other comprehensive income upon
initial application of IFRS 9 (2009) on 1 January 2014, as
management considered it a strategic investment for the
purpose of securing high quality raw milk in the long run.
The equity investment was subsequently converted into
269,865,600 shares in China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited
(“China Shengmu”) upon China Shengmu’s initial public offering
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited on 15 July 2014, representing approximately a 4.25%
equity interest in China Shengmu. The fair value of the listed
equity securities was determined by reference to published
quotations. A decrease in fair value for the year ended 31
December 2018 and an accumulated decrease in fair value as
of 31 December 2018 with amounts of RMB200,293,000 (2017:
RMB234,770,000) and RMB14,591,000 (2017: accumulated
increase of RMB185,702,000), respectively, had been
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

25. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (ontinuea)

Notes: (continued)

()

On 7 September 2017, Golden Stage, a 100% directly
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a convertible
promissory note purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) with
AICE Holdings Limited (“AICE”) to purchase the convertible
promissory note in the original principal amount (“Principal
Amount”) of US$28,000,000, equivalent to RMB182,753,000.
According to the Agreement, 50% of the Principal Amount shall
be automatically converted into the ordinary shares of AICE on
any day within ten months from the closing date, which shall
be a date determined by the board of AICE, at US$1.14 per
ordinary share. Golden Stage has an option to convert part
or all of the remaining 50% Principal Amount into the ordinary
shares or preferred shares of AICE during the next round of
financing notice or receive the Principal Amount that has not
been converted into shares, together with all the interest at
the annual rate of 5%. The Group classified the convertible
promissory note as a financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss. During the year, a net fair value gain of RMB61,000
(2017: RMB3,711,000) was recognised in other income and
gains (note 5).

The Group from time to time purchases various investment
deposits from commercial banks for treasury management
purpose. As at 31 December 2018, the Group held investment
deposits of RMB9,281,963,000 (31 December 2017:
RMB9,392,108,000) with principal guaranteed.

As at 31 December 2018, the investment deposits amounting
to RMB537,607,000 (2017: RMB199,105,000) were pledged
to secure letters of credit and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.

25.
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25. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (ontinueq)

Notes: (continued)

(e)

On 23 December 2018, Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary
of the Company, and Inner Mongolia Shengmu High-
tech Farming Co., Ltd. (“Shengmu High-tech Farming”), a
subsidiary of China Shengmu, entered into two entrusted loan
agreements, where RMB300,000,000 of 6 months term loan
and RMB1,000,000,000 of 1 year term loan were respectively
granted by Inner Mongolia Mengniu to Shengmu High-tech
Farming (the “Loan Facilities”), with contract interest rates
of 6.09% and 6.09% respectively. The Loan Facilities were
initially recognised at present values of RMB291,248,000 and
RMB941,658,000 on 23 December 2018 in the consolidated
financial statements, with effective interest rates of 12.66%
and 12.97%, respectively. The Loan Facilities were secured by
certain equity interests in subsidiaries and dairy cows of China
Shengmu and were guaranteed by China Shengmu.

In consideration of Inner Mongolia Mengniu granting the
above favourable Loan Facilities to Shengmu High-tech
Farming, China Shengmu has agreed to conditionally issue to
Start Great Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of the Company,
a total of 1,197,327,890 warrants (“Warrants”) subject to
the terms and conditions set out in the warrant subscription
agreement dated 23 December 2018. Upon exercise, each
warrant entitles the warrant holder to subscribe for one new
share of China Shengmu at HK$0.33, subject to adjustment.
The subscription right of warrants were fair valued at
RMB67,094,000 and RMB72,687,000, on 23 December 2018
and 31 December 2018, respectively, resulting in a fair value
gain of RMB5,5983,000 recognised in the consolidated financial
statements (note 5).

In connection with the above Loan Facilities and Warrants
agreements, on 23 December 2018, the Group and China
Shengmu also entered into a share purchase agreement,
pursuant to which the Group agreed to purchase 51% of the
equity interests in Inner Mongolia Shengmu High-tech Dairy
Co., Ltd. and Hohhot Shengmu High-tech Dairy Co., Ltd.,
being the liquid milk processing business segment of China
Shengmu, at a cash consideration of RMB303,419,400. Upon
completion, Inner Mongolia Shengmu High-tech Dairy Co., Ltd.
and Hohhot Shengmu High-tech Dairy Co., Ltd. will become
subsidiaries and will be consolidated into the Group. As at the
reporting date, the transaction was not completed.

Except for the entrusted loans to Shengmu High-tech as
disclosed in (e) above, the entrusted loans are unsecured,
with annual interest rates ranging from 4.00% to 8.96% (2017:
4.00% to 8.96%). As at 31 December 2018, these entrusted
loans were neither past due nor impaired and had no history of
default.

Long term receivables represent the receivables arising
from disposal of certain property, plant and equipment to
independent third parties. As at 31 December 2018, those long
term receivables were neither past due nor impaired.

The effective interest rates on long term time deposits as at 31
December 2018 varied from 4.13% to 4.18% (2017: 3.58%
to 5.23%) per annum and the long term time deposits would
mature in two to five years. As at 31 December 2018, the long
term deposits amounting to RMB20,000,000 (2017: Nil) was
pledged to secure letters of credit.

25.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf &R R MisE
26. INVENTORIES 26. F&
2018 2017
—E-N\F T —LF
RMB’000 RMB’000

27.

AR®T ARBTT

Raw materials R 2,480,194 1,757,835
Finished goods ER 1,801,725 1,752,433
Total inventories at the lower of cost and A AN EL ] A IR RE A

net realisable value RIEEFHENTERSE 4,281,919 3,510,268

The amount of write-down of inventories recognised as an
expense was RMB35,316,000 (2017: RMB84,998,000),
which was recognised in other expenses (note 6).

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 27.

HERAEBINGFEEHMREBEAEARE
35316,000 T( ZE—+F : AR¥
84,998,0007T) @ W E A E A (FizEe) h i

7
7 ©

YRR R RE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T

Bills receivable N ER 85,447 61,897
Trade receivables FE U BRTX 2,955,818 2,705,969
Impairment HIE (149,292) (121,032)

2,891,973 2,646,834

The Group normally allows a credit limit to its customers which
is adjustable in certain circumstances. The Group closely
monitors overdue balances. In view of the aforementioned
and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a
large number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivables. The trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

AEBBERTEFPBEEERE  YAE
FEBRTHAE - ARETEBARKE
AR o R b 3CAT I e AN 5 B O U AR K
HEAETRERNEFBRE  RUEEKRE
EEmER - AEEYEREBEESFE
ERERREEMERRTT - BERXLE
A AILE o
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27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continueq) 27. ERERAKR EE @)

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the RIREHR - EMBREBEENEBERSR R
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and TR ZHEMRE DT ¢

net of loss allowance, is as follows:

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —F—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARKETTT
Within 3 months =EAR 2,524,831 2,439,605
4 to 6 months EEWN S 308,887 125,377
7 to 12 months +Z=+=-f@A 38,067 78,150
Over 1 year B —F 20,188 3,702
2,891,973 2,646,834

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade FEMBE ORI BEREE T -

receivables are as follows:

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETTT

At 1 January R—HA—H 121,032 71,649

Effect of R4 B PR B 7 s 42 A

adoption of IFRS 9 FEORH T E 6,597 -

At beginning of year (restated) FH(FEE) 127,629 71,649

Impairment losses recognised ERERBEEE 104,509 61,715
Transform from assets of a disposal group  EE B S HEAFTEFENE

classified as held for sale BEHEANEE - 877

Amount written off as uncollectible 5l AR Y B i s R & 58 (62,237) (11,211)

Impairment losses reversed A ET B (20,609) (1,998)

At end of year RER 149,292 121,032
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27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continueq)

Impairment under IFRS 9 for the year ended 31
December 2018

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade and bills receivables using the provision

matrix:

As at 31 December 2018

27. FWERR R ZEHE @)

BE_Z-/\F+_-_A=1+—-HLHFE
RIBEFR ST ERER T EBHRE
REREBH  BEINMKAREERE
17 U EBEMEEER - BELXRELR
SEBRENEEEREREH - KEBAR
FEHFTIE MR R REERBERIE

THRRBREEREAENEBREIRR K
SENEERRERM

R-_ZE-\F+-_HA=+—H

Less than 1t02 2t03 Over 3
1 year years years years Total
PR—F —EMFE ME=F =FUE HBET
Expect credit loss rate BHEEBEE 1.10% 79.43% 93.11% 100% 4.91%
RHEBE
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) (ARETT) 2,903,720 83,441 43,907 10,197 3,041,265
HHEEBE
Expected credit losses (RMB’000) (AREFT) (31,935)  (66,277)  (40,883)  (10,197)  (149,292)

Impairment under IAS 39 for the year ended

31 December 2017

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables, which was measured based on incurred
credit losses under IAS 39, as at 31 December 2017 was
a provision for individually impaired trade receivables of
RMB104,398,000 with an aggregate carrying amount before
provision of RMB226,931,000.

The individually impaired trade receivables as at 31 December
2017 related to customers that were in financial difficulties or
were in default principal payments and only a portion of the
receivables is expected to be recovered.

BE—_2—+tE&E+-A=+—HLEE
RIZER ST ER E35R T ENRE
MN-ZT—+F+-HF=+—0  LiiiEER
Re R E3RENEEAEEEE =
MEREEFORERET - 2 —EERE
i LA BR XA 488 15 A R #5104,398,0007T * 7%
HEKERES AR BEINRRBEAARKE
226,931,0007T ©

RZZB—+F+-A=+—H ' ERREE
Yo AR R B PR A B S IR R S R ST AR 2 1)
EFER - BEZERUG RS R A E AR

7 e
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27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continueq) 27. EWERRREE@

Impairment under IAS 39 for the year ended BE_ZE—+tH&+-_HB=1+—HILEE
31 December 2017 (continued) BREEKRETEREIRTENRE
(&)
The ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at RZZE—+F+-_A=+—8 REEE=Z
31 December 2017 that were not individually nor collectively HER|E3958 ¢ E RISk AB R N EERE RS
considered to be impaired under IAS 39 is as follows: ENEWER R EWNEIEMNRESE ST T ¢
2017
—ET—+F
RMB’000
ARKETTT
Neither past due nor impaired B KB H MR (E 2,367,895
Past due but not impaired BiEEEERE
— Within three months —=RAR 2,644
— Over three months —=@mAMNE 9,822
2,380,361
Trade and bills receivables that were neither past due nor BEARBAITTERENEBYER R EREAE
impaired related to a large number of diversified customers TEBENNEFEHE - BERNEHTEER
for whom there was no recent history of default. FIBEREE ©
Trade and bills receivables that were past due but not EI| B R HE N SR B 89 FE AR R R IR B
impaired related to a number of independent customers EBELEFPER ZERFPRASENEBR
that had a good track record with the Group. Based on FAERE - RIBBALR  AAREEFR
past experience, the directors of the Company were of the REERERBE G EREIR ML FLEER
opinion that no provision for impairment under IAS 39 was SHRRERE  FREEEEWH/ANFE
necessary in respect of these balances as there had not been B MARERAKAT ARSI E -

a significant change in credit quality and the balances were
still considered fully recoverable.
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28. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND OTHER ASSETS

28. %EE'H?%'( - HBEWERIER A E

2018 2017
—B—N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T
Deposits b 89,883 15,778
Prepayments TR 1,368,581 1,306,555
Other receivables H {th e Y TR IE 587,450 846,556
Value-added tax recoverable AR NI ER 680,980 344,749
Corporate income tax recoverable AR ZEFEH 35,481 16,021
Land use rights T AR
— current portion (note 18) —BIEAER > (FYsE18) 25,316 23,607
Long term prepayments (note a) REBFE R (FFa) 66,293 73,067
Right of return assets REEEE 18,268 -
Total prepayments, other receivables TERTER - E A EIGRIE K&
and other assets Him&E 2,872,252 2,626,333
Less: Long term prepayments — non-current & : =HIFE 3K
portion (note a) —FERNEREL 5 (FFa) (64,140) (54,769)
2,808,112 2,571,564
Impairment allowance AR (30,519) (30,141)
2,777,593 2,541,423
Note: =
(@ The Group has entered into long term raw milk supply (@ AEEEEETHESIFQATIRER

contracts with certain milking cow raising companies. In
accordance with these contracts, the Group prepaid for raw

milk supplies for the next two to five years.

HENHREAN - REZSAH - AKHE
FAARRMERLFREEPHEERMNFOR -
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29. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND 29. HERBITHEREMER
OTHER DEPOSITS

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —F—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT
Cash and cash equivalents as stated RGBS RERD
in the consolidated statement of ReERBESEEY
cash flows 4,370,494 3,129,444
Pledged deposits REETFR (a) 623,495 466,265
Time deposits EHIFER 4,848,912 3,868,937
9,842,901 7,464,646
Less: Pledged deposits for B IRITEER
banking facilities RESTFH 30/32 (623,495) (466,265)
Less: Long term time deposits B REIEHTER 25 (1,921,418) (1,039,504)
Cash and bank balances as stated HIRE A B AR R R AR
in the consolidated statement of & MIRTTHETF
financial position 7,297,988 5,958,877
Note: [
(8  As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s pledged deposits were @ RIZE-NF+= ﬂ/j T—B  AEEN
for the following bank facilities: RESTFHRRATRITREAEL :
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBFIT
Pledged to secure bills payable (note 30) IR A JETS FE A5 SRR (P 3E30) 254,977 201,612
Pledged to secure interest-bearing bank HIRLAES T BRIT R
and other borrowings (note 32) EmfEE (M3E32) 361,656 249,276
Pledged to secure letters of credit BHAESERE 6,862 15,377

623,495 466,265
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29.

30.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND

OTH ER DEPOSITS (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
RMB7,069,907,000 (2017: RMB5,655,060,000). The RMB is
not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest
rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods of between
one day and five years depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective
time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history
of default.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables of the
Group, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

29.

30.

BERBITEEREMER@®

RIBEHAR  REBUARESEMHNIIRE
MR ETF 2B AN AR 7,069,907,000
T(ZZE—tF : AR® 5655060000
TL) c ARBUWIEAERABAHME -
SAT » AR IR R B K BE /Y SN B IR K R A
- SERMNESERT  AEEEESE
EREEITINEEBRRIT SARKER
AEME -

RITFFRBETISFEE o ERFEHTIR
FAKENNSREFRMENF—BER
FOTEFERIFN - A RREEHF A
KR - ROTEEFELRFRESFERDFRRE
BRI B BT R RERAIRTT

BN ERARREE
7 g R 3R R R % 5 RO ARG
T :

2018 2017

—B—N\F —T—+F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARET T

Within 3 months ={EAR 5,988,352 5,569,969
4 to 6 months mZER{EA 809,406 633,662
7 to 12 months +ZE=+=@A 193,712 116,853
Over 1 year B —F 30,072 21,789
7,021,542 6,342,273

The Group’s trade payables are unsecured, non-interest-
bearing and payable on demand.

Included in the above balances, bills payable with an
aggregate balance of approximately RMB606,299,000
(2017: RMB397,660,000) were secured by the pledge of
certain of the Group’s deposits amounting to approximately
RMB254,977,000 (2017: RMB201,612,000) (note 29). Except
for the above, bills payable were unsecured, non-interest-
bearing and payable when due ranging from 3 to 6 months.

AEENENERSEER RS NARE
SKEERF{E R

ELiliezmEP  BHBEHARE
606,299,000 L (=& —+tF : AR
397,660,0007T) K ES RIB AR S B S T15
REBBHARME254977,0007 ( —F—+
F 0 AR¥201,612,0007T ) (M 3E29) 15K
Wbl EN  BNERAERIFLR
B UYER==EAREIE -
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31. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 31. HENRERTBERER

2018 2017

—E-N\F —FE—+tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFTT

Contract liabilities EHaE (@) 3,332,929 -

Refund liabilities RyAaE 29,365 -

Advances from customers KEBFER (a) = 1,843,166

Salary and welfare payables i F S REFE 1,660,319 1,279,031

Other payables HihEN7ImE (b) 5,866,804 4,202,026

10,889,417 7,324,223

Notes: 3
(a)  Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 1 (@ RZTE-—NF+ZA=+—HBERZ=ZZ—N
January 2018 are as follows: F-A—AMNEHAEFBOT -

31 December 2018 1 January 2018

—g-Nnf —ENE
+=A=+—8 —H—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Short-term advances received B &P UEH
from customers REERBR
Sale of goods BmEE 3,332,929 1,843,166
Contract liabilities are short-term advances received to deliver AHBEAEXRDE AUENR R HAZK -

dairy products.

(o)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and payable on b) HtENKIEAREREREKERERE -
demand.
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32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 32. FFEBTREMEE

BORROWINGS
2018 2017
“E-N\E e o3
Maturity ~ Fixed rate Floating rate Maturity Fixedrate  Floating rate
2#A BER=E FEHE 4R Ehaik X ik
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR%TR ARETT  ARETR
Current ik ]
Short term bank loans, secured RERTE  AER 2019 748,844 136,984 2018 79,421 280,276
Short term bank loans, unsecured  BERITER - BHF 2019 3,721,347 156,500 2018 1255929 2,789,500
Current portion of long term RERTEFDEHH 2019 6,004 26,660 2018 8,188 36,660
bank loans - secured —-BHF
Current portion of long term REFTERNHLS 2019 176,230 1,550,346 2018 156,230 69,100
bank loans - unsecured —BHER
US$500,000,000 3.5% bonds RZE—=F%TH = - - 2018 3,259,723 -
issued in 2013 (note (d) 500,000,000 L2
BE3.5%H)
&5 (5 ()
Non-current E ok
Long term bank loans, secured REBHIER  HEH | 2020-2021 - 178,080  2019-2021 5,830 238,540
Long term bank loans, unsecured RARTER  BHA | 2020-2030 248190 3,080,620  2019-2030 161,770 4,338,382
US$194,800,000 zero coupon RZE—+FETH 2022 1,275,183 - 2022 1,270,575 =
exchangeable bonds issued in 104,800,000 T
2017(note () and note 22) SRR BER
(e RMizr22)
US$500,000,000 4.25% bonds RZE—\EETH) 2023 3,410,327 - 2023 - -
issued in 2018 (note (f) 500,000,000 L2
BX4.25%H)
B ()
9,586,125 5,129,190 6,197,666 7,752,458
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32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER  32. B8 {TREMES @
BORROWINGS (continued)
The repayment schedule of the interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings is as follows:

HRRITREMEENERLT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
Within 1 year —FR 6,522,915 7,935,027
1 to 2 years —ZEME 3,043,300 1,524,855
2 to 5 years MERF 5,091,560 4,269,922
Over 5 years HFEMUE 57,540 220,320
Total interest-bearing bank and SHRIRITR
other borrowings HEmia B85 14,715,315 13,950,124
Less: Amount due within one year B EFARBAED
included in current liabilities —F R B FRIE (6,522,915) (7,985,027)
8,192,400 6,015,097
Notes: 5
(@) As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group’s interest- @ RZTE-NFRZZT—tF+-A=+—
bearing bank and other borrowings were secured as follows: A AEBE®OFERITREMEERRIE
DN
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBFIT
Secured by pledged deposits AR B € 15 513K 18 286,984 213,392
Secured by investment deposits LATR & 77 FK 4 407,724 49,421
Secured by dairy cows, LASLAE ~ THh{FE AR
land use rights and property, Y - WE R
plant and equipment SR AR 367,944 319,219
Secured by all present and after LAFTPE LR A
acquired property of Yashili RERZEERZ
New Zealand YA 33,920 66,883
Unsecured Egsig 13,618,743 13,301,209
14,715,315 13,950,124
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(o)

32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 32, {287 REMES @
BORROWINGS (continued)
Notes: (continued) = (8)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and (b) AEBLATYEEFENTEERITREM
other borrowings were denominated in the following currencies: EENERBENT :
2018 2017
—B-N\F N
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Hong Kong dollars BT 3,376,261 3,207,497
United States dollars e 6,153,396 5,941,819
New Zealand dollars E3ic] 12,793 74,426
Australian dollars SEIT - 12,053
Euro BT - 52,197
RMB AR 5,172,865 4,662,132
14,715,315 138,950,124
The floating annual interest rates of the short term bank loans © RBERTERRERBRITERNZHFF
and long term bank loans varied from 1.65% to 6.09% (2017: ERPBEARBITRMOFNE - FHRT
from 1.35% to 6.72%), which were determined based on the AEFERGRBTREREEEAN T
interest rates announced by the People’s Bank of China, Hong 1.65% £6.09% (ZF —tF : 1.35% &
Kong Interbank Offered Rate and the London Interbank Offered 6.72%) °
Rate.
The fixed annual interest rates of the short term bank loans RHRTERNEEEMNENTF1.15%FE
varied from 1.15% to 10.00% (2017: from 1.15% to 6.09%). 10.00% (=T —+4F : 1.15%%£6.09%) °
The fixed annual interest rates of the long term bank loans RERITERNEEFMNENF1.20%E
varied from 1.20% to 7.93% (2017: from 1.20% to 7.93%). 7.93%(=F—+tF : 1.20%%£7.93%) °
On 27 November 2013, the Company issued five-year d RZTB—Z=F+—A=++tH AQEH

bonds due 2018 with an aggregate principal amount of
USD500,000,000 at 99.456% of the face value. The bonds
bore interest from and including 27 November 2013 at the rate
of 3.56% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on 27
May and 27 November each year. The bonds were fully repaid
on 27 November 2018.

TE-N\FIHNAEEESE AL B
75 99.456% T {& 9 500,000,000 3 Jt ° &
SR T —=F+—A=+tBH(BE
BE)BERENEILS%EE - REERA
—t+BERt—A-t+t+tBEBEFERE—
K EBER-_T—NF+—A=+tH2
HEE -



: =)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # 3 3= Bfif &

32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

() On 6 June 2017, the Company issued US$194,800,000
zero coupon exchangeable bonds due 2022, which are
exchangeable into 689,438,782 shares of China Modern Dairy
at the initial notional exchange price of HK$2.1995 per share.
The Group classified the exchangeable bonds as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. During the year, a
net fair value gain of RMB58,009,000 (2017: net fair value gain
of RMB2,363,000) was recognised in other income and gains
(note 5).

() On 7 August 2018, the Company issued five-year bonds due
2023 with an aggregate principal amount of USD500,000,000
at 99.653% of the face value. The bonds bear interest from
and including 7 August 2018 at the rate of 4.25% per annum,
payable semi-annually in arrears on 7 February and 7 August
each year.

33. OTHER LOANS
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32. FFERTREMEE@®

& (')

(e)

R=F—+tFXANB KQAFBET
194,800,000 TR =T Z ZFH|HHT
BRAIRRES  HARRBOTZEIMBE
(B D2.1995%8 0) E i AR BEIRA )
%689,438,782/% & 1h o ANEBE HFEAI IR
BEBURABEFERLEEEH T ABIEN
SEEE NFR - RABRIFEAR
#58,009,0007t (ZE—+F : AR EMKE
SHEE A R %2 363,0007T ) K H M U A K Uk
AR SR (FI3ES5) o

RZE—NFENALH  AAREIT=
T-FHHENAFES  A2BBEA
99.653% [H & #9500,000,000% 7T ° EH &
H-Z—N\FNALB(BEER)RETF
MEL425%TE  RBF-_A+EARNALE
AFEERE—IR -

33. HttEX

2018 2017
—E-NF —T—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETT

Short term loans DHIE K

22,912 22,912

Other loans are unsecured and interest-free. There were no
repayment terms for the Group’s other loans.

Other loans were all granted by local government authorities
in the PRC for the purpose of supporting the Group’s
establishment of production plants in various locations in the
PRC.

HERRERERAL RS - REBHMERK
3 IR SR o

HEREMHP RS BAERAIFA
SEETEZERTRELERE MRS
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34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 34. fTE€mI A
2018 2017
—E2-N\E§ ZT—+F
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
gE a8 BE BfE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT
Interest rate swap FIZEHEL (a) 28,598 - 30,617 =
Foreign currency forward contracts #ERGMEA 4 (b) 33,517 27,162 4,301 178
Interest rate forward contracts FEEBHEL (o) 15,695 - 23,985 -
Commodity futures contracts AmEAY () - - 1,283 1,044
77,810 27,162 60,186 1,222
Portion classified as non-current: D AIERENHS -
Interest rate swap FIRGHAD 28,598 - 30,617 =
Foreign currency forward INERERE A
contracts - 17,457 - -
Interest rate forward contracts FIRRBEY - - 23,985 =
28,598 17,457 54,602 -
Current portion mEE D 49,212 9,705 5,584 1,222
Notes: !
(@) Interest rate swaps — cash flow hedge: (a) FEGBMEH-BREREEM -

As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the Group
has interest rate swaps with financial institutions with an
aggregate notional amount of HKD3,100,000,000 whereby it
received a floating rate of interest on the notional amount at the
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“Hibor”) monthly and pays
a fixed rate of interest on the notional amount. The interest rate
swaps are being used to hedge the interest rate risk in relation
to a HKD denominated floating rate bank borrowing with a
principal of HKD3,100,000,000.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged items
and the hedging instruments as the terms of the interest rate
swaps match the interest payments and the principal payments
of the bank loan agreements. The Group has established
a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the hedging relationships as the
underlying risks of the interest rate swaps are identical to the
hedged risk components. To measure the hedge effectiveness,
the Group uses the hypothetical derivative method and
compares the changes in the fair value of the hedging
instruments against the changes in fair value of the hedged
items attributable to the hedged risks.

R=ZZFE-—NF+-_A=+—RBEK=F
—+t&F+_A=+—8 AEERELRE
BEBREBNEREREN  BEESEAR
3,100,000,00078 7T * &t + & AREE
$RITRIZEH B ([Hibor ) B Z & £ 5B H)F
BFRFE  WIREEHRIFEEEEE
WFE - MREHBENAREPEBAS
¥H/43,100,000,0005% 7T LA TTEHE H)Z B
FIRIRITERAOF KRR

BEYHIEE REMTAGFTELERE - R
H A= E A KR G E T B 5RO R
TERBBENARSNFECL - AEER
HPRERE 1R R - RE AR
RE A X E B R S 2 S E R A D
HE - BEtEEIREY  AEERARR
PTETEYE - WS B S b E £ ey ok
TARREZSHRBEHIEB AREZS
EITHR o
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34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 34.

(continued)

(@)

7=

i)
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Notes: (continued) 7 (8)
Interest rate swaps — cash flow hedge: (continued) (a) NMEFALH—IRETREEH : (B)
Hedge ineffectiveness can arise from: Y n] g NI RIBEL -
o Different interest rate curves applied to discount the . FE RN ALIRE ¥ IE B a9 F) K = gh
hedged items and hedging instruments BREHRTA
. The counterparties’ credit risk differently impacting the . RHEHFHNEERBHEHRTANE
fair value movements of the hedging instruments and YR AR BEEEER TR E
hedged items
. Changes to the forecasted amounts of cash flows of . BB E KR T ANBE RS R
hedged items and hedging instruments E8F
The impacts of the hedging instruments on the statement of R TAHPBARRROTENT
financial position are as follow:
Change in
fair value
used for
Line item in measuring
the statement hedge
Notional Carrying of financial ineffectiveness
amount amount position for the year
ENARGE
g W B
%%E REE JEE ARER
HK$’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BETT  AREBTR ARETR
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-\G+=ZA=+—H
Interest rate swaps FRBHBEL 3,100,000 28,598 Derivative (4,196)
financial
instruments
(assets)
fTESMTIA
(BE)
As at 31 December 2017 RZE—+F+-A=+—H
Interest rate swaps FIEBIRAL 3,100,000 30,617 Derivative 30,617
financial
instruments
(assets)
THESRIA

(BE)
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34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 34. TTESEM I Em
(continued)
Notes: (continued) i (8)
The impacts of the hedged items on the statement of financial B 8HhIE B SRR RO ENT ¢
position are as follows:
Change in fair value
used for measuring
hedge
ineffectiveness Cash flow
for the year hedge reserve
FRRRTEE M+ REmnE
BN AR EE S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREETT ARETIT
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+=A=+—H
Interest rate swaps FMEFBREL (4,196) 26,421
As at 31 December 2017 RZE—tF+=-A=+—H
Interest rate swaps FEEBREL 30,617 30,617

The effect of the cash flow hedge on the statement of profit and loss

and the statement of comprehensive income are as follows:

RensthHiRaR 2 ERAROTZENT

Total heaging gain/oss| recognised Hedge Line ftem Amount reclassified from Line tem
in other comprehensive income neffectiveness inthe other comprehensive inoome to profitor loss {oross amount
REMREAEEINEE /()88 recognisedin - staement of R TNAENARZRENEE inthe tatement
(Gross amount Tax effect Told  proftorloss  profitorloss  Gross amount Tax effect Totd  of profitorloss
' FERER
b i ey drEN BERER 2 e &t (#2)
RMBI000 RMB1000 RMBI000 RMB'000 RMBI000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NRETT NRETT NRETT NRETT ARETT NRETT ARETR NRETT ARETT
Yearended 31 December 2018 HZ-5-/\E
TRZT-HIEER
Intrest rate swaps HEE#AD (4,196) - (4,196) - NIA - - - NIA
Yearended 81 December 017 $Z-5—1%
TRz T-HILER
Intrest rate Swaps HEERAY 617 - 3617 - NA - - - NA
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34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(o)

In addition to the above interest rate swap designated as
hedging instruments, the Group has also entered into various
foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate forward
contracts to manage its exchange rate and floating interest
rate exposures. These forward contracts are not designated
for hedging purposes and are measured at fair value through
profit or loss. A net fair value gain on foreign currency forward
contracts of RMB2,232,000 (2017: RMB1,483,000) was
recognised in other income and gains during the year (note
5). A net fair value loss on interest rate forward contracts of
RMB8,290,000 (2017: net fair value gain of RMB907,000) was
recognised in finance costs during the year (note 8).

To manage its price exposure to future purchase of raw
materials, such as white sugar, palm oil and raw milk powder,
the Group has entered into various commodity futures
contracts. The Group accounted for these commodity futures
contracts at fair value with changes recognised in profit or loss.
During the year, a net fair value gain of RMB6,394,000 (2017:
net fair value loss of RMB22,880,000) was credited to cost of
sales (note 7).

34.

=

Annual Report 2018 —Z— \EE#H

TTE€mIAmwm
5 (@)
) KA LiEEAYhTANFRERN - A

EEINET N ZIERINE S K R F R
AHNEBREERRZHFNERAR - 25
RHANWIEEEEE PAR - WIEAAR
Bt ABRFE - REINEA N AR ER
35F A RE2 232000 (=T —+4F :
AR #1,483,0007T ) A F A FER A E b Uk
AR as (FIsE5) o FIREBEH AR ER
BEEE ARMS 290,000 (T —+ 4 :
AR EREFE AR Q07,0007 ) A EF R
ERABEKAN(HIFES) -

AREEBEARBEERERRME(HlwE
B SRR R REN) ERRRE - ANE
BRIV ZEEMBEEEHN - AEEBI
EERPEANEARBEYER  MARE
M EHRRIBRERNER - FA > AAEK
5F 5B A R156,394,000T( —F —+4F -
N EEIBFEARK22,880,0007T)E B
SHE A (FTFE7) ©
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35. LONG TERM PAYABLES 35. REAENRIE
The Group’s long term payables represent the amortised AEBRREEMNZIEEAREELER
costs of the outstanding instalments payable for the purchase DHAZ AT RIER B HERAR - BIEMERNE
of production equipment. The effective interest rate used for R R AIBITHBANER - GRAGHEHE
the amortisation is the prevailing market interest rate. The /NN

balances are repayable as follows:

2018 2017
—Z2-N\F —FE—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARETT

Within 1 year —FR 11,802 27,345
1 to 2 years —EWF 814 10,894
Total long term payables REENRIB B 12,616 38,239
Less: Amount due within one year W ETARBEEREMES
included in current liabilities SRIE)—F A B BAFRIE
under other payables (11,802) (27,345)
814 10,894
Long term payables are secured by the Group’s property, REENFTEUNREENYE - BERHRE

plant and equipment (note 15(a)). R (B EE15(a)) °
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36. DEFERRED INCOME 36. ELEWA

Various local government authorities have granted
certain property, plant and equipment to the Group for nil
consideration, have provided finance to the Group for the
purchase of certain property, plant and equipment, and/
or have financed the Group by way of a cash donation with
certain conditions attaching to these cash donations. Both
the property, plant and equipment and grants are recorded
initially at fair value. These grants are initially recorded as
deferred income. The grants relate to property, plant and
equipment are amortised to match the depreciation charge
of the property, plant and equipment granted or purchased
in accordance with their estimated useful lives. The cash
donations with unfulfilled conditions or contingencies are
only recognised in profit or loss when the Group satisfied the
attached conditions. Movements of the balances during the
year are as follows:

ZEBTERNEREERNAKERTETY
X BELRE REBEETHE BERX
REAAEERMES R HEBRSBN
ARAMFRSBRMEE TR AAEE
RERE - WX - BEMRBLEBDERED
BARAES - L ER S H R RIE
A - BETYER - BB RRIBA B
PEREABRXBANDE - BELERE
M EFH RN TR - RIBEMG AIERFH
BN o REEEDIFTMI S A RIS EARF 1Y
B BRI R @R AR BIE R I & e iR 1T
RIAEBR AR ° FRZERNESHIT

2018 2017

—Z2—N\F —E—+F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREFTT

At beginning of year F1) 899,738 668,478
Received during the year F R Y ER 242,588 316,614
Amortisation during the year (note 5) FREEE (FTEE5) (115,945) (85,354)
At end of year FR 1,026,381 899,738
Current portion BEAZE > 170,261 160,279
Non-current portion JERNEAEE 856,120 739,459

1,026,381 899,738
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37. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 7. Hthema s
2018 2017
=E-N\F —+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
Present value of redemption amount B Ui BE BT o & R
for potential acquisition of puttable % [ 5 A 2 ) i
non-controlling interests SR E (a)/(b) 1,610,947 2,175,431
Portion classified as current SiE AR R
financial liabilities BERD (a) - (645,594)
Non-current portion JEBPERER 1,610,947 1,629,837
Notes: i
(@) According to the equity purchase agreement entered (8 WMEBEAEE FLERBELBEHELER

into among the Group, Junlebao and the non-controlling
shareholders of Junlebao, the Group granted a put option
to the non-controlling shareholders under which the non-
controlling shareholders have the right to sell, and the Group
has an obligation to buy 16.33% equity interest in Junlebao
in each of the years ended 31 December 2016, 2017 and
2018 respectively, totalling 49% shareholding in Junlebao.
During 2016, 2017 and 2018, the non-controlling shareholders
of Junlebao did not exercise their right to sell the total 49%
equity interest in Junlebao to the Group. As at 31 December
2017, the Group derecognised the carrying amount of the
non-controlling interests of RMB217,919,000 and recognised
the present value of the amount payable upon exercise of
the option of RMB545,594,000 as a financial liability and
accounted for the difference in equity. As at 31 December
2018, since the put option granted to Junlebao lapsed, the
underlying 49% equity interest in Junlebao was recognised as
non-controlling interests of the Group.

BRFTIHERE MR - AEERE
ERRERRHRBOEE B BRE-T

—NFZFtEFR-FT-NF+=H
=t HLEFERSF  FEERERRS J*ﬂ_
BEEEAREENFFEEHEERLE
16.33% B IR 4 - m/ﬁ\ﬁﬁmﬁﬁrg%ﬂﬁﬂﬁ
B-R_Z—RE - —F—tFRE=F

—N\ERN - BEEMIFITRBEI E1TE
ﬁ¥m$ﬁlmﬁﬁﬁgﬁh%¢m%
BERERN - R=ZT—+F+=ZA=+—
A ﬁilﬂtﬁm#i%%%%ﬁﬁ
HEEAR217,919,0005T © I ERILTT
FREEBEMNECHEEREARE
545,594,0007T * WS =EEFT AR - K=
T—N\F+_A=+—8 BFEEEN
UM HAEE R - B E 49% 48 B A R A
RANEEIEE R AER -
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37. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Notes: (continued)

37.
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(b)  Under the equity joint venture contract entered into between (b) IR ¥ A K = 4 H Danone Asia Pte Ltd.
Inner Mongolia Mengniu and Danone Asia Pte Ltd. (“Danone ([Danone Asia Pte )il HE I A=—ZT—=
Asia Pte”) dated 9 August 2013, an option was granted to FNANBHEELE SR - Danone Asia
Danone Asia Pte to terminate the equity joint venture contract Pte R —IHEEE  7JELBIIREL
and sell the entire Danone Asia Pte’s equity interests in MIERBEEARE B Mm@ BAFR -
the equity joint venture to Inner Mongolia Mengniu at the MER)FHARMAREBIBRAKIEEELE S
exercise price within a 15-day period at the beginning of each [ WIRITFEER KSR S 4 & % Danone
biennial (2-year) period from the seventh (7th) anniversary of Asia PteM A& B R A2 A - HEARAA]
the relevant closing date under the amended and restated WEBTERNERENRER(BELT
framework agreement, subject to compliance with the then HADBHTE - BIEER LA RIREREE
applicable laws and regulations (including the Listing Rules) RHGHME - RZT—NF+=ZA=+—
by the Company, including the then relevant Listing Rules in B AEBERIEERIETEBRBRESZAR
connection with connected transactions. As at 31 December 612,091,000 L ( ZZE—+F : AR
2018, the Group derecognised a non-controlling interest of 601,541,000z ) + W FERIRIT{EIE BRER
RMB612,091,000 (2017: RMB601,541,000) and recognised EMNeRaEREAR1,610,947,000
a present value of the amount payable upon exercise of the T(ZZT—tF : AR%1,629,837,000
option of RMB1,610,947,000 (2017: RMB1,629,837,000) as a TT) - WAGEREET ARER o
financial liability and accounted for the difference in equity.

38. SHARE CAPITAL 38. B4
2018 2017
=E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T AREFTT
Authorised: JETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BREEC.1VETH TR 565,022 565,022
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38. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 38- HQZF(?E)
Number of
ordinary
shares
ZEREE
Note ’000 RMB’000
M5 T AR¥T T
Issued and fully paid: BREITRET
At 1 January 2018 RZZE-—NEF—H—H 3,927,361 357,572
Shares issued under the BRI ARR D SZ R
equity-settled share option IEAR AT BB 1T AR D
scheme (@) 347 30
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—-N\F
+=—B=+—H 3,927,708 357,602
Number of
ordinary
shares
LEREE
Note 000 RMB’000
MosE T ARBTT
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—+F—HA—H 3,925,027 357,374
Shares issued under the BRI AR S H9
equity-settled share option RS T BB TR D
scheme (@) 2,334 198
At 31 December 2017 RZT—+F
+=-—A=+—H 3,927,361 357,572
Note: =
(@)  Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share (@ AAFEBRERERBRIBZTEEITOE
options issued under the scheme are included in note 41 to the IRERFHIE IR I IS KR 7E41 -

financial statements.
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39. OTHER RESERVES
The movements of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 118 to
119 of the financial statements.

(@)

On 25 January 2017, China Modern Dairy acquired
an additional 45% equity interest in a subsidiary at a
consideration of 338,602,205 shares issued to the
sellers. The acquisition was accounted for as an equity
transaction, and as a consequence RMB555,297,000,
representing the difference of the fair value of the
consideration shares over the amount by which the
non-controlling interests were adjusted, was charged
directly in the equity of China Modern Dairy. Accordingly,
an amount of RMB132,631,000, representing the
Group’s share of the change of interest in the equity of
China Modern Dairy, was accounted for directly in the
Group’s other reserves.

On 14 February 2017, the Group made a conditional
mandatory Option Offer for the cancellation of all
outstanding share options of China Modern Dairy
(note 22). On the final closing date of the Option Offer
on 21 March 2017, 264,320,873 options of China
Modern Dairy were acquired and cancelled. The
cancellation of share options of China Modern Dairy
resulted in transferring an amount of RMB204,543,000
accumulated share option reserve in respect of
these cancelled share options to retained earnings
of China Modern Dairy. Accordingly, an amount of
RMB125,283,000 was accounted for directly in the
Group’s other reserves.

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and
regulations, the PRC domestic companies are required
to transfer 10% of their profit after income tax, as
determined under the PRC accounting standards and
financial regulations, to the statutory common reserve.
Subject to certain restrictions as set out in the relevant
PRC laws and regulations, the statutory common
reserve may be used to offset against the accumulated
losses, if any.
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39. Hitf#E
AEERNRERTEFERBAFENREBS
) HREEHREFII8EZEF119H ML
AEREBHRA -

(@)

R-ZE—+E—F-+HB 7ER
REEWE —RF QA EINEY R
% - R{E AR E X 17338,602,205
fefitn - BREEKIEET BIRER S - i
it AR #555,297,0007T ( BRERK
D HE)A Jo (BB FEE IR AR R HE 2 A8 78
BRNEBZEZF)EEENPEE
REEZEETNGR - Bt - AR
132,631,0007T ( A& 74~ & B fE 1 R B3R
REEREZERED) CEERTS
B H A E IR -

R-ZZTE—tF-_A+MA » AEEIR
A R M R AR E A AR E AT
P BIR AR K IR B AR A (B 5
22) c REBREZ M ZEE LB
T—+F=H-+—H 264,320,873
19 B3R AR 3 B AR R W R I 5T
B o AP RBRAREZ BRIEERK
RZECHHEEREN R BRER
# A R # 204,543,000 T8 :E T b H
BARMENREB RS - Bt - AR
125,283,000t B R A EE B b 1
FRZIER o

REBFEEBERIERHBRE - F
BB A 2 & 7B # B AT IS B AR A B A
10% (MR 1% B & 5t 2 R & B BUK AR
B ERSEELES - RETEA
BARREBEE TRHIMRE
EE AR AR AEREREER (N
B) e
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # # 3= Bfd &

40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 40.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HRERTREBRME

Changes in liabilities arising from financing REREIZENEEET
activities
2018
“E-N\f
US$194,800,000
Zero coupon
US$500,000,000 US$500,000,000  exchangeable
35%bonds  4.25%bonds  bonds issued Long term
Bank loans  issuedin2013 issued in 2018 in 2017 payables Other loans
H=%-ZF  RZB-N\F
RATHY ROl WIE-tE
500,000,000%7  500,000,000%7 il
ZE%3.5% ZER405% 194,800,007
RTER W% WE% SETREREF  REEGRE -0
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NGB W NGB NGB NGB AEETT AEETT
At 1 January 2018 N=5-\F-f-R 9,419,826 3,259,723 - 1,210,575 38,239 2912
Changes from financing cash flows BERSTEY (300,226) 3,473,150) 3,390,840 - (28,442) -
Interest expense T - 7,608 1,515 - 1,458 -
Purchase of ofher intangible assets HEARERINEE
classified as investing activiies EhErEE - - - - 1,361
Increase arising rom acquisition of subsidiaries W FA T2 4 726,139 - - - - -
Net far vlue gain on zero coupon ECCENENTRARM
exchangeable bonds due 2022 BRI AR BNETE - - - (58,009) - -
Foreign exchange movement 55 184,066 205,819 17,972 62,617 - -
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\E+-R=1-R 10,029,805 - 3,410,327 1,275,183 12,616 2912
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40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 40. FEREREBKRM T @
STATEM ENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
Changes in liabilities arising from financing RERETHNEEEH &)

activities (continued)

017
I5-tE
US$194,800,000
7610 COUPON
158500,000,000 exchangeable
3.5% bonds honds issued Long term
Bank loans issed in 2013 in 2017 payables Other loans
WZ5-=%
E3fL) RZT—t&
500,000,000%7C &7t
ZSE05% 1948000007
S WEx  ZEIRAES REERFE HER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥TT ARETT AR¥TT ARETT ARETR

At 1 January 2017 R-2-t£-f-H 5,135,588 3,461,992 - 94,02 52,659
Changes from financing cash flows BERSHEY 4479290 - 1,317,061 (59,780) (18,323
Interest expense FIsRX - 8330 - 3994 -
Net far value gain on zero coupon CECCENEMTEAM

exchangeable bonds due 2022 BE/AGENEEE - - 2,363) - -
Other changes =0 - - - - (11.324)
Foreign exchange movement SES (195,052) 200599 (44,123) - -

At 31 December 2017 RE-tEr-A=1- 9,419,826 3,200,723 1210575 38,239 2912
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 41, BIRESTE

The Company operated two share option schemes (the “Share
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the Share
Option Scheme include the Company’s directors, including
independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the Group, suppliers of goods or services to the Group,
customers and any person or entity that provides research,
development or technological support to the Group. The
share option scheme adopted by the Company on 28 June
2005 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) had expired on 27
June 2015. On 3 June 2016, the Company adopted another
share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”),
and the New Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a
period of 10 years from the date of adoption.

The maximum number of shares in respect of share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise,
to 10% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval and adoption of the Share
Option Scheme provided that the Group may at any time
seek approval from its shareholders to refresh the limit to
10% of the shares in issue as at the date of approval by
the shareholders in a general meeting where such limit is
refreshed. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Share Option
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the
total shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further
grant of share options in excess of these limits is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or
to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares
at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

NN BV RR L R R B AR i T &) ([ BS AR i =T
2 BOAMBEASEEEXBKIEL
BRIMESER2EE - YARSELEE -
BREAEN A ERFE2EEBEARLQA
EX(BEBUINTES) AKEHZH
fEE  AEEzERRBEER  BF
A K [a) A 52 B £ AR AR 5T - %%T&ﬁi%m
FERALHERE - AR _ZEZTRAF A
“HN\BERANERE S ([ EBRER
ZNERZZBE—RFANAZTHBRIH - B
—E—REXA=8 " Z’K jg{ﬁﬁ%_,ﬁﬁﬂﬁ
REATEI([3TEBAEST 21 ]) - M IB AR &)
BRARHRETFRAE

B RIBBRE 8 TR O OBIELTT

ERA TRITHNRNEE KRS HERNAAF
FEHL/E MR BB A AT 81 E A E BT 48
B10% » MEAREH A] BE R BURBUR L&
[REHEE RBRRNER LREEHFHBER
RELRHARILEE AERITRM10% °
AER+ @A RER - RIRBIRER 1T
TREREAINELE ERSEENRN

B &% ANEMRREARR D ETRMD A
1% o LB R B ERE L ER A B AHE

WERIRRNBRA S LHE -

MARNBES TBTRABREZREK
GEREREE R YNl e Pt E Sl
WMITEBRLHE - AN AER+ZE A
HIFA » LAAR R EZR R KB IERTT
BN E 2 BB AR H O EAERE
BN AERAREEETRMN01%K
BEGEEHBBARRRM AN HETE
8 115,000,000/ 7T © ALK RABFR K
= EEERE o
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continuea) 4. BRAER &m0

The offer of a grant of share options under the Old Share
Option Scheme may be accepted within 20 business days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a consideration of
HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the
share options granted is determinable by the directors, and
commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date
which is not later than seven years from the date of offer of
the share options.

The offer of a grant of share options under the New Share
Option Scheme may be accepted upon payment of a
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later than five years from the date
of offer of the share options.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
closing price of the Company’s shares on the offer date of the
share options; (i) the average Stock Exchange closing price of
the Company’s shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

ERARNERBAER S TR LR
#ZAR0EEXAAUIMRESHKTVET
B RS ROBRENTEDRHESS
RTE - TERABE - REHRRET RETE
RIRHBREZFZR LF 2 AKLE -

ERARF BB S TR NREEHK
1BTTERMILER - REBRENITESS
EEQRE  TEHEX -—BBHRES K
ETERELBREEZZAAFZAKL -

BRBITEERESETE @ ERATER)A
RABMNE L BREZR A ET BB A
RS AR AR (B ]) e K mE
(AR R ROREREZR L B AEE
KRBT HRA T TE ¢ KB
HESSE °

BRESAABRERREIRRRAS

R -
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41.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continuea)

Particulars of outstanding share options

Date of grant

Exercise period of
share options
(both dates inclusive)

41. BBRETTE m)
i RATAE RS IR FE RS

Exercise price
per share option (note e)

Weighted average fair value

per share option

BRENTEES™ BHEBREN BHEBREN
ZEAH (BEEE®MA) TREE(Hize) MEFHDAE
(HKS) (HK9) (HK$) (HK$)
(B7) (B7) (B7) (#B7)
Before After Before After
bonus issue  bonusissue bonusissue bonus issue
BATALIR AT BITALRE BATALIRA BITALRE
10 October 2011 10 October 2015 to
9 October 2018
(note a) 2410 12.05 8.37 419
—T——%+A+H —T-RF+A
+EE_E—N\F
+ANE (ia)
13 July 2017 13 July 2018 to
12 July 2022
(note b) 14.812 n/a 3.99 n/a
—T—+tFEA+=HR - )\FtH
+=H=
B F+A
+=8 (&Fb)
7 May 2018 7 May 2019 to
6 May 2023
(note c) 26.05 n/a 7.98 n/a
—ET-)N\FHALH —T-NFHA
+tHE-_ZT-=%F
AANH (i)
24 December 2018 1 April 2019 to
23 December 2023
(note d) 23.93 n/a 7.16 n/a
—E-N\F+ZAZFTEE —F-AFHEA
—HE-Z_=F
+=-—A=+=H

(5£d)
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continuea)

Notes:

a)

The share options will be vested in two equal batches with
50% of the share options granted vesting on the fourth and fifth
anniversaries of the date of grant. In addition, the share options
will only be vested if and when the pre-set performance targets
of the Group, the division of the grantee and the grantee are
achieved. Unless all of these targets are met, the share options
will lapse. The share options have a contractual life of seven
years.

The share options will be vested in two equal batches with
50% of the share options granted vesting on the first and
second anniversaries of the date of grant. In addition, the share
options will only be vested if and when the pre-set performance
targets of both the Group and the participants are achieved.
Unless all of these targets are met, the share options will lapse.
The share options have a contractual life of five years.

The share options will be vested in two equal batches with
50% of the share options granted vesting on the first and
second anniversaries of the date of grant. In addition, the share
options will only be vested if and when the pre-set performance
targets of both the Group and the participants are achieved.
Unless all of these targets are met, the share options will lapse.
The share options have a contractual life of five years.

The share options will be vested in four batches with 70%
of the share options granted vesting in three equal batches
on 1 April 2019, 2020 and 2021, and the remaining 30% of
the share options granted vesting in their entirety on 1 April
2021. In addition, the share options will only be vested if and
when the pre-set performance targets of both the Group and
the participants are achieved. Unless all of these targets are
met, the share options will lapse. The share options have a
contractual life of five years.

The exercise price per share option was the average closing
share price for the five business days immediately preceding
the grant date or the closing price of the shares on the grant
date.

As at 30 October 2015, bonus shares were issued by the
Company on the basis of one share for every one existing share
held as of 19 October 2015. As a result, the exercise price for
share option granted on 10 October 2011 was adjusted.

All the above options granted have no cash alternatives.
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41. BBRETTE )

a) BEEBSIR-ZFHEE 50%E2&XH
BRERAELBHEFOE A EBSR
JB o b MEEIAKE  ARARE
MPARARANTAERRAE  MEH
BRESERE - WAREH LA 2EE
% BIR BB AE R AR - MR iE 2 2249
HRHLSF -

by BEREBSIAS_SHEE 50%CHKHE
BREXNARHASEE — M ([EAFH
B o toh - MEEIAEERZERENT
EXRREF MEHEBRESTERE - 1
REEEH 2B R - AEEBERES
R B2 RS TE -

o BEREESIR-_SZHEHEE 50%EXH
BRENOAREASEE - R _ERFH
B o bt MEEIAEERZEENT
ERRAZR  MEHBRELERE -
ReeEH L2 E R - A AREBERES
R - B ROMBHRRE -

d BREBESANDEE  70%EKEHER
BER=ZZT—NF —E_EFR_FT=—
FUNA—BRZSHNEE  HH30%T
BREERER T -_—FNA—R2IHH
B o thih o MEEINAEBRELEENTE
ERAEZE BAIEHABRESESRE -
REEEH L2 BT - BB EERES
Kk o BBIREZ RO AAT -

e ENERENTEEDERRLAHNE
1% 2 B 80 B in e B S iR B A
PRI E -
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Z-AFTATABRERE -—RBEBRN
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (ontinueq) 41. BIRES & @)
Movements of outstanding share options W RITEERESE
Lapsed/ Exercisable
As at Granted Exercised forfeited As at at
1 January during during during 31 December 31 December
2018 the year the year the year 2018 2018
R=Z-NF
R=Z2-NF R = T=R=+-H
Date of grant it B8 -A-BR FRR ERTE RW/AX = T
13 July 2017 “Z—+ELAF=H 10,449,215 - (346,922) (865,748) 9,236,545 4,537,373
7 May 2018 - \fHA+H - 9,593,689 - (347,816) 9,245,873 -
24 December 2018  —ZE—/\E+-F=1MA - 37,248,880 - - 37,248,880 -
Total @z 10,449,215 46,842,569 (346,922) (1,213,564) 55,731,298 4,537,373
Lapsed/ Exercisable
As at Granted Exercised forfeited As at At
1 January during during during 31 December 31 December
2017 the year the year the year 2017 2017
RZB—tF
RIZE—+% +=H
i 3 ER +-A =+-H
Date of grant =) -f-H EREH FERE BR/AR =t+-H A
100ctober 2011 —Z——%+A+H 2,333,946 - (2,333,946) = = =
13 July 2017 2 tEtAT=A - 10,930,005 - (480,790) 10,449,215 -
Total et 2,333,946 10,930,005 (2,333,946) (480,790) 10,449,215 -
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, out of RZE—NF+_A=Z+—BHEKRITHE
the total outstanding share options of 55,731,298 (2017: B BB A% #E $£55,731,208 10 ( — & — 4 ¢
10,449,215) as at 31 December 2018, 19,291 (2017: 22,500) 10,449,21517 ) » BEARMEEBELIH - 19,2011
share options had lapsed due to the unfulfilment of vesting ZE—F 1 22,50000) ARERFBIEMT
conditions. MRS BRB KRR -
The Group recognised an expense of RMB51,199,000 (2017: AEBRFANEREABREA T EZEY
RMB12,582,000) relating to the fair value amortisation of X AR¥S51,199,0007t(ZF—+4F + A

share options during the year (note 7). R#12,582,0007T) (5E7) ©
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continuea) 41. B AESH &l

Movements of outstanding share options (continued)
The average fair value of equity settled share options
granted during the year was estimated to as at the date of
grant using a binomial model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The
following table lists the significant inputs to the model used:

ERITEBRER B (@)

RERE L ABRN XIHBREZ FH AR
BVRAELBHER B EEETR
it WEERARRBREZE L R IE
o TREIIFAARE 2 EXBABIE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —F—tF

7 May 24 December 13 July

AAtH +t=A=t1tMAH +tA+=H8

Dividend yield (%) P B 2 (%) 0.64 0.57 0.65
Expected volatility (%) T8 B R B 3K (%) 34.00 34.00 32.18
Historical volatility (%) B ER (%) 33.90 34.12 32.18
Risk-free interest rate (%) A2 =1 B 761 22 (%) 2.14 1.96 0.97
Option life (years) FERREFHA(4F) 5 5 5
Spot price (HK$ per share) HEBGET /1K) 26.05 23.80 14.62
Exercise price (HK$ per share) TEEGET,/ 8%) 26.05 23.93 14.812

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may
also not necessarily be the actual outcome. The spot price is
the closing price of the Company’s shares at the grant date.
The exercise price is the average of the closing prices per
share for the five business days immediately preceding the
grant date.

The 346,922 share options (2017: 2,333,946) exercised
during the year resulted in the issue of 346,922 (2017:
2,333,946) ordinary shares of the Company and new share
capital of RMB30,000 (2017: RMB198,000) and share
premium of RMB4,472,000 (2017: RMB23,683,000), as
further detailed in note 38 to the financial statements. The
weighted average share price at the date of exercise of these
options was HK$25.04 (2017: HK$17.71).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 4,537,373
(2017: Nil) vested share options outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the remaining
share options would, under the present capital structure of
the Company, result in the issue of 4,537,373 (2017: Nil)
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
share capital of RMB398,000 (2017: Nil) and share premium
of RMB58,490,000 (2017: Nil) (before issue expenses).

TEHIR B K [RAR IE SR B K ] R AR R B 2
MRE - BT —ERBERER - REEBR/X
DAL B HAREHE - TEELR
ER A A ES X B NSRR N FHK
miE -

346,922 (=& — £ 4 : 2,333,946 13 )
BIRERFEARNITHE - B %17346,922
g (ZF —+4F : 2,333,946 % ) &N A 7] L
B EAEFRABARES0,0007T(=
T—+F: AR®198,0007T) @ 7 a(E
ARBEAAT2 000 (ZZE—+F : ARK
23,683,0007T ) * FF15 & A B 75 W 3% b 5
38 o WEBRENITEANMETLIRESR
25.04B 7 (ZF—tF 1 17.7187T) °

RMERKR  AAREEREEIETS
4,537,373 (=T —+F : T)EHEBARIT
FHERE - EARRIBEHNEARALERET 2
ETTEEER T 0O B IR IS B B A R B 1TRE AN
4537373/ (=T —+F : T)E@BRK - &
SN RHE398,0007T (ZE—+ 4 : B)RA
M AR#58,490,0000( = ZF—+4F : T)i%
s B (FBREFITHZAY) o
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42. SHARE AWARD SCHEME 42, RERETE

The share award scheme of the Company was adopted by
the board on 26 March 2013 (the “Adoption Date”). The
purpose of the share award scheme is to provide an incentive
to encourage the participants for the continual operation and
development of the Group.

Subject to the terms of the share award scheme and the
Listing Rules, the board may at any time make an offer to any
eligible person whom it may in its absolute discretion select to
accept the grant of an award over such a number of shares
as it may determine (the “Participants”). Existing shares of
the Company will be purchased by an independent trustee
(the “Trustee”) of the share award scheme from the market
out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for
the relevant Participants until such shares are vested with the
relevant Participants in accordance with the provisions of the
share award scheme. The shares of the Company granted
and held by the trustee until vesting are referred to as the
treasury shares and each treasury share shall represent one
ordinary share of the Company.

No shares shall be purchased pursuant to the share award
scheme, nor any amounts paid to the Trustee for the
purpose of making such a purchase, if as a result of such
purchase, the number of shares administered under the share
award scheme shall exceed 5% of the issued capital of the
Company. The maximum number of shares which may be
granted to a Participant at any one time or in aggregate may
not exceed 0.5% of the issued capital of the Company at the
Adoption Date.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the
board, the share award scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 5 years commencing on the Adoption Date.
On 13 July 2017, the directors of the Company approved
to extend the validity period of the share award scheme for
approximately another five years to 26 March 2023.

ARARERBAIN_FT—=F=H
“tARBRABHDEEETSHRM - KE
ﬁ%f%a&ﬁ@/ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%$ilmw
LRBRFLER

REBRRRZRTIGERELTRY  EFE
AR AEAEEBALTEHEY  AaE
BALTBENBERERNEZTSRERON
BREBRMNHBE ZZB([28E]) - KRER
AENBUSTEA(NRFEADAAEEEE
MR ENME EBEARRRERD - KA
ERPARER2EERE  EEZFRD
REBEBREZR SN RBNERESEE
Bl - ERHEAXTEAREEERBHOA
RABMEASEEFERD - MEEFRDERE
ARAF—REBER -

BERMORIEARZREAZEEE T8
ARFEAXMEARBEAMELBREE
HEAGEBE - BEAREREEEEN
R BB BBARRR D EITRAS% « RE
AEEAEETE-2EENRERE LR
HABTSHBRA B MARE D BEITRA
0.5% °

XRNEFGAEBEENEMRERERL K
ZREF BRI RA A R AFHRAR—
BAERREY - RZTE—+F+HA+=R8"
ARANMEZRBLEREFERBAINEX
HORFE-_"T_=F=A_tRB-
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42. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

42, BRERBFE m)

Particulars and movements of share award RERBTEIFEREE
scheme
Lapsed/
Asat  Granted Vesting  forfeited As at
1 January during during during 31 December
Notes Fair value per share 2018  theyear  theyear  theyear 2018
R R
—E-\E “E-\E
i3 SRARE -f-B  FRRY FRER  FARK TSA=t-A
(HKS) (HKS)
() (E7)
Before After
bonus honus
issue issue
Date of grant RiLA% ROARA RUARA
13 July 2017 “E2—+FtA+=R ) 14.62 nfa 6,770,015 - (3,148667) (571,102 3,050,246
7 May 2018 ZZ-\FRAtH (A 26.05 nfa - 6,693,084 - (239,305 6,453,689
6,770,015 6,693,084 (3,148,667)  (810,497) 9,503,935
Lapsed/
Asat Granted Vesting forfeited Asat
1 January during during during 31 December
Notes Fair valug per share 2017 the year the year the year 2017
I
I “TtE
IRt TZA
if:3 BRALE -A-B  EMRE  ERBE  FREK =t+-8
(HKS) (HKS)
(%) (&7
Before After
bonus bonus
issue issue
Date of grant sk £ G
2 April 2015 “E-nEMmAZA ) 4010 2005 2,131,822 - - 2131822 -
11 April 2016 “E-EmAT-R (b) 1242 na 7,666,903 - (6379,066) (1,277,837) -
13 July 2017 “EtELATER © 14,62 na - 6,998575 - (228560) 6770015
9788725 6998575  (6,379,066) (3,638219) 6,770,015
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42. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continueq)

Notes:

(@)

On 2 April 2015, the Company granted 8,725,000 shares
under share award scheme to the Participants, representing
approximately 0.49% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the adoption date. Out of the total shares
granted, 2,472,700 shares would vest in three tranches each
on the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date in
accordance with the vesting conditions (including the Group’s
performance targets) subject to the publication of the full —
year results of the Company for the financial years ended
31 December 2015, 2016 and 2017, respectively. The other
shares would vest in full on 31 March 2016 in accordance with
the vesting conditions (including the Group’s performance
targets) subject to the publication of the full-year results of the
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

On 11 April 2016, the Company granted 14,492,753 shares
under share award scheme to the participants, representing
approximately 0.37% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the adoption date. These granted shares
would vest in two tranches each on 31 December 2016 and
2017 in accordance with the vesting conditions (including the
Participants’ performance targets), subject to the Participants’
performance results for the financial years ended 31 December
2016 and 2017, respectively.

On 13 July 2017, the Company granted 6,998,575 shares
under share award scheme to the Participants, representing
approximately 0.2% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the adoption date. These granted shares would vest in
two equal batches on the first and second anniversaries of the
date of grant in accordance with certain vesting conditions.

On 7 May 2018, the Company granted 6,693,084 shares
under share award scheme to the Participants, representing
approximately 0.2% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the adoption date. These granted shares would vest in
two equal batches on the first and second anniversaries of the
date of grant in accordance with certain vesting conditions.

During the year, 810,497 (2017: 3,638,219) shares lapsed
due to the unfufiment of vesting condition under the share
award scheme.

42. RERBE @

i

(@)

RER -
3,638, 219&)&1&3!%

—E-REMA-R  ARABIREREE
BhEtElm 2 8% % 18,725,000/ 8% 1D + 1k
AN RIAEEAN A BIR) B 31 TARAN490.49% ©
IR RMHEE D - 2,472,700 I& IR 15 15
BREFBEH(BEAEEREEE)
—ESREB  mMEBBRAS R AERD
BfRE—  —R=EBF  HAFAQ
AHE—_Z—RF  —T—REE=F
—+tE+ A=+ —BILHBEESHIT
BEFEER FRARBE - CHAEEHE
HEE -  RRATEAS  BHEEREM
EERHNEG  BESEKG(BELASE
EREFERZE)  EMRHER-ZT—R E=
A=1+—BEHREBE  HAGARRARE
E-Z-—AF+-A=+—HLHBFE
T2 F 5% HAIRE -

—ZEZ-RNEMA+—H  AREBRERE
7%@1 T8I 2 &R 14,492,753 iR %

AEAR R BR R B B E BITRAL
QW%°%%§&W%@%%%:§—ﬁ¢
&:% tF+=—A=+— B“ﬁm@ﬁ
Iﬂwﬂ@%,ﬂ%miﬁah
ﬁﬁﬁ$,A% PRIREZE = Aiﬁ
—T—+F+=-A=+— Et%ﬁigm
%ﬁ%ﬁﬁio

—E—+tFtA+=H " ARAABRER

= 2 )T &) (A1 2 L & 1% 11 6,998,575 A% A%
1 CAEARR RN B BB BITRAY
0.2% - WEEBRENBRDES B= #@ﬁ
B BEETEBFRGHELBEHES
k= ABFFB -

—2-\FRALA ARARBERER
@#%m/A%&memsmmw%ﬁ«a
DER A B HB0E B4TRAM0.2% ©
%#E%ﬁmhﬁyﬂﬁ SHRE R
BETRBGALBLANEE —R_(8

BERE -

810497&(:2 + F
ER R EE)ET &

1113

) 57 B MR 1R TP 212K



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} #& & Mis

42.

43.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continueq)

The fair value of the shares granted was calculated based on
the market prices of the Company’s shares at the respective
grant dates. No dividend will be considered. The fair value
of the shares granted on 7 May 2018 was HK$26.05 per
share (2017: HK$14.62 per share respectively). During 2018,
the Group recognised a net expense relating to the share
award scheme of approximately RMB105,190,000 (2017:
RMB43,544,000) in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss during the year (note 7).

During the year, 3,148,667 (2017: 6,379,066) shares with
a total amount of RMB44,212,000 (2017: RMB91,480,000)
were vested and exercised under the share award scheme,
resulting in the transfer out of RMB39,967,000 (2017:
RMB66,216,000) from the share award reserve, with the
difference of RMB4,245,000 (2017: RMB25,264,000) debited
to the share premium account. The weighted average share
price at the date of exercise of these shares was HK$16.03
(2017: HK$16.92).

A PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY

WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-
controlling interests are set out below:

42,

43.
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ER-T I RE )

BEEREBES AR ETERARRD BRGNS
BREBHOTMENE  EP TS RERE -
T N\FRALtBRHNBROHNAARES
FR26.058 (=T —+F : DR AER
14.62870) - —T—\FR  AEBRER
RIFEIEE AP RRREZEEAEFIHD
AR#105,190,0007c( = —tF : AR#E
43,544,0007T) (Hi7E7) °

FAR - BEAEARKL4421200T(=ZF
—+4F : AR%91,480,0007T)H)3,148,667
(== —+ 4 : 6,379,066 %) B E IR
ERERBTEGBRITE  BHEARE
REFEEE D A R39,067,000T(=F
—+F : AR¥66,216,0007T) © ZF A
R#4245000t(ZF—tF : AR
25,264,0007T0) B B B m BRI o E
AR 1T B BB R N4 9 A% E £ 16.038
TT(ZF—+F : 16.92787T) °

BEEARFERRREZNET D
BETLE

AR BAEEAFERBIRROT AN
SET

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARKETTT
Percentage of equity interest held by Elsa i G gy =gty
non-controlling interests: REBDL
Yashili L7 48.96% 48.96%
Profit/(Loss) for the year allocated to ARG AR Rz DG Y
non-controlling interests: REWE(BE) -
Yashili HEL A 18,029 (91,773)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests: [A 3 A& AR SR &SRS HIAR B -
Yashili HEF - -
Accumulated balances of non-controlling R ¥4 B BA3FIE %
interests at the reporting dates: IR M RET 4R
Yashili HELF 3,793,648 3,768,460
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43. A PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY 43. BEEARFERBRRETNID
WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING BEF LT @m)
INTERESTS (continued)
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TRIR i+ AT WA FEE R} o PTIE
information of the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed BHLREATEMNERRNR A EAEH

are before any inter-company eliminations:

Yashili Yashili
e+ R HEEF
2018 2017
—E-N\F i
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREF T
Revenue WA 3,011,200 2,254,716
Total expenses s e (2,958,925) (2,434,527)
Profit/(Loss) for the year KEEE 52,275 (179,811)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) AFEMEE
for the year Wz, (E518) 7,351 (33,250)
Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year A2 E Uz (18 ) @58 59,626 (213,061)
Current assets REEE 4,166,605 4,025,850
Non-current assets EMENEE 3,555,612 3,404,726
Current liabilities mEAE (2,150,033) (1,917,986)
Non-current liabilities FEMEBEE (14,359) (21,663)
Net cash flows from/(used in) R ELA(FTA)
operating activities IR e MEFHE 264,123 (254,858)
Net cash flows from investing activities RETDBEENRS
mEEER 508,091 287,322
Net cash flows from/(used in) mEEsSELS(FTA)
financing activities IR & mEHEE (283,161) 50,380
Effect of exchange rate changes ERHRE RRE
on cash and cash equivalents FEYNTE 358 4,627
Net increase in cash and REMREZEEY

cash equivalents HANFER 489,411 87,471
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION 44. EKEHt

Acquisition of Modern Dairy (Bengbu) and Modern Dairy
(Feidong)

On 10 April 2018, Inner Mongolia Mengniu acquired 50%
equity interests in Modern Dairy (Bengbu) and Modern Dairy
(Feidong) from Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Modern
Farming”), a subsidiary of China Modern Dairy. Modern Dairy
(Bengbu) and Modern Dairy (Feidong) are mainly engaged in
the production and distribution of liquid milk products. Since
the date of acquisition, the Group obtained control over
Modern Dairy (Bengbu) and Modern Dairy (Feidong). This
is because the Group owned more than 50% of the voting
rights in the shareholders’ meetings of both Modern Dairy
(Bengbu) and Modern Dairy (Feidong). The acquisition was
made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market
share of liquid milk products in Mainland China. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash, with
RMB56,040,000 paid at the acquisition date to China Modern
Dairy.

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling
interests in Modern Dairy (Bengbu) and Modern Dairy (Feidong)
at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
identifiable net assets.

W B AR (R ) R R A (IBR)

R-ZE—NFEMNA+H AEFEEFEHEH
BARKETARBRARKE(EE)ERAF
([RARKBEER) ) DRI IR A (5
18) RIFRRE(BR) B950% A H# - WA
¥EWER)RBERBMERR)TEURELEER
DEREEINER - BUE A e - ALER
BIRA S (BB ) RIR A HE (R /&
FE o WA AR EHEA BN E AR (5
18) RIFRRE(PBR)BREARNE50% M
T o ZEWEAAREBEAEFBEARENR
RNERNMBHENREZ— - 25 KE
RENRSEAI A - RUKE B R EE
RMEZ A ARYS56,040,0007T °

RERERBIZ A BRI B AR E 2 SR S
L a8 R IR AR (18 ) RIRAR AR (L
R)EFER iR -
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continueq) 44. ¥ &6t @
In 2018: (continued) E’\\‘-_—g—)\i L ('|)
Acquisition of Modern Dairy (Bengbu) and Modern Dairy NI E(FR) R HAHMEER) (&)
(Feidong) (continued)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of RUBE HE - IR E(HER) RIRR M E
Modern Dairy (Bengbu) and Modern Dairy (Feidong) as at the (PR AIESRIEERBEALBHET

date of acquisition were as follows:

Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
Uit B B R AR
AL
Notes RMB’000
MiEE ARETT
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R NERE 405,299
Construction in progress EETR 16 31,232
Land use rights e AR 18 5,980
Other intangible assets HivmEEE 613
Inventories EE 17,915
Trade and bills receivables EUBR I K ZE 34,688
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets T8k « E fth fE W k18 & H b B &= 122,225
Cash and bank balances e RRITHETT 147,600
Total assets BEE 765,552
Liabilities afE
Trade payables FERTER K (132,891)
Other payables and accruals HEEMFUERTARE B (27,836)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FFERITREAMEE (487,739)
Income tax payable FERTER1SHL (5,697)
Total liabilities e (654,163)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BAREFERNRI#A TR EERE 111,389
Less: Non-controlling interests W IR IR R (55,695)
Less: Entrusted loans due from Modern Dairy & : FEUIR A ZE (AP EE ) Y Z5E
(Feidong) B3 (65,400)
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition R EE R R 19 346
Add: Effective settlement of entrusted loans e EEERABEGER)NERE
due from Modern Dairy (Feidong) REREE 65,400

Purchase consideration at fair value BAREFENRERE 56,040
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44, BUSINESS COMBINATION (continueq)
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44. (%S5t

Acquisition of Modern Dairy (Bengbu) and Modern Dairy
(Feidong) (continued)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other receivables
as at the date of acquisition were the same as the gross
contractual amounts of trade receivables and other
receivables, which amounted to RMB34,688,000 and
RMB78,304,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB100,000 for this
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and
are included in administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
Modern Dairy (Bengbu) and Modern Dairy (Feidong) for year

W BB (R ) R B A (B3R ()

PRUEE A AR - EUGER R R M ESGRIER A
AED B A AR 34,688,000 & A R
78,304,0007T + 8 & U R 5K K2 H b 8 W IR
R & #4a=EAER) o

AEERRBEURBEERIRAARE
100,0007T - BRAAR SR AERER A B R
S WERFATTHRER -

WRBIR AR 3 (1R ) R R R (IR &
E_Z-N\F+ZA=T-HIEFENRS

ended 31 December 2018 was as follows: MEONTT :
RMB’000
ARET T
Cash consideration BeRE (56,040)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired WEMSReMREEEY 147,600
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included in SAARBEHAERESRENIRS
cash flows from investing activities MRS EBYR L F5E 91,560
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in cash s+ AL EBFSIRSRERN
flows from operating activities WEE R Z K AN (100)
91,460

Since the acquisition, Modern Dairy (Bengbu) and Modern
Dairy (Feidong) contributed RMB456,450,000 to the Group’s
revenue and RMB52,258,000 to the consolidated profit of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of 2018,
the revenue of the Group and the profit of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2018 would have been
RMB69,218,742,000 and RMB3,211,675,000 respectively.

BUEELAR - IR (HE) RIRA K
¥(ER)AAEBREE_ZT—N\NF+=
A=+ —BLEFEMNRAERARE
456,450,0007T * WAASKBLIGE R AR
#52,258,0007T °

HWRBEHR =ZF —/\FEFET - A&
E_T-)\F+t-_A=+t—-RLEELXEK
BB ARKTEBEA®D R AARE
69,218,742,000 7T & A K ¥ 3,211,675,000
3T o
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44, BUSINESS COMBINATION (continuea) 44, £S5 @

Acquisition of Banner Dairy

On 3 July 2018, Junlebao acquired an additional 43.41%
equity interest in Banner Dairy, a previous associate of the
Group. After the acquisition, Junlebao held a 65.16% equity
interest in Banner Dairy and obtained control over Banner
Dairy. Banner Dairy is mainly engaged in the manufacture
and sale of infant milk formula products of Banner brand.
The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy
to expand its market share of infant milk formula products
in Mainland China. The purchase consideration for the
acquisition was in the form of cash, with RMB357,481,000
paid at the acquisition date to third parties.

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interest
in Banner Dairy at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
share of identifiable net assets.

WS HE I L, &

“E—N\E+HA=H BELEWEERBIL
m(Z Al ARNEEBZ AT )3EINE.41%
o RIER  EREFEERILS
65.16% K #E + I0 BX 1S HE 08k FL oR 42 I AE o
EmIAMESHEEER D EEREMED
BNRERADH - ZEWEBREBEK
HERBEKENRORE A DD HDEN
FEEZ— wBEBENKEREBEUNRSK
XXM RIRERHRE=ATHFARE
357,481,0007T °

Z’»‘%@%T%Eﬂg&ﬁuﬁé;%{gz3’5?%%*%5%
b I3 BRI, R0 3R
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continueq) 44, ¥ & 6t@
In 2018: (continued) E/\\\:g—)\i . (#8)
Acquisition of Banner Dairy (continued) Lkt B HEE i 2L (2
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of RUBEBER > IS rEANEENREE
Banner Dairy as at the date of acquisition were as follows: NREWETF :
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
L B PR FE AR
NAE
Notes RMB’000
MiEE ARET T
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENMERE 1,083,498
Construction in progress TEETRR 16 4,618
Land use rights b P A4 18 72,313
Other intangible assets HitmEEE 3,031
Investments in associates REL R RIHIRE 9,212
Biological assets EMEE 24 416,300
Inventories & 49,422
Trade and bills receivables BRI R ZEE 33,468
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets T8k « B fth fE k18 & H b B & 90,077
Cash and bank balances R RIRITHETT 26,475
Total assets BEE 1,788,414
Liabilities BE
Trade payables FERTAR K (123,146)
Other payables and accruals EfEMFUERTARE B (741,300)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FERITREMEER (238,400)
Income tax payable FERTER1SHL (18,434)
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIEEE 23 (13,430)
Total liabilities mBE (1,134,710)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BARBEFERRI#AFEELRE 653,704
Less: Non-controlling interests W IR IR R (227,743)
Less: Prepayment due from Banner Dairy ko MR FL R A TR IR (300,429)
Less: Acquisition-date fair value of the W AR B AR A TR P on AR
Group’s initial equity in Banner Dairy RUEE RN A AE (141,046)
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition o IR E E R R 19 72,566
Add: Effective settlement of prepayment due Al : BUGER T RIEN A WEE
from Banner Dairy 300,429

Purchase consideration at fair value BAREFENRERE 357,481
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44, BUSINESS COMBINATION (continuea)

In 2018: (continued)

Acquisition of Banner Dairy (continued)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other receivables
as at the date of acquisition were the same as the gross
contractual amounts of trade receivables and other
receivables, which amounted to RMB33,468,000 and
RMB56,725,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB400,000 for this
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and
are included in administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

A fair value gain of RMB101,038,000 arising from re-
measuring the Group’s initial equity interest in Banner Dairy
at acquisition date was recognised in other income and gains
(note 5).

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition
of Banner Dairy for year ended 31 December 2018 was as
follows:

44. (%S5t @

RZZE—N\F : (@)

W BB RE 0 L, R (40)

RUREE B HE - AR R E b FE U RIE M A
A1ED B A AR 33,468,000t & A R
56,725,0007T + B2 & Y BR 51 K EL 4th FE U SR IE
B & #4aEAER] o

AEBERRBRBEERIRAARE
400,0007C - EEARFRACREREBERRK
S WERFATTRER ©

B ETEAREBRUEE B B& G B ER
7L oh A% = A /9 A R #5101,088,000T A f
Bz - EREMRA RSP ER(FES) °

WEERILARNEBEE_ZT-N\F+_A
=+ HUEFERSRESTAOT

RMB’000

ARETTT

Cash consideration ReERE (357,481)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired WEMSRe MREEEY 26,475
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in st ABREEEMERSRENRS

cash flows from investing activities MRS EEBYR L 5 (831,0006)

Transaction costs of the acquisition included in cash  Ft AL EE TSRS RE MW
flows from operating activities WHER SR AN (400)

(331,406)
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continueq) 44, ¥ & 6t@

Acquisition of Banner Dairy (continued)

Since the acquisition, Banner Dairy contributed
RMB466,996,000 to the Group’s revenue and caused a net
loss of RMB24,613,000 to the consolidated profit for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of 2018,
the revenue of the Group and net profit of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2018 would have been
RMB69,227,722,000 and RMB3,124,536,000 respectively.

Acquisition of Chongqging Mengniu

On 20 July 2018, Founding, a 100% indirectly owned
subsidiary of the Company, acquired an additional 41%
equity interest in Chongaging Mengniu, a previous associate
of the Group. After the acquisition, Founding held a 90%
equity interest in Chongqging Mengniu and obtained control
over Chongging Mengniu. Chongging Mengniu is mainly
engaged in the sale of dairy products. The acquisition was
made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market
share of liquid milk products in Mainland China. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash, with
RMB205,000 paid at the acquisition date to third party.

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interest
in Chongging Mengniu at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of identifiable net assets.

W BB RE 0 L, R (40)

BUEBLR  HEBIRALAEEHEE_Z
—NE+_A=+—HLEFENKRATRA
R ¥466,996,0007T * I A4RE WA T HF
8 AR #24,613,0007T °

WEBAHR-_ZE—N\FFEYET  AH
E-ZEZ-N\E+-A=t+—HIEEEKXE
B ARRNEEFREED B ABARE
69,227,722,000 7t & A & # 3,124,536,000
=

WBEESF

—T-NFELA=-+H  ARRBEEA
100% B HE B T X 7] 77 S5 438 B 7K 4 (3 R B 42
NAEESFMAI%AKE - iEE - H R
EEERH0%MRE - WRBEESFH
THE EESFTENEHEINES - B
BB ABAEERAETBRARENRENE
MATIGHEERNRE Z — 1R - RIEREHR
BUABEFEALN  RERBESERE=ZTX
t AR#205,0007T °

7R S B 2 R T 3 B R SRR AR 2
e 5t 8 1A B B S c SRR AR AR o
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continueq) 44. ¥(B S 6@
In 2018: (continued) E’\\‘-_—g—)\i L (')
Acquisition of Chongqing Mengniu (continued) WBERES 4 (E)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of RIWEBH  SEZ4MA#HNEERERE
Chongging Mengniu as at the date of acquisition were as DAEMT
follows:
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
WEERRAN AR E
Note RMB’000
iz AREBEFTT
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment S E YN 273
Other intangible assets HEREE 7
Inventories & 6,946
Trade and bills receivables FEW R R R B 43,118
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets BRI - M ERGIE R
Hih & E 5,885
Total assets BEE 56,229
Liabilities BfE
Trade payables JFEATBR R (125,469)
Other payables and accruals HERRIBERIERE A (11,326)
Total liabilities wEE (136,799)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BAREFENRIBAFEE
48z (80,566)
Less: Non-controlling interests B IR R AR R A 8,057
Less: Trade receivables due from Chongaing Mengniu & : KB BEESFH)
FEBR TR (125,469)
Less: Acquisition-date fair value of the Group’s initial 3 : AEBREESZF A
equity in Chongaing Mengniu RAMKEBBAARE (245)
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition m: WEEENEE 19 72,959
Add: Effective settlement of trade receivables o REEBRRTREWERR
due from Chongging Mengniu BHEE 125,469

Purchase consideration at fair value BRAREFEHRERE 205
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44, BUSINESS COMBINATION (continueq)

In 2018: (continued)

Acquisition of Chongqing Mengniu (continued)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other receivables
as at the date of acquisition were the same as the gross
contractual amounts of trade receivables and other
receivables, which amounted to RMB43,118,000 and
RMB4,640,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB100,000 for this
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and
are included in administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
Chongging Mengniu for year ended 31 December 2018 was as
follows:

Annual Report 2018 —Z— \F &

44. (%S5t

AZE—N\E (&)

WBEES4 ()

RUREE B - BRI R E b e a2
ARED R A AR 43,118,000t & A R
4,640,0007T + 22 JE U5 BR 3k K EL i & WGRIR
R & #4a=EAER) o

AEERRBEURBEERIRAARE
100,0007T - BRAR SR AERER A IR R
S WERFATTHRER -

WEEESFTRBE_ZT-N\F+_A
=t—BLEFENRSRESNET :

RMB’000

AREFIT

Cash consideration ReENE (205)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired WEEMBHRe MReEEY =
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in 3t AR EZE TSR ERENIRE

cash flows from investing activities MR EEYRLIFE (205)
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in cash s+ AR & EEIFTSIE &S MU

flows from operating activities RGEA (100)

(305)

Since the acquisition, Chongging Mengniu contributed
RMB230,336,000 to the Group’s revenue and net profit of
RMB17,594,000 to the consolidated profit for the year ended
31 December 2018.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of 2018,
the revenue of the Group and net profit of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2018 would have been
RMB69,219,921,000 and RMB3,197,303,000 respectively.

BUEBIUR  EESTALAEEHE_Z
—NE+-A=Z+—HILEFENKRATERA
R #230,336,0007t * I BAREELRE T
R A R#17,594,0007T °

WEBEHR T — \FEF#ET - BIE
E_T-N\F+t_A=+—HLEFEALRE
Bl ARANEBAEFED R BARE
69,219,921,000 7t & A & ¥ 3,197,303,000
T
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44.

45.

46.

BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 44. %ﬁé{#(%ﬁ)
In 2018: (continued) E/\‘\—_—g_)\E L ('|)
Acquisition of other businesses Wi H At 3 7
During 2018, the Group acquired five subsidiaries and sales ZE-N\FR - AEERERARAFARK
operation of a sales agency company of the Group. These EEMN—FRHEREXBNHEEER - It
businesses are mainly engaged in the sale of dairy products. ZEF RO ETENREREIRG - ILEWE
These acquisitions were made as part of the Group’s BANEEEAE P AREN R ELTS
strategy to expand its market share of liquid milk products in DEARIEIE ) —I8 o ZEWE A ERE
Mainland China. The total purchase considerations for these NEL2EAXMN  REERRSNARLE
acquisitions were in the form of cash of RMB63,860,000 paid 63,860,0007T ° I FEKUEHELEFEA
at the acquisition date. These business acquisition gave rise R #15,820,0007T °
to goodwill of RMB15,820,000 in total.
During 2017, the Group acquired three subsidiaries. These —E—+FRN - AEBREBE=RAA o
subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the sale of dairy products. FRAAFZENSHEARG - HEWER
These acquisitions were made as part of the Group’s NEBIEAHEPBEAENRETNERTISH
strategy to expand its market share of liquid milk products in FERERE ) —IB o HEWENAUEAE
Mainland China. The total purchase considerations for these NEL2FEAXMN  REERRS N AR
acquisition were in the form of cash of RMB8,363,000 paid at 8,363,0007T ° W FEXBWIBHELEHNEA
the acquisition date. These business acquisition gave rise to R #5,381,0007T °
goodwill of RMB5,381,000 in total.
PLEDGE OF ASSETS 45. EEEHF
Details of the Group’s bills payable, bank loans and long term EHREAEENEERRENANEEENZ
payables, which are secured by the assets of the Group, are B RITERRREMAKIEFE - 25#
included in notes 30, 32 and 35, respectively, to the financial RET R ERMFE30 » 32%35 ©
statements.
OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 46. R=EHEZH
(@) As lessor (@) fEREHAA
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total RBMERR  REBERBE T FHEE
future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable LHE BRIBEKEHEFNRIE
operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows: HermzEmT
2018 2017
—B—N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
Within one year —FR 2,473 2,222
In the second to fifth years, inclusive MERF(BIEEEMRSF) 7,293 4,389
Over five years HFEMUE 2,000 762
11,766 7,373
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46. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)
(b) As lessee
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of buildings and certain
production equipment as follows:
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46. REHELZH @

(b) fERFEBA
RBERKR - ARERBEERET
FERBO NI EHEECEHRERRA
BXNHRERSERENT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFTT

Within one year —FR 241,792 213,907

In the second to fifth years, inclusive MEAFT(BIEEEMRT) 320,035 314,247

Over five years RFLE 53,533 44,052

615,360 572,206

47. COMMITMENTS 47. EIE

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in BR B ST A6 Al HY 48 & M EAJESN - R HA

note 46, the Group had the following outstanding capital
commitments in respect of the purchase and construction of
property, plant and equipment as at the end of the reporting

* - AEEEHBERERYE BERSE
B R EREAREBDT -

period:
2018 2017
—E2-N\F —EF—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Contracted, but not provided for BRTABREE 1,047,984 921,832
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48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 48. BHBA LR S
(a) In addition to the transactions and balances which are (a) BRAMBREREMEZREENRS
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the RGN REEEEBE RN R RA
Group had the following significant transactions with its fhEEEEA THEIT T ERR S ©
associates and other related parties.

2018 2017
“E-N\F ZT—t+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT
() Sales of liquid milk products to ) RBERAEE
associates RN E (i) 1,246,732 1,647,881
() Sales of ice cream products to ) RBERFEE
associates OEE @ (i) 34,153 29,887
() Sales of other dairy products to ) RBERFEE
associates Ht I BER (i) = 233
(V)  Sales of products to affiliates of a V) MARE—LEERE
major shareholder of the Company NBBARLEER () 9,853 14,958
(V) Purchases of raw materials from V) mARR—REBRR
affiiates of a major shareholder of MBBLRBE
the Company B (i 782,996 798,045
(V) Purchases of raw materials from V) mEEARESE
associates MR 0) 5,468,052 4,415,213
(VI Purchases of liquid milk products from  (VIl) [m#t<&AREE
an associate R E R (i 239,995 236,635
(VIll)  Purchases of milk powder products ~ (VIIl) M2 AEEE
from an associate MPER (i 324 3,957
(IX)  Purchases of utilities, rental and (%) mBEAFEELR -
outsourcing services from BERINRE
associates (i) 13,368 3,497
(X)  Purchase of equipment from an X mEEARES
associate & (i) 1,681 -

(i) The considerations were determined with reference to
the prevailing market prices/rates and the prices charged

to third parties.

it

) EREE2EEETBER BER

WERE =TT M BIRETE -
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48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

(b)

(c)

Other transactions with related parties

(i) During 2018, the Group acquired 50% equity
interests in Modern Dairy (Bengbu) and Modern
Dairy (Feidong) from Modern Farming, a subsidiary
of China Modern Dairy. Further details of the
acquisition are included in note 44 to the financial
statements.

(i) During 2017, the Group acquired a 20% and
25% equity interests in Mengniu Meirixian Dairy
(Hubei) Co., Ltd., which is a 55% indirectly
owned subsidiary of the Group, from Fuyuan, an
associate of the Group, and independent third
parties, respectively. The purchase consideration
for the acquisition was in the form of cash, with
RMB2,000,000 and RMB3,300,000 paid at the
acquisition date to the associate and independent
third parties, respectively.

Compensation of key management personnel
of the Group

Key management compensation is detailed in notes 9
and 10 to the financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of items (a)(IV)
and (a)(V) above also constitute continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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48. A TR Z @)

(b)

(c)

HEBMA T HMR S

i)y ZZ—N\FR xEEEHHE
REEFRFRRBEER) K
BB (I8 ) MIB R E
(BEER) KI50%A%HE - WigHE —2
BRI ISIRERMIGE44 -

iy Z=T—tFR AEESHFIAA
EEBENRERMENE=H
Uiz % 7~ 4 ) RS 4 ¥ 6 55% AR 1
NFRARSRFSFABEIZECHL)
EREME R A B20% K 25% i
o ZWENBEREDRILR
4 AR #2,000,0007T & A R #
3,300,000 7T /A UK 8 B B A Bt 2
UNGIDSE SV s

AEBHNEEEE A SR

FTEEEABRMAFBHRTBERE
PHEE9 K10 °

() (V) R (@)(V) B B BB 5 52 5 7
A _E TR AIE 1A BT R M R
% o
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48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (ontiniesy ~ 48. BEEA TR 5 (@)

(d) Year-end balances arising from related party (d BHRALIXRZEENFERESRU
transactions are as follows: T :
Trade and bills receivables from: JEWER R M =1k

2018 2017
—ZE2-N\F —ET—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T

Associates G LN 304,639 553,443
Affiliates of a major shareholder of AEE—ZET BRI
the Group FEEYNG| 580 2,721
305,219 556,164
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets from: TR - bR E R A EE ¢
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Associates L ol/NE 18,000 235,110
Trade and bills payables to: FERTBR AR 245

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —FLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT

Associates & A A 468,613 259,097
Affiliates of a major shareholder of AEE—BEERRN
the Group 5} /NG 68,868 133,118

537,481 392,215
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48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continuea
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48. BEEA TR Z m)

(d) Year-end balances arising from related party (d BBRATIXRZIEENEREEEW
transactions are as follows: (continued) T @ @)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
Other payables and accruals to: RMB’000 RMB’000
HibEZERIERER - AREFTT
Associates AN 5,131 14,459
The above balances are unsecured, non-interest- ﬁé:;f—)\i +=—A=+—8" t
bearing and repayable on credit terms similar to those EHAEER  THERARE
offered to or by independent third parties as at 31 7Jiﬁ-r BE FEKRELTRES
December 2018. Certain prepayments, other receivables BYE=THBIES R —+t
and other assets from associates of approximately F+-_A=+—H FTEMRE: &
RMB129,167,000 with a fixed interest rate of 2.5% per ® N E R I 2 R RIRIB AR
annum as at 31 December 2017. 129,167,000 7T 2 2.5% #) & 7E F F| &
B .
(e) Other outstanding balances with associates (e) EEEEZ N TIHfbiEER

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had entrusted
loans of RMB27,197,000 (31 December 2017:
RMB44,590,000) due to certain associates included
in “Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings”. The
Group obtained those loans from certain associates
via banks. The balances are unsecured, with an annual
interest rate of 1.15% (31 December 2017: 1.15%).

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had entrusted
loans of RMB1,000,000,000 (31 December 2017:
RMB1,065,400,000) due from China Modern Dairy
included in “Other financial assets”. The Group loaned
out the money via banks. The entrusted loans are
unsecured, with annual interest rate of 4.00% (31
December 2017: annual interest rates ranging from
4.00% to 4.35%).

R-T— J\$+ A=+—8 " &&
EHEAEMNETHERARZLERA
R#27,197,000t (ZZE—+tF+= A
=+—H8 : AR¥44,500,0007T) * I
ERTAGTBRITREMEE - XEH
BRBTRETHERATNEZEE
Koo ERBEIIE  FREE1.15%
—T—+F+-A=1+—H :1.15%)

RZBE-NE+_A=+—8 " &
EEEARKPEBERKEELZT
B & A R #1,000,000,000 T (= =&
—tH&F+=_A=+—"H8B: AR¥
1,065,400,0007T) * WEFF AE Mm%
BMEE AEBEBBIFITHETDEZENR
E°§§%Eﬂﬁﬁﬁw FFEH
4.00%(=ZFT—+tF+_A=+—8:
FH|ES I:F4.00%:|:4.35%)
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49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 49. REREATHEMIT A
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBEHR  SoEMNeR T AEMEREREAEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as T
follows:
Financial assets SREE

2018 2017
Z5-)\E TEtE
Fair value Fair value Fair value Fair value
through  through other through ~ through other
Amortised profitor comprehensive Amortised profitor  comprehensive
cost loss income cost loss income Total
RAREHE  RAAEHE BOAERNE  BOLERE
BESHGA  BHABHA AEEgHA  BEEHHA
Eanx BE  Hfp2E4A a3t a0 B8 Ep2EpA a3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR  ARMTr  ARETR  ARBTL [EENSSVTNN:GS VAN & 5 o

Trade and bill receivables  EEZ 25 2,801,073 - - 2,891,973 2,646,834 = = 2,646,834
Financial assets included st ABE -

in prepayments, AfpEYE

other receivables and RAfAEw

other assets SHEE 488,002 - - 488,002 785,845 - - 785,845
Equity investments RE5E - 31,599 109,148 140,747 = 31,599 327,43 359,034
Convertible TAREARE

promissory note - 196,130 - 196,130 - 186,670 - 186,670
Warrants EE - 72,687 - 72,687 = = = =
Entrusted loans FHER 2,280,712 - - 2,280,712 1,175,910 - - 1,175,910
Derivative financial fTESHTIA

instruments - 49,212 28,598 71,810 - 29,569 30,617 60,186
Investment deposits RERH - 9,281,963 - 9,281,963 - 9,392,108 - 9,392,108
Pledged deposits RESHR 623,495 - - 623,495 466,266 - - 466,265
Long term receivables RERNZE 128,586 - - 128,586 155,698 - - 155,698
Cash and ReRAEEEN

cash equivalents 4,370,494 - - 4,370,494 3,129,444 - - 3,129,444
Time deposits ey 4,848,912 - - 4,848,912 3,868,937 - - 3,868,937

15,632,174 9,631,501 187,746 25,401,511 12,208,933 9,639,046 308052 22206931
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49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 49. BREREI T HWERM T Em)
CATEGORY (continued)
Financial liabilities ==K

2018 2017

“E-N\F “T+tF

Fair value Fair value

through through

Amortised profit or Amortised profit or
cost loss cost loss Total

BARE BARE

stEAH irERE

SEIA 28t A
BHEmA B A5 B st
SRR OIS0 - RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTE ARBTLE ARBTE BNGRPEPN:Sw RPN S

Trade and bills payables ENEZRER 7,021,542 - 1,021,542 6,342,273 - 6,342,273
Financial liabilities included in SEAEMERFER

other payables and accruals RREAMEHAE  5851,674 - 5851,674 4,174,681 - 4,174,681
Interest-bearing bank and SERTREEE

other borrowings excluding (TEHEZE

zero coupon exchangeable bonds R EES) 13,440,132 - 13,440,132 12,679,549 - 12,679,549
Zero coupon exchangeable bonds LEARAES - 1,275,183 1,275,183 - 1270575 1270575
Other loans EET 22,912 - 22,912 22,912 - 22,912
Derivative financial instruments fTESMIA - 27,162 27,162 = 1,222 1,222
Long term payables REERZE 12,616 - 12,616 38,239 - 38,239
Other financial liabilities EtheRAaR 1,610,047 - 1610947 2,175,431 - 2,175,431

27,959,823 1,302,345 29,262,168 25433085 1,271,797 26,704,882
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50. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is the
amount at which the asset could be sold and the liability
transferred in a current transaction between market
participants, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate
the fair values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, the current
portion of pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables, trade
and bills payables, financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets, financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals, current interest-bearing bank
loans and other loans approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of other financial
assets, long term time deposits, long term receivable, the
non-current portion of interest-bearing bank loans and long
term payables and other non-current financial liabilities have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The fair
values of other borrowings are measured using valuation
technical methods and by reference to quoted prices. The fair
value of the convertible promissory note is measured using
valuation technical methods.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on
quoted market prices.

50. TMTANDIARBERIAEBEER

TRMEERBBENAABRMSLEENR
RETTRR 5 (3B 3B BIHERIN) Al
EEENREZRABNEE

TXHEINAREARAENTDERRR -

RekBReFEY RESTFRNAHE
7 BUERERR - BRNERRRE - &
AR b BUGRIA R E b EEMN S Al
BE  tARMENFARERERNESE
BfE  REBFABRTERREMERNDA
BEREHARIEm B REERS -

HiteMEENFERD LY  RPEHE
R REIEWFIE - StERRTERLKHE
MRIEHZEREE DA REMIER B C R A
BRI QA ETRARLER - FERR MR
TEIHI A& T AR A EG RN R ITIRIER
AKREREHN T AFE - RBENLRR
BERBERMITDEREL2ERENE -
ARBE S E BN AR ETERGERM T
ERTE -

LABRAERENAABIERTISRE -
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50. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value (continued)

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with
various counterparties, principally established commodity
trading exchanges or financial institutions with good credit
ratings. Derivative financial instruments, including commodity
futures contracts, an interest rate swap, forward currency
contracts and interest rate forward contracts, are measured
using quoted prices from financial institutions with which
the interest rate swap, forward currency contracts and
interest rate forward contracts are entered into. The carrying
amounts of the commodity futures contracts, interest rate
swap, forward currency contracts and interest rate forward
contracts are the same as their fair values.

The following table shows the valuation technique used in
the determination of fair values of investment deposits, which
falls within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, as well as the
significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation.

50.
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TMTANARERARERER

(&)

A RAE )
AEBHEZEZHFHIIITESHMTI A £
ZEERYNERE IR FIHEETR
RIFMESR#EE - mRHBEEL FIXxEH
BH - REINE S P RFIRRBEHNEITE
S@MITHE  DNEAHEEIVEBRNETIRE
47 - REPINE S L RFKRIFE LA S B
ERRETE - mRBEAY  FIXRERE
47 - REPINES L RFAKRBELNREE
BEE N ERF -

TREEBEREGFARAAEMANGER
M(BRAABEEBRNE=H) REEMAN
BEATNABREARIE -

Sensitivity of fair value to the input

BABBHANENTE

Significant
Valuation technique unobservable input  Range
fhEH EXTUBERARE &BE
Investment deposits  Discounted cash flow Expected yield
REFR method EaE t05.10%)
FHRBREREE

2.40% 10 5.01% (2017: 2.00%

2.40%25.01%(ZF—+F :

2.00%Z5.10%)

Discount rate

fa%

2.40% 10 5.01% (2017: 2.00%
10 5.10%)
2.40%25.01%(ZF—+F :

2.00%%5.10)

10% (2017: 10%) increase (decrease) in
expected yield would result in increase
(decrease) in fair value by RMB12,392,000
(2017: RMB10,142,000)

BEREEENHD)0%( =5 —+F : 10%)
HERRREEMORD) AR 12,392,0007
(Z2—+F : AR#10,142,0007)

10% (2017: 10%) increase (decreasg) in
discount rate would result in decrease
(increasg) in fair value by RMB12,360,000
(2017: RMB10,124,000)

FREEMOED)10%(ZF—LF : 10%)
BEH NS ERD (5 M) ARH12,360,0007
(ZZ—+% : AR%10,124,0007)
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50. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 50. EMIT AN AIRERAAEBEER
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL ()
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value (continued)
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

A REE)
AEBeRTA(RERERARERE M
HENERTANMKEERAAERT

Carrying amounts Fair values
REE ARE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—Z2-N\E —EtF “E2-N\F —ZtF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETT ARETT ARET T ARETT
Financial assets SREE
Long term entrusted loans REZHER 12,295 64,149 12,241 63,060
Long term receivables RHEEWFUR 57,025 122,496 54,983 119,786
Long term time deposits RUEHER 1,921,418 1,089,504 1,918,627 1,037,814
1,990,738 1,226,149 1,985,851 1,220,660
Carrying amounts Fair values
REE ARE
2018 2017 2018 2017
“E2-N\E —T—tF —E-N\F ZT—t+F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETTT ARET T ARETTT
Financial liabilities cmeE
Other non-current financial liabilities E 378 ¢RI A & 1,610,947 1,629,837 1,610,947 1,629,837
Interest-bearing bank and AERITRAMER
other borrowings —JEREED
- non-current portion (MREZE
excluding zero coupon AR fES)
exchangeable bonds 6,917,217 4,744,522 6,799,598 4,673,111
Long term payables REENFIE 814 10,894 792 9,666
8,528,978 6,385,253 8,411,337 6,312,614
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50. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and
disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

fair values measured based on quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which all inputs which have a
significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly

fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which any inputs which have a
significant effect on the recorded fair value are not
based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs)

Assets measured at fair value:
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50. TR TANARERAARERER

(#)

DIREEBR

AEBERAUNTBREELEESRTAN

AV

F—: REAREEXRERERTS
MIE(REAB)FHERRE

F-_H: AAEERMBERMEIE B2
MY PEEN AR BEEEATE
M A BB E A B R AR RER
GE]

F=H: PAREERMBERMEE - BE
A PREN AR BEEEATE
M ABURE Y FFER AT BRN
MBI GEABREARE)

BAREENEE

2018
= it

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

RERT 7 EXTERE EATAEE

H3R{E BAYE BAYE
(E—14) (E=4R) (B=4) At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T

Hong Kong listed equity R LRARE

investments 109,148 - - 109,148
Unlisted equity investments FELETRARE - - 31,599 31,599
Convertible promissory note AR E 2 = = 196,130 196,130
Investment deposits BERER - - 9,281,963 9,281,963
Derivative financial instruments T4 &fTE - 77,810 - 77,810
109,148 77,810 9,509,692 9,696,650
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50. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 50. TRITENAARABERAAREBEER
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL ()
I NSTR U M ENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continueq) AREERE)
Assets measured at fair value: (continued) BRARBIENEE (&)
2017
—T—+F
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WERTS EXTHE  EATAUEER
MRE BARE BAHE
(5—8R) (B=8) (B=H) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Hong Kong listed equity BE LRARE
investments 327,435 - - 327,435
Unlisted equity investments FEEMBRALE - - 31,599 31,599
Convertible promissory note EEA TS - - 186,670 186,670
Investment deposits REBFR - - 9,392,108 9,392,108
Derivative financial instruments T4 &fTE 1,283 58,903 - 60,186
328,718 58,903 9,610,377 9,997,998
Liabilities measured at fair value: BAREFENAE :
2018
—E-N\F

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

REBTE EATHE EAFRTHE

IR {E BARE BARE
(E—%) (B=4) (B=4) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETR ARETR AR¥TR
Derivative financial instruments 144 FTE - 27,162 - 27,162
Zero coupon exchangeable bonds Z 8 ] X EH - 1,275,183 - 1,275,183

- 1,302,345 - 1,302,345
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # 3 3= Bfif &

50. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 50. EMIT AN AIRERAAEER
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL ()
I NSTR U M ENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continueq) AREERE)
Liabilities measured at fair value: (continued) BARERENEE : (8)
2017
“TtF
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
NI BAABE  EATABE
HRE BARE BAH
(5—#) (B=) (B=84) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Derivative financial instruments {144 @TA 1,044 178 - 1,222
Zero coupon exchangeable bonds & A[ &% - 1,270,575 - 1,270,575
1,044 1,270,753 - 1,271,797

Assets for which fair values are disclosed: BEEBEANENEE

2018
“E-N\§
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

RIERMS EXTHE EXTUEE

HRE BWARE WARE
(5—%) (=) (E=4) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT R ARBT R ARBTR

Long term entrusted loans RPZFEX - 12,241 - 12,241
Long term receivables REEWGIE - 54,983 - 54,983
Long term time deposits RPETHEX - 1,918,627 - 1,918,627

= 1,985,851 = 1,985,851
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # # 3= Bfd &

50. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 50. TRITENAARABERAAREBEER
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL ()
I NSTR U M ENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continueq) AREERE)
Assets for which fair values are disclosed: (continued) ERBALRENEE (&)
2017
“EtF
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
NI BAABE  EATABE
HMRE BARE BAHE
(5—#) (B=f) (F=8) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Long term entrusted loans ROZAER - 63,060 - 63,060
Long term receivables REEWGIR - 119,786 - 119,786
Long term time deposits REEHER - 1,087,814 - 1,037,814
- 1,220,660 - 1,220,660

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: BEBRARENEE

2018
—B-N\F
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

RERTHS EXTHE EXTUEE

WHE WARE WARE
(%) (=) (F=4) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NS ARBT R ARBTR ARBTR

Other non-current financial HivdErBemas
liabilities
Interest-bearing bank and FPERITREMEE
other borrowings - 1,610,947 = 1,610,947
— non-current portion —3EmEE D
excluding zero coupon (TBEZE
exchangeable bonds AR|ES) - 6,799,598 S 6,799,598
Long term payables REAE 08 = 792 - 792

8,411,337 - 8,411,337
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50. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 50. TRITENAARBERAAREBEER
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL (%)
I NSTR U M E NTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continueq) AREEBRE)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: (continued) EREAREMNERE  (B)
2017
S 3
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
NI EAABE  EATUER
HR(E B ARE BARE
(5—#) (B5=/) (B=H) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Other non-current financial HEpEroemes
liabilities
Interest-bearing bank and ARRITRAMEE
other borrowings - 1,629,837 - 1,629,837
- non-current portion —JEneEn
excluding zero coupon (TMBREZEE
exchangeable bonds AR fESR) = 4,673,111 - 4,673,111
Long term payables REENTE = 9,666 - 9,666

= 6,312,614 = 6,312,614
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R &R Mt

51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 51. K EKREREBFRREE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade
and bills receivables and payables, other receivables and
payables, long term receivables balances with related parties,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, other loans and
long term payables. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such
as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The Group also entered into derivative transactions, mainly
commodity futures contracts, interest rate swaps, forward
currency contracts and interest rate forward contracts. The
purpose is to manage the commodity risk, the exchange
rate and floating rate exposures arising from the Group’s
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors and senior
management meet periodically to analyse and formulate
measures to manage the Group’s exposure to these risks.
Generally, the Group adopts prudent strategies on its risk
management.

(i) Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s borrowings
with floating interest rates. The Group closely monitors
its interest rate risk by performing periodic reviews and
evaluations of its debt portfolio and gearing ratio. The
interest rates and terms of repayment of the bank loans
of the Group are disclosed in note 32 to the financial
statements. The Group enters into interest rate swaps,
in which the Group agrees to exchange, at a specified
intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate
interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed
— upon notional principal amount. In the opinion of the
directors, the Group has no significant interest rate risk.

AEBEHNTESRMTIAGTEIARMN B
EREMREFEY R NENEREE
& R R EMAIR  EEBA LR
Hife W s s - StERITREMER - HE
AERBENTE ZEERTASERD
SENEEERES - AREHASASK
ERRBEEBHHEGEREERAE - fl
40 & B SR B A R A ©

AEBETRIUNTERS  TERBMBAES
# - FEEBMEH BHREB SN RNEE
HIa4)  BNREEAEEXBMELNRD
mAR - EXFFEBMEER o

REAEESRTIANFTEZRRBRANXR
B SRR - EERR - REBIERR KRR
AERER EFERSREEASTHE
T8%  SMASBEMAZNER - WHIE
RAEERBNER - AEE—RERAEE
EVERBR B IR AR -

i) FR@ER
AEBAZNTISNEEBEREE
ERAAKENZERE - AEEEH
R M HEEBEERERAELL
xR HWHMERBETEIER o &
S EHRITE R R LR RN
WRME2HWE - AEERILFEE
BAK Bt AEEREREE S
B BRWEREASEBETENE
ENFBNESENERETHE -
EERR AKEYESAMEER -
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 51. BKEBREEEERBER®

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Financial risk management (continued) B 7% | B B ()

(i) Interest rate risk (continued) (i) FIRERGE)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to TRIREAEMEBEEZETER
a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with BT » FIRAJEEHIRSIB Al gL & &)
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s HAREERAIFECEBZEEENT
profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate )&
borrowings):

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease) in
(decrease) in profit
basis points before tax

EEhEm, AR (BR)
(R2) 2,/ (Rd)

RMB’000
AR®T T
2018 —E-N\F
RMB ARM 50 (14,205)
RMB AR (50) 14,205
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 (13,299)
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) 13,299
United States dollars ET 50 (8,370)
United States dollars Ev (50) 8,370
Euro BT 50 -
Euro BT (50) -
New Zealand dollars HABT 50 (302)
New Zealand dollars HEWT (50) 302
2017 —E—tF
RMB AR 50 (12,282)
RMB AR (50) 12,282
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 (11,819)
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) 11,819
United States dollars ETT 50 (13,117)
United States dollars EV (50) 13,117
Euro BT 50 (93)
Euro BT (50) 93
New Zealand dollars Eoiliil: o 50 (20)

New Zealand dollars il (50) 20
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses are principally located in
Mainland China and substantially all transactions
are conducted in RMB, except for the purchases
of imported machinery and equipment and sales
of dairy products to Hong Kong and Macau. As at
31 December 2018, substantially all of the Group’s
assets and liabilities were denominated in RMB except
for the cash and bank balances of approximately
RMB182,118,000 (2017: RMB102,558,000),
RMB20,006,000 (2017: RMB139,753,000),
RMB1,769,000 (2017: RMB1,057,000), RMB8,051,000
(2017: RMB6,000), RMB10,991,000 (2017:
RMB60,443,000) and RMB5,146,000 (2017: None)
which were denominated in United States dollars,
Hong Kong dollars, Euro, New Zealand dollars, Danish
Krone and Indonesian Rupiah, respectively, pledged
deposits of approximately RMB22,238,000 (2017:
RMB14,545,000), RMB6,825,000 (2017: None) and
RMB1,000 (2017: None) which were denominated in
United States dollars, New Zealand dollars and Euro,
respectively, and the interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of approximately RMB3,376,261,000
(2017: RMB3,207,497,000), RMB6,153,396,000
(2017: RMB5,941,819,000) and RMB12,793,000
(2017: RMB74,426,000) which were denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars and New
Zealand dollars, respectively. As at 31 December
2017, substantially all of the Group’s assets and
liabilities were denominated in RMB except for
the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of
approximately RMB52,197,000 and RMB12,053,000
which were denominated in Euro and Australian
dollars, respectively, and an investment deposit of
approximately RMB51,412,000 which was denominated
in United States dollars. The fluctuation of the exchange
rates of RMB against foreign currencies could affect the
Group’s results of operations. However, in the opinion
of the directors, the foreign currency risk exposure is
under management’s control.

BEREEEREE

(ii)

Z N BUR ()

Shs L B
NEBERNERE SR FBEKRE:
BREEEDOKSEREERRBERH
BB BREHORBIHUA
REERNEE -R_ZT—\F+=
A=Z+—8 AEENEERARE
FORTRERBTETHARE
182,118,000 c(— T —+t&F : AR
102,558,0007T ) *+ A R ¥20,006,000
T(ZE—+F : AR¥139,753,000
L)~ AR®1,769,000t (= F —+
F: AR¥1,057,000L) - AR
8,051,000 (=T —tF : ARM
6,0007T) + AR % 10,991,000 7T ( =
T—+F : AR#60,443,0007T) &
AR¥5146,000 0 (=& — £ F :
E)DRIAET - B - Bt~ F
B AERBERIDEEE R
BEFRN AR22,2380007 (=
T—+F: AR¥14,545,0007T) -
AR¥6,825000C (=T —EF :
)R ARE1,0000(ZFE—CF
Fm)DRIAETT - AT REUTE
B iBRTEEMEEHOARE
A R #3,376,261,000 7T ( —Z —+
F: AR#3,207,497,0007T) * AR
¥ 6,153,396,000 7L ( = T — £ &F
AR #5041,819,000 7T ) M A R
12,793,000 C(ZZE—+tF : AR
74,426,0007T) D RIAE T - ET R
FIEBITFEZI  AEEBKRHBS
EERABBHUAREBEN - K=
T—+HF+-A=1+—H AEERL
ABOWEERABUARBEE -
Br#) A R#52197,000 T kAR
120530007zu+§fﬁ??&ﬁl11ﬂ1ﬁ‘%
DAIAB T KB ITEE  BHOARE
51,412,000 1% BEF KA ETLETE ©
AREHIINEHEBEEEKE - 04
HEAREEMNKEEE  BESRE
SNEE BRI EEERIES ZF -
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 51. BIEREEEERBER @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Financial risk management (continued) B 7% | B B ()
(i) Foreign currency risk (continued) (i) MBS ()

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in the exchange rates of
RMB to United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars, Euro,
New Zealand dollars, Danish Krone and Indonesian
Rupiah with all other variables held constant, of the

TRINTEMEEMERERFTEDN
BT ARBHEZIT BT B

T HERT  HERARHERD
SMERAEHBRNAEAREH(RE
BEERARNAAEZEEH)H AR

Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair
value of monetary assets and liabilities) and equity:

SETAFE R ESNTE

(iii)

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease) Increase/

(decrease) in in profit (decrease)

RMB rate before tax in equity

ARBE=R AT R =g m

EFH(TRE) i/ CRD) O 4)

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT R AR¥T T

2018 —E-NEF 5 14,416 218,069
(5) (14,416) (218,069)

2017 —EF—tF 5 209,128 161,130
5) (209,128) (161,130)
Credit risk (i) FERR

The cash and bank balances, as well as the pledged
deposits, of the Group are mainly deposited with state-
owned commercial banks in Mainland China.

The majority of the Group’s sales are conducted on
a cash basis. The Group has implemented policies to
ensure that sales of products are made to distributors,
who wish to trade on credit terms, with an appropriate
credit history which is subject to periodic reviews.
Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31
December 2018

The table below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 December 2018. The amounts presented
are gross carrying amounts for financial assets and
the exposure to credit risk for the financial guarantee
contracts.

AEENRS RRTAFRRESHE
%o EEERPEAENBAEER
7 o

AEBAMOHHEDRASEEE
17 - AEEE BB R IARREME
ETHEERAEEECHYEREAREK
FAETRZNEHEE  YHEEE
ASETEMNER - AKE—EHR
BERBUKENGESR  AKETE
BEAZERER

RZF-N\F+-_A=+—B®MEK
[\ EE ] B A R B 0 R

TR _F-NF+=-_A=t+—H
AEEENEERRNEERE LR
RIEEE R 6 E (BR FFBA T BB
BN MEHEMER - BRIEE
REBEBENRE) RFRERNE - 2
JMERATHEENAREERS
BMEREHNNEERREE -
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

51. BIRREEEERBE @

Financial risk management (continueq) B E f E E (|)
(iii) Credit risk (continued) (iii) FERBS(E)

12-month
ECLs
12f8 A B
FEER

Stage 1
R
RMB’000

ARETR

Stage 2
FoER
RMB’000
ARBT R

Lifetime ECLs

FRENEERR

RMB’000
ARBTR

Simplified
approach
|- E( DA
RMB’000
AR%T R

Stage 3
FEER

RMB’000
ARET R

Trade and bills receivables

L E W ESAGEY

(note a) - - - 2,891,973 2,891,973
Financial assets BUNCGES

included in prepayments, HibREIER

other receivables and HEEN

other assets (note b) SREE(GD)

- Normal ~-I% 488,002 - - - 488,002

- Doubtful — A&t - - - - -
Entrusted loans EREX 2,280,712 - - - 2,280,712
Pledged deposits REEER

— Not yet past due — AR 623,495 - - - 623,495
Long term receivables REEWGIR 128,586 = = = 128,586
Cash and cash equivalents B4 RBREZEY

- Not yet past due — AR 4,370,494 - - - 4,370,494
Time deposits THER 4,848,912 - - - 4848912

12,740,201 - - 2,891,973 15,632,174

For trade and bills receivables to which the Group
applies the simplified approach for impairment,
information based on the provision matrix is
disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past
due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit
quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.

MAKERA B AT ERE
MR R R - IRIBE AR
fE ) B R RO 527

ERTABNR - b EUEE R
HitEEMSREERRBY
BRAERB TR ZECRMEEN
FERBR B RERRARL
o AEGEERESEREAIE
FleBAl ZEEREENRE
EREenR Rl AE] -
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)

Financial risk management (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure as at 31 December 2017

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which comprise deposits and other receivables, arises
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these assets.

Except for the above, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk, as its exposure spreads
over a number of counterparties.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group closely monitors its liquidity risk by
performing periodic reviews and evaluations of its
liquidity with regard to the industry characteristics,
market conditions, business strategies and changes in
the Group’s state of affairs and adjusting the current
and non-current portions of the Group’s debt portfolio
on a proper and timely basis. In addition, the Group
aims to ensure a continuity of funds and flexibility
through the use of various means of financing and by
keeping committed credit lines available.

51.
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BRREEBERBE @
MRS EE (8
(iii) Gﬁﬁllﬁ(%ﬁ)
RZE—tEF+_A=+—HHEK
[\ Bz &3 B
EEEA ST EYEERIEE R HME

(iv)

WHRBEBROASEECEREED
FERRESREESFNILFEEN
BRE(E -

frLaiEIN  AREHRBRSRZ S
HF5 AMTESANEHEER

RR

B BN 5 B A e U AR R T 22 T R 1S
ERROEMECEE  BERMB
WRMFE27

B RS
AEBEEHEREBETERR  THR
B RIEBOR MR B B A0 B
£t HEEORSUEETRT LE
B BEAREARAEERESE
BYBNEA N SEBNEARR 7 - PABSHE R B 1%
BB o tbsh - ANERETNE BB AR
MEETARRE —ERNAZEER

BARRESEBEEREENE -
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 51. BIEEBREEBERBE@®
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Financial risk management (continued) B % B b S R ()
(iv) Liquidity risk (continued) (iv) FREVERERE(E)
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the TREYWWR=ZE—N\E+_A=+—
Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2018 based ARREBEANENZENRNAEE SR
on contractual undiscounted payments. BEMIIEIBR -

2018
—E-N\F
Less than More than

On demand 1year 1tobyears 5 years Total
REX —FHR bt EENE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR%®Tn AR%Trn AR%Trn AR%Tn

Interest-bearing bank and HERTREMEE

other borrowings - 6,636,692 8,278,723 65,135 14,980,550
Other loans HibE® 22,912 - - - 22,912
Trade and bills payables ERERNEE - 7,021,542 - - 7,021,542

Financial liabilities included in 5T A H 4t JERFUE R
other payables and accruals, FEIRERHNLEE
excluding current portion of & - TEERH

long term payables e FIERENER S - 5,855,002 - - 5,855,002
Long term payables REEMZE - 12,152 882 - 13,034
Other financial liabilities Hiv&maR - - - 1815599 1,815,599

2017
—TtF
Less than More than
On demand 1year 1to5years 5 years Total
REX —FHRA —EAF AFMNE Bt

RVB'000 ~ RMB'000  RVMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTE AREBTR ARETL

Interest-bearing bank and TERTREMEE

other borrowings - 8,143,598 5,957,416 269,928 14,370,942
Other loans Hin &R 22,912 - - - 22,912
Trade and bills payables ENRRRER - 6,342,273 = - 6,342,273

Financial liabilities included in st A A B 7078 &%
other payables and accruals, TEIRERHNLRE
excluding current portion of & - TEIEREE

long term payables RFERA DS - 4,174,681 = - 4,174,681
Long term payables REEMFUR = 28,797 11,244 = 40,041

Other financial liabilities Hnemas

586,355 1,926,896

2,613,251
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

v)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the value of individual securities.
The Group was exposed to equity price risk arising
from individual equity investments classified as equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income (note 25) as at 31 December 2018.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
5% change in the fair values of the equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at
the end of the reporting period. For the purpose of
this analysis, for the equity investments, the impact is
deemed to be on the financial assets revaluation reserve
and no account is given for factors such as impairment
which might impact the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

Annual Report 2018 =& — )\ FF 3§
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Bt 7 L B B B ()

(v) BRAEERE
&% A (B A% R R & I 2R 48 UK & (& Bl
BHEEENERIRAZTSLAAE
THRORE R_ZE—N\F+=A
=+—H AEEBEHEORAERER
BIREDEANAABNEEEED
FTAEMEERE MR AKEE (M F
25) AR AR E o

TRETHERMABAZEZERT
FRARTFTAEARBEZENBERT -
B E R R ETEEE E5%H A
BE - DIEBARERRE R R
EEFTHE - LADHME - BRRA
BE GRESHEEEGBREEN
TR UEFSMAEZESARAR

MEE - PIEIRIE

Carrying
amount of

equity Change in

2018 investments equity
BARE

—E2-N\F W RRE{E BRAEE)

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARYET T

Hong Kong listed equity investments BB ETRAKE 109,148 5,457
Carrying
amount of

equity Change in

2017 investments equity
IR E

T —LF # AR TE B &N

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARKETTT ARKETTT

Hong Kong listed equity investments BB EMRARE 327,435 16,372
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December
2017.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by the capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade and bills
payables, other payables and accruals, other loans, long term
payables and other financial liabilities, less cash and bank
balances and long term time deposits, and excludes disposal
groups. Capital represents equity attributable to owners of
the Company. The gearing ratios as at the end of reporting
periods were as follows:

51.

R EEEEERBER @

EXER
AEBEAEENERBREFAEER
BRENENERFBENERLE - IUX
FEEXEMESRRERE -

AEBEREEAREE  WHELEREN
BREBEENRERBBIELAZE - A
WA EALRE  AEBEARESHER
N FRREMRE  BREAE AL Rk HITH
IReRBEZTE-N\F+ZA=F+—HEKZ=
T—+F+ A=+ BULFEEBRELRE
BEHEEZ - BURSRFIEES -

AEBNERBELRERES BXAAE
LEEFABRAEAEBENEFAGBLZ
Mo FRERREF RRITREMES - BN
R kRE - HtENFARERER - £
ER  REEMNKIE UREMSERE
& BAEMRTEFRRAEHRER X
TERREER - ENEARRAHEE ARGE
o RBEMRNEABBELERWT -
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 51. BIEREEEERBER @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management (continued) BEREE (@)

2018 2017
—E-—N\F —ET—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETT

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t 2 R{1T R EMEE 14,715,315 13,950,124
Trade and bills payables FENEBER R ERE 7,021,542 6,342,273
Other payables and accruals HEmEMZBELRTEIRE R 10,889,417 7,324,223
Other loans HiER 22,912 22,912
Long term payables REENFUB 814 10,894
Other financial liabilities EmepiaE 1,610,947 2,175,431
Less: Cash and bank balances W WERIBITET (7,297,988) (5,958,877)
Less: Long term time deposits B REAEEATER (1,921,418) (1,039,504)
Net debt FAaE 25,041,541 22,827,476
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KA G #EAE AJE(LHEZS 25,212,364 22,604,273
Adjusted capital 4R EE IR 25,212,364 22,604,273
Capital and net debt BAREFEEE 50,253,905 45,431,749

Gearing ratio BEARBELE 49.83% 50.25%
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52. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 52. & 7] B ik R 3=
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the HEAREBEARRN R T B TAEROER 1
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: N
2018 2017
—E-N\E ZE—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment b ER 108 159
Investments in subsidiaries RFRBNEE 13,210,242 12,555,023
Investment in an associate R—EEE AR NIRE 2,864,346 2,732,636
Derivative financial instruments PTESRIA 28,598 54,602
Non-current financial assets FErRHeMEE 25,208 43,202
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 16,128,502 15,385,622
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Derivative financial instruments PTESRIA 48,866 5,584
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets  JBZ « E A fE U 2008 K2
HimEE 83,652 473,829
Loans to subsidiaries EHXTFAR] 7,572,719 7,156,189
Pledged deposits REBEESTTN 22,203 14,545
Cash and bank balances B4 RIRITEF 284,155 569,574
Total current assets BREEE 8,011,595 8,219,721
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEEE
Loans from subsidiaries RETFABINER - 509,204
Other payables and accruals HiENZIENTEIRER 486,981 265,436
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SFRBITREMEE 525,107 3,760,684
Derivative financial instruments PTESRIA 6,891 =
Total current liabilities BrEaE 1,018,979 4,535,324
NET CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE 6,992,616 3,684,397
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 2&EERREEE 23,121,118 19,070,019
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Loans from a subsidiary KE—BFRRNER 2,738,436 2,181,484
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings HBBITREMEE 8,763,177 5,148,407
Derivative financial instruments TESMIT A 17,457 =
Total non-current liabilities BIEREAE 11,519,070 7,329,891
NET ASSETS REE 11,602,048 11,740,128
EQUITY Em
Issued capital BETIRA 357,602 357,572
Treasury shares held under share award scheme  IRZ #E)+2] 56 & EFRD (218,717) (262,929)
Reserves 1 11,463,163 11,645,485
TOTAL EQUITY MRER 11,602,048 11,740,128
Yu Xubo Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
F e E 8
Director Director

EFE EF
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52. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 52, Z&A BB #AR R &R (80
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: i
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RNATIEBEOT -
Share
option
Foreign Financial reserve/
currency assets share
Share  Contributed ~ translation  revaluation Retained award Hedging
premium surplus  differences reserve eamings reserve reserve Total
Wikt /
KMRE  SEEE TRin 528

RiniE  BEES HE  ERREER  REVE Bl HEE a5t
RMBOOD  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBIOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOD  RMBOOO
ARETR  ARETL ARETLE ARETLE ARBTL ARBTR ARETR ARETR

Note (a)
Eit]
At1 January 2017 WZ_E—+%5-F—-H 13,114,623 387,574 185,867 (290,804) (175,009) 32,669 - 13,264,720
Loss for the year AEER - = = - (461310 - - (61310
Other comprehensive loss TEEMREEE
for the year:
Changes in fair value of equity ERBNALEHE
investments designated BEEBHAEMEZE
at fair value through other WEMRARER
comprehensive income, I ECR
net of tax ke = = - (35,390) - - - (35,390)
Exchange differences between Mg EM R HEHH
functional currency and ERER
presentation currency - - (836,327) - - - - (836,327)
Cash flow hedges, net of tax Bemen  MRHE = - - - - - 30617 30617
Total comprehensive income/(oss)  £E 2@ /(1)
for the year ik - - (836,327) (35,390) (461,310) - 30617 (1,302,410)
Shares issued under equity-settled B IEIAIR(A 1 R IR iE
share option arrangements RHRTRG 23,683 = - - - 12,582 - 36,265
Transfer of share option reserve upon 1T ERER & 1 BERER &
exercise of share options 7,8% - - - - (7,89) - -
Share award scheme REsm:El = - - - - 1726 - 1,726
Divicends paid to owners of the B RAATHEBA
Company RS (344,816) - - - - - - [udpg
At 31 December 2017 RE—+E+-A=+—H 12801285 387,574 (650,460) (326,194) (636,400) 39,072 30,617 11,645,485
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52. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 52,

53.

THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: (continued)

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: (continued)

AN B B SRR 3R ()

#® (8

AAREHOT : (&)

Share
option
Foreign Financial reserve/
currency assets share
Share  Contributed translation  revaluation Retained award Hedging
premium surplus  differences reserve earnings reserve reserve
. R/
-13:1) SREE Re %R
RHEE EfEe 1] EfiffE RENE fife G it
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AE¥Tn  AR%Tn ARETn AR®Tn AR%Tn ARETn ARMTn  ARETn
Note (a)
ia)
At1 January 2018 R=F-\f-A-A 12,801,285 387,574 (650,460) (326,194) (636,409) 39,072 30617 11,645,485
Loss for the year 3] - - - - (267,358) - - (267,358)
Other comprehensive loss REAMEERE:
for the year: = = = = = = - -
Changes in fai value of equity REANAAEHERL
investments designated BE AL 2EbEA
at fair value through other RARENLLEEY
comprehensive income, HERE
net of tax - - - (17,994) - - - (17,994)
Exchange differences between NEERIRERN
functional currency and ERER
presentation currency - - 533,211 - - - - 533,211
Cash flow hedges, net of tax Remedn  MRHE - - - - - = (4,196) (4,196)
Total comprehensive income/oss)  EE2EYE/ (B8
for the year = - 53 (17,904 (267,359) . (1% 243723
Shares issued under equity-setled  BELRARMEOBRET S
share option arrangements Bk 4472 - - - - 48,851 - 53,323
Equity-settled share option WRIE A B RER b
anangements - - - = = 594 = 594
Transfer of share option reserve fERERELERE
upon exercise of share options fe 1,190 - - - - (1,190) - -
Share award scheme R REE - = = = 3 2,865 s 2,865
Dividends paid to owners ERALAEEARARE
of the Company (482,827) - - - - = - (e281)
At 31 December 2018 ROS-NETZAST-B 1234120 TS (117489 (44188 (G037 90192 2642 11463163
Note: i

(@)  The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the then combined net asset value of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation
and the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued in

exchange therefor.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

53.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2019.

@ ARFENBEHBHBIEREEESHIEE
FRAMNERKAHEEFERADR AR
g%(tgé{#ﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁ%ﬁE’\Jﬁfﬁﬁsﬁ

RBEM B ®E

EEgCN - NF=ZA-+LBHAER
RIETI M EHER -



FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MBHE

The following is a summary of the published audited financial
statements of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the

“Company”) and its subsidiaries for the respective years.

Annual Report 2018 =& — )\ FF 3§

TIRPERFAXARQB(ARF ) REF
RANTIIEFREEMNEEXZIHTREME -

RESULTS ¥E
Year ended
BEILFE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
= L\ —E—+F T RF —T-RF —T-0EF
G0l RMB'O00  RMB'0O00  RMB'000  RMB’000
N | ARBTT ARBTT AR®TT ARE®TR
Revenue WA 68,977,066 60,155,622 53,779,339 49,026,516 50,049,243
Profit/(loss) before tax from REFELEERD
continuing operations BiRIFE, (E8) 3,852,722 2,624,961 (461,386) 3,030,170 3,150,008
Income tax expense PSRt sz (649,001)  (594,283)  (351,379)  (510,038)  (459,292)
Profit/(loss) for the year from REFEKEERD
continuing operations REFE/(BE) 3,203,721 2,030,678  (812,765) 2,520,132 2,690,716
Profit/(loss) for the year from a REBEIEEE
discontinued operation EBEHANENE
(E18) - - - 122 (63)
Profit/(loss) for the year REFIE,/ (EE) 3,203,721 2,030,678  (812,765) 2,520,254 2,690,653
Attributable to: AT & 77 FE AL
Owners of the Company ZA/NCIE DN 3,043,030 2,047,839  (751,155) 2,367,291 2,350,803
Non-controlling interests FEERR AR R i 160,691 (17,161) (61,610 152,963 339,850
Proposed dividend BORA S 710,915 471,283 349,327 549,357 548,406
Earnings per share AAREBRGES
attributable to ordinary ANEEFRAEF
equity holders of the Company (B8R)(ARE)
(RMB) (note (i) (BiFEE() Restated
For profit for the year INE R 4 E i
— Basic —&EK 0.780 0.526 (0.193) 0.609 0.605
- Diluted —#E 0.779 0.526 (0.193) 0.607 0.602
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ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY L BERRER
At 31 December
W+=-—A=+—H
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
= — T+ F —T-RF —T-RF —FT-OEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NGB ARBETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Total assets BEE 66,457,257 58,138,731 49,124,427 50,652,541 47,080,792
Total liabilities BaE 35,992,978 31,031,608 23,620,699 24,037,387 22,587,919
Equity attributable to owners of RRFEE ARG
the Company xR 25,212,364 22,604,273 20,844,913 22,136,239 21,489,400
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR AR R RS 5,251,915 4,502,850 4,658,815 4,478,915 3,003,473
Note: i

()  The calculation basis for the earnings per share attributable to () AR EIEBIRER ARG TRET @ EELS
ordinary equity holders of the Company is set out in note 14 to the RERE T RERMIE14 -
consolidated financial statements.
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